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JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT 

The Defendant/ Appellant Grangaard Construction, Inc. ("Grangaard") appeals the 

Judgment in Favor of Goldenview Ready-Mix, L.L.C. and Against Grangaard 

Construction, Inc., which was issued on January 31, 2024. Grangaard timely filed Notice 

of Appeal on February 29, 2024. 

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES 

I. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING THE JURY TO 
AWARD PUNITIVE DAMAGES BASED UPON CLAIMS THAT, AS A 
MATTER OF LAW, CANNOT SUPPORT SUCH AN AW ARD? 

The Jury found in favor of the Golden View on two claims-a claim of breach of 
contract and a claim of breach of the contractual duty of good faith. As a matter 
of law, neither such claim can support an award of punitive damages. The Trial 
Court declined to correct such error in denying Grangaard's post-trial Motion for. 

Relevant Law: 

Nygaard v. Sioux Valley Hosps. & Health Sys., 2007 S.D. 34, ~ 20, 731 N. W.2d 
184. 

Diesel Mach. , Inc. v. Manitowoc Crane Grp., 777 F. Supp. 2d 1198, 1211 (D.S.D. 
2011. 

Schipporeit v. Khan, 2009 S.D. 96, ~ 7, 775 N. W.2d 503 

II. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING THE FRAUD 
AND PUNITIVE DAMAGES CLAIMS TO BE PRESENTED TO THE JURY 

Golden View's fraud claim and corresponding claim for punitive damages were 
both legally and factually unsupported and should not have been allowed to be 
presented to the Jury. 

Relevant Law: 

Wrightv. Temple, 2021 S.D. 15, ~ 57, 956N.W.2d436. 

Fisher Sand & Gravel Co. v. State by & Through S.D. DOT, 1997 S.D. 8, ~ 14, 
558N.W. 2d 864 

SDCL § 21-3-2 
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SDCL § 21-1-4.1 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

This is a contract case between two commercial enterprises, a supplier of 

concrete, Plaintiff/Appellee Golden View Ready-Mix, L.L.C. ("Golden View"), and a 

general contractor, Defendant/ Appellant Grangaard. On August 3, 2022, Golden View 

filed a complaint in the First Judicial Circuit Court of McCook County alleging that 

Grangaard failed to pay for all of the concrete Golden View supplied to Grangaard for a 

certain bridge construction project. On these allegations, Golden View brought claims 

for: 1) breach of contract; 2) breach of an implied obligation of good faith and fair 

dealing under South Dakota Uniform Commercial Code; and 3) fraud/deceit. Golden 

View requested an award of punitive damages. Grangaard counterclaimed alleging that 

the concrete Golden View supplied was substandard and did not conform to the type of 

concrete Golden View agreed to supply. 

On September 15, 2023, Grangaard brought a motion for summary judgment to 

dismiss the fraud claim, primarily on the grounds that there was no legal duty here that 

was independent of Grangaard 's contractual duty to pay for concrete supplied. That 

motion was denied. On December 11, 2023, Golden View filed a Motion for Permission 

to Undertake Discovery Regarding the Issue of Punitive Damages and Motion for 

Submission of the Issue of Punitive Damages to the Jury. On December 27, 2023, 

Grangaard filed a response in opposition to that motion on the grounds that punitive 

damages are not allowed on claims arising from contractual obligations. The Court took 

such motions under advisement and indicated that it would rule on them at trial. 

Also on December 27, 2023, Grangaard submitted a motion in limine to exclude 

evidence of amounts that Grangaard received from the State of South Dakota for the 
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Project. In bringing this motion in limine, Grangaard argued that "[ s ]uch evidence has no 

relevance to the issues presented in this case and would be offered herein only in hopes of 

causing the jury to perceive Grangaard negatively and to influence it to return a verdict 

based upon such perception rather than the relevant evidence and law." The Court, 

however, denied the motion. 

Commencing on January 8, 2024, with Circuit Court Judge Chris S. Giles 

presiding, a four day jury trial of this matter was held. Over Grangaard's continued 

motions and objections, the Circuit Court revisited Golden View's previously filed 

Motion for Permission to Undertake Discovery Regarding the Issue of Punitive Damages 

and Motion for Submission of the Issue of Punitive Damages to the Jury. The Circuit 

Court granted such Motions and allowed Golden View to submit its claim for punitive 

damages to the Jury despite the lack of evidence supporting any claim that could support 

an award of such damages. Based on this ruling, Golden View recalled one of 

Grangaard's principles, Jeremiah Grangaard, to testify for the sole purpose of examining 

him on the profits Grangaard made on the Project and Grangaard's income and wealth 

generally. 

Again over Grangaard's objection, the Circuit Court submitted jury instructions 

and a verdict form which allowed the Jury to award punitive damages and further allowed 

the jury to award such damages on Golden View's duty of good faith and fair dealing 

claim under the UCC. The Jury found that Grangaard breached its contract and awarded 

Golden View the full amount requested as set forth on the final invoice for the bridge 

project. Consistent with Grangaard's repeated arguments that there was no factual 

support for a fraud claim, the Jury further found that Grangaard did not commit fraud. It 
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then awarded $50,000 in punitive damages against Grangaard based solely upon a finding 

that Grangaard breached its contractual duty of good faith and fair dealing .. 

On January 24, 2024, Grangaard filed a Renewed Motion for Judgment as a 

Matter of Law, or in the Alternative, a New Trial. On January 30, 2024, the Circuit Court 

denied such motion. On January 31, 2024, the Circuit Court issued Judgment in Favor of 

Goldenview Ready-Mix, L.L.C. and against Grangaard Construction, Inc. Grangaard 

appeals. 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

In April 2021, Grangaard won the bid to be the prime contractor on a South 

Dakota Department of Transportation ("DOT") bridge replacement project in McCook 

County, South Dakota (the "Project" ). The DOT requires that the structural concrete used 

in its bridges meet certain specifications, as determined by certain DOT tests, to ensure 

the concrete is sufficiently workable, durable, and strong. (See Trial Exhibit ("Ex.") 46; 

Trial Transcript ("Tr.") at p. 467: 8-14.) The class of structural concrete required for the 

Project was A45 concrete, with the "45" referring to the strength specification of being 

able to withstand 4500 pounds per square inch of pressure before breaking. (Tr. at p. 

251:15-252:9.) 

If the strength testing shows that A45 concrete breaks at a PSI slightly lower than 

4500, the DOT can accept the concrete and keep it in place. (Id. at pp. 509: 18-510:2 1.) 

However, pursuant to the DOT Standards and Specifications Book the DOT would issue 

a deduction ( often called "deduct") in payment to the prime contract for such sub­

specification concrete. (See Ex. 9 at p. 46; Tr. at pp. 240:23-242:7.) If the tests show that 

the concrete is considerably lower than the 4500 specification, the DOT will require that 

the concrete be removed and replaced, which is costly. (See Tr. at pp. 509: 18-510:21.) 
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In South Dakota and elsewhere, the prevailing practice is for these deductions to 

be passed from the prime contractor to the concrete supplier that supplied the failing 

concrete. (Id. at pp. 481: 13-482:4, 493:8-25.) A sample of hardened concrete can be 

removed or "cored" from a structure to show that the concrete was sufficiently strong, 

which contractors are required to do in order to avoid removal of concrete testing below 

4000 PSI. (Id. at pp. 170:2-7, 399:9-400:23, 493:8-25.) Suppliers bear the cost of such 

coring. (Id.) 

Golden View's concrete plant was located within a few miles of the Project. (See 

Id. at p. 250:12-18.) Based on this, prior to securing the bid, Jeremiah Grangaard, one of 

Grangaard's principles, called Sam Waldner, Golden View's concrete plant manager and 

batcher, to discuss whether Golden View would be interested in bidding the project as a 

concrete supplier. (Id. at pp. 101:8-17, 148:5-7.) In or around April 2021, Sam Waldner 

and Jeremiah Grangaard reached a verbal agreement whereby Golden View agreed to 

supply concrete for the entire Project. (Tr. at pp. 101:8-17, 148:5-7.) Both Sam and 

Jeremiah testified that the parties understood and agreed that the concrete needed to be 

A45. (Id. at p. 148:12-14, 503:4-10.) The price agreed upon was $130 per yard initially 

and then $132. (See Ex. 14; Tr. at p. 374:4-10.) Golden View was the only concrete 

supplier listed on the Project, and Mr. Marshall and DOT also understood that Golden 

View would be supplying concrete for the entire project. (Tr. at pp. 444: 12-445 :25, 

482:5-10.) 

Golden View had no prior experience serving as a supplier on a DOT bridge 

project involving A45 concrete. (Id. at pp. 218:12-25, 248:1-11, 278:2-10.) Because of 

this, DOT engineer, Tim Marshall, worked more closely with Golden View. (Id. at 
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218:12-25, 248:1-11, 278:2-10.) Mr. Marshall helped Golden View complete a DOT 

required Mix Design Form, Form 24. (Id. at p. 222:2-9.) Sam signed the form, which 

listed the "Class of Concrete" as A45. (See Ex. 10.) 

At trial, it was Golden View's position that by signing the Form 24, Golden View 

was only agreeing to mix concrete in a certain way that would be consistent with A45 

specification concrete. (See Tr. atpp.153:10-154:13.)DuringMr. Marshall' s 

examination, Golden View's counsel attempted to get Mr. Marshall to agree that the A45 

Class of Concrete is only a name for a mix design and not a class of concrete that would 

withstand 4500 PSI, but Mr. Marshall declined to follow, stating that "A45 concrete is 

4500 PSI concrete." (Id. at p. 251:15-252:9). 

Early on in the Project, Sam expressed his belief to Mr. Marshall that as long as 

Golden View met the mix design criteria, that Golden View was not responsible for its 

concrete not meeting the strength test. (Id. at pp. 288:5-289:2.) Mr. Marshall ''told him 

that that's not true, that this 4500 PSI is a requirement." (Id.) Sam also testified that Mr. 

Marshall told him that this belief of Golden View's was incorrect and that Golden View 

had to also meet the strength requirement. (Id. at pp. 159:21-160:9.) While Mr. Marshall 

waivered on the specifics, he testified clearly that he told Golden View that deductions 

for failed concrete would be passed down from Grangaard to Golden View. (Id. at p. 

296:4-18, 465: 14-466: 11.) Mr. Marshall further informed Golden View about the risks 

involved if the concrete failed the strength tests, including removal of the concrete, and 

recommended that Golden View discuss these risks with other concrete suppliers. (Id. at 

pp. 292:5-293:6.) Mr. Marshall and Sam spoke around a hundred times during the course 
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of the Project and Sam would often inquire, out of concern, about the strength test results. 

(Id. at p. 250: 12-21.) 

In August 2021, within one week, there were four strength test that indicated that 

the concrete Golden View delivered to the Project for the footings for the bridge failed to 

meet 4500 PSI. (See Exs. 16, 17, 18, and 19; Tr. at pp. 509:18-510:21.) One of those 

tests came back at 3530 PSI, which is one of the lowest Grangaard had ever seen. (Ex. 

16; Tr. at pp. 509: 18-510:21.) Grangaard was forced to core into the footing to get a 

sample that reached 3,890, which the DOT eventually agreed to accept, and removal and 

replacement was avoided. (See Ex. 16.) This coring work cost over $16,000. (Ex. 37.) 

During his examination at trial, Sam agreed that Golden View was responsible for the 

costs of coring if its concrete failed strength tests. (Tr. at p. 170:2-7.) Golden View knew 

that Grangaard was coring to try to challenge low test result to prevent Golden View's 

concrete from being removed. (Id. at p.166:12-19.) 

At this time, over concern of the failures, Mr. Marshall approached Jeremiah 

about finding a new supplier to supply concrete for the next phase of the Project, pouring 

the bridge deck. (Id. at p. 301:5-25.) Jeremiah looked but did not find another supplier. 

(Id. at pp. 388:12-389:7.) 

October 21, 2021 , Sam, Brian Waldner, a manager with Golden View, and 

Jeremiah had a meeting at the Project site. (Id. at 345:23-353:20.) Mr. Marshall was also 

on site. (Id.) At this time, the bridge footings were competed, with no concrete needing to 

be removed. (Id.) Golden View was aware of the strength problems with the concrete 

supplied for the footing and asked Jeremiah if their concrete was satisfactory because, if 

it was not, Golden View did not want to pour the bridge deck. (Id.) Jeremiah told Golden 
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View the bridge footings were "all good." (Id.) Jeremiah testified that meant that the 

concrete was good in that it did not need to be removed. (Id. at 389:11-16, 539:2-12.) 

At this meeting Golden View also demanded payment of an outstanding invoice 

amount of $16,154.58, and informed Grangaard that it would not pour the bridge deck, as 

previously agreed, if this amount was not paid. (Id. at pp. 172:14-173:7, 345:23-346:11.) 

Jeremiah paid that amount then, and upon such payment, Golden View agreed to 

continue to supply concrete for the bridge deck. (Id.) Also during the meeting, Golden 

View requested half-payment for the bridge deck pour on the day that it was poured. (Id. 

at p. 346: 12-25.) Jeremiah testified that he agreed to make such payment so long as there 

were no failed tests that would result in payment deductions. (Id. at pp. 539: 13-540:8.) 

On the day of the bridge-deck pour, it became clear that there would be 

deductions for the "slump" of the concrete. (Id. at pp. 463:7-464:3; see also Exs. 20, 21, 

and 22.) Once Mr. Marshall returned to his office the next day, he informed Jeremiah that 

the current estimate for the deductions was $27,000. (Tr. at pp. 463 :7-464:3.) Golden 

View was also aware of this. (Id. at pp. 139:6-140:6.) Golden View never requested half 

payment on that day and did not issue an invoice stating that it was entitled to such 

payment. (Id. at pp. 540:24-542:21.) 

At the time of the bridge-deck pour, the DOT estimated payment deductions that 

would result from the known strength-test failures and withheld payments to Grangaard 

based on this. (See id. at p. 258: 13-17.) The first official deduction, however, was not 

issued until nearly two weeks after the bridge was poured. (Id. at p. 464: 17-24.) 

On November 9, 2021, Golden View submitted its final invoice to Grangaard in 

the amount of $89,343.32. (Ex. 14 at p. 3.) On December 14, 2021, Golden View sent 
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Grangaard an email inquiring as to when it can expect payment on the final invoice. (Ex. 

44; Tr. at p. 365:7-24.) Grangaard responded stating that it is "waiting on the test results 

from the DOT before [Grangaard] send[ s] out final payment." (Id.) The final deductions 

were issued until January 24, 2024. (Tr. at pp. 543:2-544:9.) Golden View retained 

counsel shortly thereafter, and the parties ceased direct communications. (Id.) 

At that time, Grangaard calculated all the deductions and other costs caused by 

Golden View's non-conforming concrete and found that they set off the amounts 

Grangaard owed on Golden View's final invoice. (See Exs. 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 22, 23, 

35, 37, 38, 39, 40, and 41; Tr. at pp. 766:22-770: 18.) Based on that, Grangaard did not 

make any additional payments to Golden View. (Id.) 

At the close of Golden View's case, Grangaard moved for directed verdict on 

each of Golden View counts, and arguments were made on Golden View's fraud claim. 

(Tr. at pp. 405: 12-412:22.) The Circuit Court found that there were sufficient facts to 

allow the fraud claim to go to the jury. (Id.) 

Golden View also was allowed to argue on its Motion for Permission to 

Undertake Discovery Regarding the Issue of Punitive Damages and Motion for 

Submission of the Issue of Punitive Damages to the Jury which had been filed prior to 

trial. (Id. at p. 413:3-414:22.) As a basis for punitive damages, Golden View argued that 

Grangaard kept Golden View "in the dark" by not immediately informing Golden View 

of Grangaard's intention to set-off payments with any deductions for nonconforming 

concrete and coring costs (which, again, is the known and customary practice in the 

industry). (Id., see also at pp. 170:2-7, 399:9-400:23, 481:13-482:4, 493:8-25.) Grangaard 

responded, arguing that punitive damages are improper here under SDCL § 21-3-2, as the 
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obligation at issue - paying for the concrete set forth in Golden View's final invoice -

arises out of a contract. (Id. at pp. 414:24-416:8.) The Circuit Court granted the Motion 

for Permission to Undertake Discovery Regarding the Issue of Punitive Damages and 

Motion for Submission of the Issue of Punitive Damages to the Jury, finding "[a]nd if the 

jury finds [Grangaard] is fraudulent and deceitful in basically lying to Golden View to 

induce them to continue to perform the contact and deliver the concrete for the bridge 

deck, I believe we'd have clear and convincing evidence for a reasonable basis for 

punitive damages to be assessed." (Id. at p. 416:9-19.) The Circuit Court further found 

that the "jury could find malice and bad faith on the part of Mr. Grangaard in this type of 

situation [because the jury would] look at what are the terms of the agreement." (Id.) The 

Circuit Court then concluded again that the conduct that could be punished by punitive 

damages was "getting [Golden View] to continue with the bridge deck part of this 

agreement."(Id.) 

At the beginning of the third day of trial, Golden View was allowed to recall 

Jeremiah to testify solely for the purpose of eliciting testimony from him to support a 

claim for punitive damages against Grangaard. (Id. at pp. 430: 10-435:8.) Grangaard 

requested a standing objection to all of this testimony and the Circuit Court noted the 

same (Id.) Jeremiah was first asked to testify regarding the amount of profit Grangaard 

made from the total bid payment Grangaard received from the DOT on the Project, 

$3,612,979.96. (Id.) Jeremiah was next asked to testify regarding the daily early 

completion bonuses of $1,400 Grangaard received. (Id.) Finally, Jeremiah was asked to 

testify as to Grangaard's gross receipts of over $13 million in 2021, and income 

exceeding $3 million in that same year. (Id.) 



In Golden View's closing argument, its counsel, Mike Fink, focused on the 

"sweet deal" Grangaard was getting from Golden View and the profit that Grangaard 

would make therefrom. (Id. at p. 746: 16-474: 17.) Mr. Fink argued: 

And in the bid sheet, if you look at the items related to concrete, the items for 
concrete total over a million dollars. [Jeremiah] testified that just for the deck he 
had built in $400,000 in profit. So there was a lot of profit at stake with the 
amount that he was going to pay Golden View. There was quite a markup. And, in 
addition, he knew that he was going to get an early completion bonus of $1400 
per day, which was lucrative as well. 

(Id. at p. 747:5-17.) Mr. Fink requested that the Jury award Golden View the full amount 

of its final invoice to Grangaard, $89,343.23. (Id. at 757:1-11.) Mr. Fink went on to argue 

that "in terms of punitive damages, quite frankly, that's for you to decide what 

punishment is just." (Id. at p. 757:23-25.) Mr. Fink later proposed that the Jury should 

award Golden View punitive damages in the amount of a quarter of Grangaard's early 

completion bonus, which would amount to $55,000, to punish Grangaard and deter future 

bad behavior. (Id. at pp. 757:21-758: 14.) 

In preparing jury instructions, the Court noted Grangaard's standing objection to 

instructions relating to fraud, deceit, and punitive damages. (Id. at pp. 657:23-5, 683: 17-

684:4, 732:21-733: 19, 739: 12-15.) Grangaard further objected specifically to the punitive 

dan1ages instructions. (684:5-685: 15.) Grangaard objected to the verdict form. (691: 13-

18, 742: 18-24.) The verdict form allowed the Jury to award punitive damages solely on 

Golden View's claim that Grangaard breached its implied contractual duty of good faith 

and fair dealing. (Appendix at pp. 38-39.) 

Thirty instructions were given to the Jury. (Appendix at p. 3-39) These included 

instructions on each of the claims and counterclaims, applicable provisions of the South 

Dakota Uniform Commercial Code, and damages. Upon receiving the instructions, the 
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jury left to each lunch and deliberate at 1 :34 p.m. (the transcript erroneously has this as 

11:34 a.m.) (See Tr. at pp. 743: 11-13; 780:20-22.) The Jury was back in the courtroom 

with a verdict at 2:55 p.m. (Id. at p. 781: 16-19.) The Jury found that Grangaard breached 

its contract with Golden View and assessed damages on that breach in the full invoice 

amount requested by Golden View with no set-offs for non-conforming concrete under 

the UCC. The Jury found that Grangaard did not commit fraud but found that Grangaard 

did breach its duty of Good Faith. The Jury then awarded punitive damages in the amount 

of $50,000, nearly a quarter ofGrangaard's bonus on the project as suggested by Golden 

View. 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

By its judgment, this Court may reverse, affirm, or modify the judgment appealed 

from, and may direct a new trial by the trial court of such judgment. SDCL § 15-26A-12. 

In making such determinations, this Court gives "great deference to the trial court and the 

jury with regard to findings of fact and credibility determinations, but [] review[ s] 

questions of law de novo, with no deference given to the trial court's legal conclusions." 

Harter v. Plains Ins. Co., 1998 S.D. 59, ,r 9, 579 N.W.2d 625, 629. 

Generally, a trial court's evidentiary rulings are reviewed under the abuse of 

discretion standard and are only overturned if erroneous and the error is prejudicial. Fix v. 

First State Bank, 2011 S.D. 80, ,r 23, 807 N.W.2d 612,619. A trial court's determination 

that there was a reasonable basis to submit the issue of punitive damages to the jury will 

not be disturbed absent a showing that the trial court's findings of fact are clearly 

erroneous. Bertelsen v. Allstate Ins. Co., 2011 S.D. 13, ,r,r 38-39, 796 N.W.2d 685, 698-9. 

In regard to jury instructions, the trial court's decision to grant or deny 

instructions is also reviewed under the abuse of discretion standard. Fix v. First State 
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Bank at ,r 10, 615-16. "However, no court has discretion to give incorrect, misleading, 

conflicting, or confusing instructions; to do so constitutes reversible error if it is shown 

not only that the instructions were erroneous, but also that they were prejudicial." Id. 

"Erroneous instructions are prejudicial when in all probability they produce some effect 

upon the verdict and were harmful to the substantial rights of a party." Bertelsen v. 

Allstate Ins. Co. at ,r 26, 695. 

"Whether a new trial should be granted is left to the sound judicial discretion of 

the trial court, and this Court will not disturb the trial court's decision absent a clear 

showing of abuse of discretion." Biegler v. Am. FamilyMut. Ins. Co., 2001 S.D. 13, ,r 17, 

621 N.W.2d 592, 598. 

ARGUMENT 

A. The Trial Court erred in allowing the Jury to award punitive damages 
based upon claims that, as a matter of law, cannot support such award. 

Punitive damages can only be awarded in an "action for the breach of an 

obligation not arising from contract." SDCL § 21-3-2. In other words, punitive damages 

can only be awarded on a tort claim with obligations independent of those set forth in the 

contract. Wright v. Temple, 2021 S.D. 15, ,r 57, 956 N.W.2d 436, 455. 

In South Dakota, "every contract contains an implied covenant of good faith and 

fair dealing that prohibits either contracting party from preventing or injuring the other 

party' s right to receive the agreed benefits of the contract." Nygaard v. Sioux Valley 

Hasps. & Health Sys., 2007 S.D. 34, ,r 20, 731 N.W.2d 184, 193. "South Dakota does not 

recognize an independent tort for breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair 

dealing." Diesel Mach., Inc. v. Manitowoc Crane Grp., 777 F. Supp. 2d 1198, 1211 

(D.S.D. 2011). "Punitive damages are recoverable only when a party can prove an 
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independent tort that is separate and distinct from the breach of contract." Schipporeit v. 

Khan, 2009 S.D. 96, ,i 7, 775 N.W.2d 503, 505 (internal quotations omitted). "Thus, a 

claim of breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing cannot support a 

punitive damages claim." Diesel Mach, Inc. at p. 121. 

Golden View asserted three claims against Grangaard herein~breach of contract, 

breach of an implied duty of good faith and fraud. The Jury found in favor of Grangaard 

on the fraud claim finding that fraud was not committed. The Jury found in favor of 

Golden View on the remaining claims of breach of contract and breach of the implied 

duty of good faith and fair dealing. As demonstrated above, neither of these claims can, 

as a matter of law, support an award of punitive damages. 

South Dakota law specifically states that punitive damages can only be awarded 

on claims of a breach of an obligation "not arising from contract". SDCL § 21-3-2. 

Moreover, as stated by the South Dakota Federal District Court in Diesel Machinery, "a 

claim of breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing cannot support a 

punitive damages claim". Diesel Mach, Inc. at p. 121. 

The Jury did not find in favor of Golden View on any claim that could, as a matter 

of law, support an award of punitive damages. As such, the punitive damage award was 

clearly erroneous and in violation of South Dakota law. Grangaard presented the Circuit 

Court with the opportunity to correct this clear error in its post-trial Motion for Judgment 

as a Matter of Law. The Circuit Court denied such Motion by Order simply stating that 

the same was denied. 

As the award of punitive damages was made in direct conflict with South Dakota 

law, Grangaard requests that this Court reverse the Jury's finding in this regard. 
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B. The Trial Court erred in allowing the fraud and punitive damage claims 
to be presented to the Jury. 

As discussed above, the fraud claim should have never made it to trial and 

certainly never should have made it to the Jury. The Jury ended up agreeing that there 

was no fraud here. Regardless, based on that claim, the Trial Court allowed evidence 

related to punitive damages to be presented to the Jury. There was no reasonable basis for 

the submission of the issue of punitive damages to the Jury because all of the claims here 

arise out of the contractual agreement between the parties to supply concrete. By 

subjecting Grangaard to punitive damages examination, it opened the door for the jury to 

believe that punitive damages are warranted on such contractual claims, and the Jury 

apparently believed as such when it awarded the same. Such an award was prejudicial to 

Grangaard. 

Punitive damages can only be awarded in an "action for the breach of an 

obligation not arising from contract." SDCL § 21-3-2. In other words, punitive damages 

can only be awarded on a tort claim with obligations independent of those set forth in the 

contract. Wright v. Temple, 2021 S.D. 15, ~ 57, 956 N.W.2d 436,455. "A party cannot 

convert a breach of contract cause of action into a tort merely by stating it as such." 

Grynberg v. Citation Oil & Gas Corp., 1997 S.D. 121, ~ 62,573 N.W.2d 493,510. If an 

obligation that was allegedly breached could not have existed but for a manifested intent 

between the parties, "then contract law should be the only theory upon which liability 

would be imposed." Fisher Sand & Gravel Co. v. State by & Through SD. DOT, 1997 

S.D. 8, ~ 14, 558 N.W.2d 864, 868 (quoting Prosser and Keeton on Torts (5th ed 1984)). 

Here, the only independent tort alleged by Golden View was a claim for fraud and 

deceit. As Grangaard argued at summary judgment and again during trial, such claim is 
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barred by the independent tort doctrine because it is based on the contractual promise to 

pay for concrete. The Circuit Court disregarded such law and allowed punitive damages 

on the evidence that Grangaard may have lied to Golden View "to induce them to 

continue to perform the contact and deliver the concrete for the bridge deck." (Tr. at p. 

416:9-19) (emphasis added.) The Circuit Court went on and found that punitive damages 

could arise from "getting [Golden View] to continue with the bridge deck part of this 

agreement." (Id. at p. 417: 14-25.) Such findings are clearly erroneous as the facts and 

claims identified by the Circuit Court as grounds for punitive damages arise from the 

contractual agreement between the parties for Golden View to supply concrete for the 

Project. 

It also should be noted that Golden View was awarded the entire amount of its 

final outstanding invoice for the concrete it delivered for the bridge deck on Golden 

View's breach of contract claim. These are the same damages arising from the same 

promises that are the basis for Golden View's claim of fraud and deceit. As such, this 

claim clearly arises from contract and punitive damages cannot be awarded on the same. 

Even ifthere was some independent tort here upon which punitive damages could 

be awarded, there is no evidence that Grangaard's conduct here, its failure to pay Golden 

View's final invoice, was oppressive, fraudulent, or malicious. Such a finding is first 

required under SDCL § 21-3-2. And even if punitive damages are awardable under 

Section 21-3-2, "before any discovery relating thereto may be commenced and before 

any such claim may be submitted to the finder of fact, the court shall find, after a hearing 

and based upon clear and convincing evidence, that there is a reasonable basis to believe 

that there has been willful, wanton, or malicious conduct on the part of the party claimed 
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against." SDCL § 21-1-4.1. Section 21-1-4.1 provides due process protections to 

defendants facing the prospect of the imposition of punitive damages. Schaffer v. Edward 

D. Jones & Co., 1996 S.D. 94, ,r,r 45-46, 552 N.W.2d 801, 815. 

Here, the Circuit Court found that the ')ury could find malice and bad faith on the 

part of Mr. Grangaard in this type of situation." (Tr. at 419:14-25.) Again the situation 

contemplated by the Circuit Court was Grangaard "getting [Golden View] to continue 

with the bridge deck part of the agreement. "(Id.) As an initial matter, the Circuit Court's 

analysis begins from the improper standpoint of determining what a jury might find 

malicious. Such analysis is to the contrary of the intent of Section 21-1-4.1, which 

requires that judges first serve as a gatekeepers to protect defendants from unwarranted 

punitive damage awards. Without such gatekeeping, juries certainly can and do find 

malice and bad faith in many situations in which punitive damages are unwarranted as a 

matter of law. 

There is no evidence, clear and convincing or otherwise, of any willful, wanton, 

or malicious conduct on the part of Grangaard. Again, the only malicious conduct the 

Circuit Court believed could be the basis for punitive damages is nonpayment of Golden 

View's invoice for the concrete supplied for the bridge deck. Putting aside the 

independent tort doctrine, nonpayment on a contract is not a malicious act. See Grynberg 

v. Citation Oil & Gas Corp., at ,r 62, 573 N.W.2d 493, 510. Therefore, the Circuit Court 

erred in submitting the issue of punitive damages to the Jury. 

There is no doubt that the submission of punitive damages to the Jury was 

prejudicial to Grangaard, as the Jury walked through the door that the Circuit Court left 

open and did in fact award punitive damages. As discussed below, it also seems likely 
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that the punitive damages testimony Grangaard was required to give also persuaded the 

Jury's decision to make a full compensatory award without setting off the nonconforming 

concrete. 

The evidence of Grangaard's profits and income that was improperly presented to 

the jury during punitive damages discovery became part of Golden View's case for 

liability against Grangaard and Golden View's compensatory damages. As such, new 

trial on all issues is warranted. 

When the issues of liability and damages are interwoven and inseparable, a new 

trial on both liability and damages warranted. Maybee v. Jacobs Motor Co., 519 N.W.2d 

341, 345 (S.D. 1994). In making this finding in Maybee, this Court cited to the Supreme 

Court of the United States' Gasoline Prods. Co. v. Champlin Ref Co., 283 U.S. 494, 51 

S. Ct. 513 (1931) decision. Maybee v. Jacobs Motor Co. at 345. A new trial on damages 

alone is not feasible 

unless it clearly appears that the issue to be retried is so distinct and 
separable from the others that a trial of it alone may be had without 
injustice .... Here the question of damages on the construction is so 
interwoven with that of the liability that the former cannot be submitted to 
the jury independently of the latter without confusion and uncertainty, 
which would amount to a denial of a fair trial. 

Maybee at 345 (quoting Gasoline Prods. Co. v. Champlin Ref Co., at 500-01. 

Like this Court, many other courts, including the Eighth Circuit Court of Appeals, 

have relied on the holding in Gasoline Prods. Co. and required that new trials be held on 

all issues unless clearly separable. See Burke v. Deere & Co., 6 F.3d 497, 513-14 (8th 

Cir. 1993). In B urke, the district court improperly submitted the issue of punitive 

damages to the jury. 6 F.3d 497 at 512. The Eight Circuit found that both the improper 

punitive award and the compensatory award could not stand because the "verdict [was] 
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tainted by the improper submission of [punitive] evidence." Id. at 513-14. The court there 

further held. 

Thus, even ifwe agreed that the evidence supports submission of the case 
on the question of punitive damages, which we do not, a retrial to a new 
jury on that issue alone would be improper because the issues underlying 
compensatory and punitive awards are inextricably intertwined. The law is 
also squarely against letting a contested compensatory award stand when 
punitive damages are set aside, as here. Burke offered evidence on Deere's 
net worth and wealth in its quest for a large punitive award. Such evidence 
is totally irrelevant to the issue of compensatory damages. A jury may not 
consider a defendant's wealth in setting compensatory damages. It is 
improper, irrelevant, prejudicial, and clearly beyond the legally 
established boundaries. 

Id. (internal citations and quotations omitted). 

Here, as set forth herein, the submission of Golden View's punitive damages 

claim to the Jury was improper and the resulting punitive damages award should not 

stand. As discussed in Burke, the profit, income, or wealth of a defendant is irrelevant 

and prejudicial in regard to compensatory claims. The same prejudice can be assumed 

here after Jeremiah was required to testify as to Grangaard' s profit, income, and annual 

revenue. Once the punitive discovery evidence was admitted, the same was used against 

Grangaard on liability and the compensatory claims. 

Golden View used Grangaard's profits from the Project and the "sweat deal" they 

got from Golden View to undermine Grangaard's legal right to set-off damages for the 

nonconforming concrete under the UCC. The evidence showed clearly that the A45 

concrete Golden View agreed to supply was 4500 PSI concrete. Tim Marshall and 

Jeremiah testified clearly on this point. Golden View acknowledged that it understood the 

same when it signed the DOT's Mix Design Form. 
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The evidence was further undisputed that certain load of concrete Golden View 

supplied for the Project were not A45 concrete because they failed to meet the 4500 PSI 

strength test. As a matter of law, this was a nonconforming good under the UCC and 

Grangaard was entitled to set-off its damages based on such nonconformity. In the short 

time the Jury deliberated here, it is clear that it did not review its instructions in this 

regard. Rather, the verdict shows that the Jury was impassioned by the profit Grangaard 

made on the project and ignored the law that provides Grangaard with remedy for Golden 

View's nonconforming concrete. Therefore, the admission of punitive damages evidence 

tainted the entire Verdict, and Grangaard should be granted a new trial on all issues. 

CONCLUSION 

For the reasons stated herein, Grangaard respectfully requests that the Court 

reverse the Circuit Court's denial of Grangaard's Motion for New Trial and remand for 

new trial on all issues, with the direction that Golden View's fraud and deceit claim and 

claim for punitive damages be dismissed. 

Dated this 20th day of September, 2024. 
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STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA) 
:SS 

COUNTY OF MCCOOK ) 

IN CIRCUIT COURT 

FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 
o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o 
GOLDENVIEW READY-MIX, L.L.C., a South 
Dakota Limited Liability Company, 44 CIV. 22-40 

JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF 
GOLDENVIEW READY-MIX, L.L.C. 

Plaintiff, 

v. AND AGAINST 
GRANGAARD CONSTRUCTION, INC. 

GRANGAARD CONSTRUCTION, INC., a 
South Dakota Corporation, 

Defendants. 
o-o-o-o-o-o--0-0-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o 

This action came on for a jury-trial on January 8 through 11, 2024, the Honorable Chris 
Giles, Circuit Judge, presiding, and the issues having been tried and a verdict having been duly 
rendered by the jury on January 11, 2024; 

It is Ordered and Adjudged that the Plaintiff, Golden View Ready-Mix, L.L.C., shall have 
a Judgment against and shall recover of the Defendant, GTangaard Construction, Inc., the 
following sums: 

1. For Breach of Contract: 
2. Interest from and after Nov. 9, 2021: 

· 3. Punitive Damages: 

$ 89,343.32 
$ 34,843.89 
$ 50,000.00 
$174,187.21 Total: 

for a total judgment amount of Sl 74,187.21, plus Plaintiff's costs of action in the sum of 
_____ (to be inserted by the Clerk of Court). 

Attest: 
Shelton, Diane 
Clerk/Deputy 

-

BY THE COURT: 1131/2024 1 :51 :57 PM 

~11:i&. 
Honorable Chris Giles 
Circuit Court Judge 
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STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA) 
:SS 

COUNTY OF MCCOOK ) 
o-o~o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o 
GOLDENVIEW READY-MIX, L.L.C., a South 
Dakota Limited Liability Company, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

GRANGAARD CONSTRUCTION, INC., a 
South Dakota Corporation, 

Defendants. 
o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o 

IN CIRCUIT COURT 

FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 

44 CIV. 22-40 

ORDER DENYING DEFENDANT'S 
RENEWED MOTION FOR 

.JUDGMENT AS A MATTER OF 
LAW, OR IN THE ALTERNATIVE 

ANEWTRIAL 

The Defendant having submitted its "Defendant's Renewed Motion for Judgment as a 
Matter of Law, or in the Alternative, a New Trial", and the Court having considered the records 
and files herein, and good cause otherwise appearing, now therefor, it is hereby 

ORDERED that Defendant's Renewed Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law, or in 
the Alternative, a New Trial is denied. 

Attest: 
Shelton, Diane 

. Clerk/Deputy 

-

BY THE .COURT: 
1/30/2024 4:03:31 PM 

~ 
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STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA 

COUNTY OF MCCOOK 

) 

:SS 

) 

GOLDENVIEW READY-MIX, L.L.C., a South 
Dakota Limited Liability Company, 

Plaintiff, 

vs. 

GRANGAARD CONSTRUCTION, INC., a 
South Dakota Corporation, 

Defendant. 

IN CIRCUIT COURT 

FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 

44CIV22-40 

FINAL 

JURY INSTRUCTIONS 

The following instructions, numbered I through __ constitute the Final Jury Instructions of the 

law in the above action. 

P" 
Dated this _l_l _ day of January, 2024. 

Honorable Chris Giles 
Circuit Court Judge 
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Instruction No. 1 
Both sides having rested, it is now the duty of the Court to give you the instructions that 

are to guide and govern you in arriving at a verdict. The law that applies to this case is contained 

in these instructions and the preliminary instructions previously given, and it is your duty to 

follow them. You must consider these instructions as a whole and not single out one instruction 

and disregard others. The order in which the instructions are given has no significance as to their 

relative importance. 

By the language of these instructions, the Court does not intend to imply what any of the 

disputed facts in this case are, or what your verdict in this case should be. 

Each of you must faithfully perform your duties as jurors. You must carefully and 

honestly consider this case with due regard for the rights and interests of the parties. Neither 

sympathy nor prejudice should influence you. Your verdict must be based on the evidence and 

not upon speculation, guess, or conjecture. 

SOURCE: SPDJI 1-20-10 
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Instruction No. 2 
It is your duty as a jury to determine the facts, and you must do this from the evidence 

that has been produced here in open court. This consists of the testimony of the witnesses and the 

exhibits which have been received. This evidence is governed by various rules of law. Under 

these rules, it has been my duty as judge to rule on the admissibility of the evidence from time to 

time. You must not concern yourselves with the reasons for these rulings. You must not consider 

any exhibit which was not received in evidence or any testimony which has been ordered 

stricken. Such things you must put out of your mind. Finally, you must not consider anything 

you may have heard or read about this case other than the evidence which has been properly 

admitted herein. 

SOURCE: SDPJI 1-20-20 
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Instruction No. 2-_ 
The attorneys for the respective parties will present their arguments of the case for your 

assistance in coming to a decision. The order of their appearance and the length of the time of 

their arguments are regulated by the court. While the final argument of counsel is intended to 

help you in understanding the evidence and applying the law as set forth in these instructions, 

final argument is not evidence. You should disregard any argument, statement, or remark of 

counsel which has no basis in the evidence. [However, an admission of fact by an attorney for a 

party is binding on that party.] 

SOURCE: SDPil 1-20-30 
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Instruction No. A_ 
You are the sole judges of all questions of fact and the 

credibility of the witnesses. In deciding what testimony to believe, you may consider: 

(1) the witnesses' ability and opportunity to observe; 

(2) their intelligence; 

(3) their memories; 

( 4) their manner while testifying; 

(5) whether they said or did something different at an earlier time; 

(6) their qualifications and experience; 

(7) any apparent interest, bias or prejudice they may have and; 

(8) the reasonableness of the testimony in light of all the evidence in the case. 

SOURCE: SDPJI 1-30-10 
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Instruction No. ' 

In weighing the evidence in this case, you have a right to consider the common 

knowledge possessed by all of you, together with the ordinary experiences and observations in 

your daily affairs of life. 

SOURCE: SDPJI 1-30-20 
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Instruction No. 6 

Most witnesses are allowed to testify only about what they saw, heard, or experienced. 

Usually, they are not allowed to give their opinions. 

Some witnesses, called expert witnesses, are allowed to give their opinions, because they 

have special training, education, and experience. 

When you evaluate an expert witness's opinion, you should consider the following 

guidelines: 

(1) The education, training, experience, knowledge, and ability of the witness, 

(2) The reasons given for the opinion, 

(3) The sources of the information relied upon, and 

(4) The other guidelines already given to you for any testimony. 

You need not give this opinion testimony any more importance than other evidence. 

SOURCE: SDPJI 1-30-50 
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Instruction No. 7 

The credibility of a witness may be attacked by introducing evidence that on some former 

occasion the witness made a statement or acted in a manner inconsistent with the witness's 

testimony in this case on a matter material to the issues. You may consider evidence of this kind 

in connection with all the other facts and circumstances in evidence in deciding the weight to 

give to the testimony of that witness. 

SOURCE: SDPJI 1-30-80 
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Instruction No. _j_ 

If you believe that any witness testifying in this case has knowingly sworn falsely to any 

material matter in this case, then you may reject all of the testimony of the witness. 

SOURCE: SDPfl 1-30-30 
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Instruction No. q 
In civil actions, the party who asserts the affirmative of an issue must prove that issue by 

greater convincing force of the evidence. 

Greater convincing force means that after weighing the evidence on both sides there is 

enough evidence to convince you that something is more likely true than not true. In the event 

that the evidence is evenly balanced so that you are unable to say that the evidence on either side 

of an issue has the greater convincing force, then your finding upon the issue must be against the 

party who has the burden of proving it. 

SOURCE: SDPJI 1-60-10 
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Instruction No. f 0 

You may have heard the terms "direct evidence" and 1'circumstantial evidence." Direct 

evidence is the testimony of a person who asserts or claims to have actual knowledge of a fact, 

such as an eye witness. Circumstantial evidence is proof of a chain of facts and circumstances 

indicating the existence of a fact. The law makes no distinction between direct and circumstantial 

evidence. 

The jury must determine the facts from the greater convincing force of all the evidence in 

the case, both direct and circumstantial. 

SOURCE: SDPJI 1-60-20 
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Instruction No. { I 

A contract is an agreement to do or not to do a certain thing. The elements to the 

existence of a contract are: 

(1) Parties capable of contracting; and 

(2) Their consent; and 

(3) A lawful object; and 

( 4) Sufficient cause or consideration. 

A contract is either express or implied. In an express contract, the terms are stated in 

words. In an implied contract, the existence and terms are shown by conduct. 

SOURCE: SDPJI 30-10-10 
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Instruction No. l Z... 

The following provisions of the Uniform Commercial Code apply to the sale of goods in 

South Dakota: 

1. "Goods" means all things (including specially manufactured goods) which are movable 

at the time of identification to the contract for sale. 

2. "Lot" means a parcel or a single article which is the subject matter of a separate sale or 

delivery, whether or not it is sufficient to perform the contract. 

3. "Commercial unit" means such a unit of goods as by commercial usage is a single 

whole for purposes of sale and division of which materially impairs its character or value on the 

market or in use. A commercial unit may be a quantity. 

4. Unless the context otherwise requires, "contract" and "agreement" are limited to those 

relating to the present or future sale of goods. "Contract for sale" includes both a present sale of 

goods and a contract to sell goods at a future time. A "sale" consists in the passing of title from 

the seller to the buyer for a price. A "present sale" means a sale which is accomplished by the 

making of the contract. 

5. Goods or conduct including any part of a performance are "conforming" or conform to 

the contract when they are in accordance with the obligations under the contract. 

6. An order to buy goods for prompt or current shipment shall be construed as inviting 

acceptance either by a prompt promise to ship or by the prompt or current shipment of 

conforming or nonconforming goods. 

7. The obligation of the seller is to transfer and deliver and that of the buyer is to accept 

and pay in accordance with the contract. 
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8. Unless otherwise agreed, payment is due at the time and place at which the buyer is to 

receive the goods even though the place of shipment is the place of delivery. 

9. Unless otherwise agreed, tender of payment is a condition to the seller's duty to tender 

and complete any delivery. 

10. Acceptance of goods occurs when the buyer, after a reasonable opportunity to inspect 

the goods, signifies to the seller that the goods are conforming or that he will take or refrain them 

in spite of their nonconformity. 

11. The buyer must pay at the contract rate for any goods accepted. 

12. Where the buyer fails to make a payment due on or before delivery, then also with 

respect to the whole undelivered balance, the aggrieved seller may withhold delivery of such 

goods. 

13. Every contract or duty within the Uniform Commercial Code imposes an obligation 

of good faith in performance and enforcement. 

14. "Good faith," means honesty in fact and the observance of reasonable commercial 

standards of fair dealing. 

15. Remedies for fraud include all remedies available for non-fraudulent breach. 

SOURCE: SDCL §§ SDCL 57A-2-105; 57A-2-106; SDCL 57A-2-206; SDCL 57A-2-301; 

SDCL 57A-2-310; SDCL 57A-2-511; SDCL 57A-2-606; SDCL 57A-2-607; SDCL 57A-2-703; 

SDCL 57A-1-201(20); SDCL 57A-2:-721. 
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Instruction No. / 3 
The following provision of the Uniform Commercial Code apply to the sale of goods in 

South Dakota: 

1. The buyer must pay at the contract rate for any goods accepted. 

2. Where a tender has been accepted, the buyer must within a reasonable time after he 

discovers or should have discovered any breach notify the seller of breach or be barred from any 

remedy. 

3. Where the buyer has accepted goods and given notification (paragraph 2 above) he 

may recover as damages for any nonconformity of tender the loss resulting in the ordinary course 

of events from the seller's breach as determined in any manner which is reasonable. 

4. The buyer on notifying the seller of his intention to do so may deduct all or any part of 

the damages resulting from any breach of the contract from any part of the price still due under 

the same contract. 

5. The burden is on the party alleging the breach. 

6. A "course of performance" is a sequence of conduct between the parties to a particular 

transaction that exists if: 

(1) The agreement of the parties with respect to the transaction involves repeated 

occasions for performance by a party; and 

(2) The other party, with knowledge of the nature of the performance and opportunity 

for objection to it, accepts the performance or acquiesces in it without objection. 
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A "usage of trade" is any practice or method of dealing having such regularity of 

observance in a place, vocation, or trade as to justify an expectation that it will be observed with 

respect to the transaction in question. The existence and scope of such a usage must be proved 

as facts. If it is established that such a usage is embodied in a trade code or similar record, the 

interpretation of the record is a question of law. 

A course of performance between the parties or usage of trade in the vocation or trade in 

which they are engaged or of which they are or should be aware is relevant in ascertaining the 

meaning of the parties' agreement, may give particular meaning to specific terms of the 

agreement, and may supplement or qualify the terms of the agreement. A usage of trade 

applicable in the place in which part of the performance under the agreement is to occur may be 

so utilized as to that part of the performance. 

The express terms of an agreement and any applicable course of performance or usage of 

trade must be construed whenever reasonable as consistent with each other. If such a 

construction is unreasonable: 

(1) Express terms prevail over course of performance and usage of trade; and 

(2) Course of performance prevails over usage of trade. 

SOURCE: SDCL §§ 57A-2-607; 57A-2-714; 57A-2-717; 57A-2-607; 57A-l-303. 
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Instruction No. t 4-
A contract may be made in any manner sufficient to show agreement, including the 

conduct of the parties. 

SOURCE: SDCL § 57 A-2-204. 
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Instruction No. f 'Ti 

Terms of a contract may be explained or supplemented by course of performance or 

usage of trade. 

SOURCE: SDCL § 57 A-2-202 
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Instruction No. }1_ 
An express contract is an agreement of the parties that is created by distinct and explicit 

language at the time of making the contract. An express contract may be created orally or in 

writing. 

SOURCE: SDPJI 30-10-20 
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Instruction No. /-'J 
A contract may be implied in fact. A contract is implied in fact where the parties do not 

directly or expressly in words set forth an intention to enter a contract, but where their conduct, 

language, or acts or other pertinent circumstances attending the transaction causes you to 

conclude they did, in fact, intend to enter a contract. 

SOURCE: SDPJI 30-10-30 
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Instruction No. _LB__ 
Every contract contains an implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing that prohibits 

either contracting party from preventing or injuring the other party's right to receive the agreed 

benefits of the contract. The implied duty of good faith is not a limitless duty. It must arise from 

the language used in the contract or it must be indispensable to carry out the intention of the 

parties to the contract. 

A party may breach the duty of good faith and fair dealing even though that party ' s 

conduct did not violate any of the express terms of the contract agreed to by the parties. 

SOURCE: SDPJI 30-10-40 

GRANGAARD APPENDIX 23 



Instruction No . ..i.!L_ 
Every oral or written contract requires that all parties to the contract consent to the 

making of that contract. The consent of the parties must be: 

(1) Free; 

(2) Mutual; and 

(3) Communicated to each other. 

SOURCE: SDPfl 30-10-70 

GRANGAARD APPENDIX 24 



Instruction No. '2, CJ 

Where the contractor has accepted concrete and given notification of the concrete's 

nonconformity, he may recover as damages for the nonconformity the loss resulting in the 

ordinary course of events from the supplier's breach as determined in any manner which is 

reasonable. 

The measure of damages for breach of warranty is the difference at the time and place of 

acceptance between the value of the concrete accepted and the value they would have had if they 

had been as warranted, unless special circumstances show proximate damages of a different 

amount. 

In a proper case any incidental and consequential damages may also be recovered. 

"Incidental damages" resulting from the supplier's breach include any reasonable expense 

incident to the delay or other breach. "Consequential damages" resulting from a supplier's 

breach include any loss resulting from general or particular requirements and needs of which the 

supplier at the time of contracting had reason to know and which could not reasonably be 

prevented by cover or otherwise. 

SOURCE: SDCL §§ 57A-2-714; 57A-2-715. 
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Instruction No.11__ 

In deciding damages, you are to determine the amount of money that will fairly and 

adequately compensate a party for damages caused by the other party's breach(es). The damages 

award, if any, should put the damaged party in the position it would have been if the other party 

had not breached the contract and/or its promise. 

SOURCE: Lamar Adver. of S.D., Inc. v. Heavy Constructors, Inc., 745 N.W.2d 371,376 (S.D. 

2008); SDCL § 57A-2-701-57A-2-725. 
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Instruction No. 1,:Z. 

The contractor, on notifying the supplier of his intention to do so, may deduct all or any 

part of the damages resulting from any breach of contract from any part of the price still due 

under the same contract. 

SOURCE: SDCL § 57 A-2-717 
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Instruction No. '2 J 
To prove fraudulent misrepresentation, Golden View must prove: 

( 1) Grangaard made a representation as a statement of fact; 

(2) The representation was untrue; 

(3) Grangaard knew the representation was untrue or he made the representation 

recklessly; 

( 4) Grangaard made the representation with intent to deceive Golden View and for the 

purpose of inducing Golden View to act upon it; 

(5) Golden View justifiably relied on the representation; and 

( 6) Golden View suffered damage as a result. 

SOURCE: SDPJI 20-110-20. 
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Instruction No . .1!f_ 

To prove fraudulent concealment, Golden View must prove: 

(1) Grangaard had a duty to disclose a material fact to Golden View; 

(2) Grangaard willfully concealed or suppressed the fact; 

(3) Grangaard acted with the intent to induce the Golden View to alter Golden 

View's position to Golden View's injury or risk; 

(4) The undisclosed information was something Golden View could not discover by 

acting with reasonable care; 

(5) Golden View relied on the misrepresentation to Golden View's detriment; 

(6) Golden View suffered damage as a result. 

SOURCE: SDP JI 20-110-25 
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Instruction No. 2,lj' 

In an action for the breach of an obligation arising from a contract, the jury may not give 

punitive damages. 

SOURCE: SDCL § 21-3-2. 
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Instruction No. '2, {, 

A legal cause is a cause that produces some harmful result in a natural and probable 

sequence, and without which the harm would not have occurred. 

A legal cause does not need to be the only cause of the harmful result. A legal cause may 

act in combination with other causes to produce the harmful result. 

SOURCE: SDPJI 20-10-10 
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Instruction No. Z 1 
It is your duty to determine the following issues: 

1. Whether Grangaard Construction breached it's agreement to pay Golden View for the 

concrete materials it ordered. If your answer to this question is no, then you need not proceed 

further with Golden View's claims. If your answer is yes, then you must determine the amount 

of damages caused by such breach; in such event, you must determine whether Grangaard 

breached it's duty of Good Faith, and whether Grangaard committed fraud; in such event you 

must also make additional considerations. 

2. Whether Golden View breached it's agreement with Grangaard Construction for the 

concrete materials it ordered. If your answer to this question is no, then you need not proceed 

further with Grangaard's claims. If your answer is yes, then you must determine the amount of 

damages caused by such breach. 

Whether any of these damages have been proven, by the greater weight of the evidence, 

is for you to determine. Your verdict must be based upon the evidence and not upon speculation, 

guesswork, or conjecture. 

SOURCE: SDPJI 1-50-10 
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Instruction No. 

Any person who is entitled to recover damages is entitled to recover interest thereon from 

the day that the loss or damage occurred, except: 

1. During a period of time, the person liable for the damages was prevented by law, or an 

act of the person entitled to recover the damages from paying the damages, or 

2. Interest is not recoverable on damages which will occur in the future, punitive 

damages, or intangible damages such as injury to credit, reputation or financial standing. 

You must decide: 

(1) the amount of damages for either party (if any), and 

(2) the amount of damages which are subject to prejudgment interest (if any), and 

(3) whether interest was an element of any contract between the parties, and if it was, the 

rate of interest as agreed to by such contract, and 

( 4) the date or dates on which the damages occurred. 

If you return a verdict in favor of either party, you must then indicate on the appropriate 

verdict form whether you find the such party is entitled to prejudgment interest, and if so, the 

amount of damages based upon which interest is granted and the beginning date of such interest, 

and whether the rate was agreed to by contract. (If there was no contract rate, the Court will 

determine the appropriate rate of interest). Based upon your findings, the Court will calculate 

the amount of interest due any party entitled to recover damages. 

SOURCE: SDPJI 50-130-10 (Modified) 
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Instruction No. Z °f 
In addition to any actual damages that you may award, you may also, in your discretion, 

award punitive (exemplary) damages if you find that Golden View suffered injury as a result of 

the oppression, fraud, malice, intentional misconduct, or willful and wanton misconduct by 

Grangaard. Golden View has the burden of proof on the issue of punitive damages. The purpose 

of awarding punitive damages is to set an example and to punish a party. 

If you find that punitive damages should be awarded, then in determining the amount, 

you must consider the following five factors: 

1. The intent of the party at fault. In considering such intent, you should examine the 

degree of reprehensibility of the party's misconduct, including, but not limited to, the 

following factors: 

a. Whether the harm caused was physical as opposed to economic; 

b. Whether the tortuous conduct evinced an indifference to, or reckless disregard 

of, the health or safety of others; 

c. Whether the target of the conduct was vulnerable financially; 

d. Whether the conduct involved repeated actions or was an isolated incident; and 

e. Whether the harm was the result of intentional malice, trickery or deceit, or 

mere accident. 

2. The amount awarded in actual damages. 

In considering this factor, you should consider: 

a. Whether the party seeking punitive damages has been completely 

compensated for the economic harm caused by the party at fault; 
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b. The relationship between the harm ( or potential harm) suffered by the party 

seeking punitive damages and the punitive damages award; 

c. The magnitude of the potential harm, if any, that the party at fault's conduct 

would have caused to its intended victim if the wrongful plan had succeeded; 

and 

d. The possible harm to other victims that might have resulted if similar future 

behavior were not deterred. 

The amount of punitive damages must bear a reasonable relationship to the actual 

damages. 

3. The nature and enormity of the wrong. 

4. The party at fault's financial condition. 

5. All the circumstances concerning the party at fault's actions, including any mitigating 

circumstances which may operate to reduce, without wholly defeating, punitive damages. · 

SOURCE: SDPJI 50-100-10 
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Instruction No. ~ 0 

There are certain rules you must follow as you deliberate and return your verdict. I will 

list those rules for you now. 

First, when you go to the jury room, you must select one of your jurors as foreperson. 

That person will preside over your discussions and speak for the jury here in court. 

Second, in order to reach a verdict in this case, ten or more jurors must agree with that 

verdict. It is your duty to discuss this case with one another in the jury room. Each of you must 

make your own conscientious decision, but only after you have considered all the evidence, 

discussed it fully with your fellow jurors and listened to the views of your fellow jurors. Do not 

be afraid to change your opinions if the discussion persuades you, but do not come to a decision 

simply because other jurors think it is right, or simply to reach a verdict. Remember at all times 

that you are judges of the facts. Your sole interest is to seek the truth from the evidence in the 

case. 

Third, if you need to communicate with me during your deliberations, you may send a 

note to me through the bailiff, signed by one or more jurors. I will respond as soon as possible 

either in writing or in open court. Remember that you should not tell anyone, including me, how 

your vote stands numerically or otherwise, until after you have reached a verdict and reported the 

same into court. 

Fourth, your verdict must be based solely on the evidence and on the law which I have 

given to you in my instructions. You will be provided a copy of these instructions. You will 

return these instructions to me with your verdict and the exhibits in this case. Nothing I have said 

or done is intended to suggest what your verdict should be. That is entirely for you to decide. 
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Finally, if your verdict is for the Plaintiff, indicate accordingly. If your verdict is for the 

Defendant, indicate accordingly. When you have reached your verdict and have completed, 

dated, and your foreperson has signed the appropriate verdict form, you will report to the bailiff 

that you have reached a verdict. 

You will then be conducted into court where your verdict will be received and 

announced. 

SOURCE: SDPJI 60-10-10 

Dated this __ day of January, 2024. 

BY THE COURT 

Honorable Chris Giles 
Circuit Court Judge 
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STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA 

COUNTY OF MCCOOK 

) 

:SS 

) 

GOLDEN VIEW READY-MIX, LLC, a South 
Dakota Limited Liability Company, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

GRANGAARD CONSTRUCTION, INC., a 
South Dakota Corporation, 

Defendant. 

IN CIRCUIT COURT 

FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 

44CIV22-000040 

VERDICT FORM 

We, the jury duly empaneled in the above-entitled action, hereby find as follows: 

1. Did Grangaard breach it's agreement to pay Golden View for the concrete materials it 

ordered? Yes;A---No:_ 

If your answer is no, then you shall proceed to answer Question 7 below. If your answer is 
yes, then you must answer the following questions: 

2. We assess damages as follows: The sum of$ !f 1/ '3,Jf)' ., ~ relation to 
I 

Grangaard's Breach of Contract; 

3. We further find as follows: 

a. Was interest a term of an agreement between Grangaard and Golden View? 
Yes:';( No:_ 

b. If it was a term of an agreement, the agreed upon rate was l f percent; 

c. If Gjllden View is entitled to prejudgment interest, it accrued on 

11/ 1/Z,l. l (date). 
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4. Did Grangaard breach a duty of Good Faith? Yes:Y No:_ 

5. Did Grangaard commit Fraud: Yes:_No:2(' 

If your answers to questions 4 and 5 are both no, then you shall not proceed to answer 
Question 6. If your answer to either question 4 or 5 (or both) is yes, then you must answer 
Question 6: 

6(a). Do you find that Golden View suffered injury as a result of oppresxi, fraud, 
malice, intentional misconduct, or willful and wanton misconduct? Yes No __ 

If your answer to Question 6(a) is no, then you shall not proceed to answer Question 6(b). If 
your answer to Question 6(a) is yes, then you must answer Question 6(b). 

6(b). We further assess against Grangaard the sum of$ fO I<. 
damages (if any). 

for punitive 

7. Did Golden View breach its agreement with Grangaard bl .3Pt supplying the concrete 
materials it agreed to supply for the project? Yes: __ No:2S__ 

If your answer to Question 7 is no, complete and sign the verdict form. If your answer to 
Question 7 is ~, answer the following questions: 

8. We assess damages as follows: The sum of$ ________ in relation to 

Golden View's breach of contract. 

Dated this_ day of January, 2024. 

Foreperson 
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1 STA!! OF SOVIH DAKOTA I IN CIRCUI T COVRI 1 EXHIB I TS 

:SS 
2 COVHIY OF McCOOK I FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUI T PLAINTIFF ' S 

3 t * • * t t t • + ••• • • • * • + • • • t t • t t • • t * 3 Jlunber Description Of:fr 'd Recv' d 

4 GOLDEN VIEW READY-MIX, LLC, 44CIV22-000040 4 Golden Vi ew Deli very Ticlets f or 130 336 
a Sout h Dal.ot a li.m.ited liability June 9-30, 2021 !except June 16) 

5 cam.pany, JVRY TRIAL 5 
Gol den Vi ew Delivery Ticlet s f or 130 130 

6 Plaintiff , Dlii 1 June 16, 202 1 - refused l oads 

1 -vs- VOL\JME Golden Vi ew Delivery Ticlet s f or 335 336 
July 2 t o July 24 

8 GRANGAARD CONSTRVCIION , INC., 8 
a South Dak.ota corporation , Gol den Vi ew Delivery Ticlets for 336 336 

9 Augus t 6 t o August 27 
Defendant . 

10 10 Golden Vi ew Delivery Ticlets f or 336 336 
* t * * * t * * + * * * * * * * * t * •• t * * t * t * * * Oct ober 22 

11 11 
BEFORE : 1l/E' HONORABLE' CHRIS S . GILES Gol den Vi ew Deliver y Ticlet s for 336 336 

12 Cir cuit Court Judge for t he 1 2 October 29 to Novei,ber 9 
First Judicial Circuit 

13 130 W. Essex Avenue 13 Grangaard/ SDDO I Contract 313 314 
Salem., SD 57058 

14 14 Grangaard' s Bid Schedule wi th 435 4 35 
APPEARANCES: MIKE C. FINK, !SQ. SDDO I cont ract 

15 Fi nl. Law Office PC 15 
225 N. Main Av enue, P.O. Box 444 SDDOI St andards & Specif ications Bool 31 7 318 

16 Bri dgewat er, SD 57319 16 
finl. law@unitel sd. c0:> 10 Contractor Concrete Mi x Desi gn II 0 110 

17 17 (Dot-24 ) fon 

18 
Attorney for Plaintiff; 

18 11 Constructi on Change Or der No. 269 269 
DANIEL R. FRITZ, ! SQ. 

19 TIMO THY R. RAHN, ! SQ. 19 12 Cons truction Change Or der No. 253 253 

20 
Ballard Spahr LLP 

20 101 S. Rei d Street , Suit e 302 13 Summ.ary for Construction Change 
Sioux Falls, SD 57103 Order No . 4 

21 fritzd@ballardspahr .c0:> 21 
r ahnt@ballardspahr. CCllll 14 Invoic e S\lllary for Gol den Vi ew bills 337 337 

22 22 to Grangaard wi t h financ e charges 

23 
Attorneys for Def endant. 

23 15 Certificates of CCllllpliance 119 119 
PRO C!l DINGS: The Jury Tr i al herein couenced on the 

24 8th day of January, 2024 , at 9:00 a.i, , 24 16 SDDOI Letter to Grangaard/1 -11-22 331 331 
in the courtroCllll at the McCool County (!est No. 12/10) 

25 courth:)use in Sal•, SC1.lth Dakota. 25 

Melinda . Songs t ad@ujs. state. sd. us Mel inda . Songs tad@ujs . s tate. s d. us 
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1 I N D E X 1 E X HIBITS 

2 P LAINT I FF ' S WITNESS ES: Di rect Cross Red . Rec . PLAINTIFF ' S 

3 SAMUEL WALDNER 3 No . Descriptim Offr 'd Recv'd 
By Mr . Fink 86 116 

4 By Mr . Fritz 145 182 4 17 SDDO I Let t er to Grangaard/ 11 -3-21 450 450 
(lest No . 13/11) 

5 TIMOTHY J. MARSHALL , PE 5 
By Mr . Fink 208 3 1 2 18 SDDO I Lett er t o Grangaard/11-3-21 451 452 

6 328 (Test No . 14/12) 
By Mr. Fritz 211 3 26 

1 3 2 9 19 SDDOI Letter to Gr angaard/11 -3-21 451 452 
BRIAN WALDNER (Test No . 15/13) 

8 By Mr. Fink 334 367 
By Mr. Fritz 3 5 6 36 9 20 SDDO I Letter to Granfaard/1-11-22 451 452 

9 (lest No. 01/ 01/ IAOl 
JEREMIAH GRANGAARD 

10 By Mr . Fink 371 4 0 0 10 21 SDDOI Let t er to Grangaard/1-11-22 451 452 
434 (lest No . 05) 

11 By Mr. Fritz 395 4 3 1 11 
22 SDDOI Let t er to Grangaard/1-11-22 451 452 

12 DEFENSE WITNESSES : Di r ect Cross Re d. Re c. 1 2 (Test No . 07) 

13 TIMOTHY J . MARSHALL , PE 13 23 SDDO I Letter to Grangaard/1-11-22 451 452 
By Mr . Rahn 43 6 4 80 (lest No. 20/18) 

14 603 14 
By Mr . Fin k 4 66 48 2 24 7-26- 21 luil fr0:> Tim. Marshall 

15 15 t o Grangaard 
JEREMIAH GRANGAARD 

16 By Mr . Rahn 4 89 5 6 1 1 6 25 2-8-22 Im.ail frCllll Tim. Marshall 
By Mr. Fi nk 544 5 6 6 t o Grangaard 

17 17 
ALFRED J. GARDINER, PE 26 4-23-21 Im.ail from. Tim. Marshall 

18 By Mr. Rahn 5 68 59 6 18 to Grangaard 
By Mr. Fink 584 598 

19 1 9 27 Mix S\lllary Sheet 
TIMOTHY J. MARSHALL , PE (Pla i ntiff' s Rebutta l Witness) 

20 By Mr. Fink 601 607 20 28 DOI Interoffice Mao 
By Mr . Rahn 607 

21 21 29 5-3- 21 Not ice t o Proceed 
SAMUEL WALDNER (Plainti ff• s Rebuttal Wi tness) 

22 By Mr. Fink 608 
By Mr. Rahn 

22 30 Pai d Invoi ce for 10-21-21 

23 23 31 2-16- 22 Im.ail from. Tim. Marshall 
BRIAN WALDNER (Pla intiff' s Rebutta l Wit ness) to Golden View 

24 By Mr . Fink 6 11 6 16 24 
By Mr . Fritz 615 32 Scl:m.ucler, Paul , Nohr l ab data 

25 25 for concre te test 
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22 

23 

24 

25 
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EXHIBITS 

PLAINTIFF' S 

IIUllber Description Offr ' d Recv'd 

33 NOWData Results hist orical weather data 
historical weather data 

EXHIBI T S 
D>FEJllll\liT 'S 

IIUllber Description Offr'd Recv'd 

34 Daily Ticket Report 

35 SDD0T Letter to Grangaard/ 1- 24-22 451 452 
(Test No. 18/16) 

36 corirq letter 451 453 

37 Invoice fr"' Northwest Coring 51 6 516 

38 :Invoice from Geotech 519 519 

39 Coring t e st 522 522 

40 Coring test 522 522 

41 Spec bool page 330 330 

42/43 (Hot offer ed) 

44 

45 

46 

Email exchange 364 364 

Grangaard tax re"b.u:n 433 434 

Coring test 522 522 

Plaintiff res t s: Page 435 

Defense rests: Page 60 1 

Closing Arguments : 

By Mr. Fink: Pa ge 745 , 115 

By Mr. Fritz: Page 758 

v e rdict: Page 783 
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JURY 'l1UAL WNDAY , JANUARY 8 , 2024 , AT 9:00 A.M.: 

(There upon, the following proceedings ensued 

in chambers outside the presence of the jury:) 

THE COURT: We're going to go on the record outside 

6 the presence of the jury . It is the morning scheduled for 

7 trial in the Golden View versus Grangaard. case. we 're 

8 getting started a little late because the weather has not 

9 been the most cooperative , but we are getting most of our 

10 jurors to come in. 

11 Outside the presence of the jury, there are a couple 

12 of things t o address. Bot h sides had a dispute following 

13 the mos t r ec ent hearing on J anua ry 3rd. They ar e in 

14 agreement with some items of the Court 1 s proposed order. 

15 did feel like Mr. Fink's proposed order for the most part 

1 6 properly reflect ed the Court ' s r uling. I think there wer e 

17 parts i n Mr . Fr i tz and Mr. Rahn' s or der that more proper ly 

18 r eflected how they wanted me to rule versus maybe how I did 

19 rule on a couple of things , but their order had a paragraph 

20 number 6 that I thou ght was i mportant . 

2 1 And I had directed l!r. Fink to include that par agraph 

2 2 number 6 in his pr oposed order and t hen send t hat to me t o 

23 be signed, which I haven' t seen if that has happened yet , 

24 but that order did clarify some motions in limine that were 

2S important f or today ' s h e aring . 
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5 

3 

Mr. Finl., did you get a chance to wort on that, and i s 

it coming my way to be signed soon? 

MR. FINK: It should be in Odyssey probably first 

4 thing this morning. You know, I take that back. Our 

5 office isn't going to be open for a coupl e hours because 

they haven't done any sncw remval, but as soon as i t opens 

that order will be submitted through Odyssey with regard t o 

8 pa ra graph 6. 

THE COURT: And, Mr. Fritz , any comments? 

10 MR. FRITZ: Is that t he order about -- I don' t have i t 

11 in front of me -- concerning finances? 

12 THB CXJURT: This dealt with plaintiff •s motion in 

13 limine number 1 , plaintiff' s mtion in limine number 2 , 

14 Defendant ' s motion in limine , a couple of t hem. 

15 

16 

MR. FRITZ: Okay. The paragraph 6 I was thinl:ing. 

IHI COURT: !he Court had denied your ..otion in l i.m.ine 

17 number 5 regarding exclusions of evidence of amount s 

18 Grangaard re ce ived from DOT. I did debate that one 

19 a little bit, but I think both sides really ar guably want 

20 parts of it. So that's why i t 1 s like, well , it 1 s going to 

21 come in , but there may be objections at the t ime. I'll 

22 have to rule on it. It 1 s one of t hose things that I get 

23 both sides why you want parts of it. But if you each want 

24 part of it, it's hard to go down that road and not bring in 

25 more , and so I think you're both going to get what you want 
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1 to be able to argue. It I s hard to be the gatekeeper and 

cut things off at a certain point. So I just wanted to 

3 ma ke a r ecord concerning that one . 

4 And then there have been some additional instructions 

5 that have come in that we ' 11 deal with later. But j us t to 

make a record, Mr . Fink had submitt ed plai ntif f ' s 

additional proposed i nstruction number 26 t hat deals wit h 

UCC. I ' 11 have to review that at a later point. And then 

defendant had submitted a special verdict form, and I have 

10 t o compare that with what we already have. I haven ' t had 

11 a chance to do either of t hose yet , but t hose are for the 

12 settling of t he final instructions. Then, this morning, 

13 I think the bigges t thing we have t o a ddress is t h e 

14 preselection and preliminary , and I think the law clerk has 

15 given you each hard copies o f t hos e . 

1 6 MR . FINK: I have t hose, Judge , and I don' t have any 

17 obje ction to any of thos e instructions. 

18 

19 

2 0 

2 1 

22 

MR. FRITZ: Nor do we . 

THE COURT: The presel ection con s i sts o f two. 

MR. FRITZ : Yeah. 

THE COURT: I'll get t o my copy I' m goi ng to use . So 

wai t, and I don 1 t number them W1til I make sure there 1 s 

23 not an issue, And I have had a recent trial where for some 

24 r eas on or ot her I f orgot to r ead the preselect ion, which 

25 wa sn't a big deal. The n ther e wer e eig ht preliminar y 
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1 THE COURT: Sustained. Rephrase your question. I 

2 don• t think he's understanding. 

3 Q. (BY MR. FDIK) When you first had that discussion on 

4 the i;tione where you gave a price estimate, did you have ~ 

S other disaJSsia,, relative to l-tlat you wculd do if Granga.ard 

6 got the project? 

7 A. We• 11 help them out. We• 11 deliver it. 

8 Q. So then, at some point in time, you found out that 

9 Grangaard did get the low bid? 

10 A. 

11 Q. 

12 A. 

Yes. 

Do you remember how you found out about that? 

He called me. 

13 Q. What was said during that conversation? 

14 A. ''W'e '11 use you. We' 11 take you up on the bid. n 

15 Q. okay. was this in the spring of 2021? 

16 A. Yeah. Right before the bridge project, yeah, when he 

17 was starting work on it. 

18 Q. Let's talk about this telephone call. During this 

19 phone call what do you raaember the two of ycu discussing? 

20 A. well, we discussed the price. we discussed first-time 

21 customers and the payments. I mean, we only allow so 

22 much -- what they call it? 

23 Q. Credit? 

24 A. Credit, yeah. And we like to be paid, like, monthly. 

25 Q. Did you talk about interest at that point? 
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1 A. Never talked about interest. 

2 Q. Okay. Did that ever come up later? 

3 A. No. We had no e xcuse to even put it on. It's just on 

4 our ticket on the bottom. 

5 Q. So what interest do you put on the tickets? 

6 A. I think it ' s 1 and a half percent, 1 and a half or 

7 18 percent or - -

8 Q. So during this conversation where Mr. Grangaard tells 

9 you he got the bid, you say you talked about first-time 

10 credit. What do you mean by that? 

11 A. Well, we usually allOW' anywhere from 5- to $10,000 

12 a month or something like that. 

13 Q. Okay. And what was his r esponse to yow: statement to 

14 Mr. Grangaard? 

15 A. Just small talk, nothing -- we just try to inform 

16 every new customer that way. 

17 Q. During that prune call did Mr. Grangaard ever tell you 

18 what his obligations would b e unde r the contract he had 

19 with the state? 

20 A. !lo. 

21 Q. Did he ever show you any part of the contract he had 

2 2 with the state? 

23 A. !lo. 

24 Q. Did Mr. Grangaard ever provide you with any document 

25 that would memorialize what the agreement was? 
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1 A. No. 

Q. And during this telephone call where he told you that 

3 he had the bid, did he tell you about hOW' many yards of 

4 concrete he needed? 

5 A. No. I don' t think he had a ell.le on it as far as that. 

Q . Did you make any guarantees about performance of the 

concrete? 

8 A. No, not in performance. But I kind of promised him 

he ' s going to be first; whenever he calls and he locks in, 

10 that day is yours. 

11 Q. 

12 

So for that price it would be that day. 

I want to talk about the guarantees. Can you 

13 guarantee how concrete is going to perform after it gets to 

14 the job site? 

15 A. Not r eally. 

16 Q. Explain to the jury why that is. 

17 A. Well , cement dehydrates. I mean, when you put 

18 concrete on a pile, that ' s just the way it' s going to be. 

19 It •s got to be taken care of. 'Ihere •s elements. There •s 

20 heat. '!here's time span. '!here' s how to lay it 0Ut or the 

21 condition of the weather, rain or shine. I mean, there ' s 

22 so many things. Just like if you give somebody a cherry 

23 pie, you go home and bake it. If the ove n goes haywire, 

24 goes up to 1000 degrees, the pie is not going to turn out. 

25 And that •s the way the c ement truck is. I mean the way 
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1 cement is. Like I said, the CZll.y thing we can guarantee is 

going out of the plant so long. And after that, the caent 

3 starts to , as we a ll know, get hard. 

4 Q. So if it• s a really hot day, if it's in the 90s, i s 

5 that a risky time to be --

A . 

Q. 

It ' s about the wors t . 

Explain that to the jury. 

A. Well , now it •s alre ady hot. It goes into del"t{dration, 

and it's already getting hotter. So as hot as it gets, 

10 when you put water out in a cold spot, it will hardly ever 

11 dry up. If you put it in a hot spot , it will dry up 

1 2 quicker. So if it shrinks too bad and too quick , it 

13 cracks. It just -- it •s just got to b e taken care of. You 

14 can't just lay it out and think it's going t o wait for you 

15 or you can do something else or you can skimp. You only 

16 got one chanc e . It goes through dehydration. It just 

17 t e lls you I •m done in so many hours if it's getting that 

18 hot. And most of the state will not l e t you pow: after 

19 they ' ll start questioning after 90 degrees. 

2 0 Q. So what about humidity and wind? Are those i.n;)ortant 

2 1 factors? 

22 A. Wind is worse than tumidity. Humidity is ki.rxl of nice 

23 becaus e it doesn't dry it out so fast. 

24 Q . Is concrete curing s lOW'ly b etter than concrete curing 

25 quickly? 
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1 Q . So nd>ody had told you that there was ~ prdJlem with 

2 any strength testing? 

3 A. No. 

4 Q. Did Jeremiah tell you that he wanted to go get 

S concrete elsewhere, or did he tell you he would keep ~ing 

6 concrete from you? 

7 A. Well, I asked him a couple times if he was satisfied 

8 or something is wrong, if he was satisfied with our plant. 

9 He said everything is good, it will turn out fine, the test 

10 will tun1 out fine. Everything was good he brought up. 

11 Q. Were you concen1ed that maybe some tests had not 

12 turned out fine? 

13 A. 

14 Q. 

How would I know? 

Nobody told you? 

15 A. Nobody told me . 

16 Q. So ho,, did payment get made that day? Did he come up 

17 with the money he owed? 

18 A. Well, it didn't show up in the mail, so I was forced 

19 to go back to him again. 

20 Q. It did or did not show up in the mail? 

21 A. It did not show up. It never did shOW" up . It never 

22 come and we sent it back. 'lhere was no check in the mail . 

23 Q. Did payment ge t made, though, b efore you saw him? 

24 A. :I don't Jal0W' where he got it from.. He probably signed 

25 it or had to nn to the shop and get one. so that was paid 
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1 off. The bottom deck was paid off. 

2 Q. And was that done the day of this meeting or 

3 some time --

4 A. You ' d have to as k Brian. I don ' t knOW" the date the 

5 check arrived or they made the deal , but it was taken care 

6 of. 

7 Q. J e remiah Grangaard, did he make any other statements 

8 about what he would do after the concre t e was poure d in 

9 t erms of pay? 

10 A . Well , that was in the meeting. Me, Brian, and 

11 Jeremiah said that's a big pour. :It's like 500 yards. We 

12 want 50 percent down the day it was poure d , and we would 

13 let it go for the month, for the r es t r emaining. 

14 Q . 

15 A. 

Did J e r emiah Grangaard agree t o that? 

He agreed to that. 

16 Q . Did he ever tell you that he was thinking about not 

17 paying you? 

18 A. :It n e v e r ca me up. 

19 Q . Based on his actions, did you believe him when he said 

2 0 h e would pay unde r those t e rms ? 

2 1 A. Absolutely. Like :I said , we were on good terms. 

2 2 Q. Did he do anything that day that cause d you to doubt 

23 whether you would ge t p a id? 

24 A. Absolutely. He was a lways very -- whatever he said, 

25 that's what I took. And when I suggested s omethin;J, we had 
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1 a good relationship. 

Q. Through that point in time, had he ever made any 

3 corwersation or made any statements to you about him being 

4 penalized or not fulfilling his contract with the DOT? 

5 A. No. 

Q. 

A. 

So the deck was poured? 

Yes. 

8 Q. Were you told of any problems with the dec k concre t e ? 

A. 'lhe 00T called me up in the middle of the day. :I kind 

10 of put it back together why he called about slump. we 

11 talked about slump. We talked about temperature. We 

12 talked about the time it's in the truck. So the trucker 

13 couldn ' t r e ach the othe r side. So there was a problem 

14 created in the middle of the bridge. 'lhat ' s the way :I s aw 

15 it. They neve r stoppe d the trucks coming. The pumpe r 

16 needs to be moved, and you can ' t go across the bridge. He 

17 has to go probably five to seven miles around that section 

18 and come around the other side and set up. And the purrc,e r 

19 is very slOW". :It reaches out like 110 feet. So it ' s just 

2 O v ery slOW". Just the proces s of folding up the purrc,e r can 

21 take up to 15, 20 minutes. And then going around, there's 

22 a time span, so the sl'Ulfl) was off . It was getting off . 

23 Those trucks we r e mixed, and they're not being unloaded, 

24 and it ' s in the middle of t he day. 

25 so DOT calls me up and s ays , "S om.ething•s wrong with 
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1 your slump. " And I told him the situation. ":I add water. 

That will keep it to a 4.5. What e lse can we do? " But 

3 then he said, ' 'We ll, if it goes straight up, we'll have to 

4 s hut clown." Well, we were suppos ed to be s hut clown while 

5 they moved, but they never shut the plant clown. So that's 

the cond ition of it . 

Q. So did an:rt>ody from. Grangaard call you and tell yc:u to 

de l a y while the y we r e moving the ir pumpe r around? 

A. No. 

10 Q. If they had c a lled you and told you to wait mile they 

11 moved their equipment, wcul.d you have been able to do that? 

1 2 A. Absolutely, y es . 

13 Q. And was the DOT and was Grangaa rd able to correct the 

14 s lump on the p r ojec t then? 

15 A. I was busy. I would a ssLDne they did. The process 

16 kept on g oing . We fin i s h e d the res t of the b r i dge and 

17 eve rything. We finished the pro j ect, and everything as f ar 

18 as :I know went r eally s moo t h o t h e r than t hat. 

19 Q . NOW' I 'm showing you what ' s been marked a s Exhibi t 14. 

2 0 Can you look through those pages and then t ell me what that 

2 1 is ? 

2 2 A. That would b e a billing sheet. s ee , we make 

23 duplica t es of e v ery copy we sent with t h e t ruc k. So 

24 there •s t wo copi es . 'lhe secre t ary get s one; tha t would 

25 b e Brian. And one get s in t h e truck , deliver e d to t h e 
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1 and then we'll start with the cross-examination. 

2 MR. !'RITZ: Thank you, Your Honor. 

3 THE CO\IRI: Also, for i,y record, all the attorneys and 

4 the parties, as well as all of our jurors , have returned 

S following the break. We can proceed now. 

6 CROSS -EXAMINATION 

7 B'l MR. FRITZ: 

8 Q. Good aftemoon, Mr. Waldner. My name is Dan Fritz. I 

9 represent Grangaard Construction. 

10 Sir, we've heard some statanents already in this trial 

11 about whether there was a contract. You had a contract 

12 with Grangaard, did you not? 

13 A. What kind of contract? 

14 Q. 

15 A. 

16 Q. 

Did you have a contract? 

No. 

Okay. 

17 A. Just a verbal that we' re going to deliver concrete. 

18 Q. That verbal was an agreement and it was a binding 

19 agreement? 

20 A. You could say. 

21 Q. You knOW" that Golden View in this case is claiming 

22 a breach of contract? You do know that? 

23 A. No. 

24 Q. Okay. rn any event, you had an agreement that you 

25 f eel was binding b e tween you and Grangaard? 
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1 A. Yeah. I was the contact person, and I take orders 

2 from him, yes. 

3 Q. And that agreement had obligations on behalf of 

4 Grangaard, and it had obligations er,, behalf of Gold.en ViE!W'; 

5 right? 

6 A . Yeah. On my part, yeah. We delivered, and he 

7 ordered. 

8 Q. If you'd just answer my question it will move along 

9 fas t er. 

10 A . Yeah. 

11 Q. Obviously this trial is about a bridge project, and 

12 people know what a bridge is. Golden ViE!W' agreed from the 

13 outs e t to supply the concrete for the entire project , 

14 didn't it? 

15 A. 'lhat never came up. We just told them that we will 

16 help them out . 

17 Q. Sir, it will go a lot faster if you'll just answer the 

18 question. 

19 A. 

2 0 Q. 

2 1 A. 

Okay. No, it didn't. 

You did not agree to - -

No. 

22 Q. Okay. Do you r e membe r having your deposition taken? 

23 A. Yeah. Some of it. 

24 Q . Okay. You were in an office, and Mr. Rahn asked you 

25 some questions , and Mr . Fink a s k e d you some questions. 

Melinda. Songstad@ujs. state. sd. u s 

145 

146 

1 A. 

Q. 

3 A. 

Yeah. 

You remember you were W1der oath at that time? 

Yes. 

4 Q . You affirmed to tell the truth; right? r 'm going to 

5 show you a transcript of that deposition. I'm going to 

open it here to page 35 , and I' 11 represent that is the 

transcript of your deposition where you affirmed to tell 

8 the truth. At page 35 , if you would move to line 11. Do 

you see that? Do you want some help? 

10 A. nso let me put it this way. Did you understand __ .. 

11 Q. No, no, no. Do you see where I'm at? 

12 A. Yes. 

13 

14 

15 

16 Q. 

THE a>URT: Yeah. There ' s four pages on the one page . 

MR. FRITZ: I think he ' s got it. 

THE WITNESS: 'leah. 

(BY MR. FRrI'Z) So you• 11 see there that the question 

17 was asked of you: "So let me put it this way. Did you 

18 Wlderstand that you were provide d concre t e for the entire 

19 project?'' What was your answer? What was your answer 

20 there ? 

21 A. Wait a min.lte. Let me read the line first. " Let me 

22 put it this way . Did you unders t and that you were --" 

23 well , y eah. Ye s . 

24 Q. Okay. So you did. You did agree to supply concrete 

25 for the entire proje ct? 
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1 A. In that form, yes. We had a verbal agreement, yeah. 

Q. Do you want to change your testimony t oday? 

3 A. No. I kind of promised them I ' ll help them out , we'll 

4 work with them. 

5 Q. My question is did you agree to provide concrete for 

the entire bri dge project? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Okay. Thank you. 

And you agreed to St.l)ply -- the ccric:rete that you said 

10 you ' d supply was n't just a n;y kind of concrete, was it? 

11 A. It was A45. 

1 2 Q. A45. And J e remiah Grangaard told you it ' s got to be 

13 A45 , didn I t h e ? 

14 A. Yes. 

15 Q. And you agreed that the concrete would meet the s pecs 

16 for A45 , didn't you? 

17 A. What specs are you talking about now? 

18 Q. 

19 A. 

2 0 Q. 

2 1 A. 

22 Q. 

The s t a t e spe cs for A45 . 

I didn ' t know any state s pecs . 

You didn't know them at the time? 

I never know them. I don't even know them now. 

Okay. In fact , you t estifie d earlier that you 

23 thought , or ma:,,t,e still think, that 4 000 PSI might be the 

24 right strength? 

25 A. Migh t . According to my mix designs at the plant, 
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1 looking at these mix designs would be stronger. 

2 Q. Okay. But you think it's 4000 PSI for A45 concrete? 

3 A. I think it's more, because my 4000 is a 6 bag; the A45 

4 is a 7 . 2 bag. 

S Q. You're a concrete SLf?Plier for state projects; is that 

6 right? 

7 A. Occasionally. 

8 Q. And the state r equires A45 concrete for bridge 

9 projects , doesn't it? 

10 A. It depends . They've got an M6 too. 

11 Q. But at times they require A45 concrete? 

12 A. Most of the time. 

13 Q. And you're telling me you don't know' what the specs 

14 are for A45 concrete; is that right? 

15 A. No. 

16 Q. That's not right? 

17 A. It ' s a mix design to me. 

18 Q. But what I'm asking you is , you don't kllOW' what the 

19 specs are for A45 concrete? 

20 A. Like I said --

21 MR. FINK: I'm going to object as being ambiguous 

22 unless he clarifies what specs he 1 s talking about. Mix? 

23 Strength? Slump? 

24 THE COURT: Objection sustained. Perhaps you can 

25 r ephrase the que stion. 
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1 Q. (BY to£. FRrI'Z) Okay. I think you told me earlier you 

2 didn't knOW' at the time, and you still don't J,::nc,r,f, what the 

3 specs are for A45? 

4 A. I did. See, I 

5 

6 

MR. FINK: I'm going to object as ambiguous again. 

THE COURT: It' s overruled. I think his answ,,r will 

7 stand that he didn't see any specs for it. 

8 Q. (BY l!IR. FRITZ) Okay. And you don't kno,, ,mat they 

9 are? 

10 A . No. 

11 Q. Okay. :rn your plant there you have mix designs that 

12 are intended -- e xClBe me, are identified as, for instance, 

13 3000 PSI mixes; right? 

14 A. 

15 Q. 

16 A . 

17 Q. 

18 A. 

It 's a code . 

Right. 

It's just a code , like thi s A45 is a code. 

I understand. 

I've got 30 mix d esigns in my plant. 

19 Q. Do you l a be l them at times or identify them as, for 

2 0 instance, 3000 PSI mix? 

2 1 A. It's just a code. It would be like a 4 , just for my 

2 2 reference. 'lhe older guys put down -- they would order a 6 

23 bag, and my mix design would run -- I call it a 4000 , but 

24 it u sually comes back a t 4600 PSI. So it 's not actually 

25 4000 ; it's actually more than 4000. So it's j ust a code. 
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1 Q. 'lhat 's what I mean. You identify them as 4000 or 3 000 

or 3500, don't you? Your mixes? 

3 A. rn a way, yes, 3000 or 4000. lind you go up to this 

4 other --

5 Q. JUst answer my question, sir , just to move things 

along. We' re trying to get done here today. 

A. Yeah. 

8 Q. 1ind when you say it ' s a 4000 mix, that means it will 

meet 4000 pounds per square inch of compression testing; 

10 right? 

11 A. 

12 Q. 

13 A. 

No. 

:It's just you pick the code? 

Just the code, just pick a number. 

14 Q. Okay. rn this case you agreed to provide A45. Do you 

15 know what the 45 means? 

16 A. 

17 Q. 

18 A. 

19 Q. 

20 A. 

Code. 

Other than being -- it ' s a random number? 

It's a random numbe r. 

Okay. 

Like an M6, like I told you. 

21 Q. Certainly you knew' , when you agreed with Grangaard to 

22 supply concrete for this project, you knew that state 

23 bridge proje cts r e quire d A45? Did you know that? 

24 A. Yeah. That's what he called for. 

25 Q. And you knew that the s tate require d that the A45 
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1 concrete meet certain specs? 

3 

4 

5 

MR. FINK: Objection. Ambiguous. 

THE WITNESS: We went through that alre ady. 

THE COURT: Obj ec:tion sustained. I'm not sure 

if that's the best way to describe it. 

Q . (BY MR . FRrrZ) Okay . Did you know that the state 

required that the concrete, that A45 concrete meet certain 

specifications? 

A. No. 

10 Q. Okay. You knew' that your customer, Grangaard, needed 

11 A45 concrete? 

1 2 A. 

13 Q. 

Yes. 

But you didn ' t know what t h a t meant? 

14 A. I know what it meant. 

15 Q. You knew how to mix it? 

16 A . I knew how to mix i t . 

17 Q. Beyond that , you didn't know what it meant? 

18 A. I knew' it was stronger cement than r egular home base 

19 4000. 

2 0 Q . And you• re h ere t estifying that Jeremiah Grangaard 

2 1 didn •t say anything about hOW' that concrete had to perform? 

22 A. No. 

23 MR. FRITZ : Can I publish an exhibit that ' s already 

24 b een ad.mi t t e d? 10 ? 

25 THE COURT: I can see that from h ere . 
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1 MR. FRITZ : I just want to show the jury. 

2 THE COURT: Mr. Finl, any obJection? There's a blowup 

3 of 10. 

4 

5 

6 Q. 

7 A. 

8 Q. 

9 A. 

MR. FINK: No objection, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: All right. You can publish. 

(BY MR. FRrrZ) Do you have Exhibit 10 there, sir? 

i: think i: 've got it in my memory. 

Okay. And you signed that form , didn't you? 

Yes. 

10 Q. And that •s the mix design form. It has mix design 

11 material in here that you testified about, and that ' s your 

12 signature there; is that right? 

13 A. Yes. 

14 Q. But over here it says "class of concrete," does it 

15 not? 

16 A. Yes. 

17 Q. 1'nd it says "A-45." 'Ihat's the class of concrete that 

18 you agreed to provide; is that right? 

19 A. Mix design. 

20 Q. well, it doesn't say a mi>< design, does it? 

21 A. That ' s what we call it in the field. 

22 Q. But this says "class of concrete"; is that right? 

23 A. Makes sense. 

24 Q. And you agreed to that by signing here? 

25 A. 

1 Q. 

2 A. 

3 Q. 

Yeah. 
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Do you ever refer to an A45 mix as a 4500 mix? 

Not really. 

Have you ever? 

4 A. I've tested it. It comes back 6100. So why would I 

5 call it 4500? It ' s just a code. 

6 Q . Okay. If you properly mix or follow an A45 mix, will 

7 you get A45 concrete? 

8 A. Not really. We thought we'd explained that earlier. 

9 cement doesn't stop. It deh;ydrates, so it can't -- if it's 

10 mixed, it's supposed to be a Class 4, whatever it's 

11 supposed to be, spec. It will do that, but the elements 

12 like weather and sitting in a truck and heat , so many 

13 things that can factor it. 

14 Q. Before you get in the truck and you mix the A45 miK 

15 design -- you follow that? -- would you expect to get A45 

16 concrete? 

17 A. I think I've got a good hunch 

18 Q. Would you, sir , e xpect to --

19 A. I would, sir, if I got so nnJCh -- how would I explain 

20 it to the jury so the y understand it? 

21 MR. FRITZ: I ' d just as soon you'd stick to my 

22 question. And maybe the Court could help me. If he could 

23 jus t stick to my question. 

24 THE COURT: This is the part of the questions called 

25 cros s -examination. 
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1 THE WITNESS: Yeah. 

THB COURT: And, generally, he ' s going to ask you 

3 questions that require a shorter response, maybe a yes or 

4 no. He just wants you to try to answer the questions. 

5 THE WITNESS: I understand. 

THE C'OURT: Now, Mr. Fink gets another chance if 

there's something he wants to follow up on that you can 

8 explain in more detail. 

THE WITNESS: Sure. 

10 THE C'OURT: So just try to give answers that are 

11 responsive to what his questions are. 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

THE WITNESS: Yeah. Sure. 

MR . FRITZ : Can you read back my question. 

THE REPORTER : Sure. 

(The reque sted portion of the 

record was read by the reporter . ) 

MR. FINK: I'm going to object as ambiguous unless we 

18 have more information on what counsel thinks A45 concret e 

19 is. 

20 

21 

22 

THE COURT: The objection is overruled. He can 

attempt to answer if he can. 

Q. (BY MR. FRrrz) Would you expect to get A45 concrete? 

23 A. I e xpect , yeah. 

24 Q. But you don't mow whether -- you don't mow of arr.f 

25 specifications that might apply to that concre te. Is that 
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1 what you're saying? 

A. !lo. 

3 Q. :Is that what you're saying? 

4 A. No. 

5 THE C'OURT: I think he ' s answering yes , he doesn 1t 

know the specifications. 

MR. FINK: Yes. Right , right. 

THE C'OURT: Is that true? You don't know of any 

specifications? 

10 THE WITNESS: No. I never seen a spec from the state 

11 or a contract or a -- the contractor usually doesn' t share 

1 2 that with me. 

13 Q. (BY MR. FRITZ) When Golde n View delive red t h e 

14 concrete to the job s ite here on the bridge project, you 

15 understood that it was going to be tested for certain 

16 specifications , did you not? 

17 A. Yes. 

18 Q. You knew, and you t estifie d earlie r , that it would be 

19 tested for temperature ; right? 

2 0 A. 

21 Q. 

2 2 A. 

23 Q. 

24 A. 

25 Q. 

Yes. 

:It would be tested for air entrainment? 

Yes. 

And it would b e t e s t ed for slump? 

Yes , right. 

And those are specificat ions , are they not ? 
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1 A. Yes. 

2 Q. And if the concrete doesn't meet those 

3 specifications -- temperature, air, or slUll'I) -- the state 

4 can reject the batch? 

5 A. Yes. 

6 Q. And Golden View- would be respcrisible for that rejected 

7 batch? 

8 A. Yes. 

9 Q. So both of you understood and agreed that the concrete 

10 supplied to Grangaard would have to meet certain 

11 specifications? 

12 A. Yes. 

13 Q. And if it didn't mee t those specifications, Golden 

14 View would be responsible for the load? 

15 A. Yes . 

16 Q. Okay. Sir I I want to show you what's been marked as 

17 Exhibit 41. Are you familiar with that document? 

18 A. As far as coming up at the bridge project, no, never 

19 seen it. 

20 Q. You' r e not familiar with that document? 

21 A. No. I'm familiar with it but did not read it. 

22 Q . What is it? 

23 A. Construction of concrete . 

24 Q. 'Ihere' s specifications for concrete; right? 

25 MR. FINK: I'm going to object as to relevance and 
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1 foundation. 

THE COURT: Sustained at this point. I guess I'd ask 

3 for a little more foundation, because first he indicated he 

4 wasn • t familiar with it, and then he gave an indication 

5 that he has some familiarity with the form of the document. 

6 So why don ' t you go back a little bit , Mr. Fritz . 

7 Q. (BY MR. FRITZ) Are you familiar with that docunent? 

8 A. I never seen it, but the numbers are h e r e . 

9 Q. You're familia r with the m.unbers but not the document? 

10 A . No, never seen one. 

11 MR. FRITZ: All right. Well , I think -- it's a page 

12 out of the spec boot.. I'm going to offer Exhibit 41. 

13 MR. FINK: May I ask a question for purposes of an 

14 objection? 

15 THE COURT: I'm not going to receive it because he 

16 says he 's never seen it before, so not through this 

17 witness. I ' m not going to receive it. 

18 

19 Q. 

THE WITNESS: I'd like one if you'd share it with me. 

(BY MR. FRITZ) So you s aid that you agreed that the 

20 A45 oonc:rete had to meet certain specificatia1S. Would you 

2 1 agree that it had to meet strength-testing specifications? 

2 2 A. 

23 Q. 

24 A. 

Like I said, the mixe r doesn ' t -- h e can' t -­

I s your answer no? 

No. It doesn't have to meet it, no. 

25 Q. Just so I'm clear, your t estimony i s the A45 concrete 

Melinda. Songstad@ujs. state. sd. u s 

157 

158 

1 has to meet tenperablre specs, it has to meet slunp, it has 

to meet air entrainment specs; but you don ' t believe it has 

3 to meet any strength-testing specs. Is that right? Is 

4 that your testimony? 

5 A. I: don• t follow your question. 

Q. I'm just summarizing what I believe you •ve already 

told me. 

8 A. 

10 

11 

12 

I don't understand. A mixed 4500 --

MR. FRITZ: Just a second, Your Honor. I --

THE WITIIESS: The 4500 --

MR. FRITZ: There ' s no question. Sir, sir, sir. 

THE COURT: Mr. Waldner, you've got to stop. Okay• 

13 Let ' s r ephrase or ask your que stion again. 

14 Q. (BY MR . FRrrz) I just want to summarize. You agree 

15 that the A45 concret e has to meet temperature specs , s lump 

16 specs, air entrainment specs? 

17 A. That I understand. 

18 Q. But it does not have to meet any strength-testing 

19 specs? 

20 A. 110. 

21 Q. Okay. Do you recall Tim Marshall telling you that you 

22 were wrong about that? 

23 A. Rephrase the question a little. 

24 Q. Did Tim Marshall ever tell you, no, sir, you do have 

25 to meet strength-testing s pecs with your A45? 
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1 A. That's why he takes the tes t s. It needs to pass , 

yeah. 

3 Q. But my question was , did Tim Marshall , the state 

4 engineer , tell you, s ir , you do have to meet --

5 A. He didn ' t tell me the m.unbers or specs , no, he never 

did. But it has to meet. The mee t is familiar. 

Q . So he told you that you had to meet strength-testing 

specs with your A45 concrete? 

A. Yeah. 

10 Q. Did you, in response to that, go try to find out what 

11 the specs were? 

1 2 A. Not really, because I had my tests , I knew what my 

13 t est s came back with; and if nobody t ells me anything, I 

14 thought everything was all right. 

15 Q. Okay. After speaking with Mr. Mar s hall , do you nOW" 

16 understand that your A45 concrete has to meet strength-

17 t e sting specs? 

18 

19 

2 0 

2 1 

MR. !'INK: Obje ction, your Honor. Re l evance. 

THE COURT: I think it' s been asked and answered. 

THE WITNESS: That ' s been answered already. 

THE COURT: I think. it's been asked and answered. 

22 Objection sustaine d. 

23 Q. (BY MR. FRrrZ) You understand, don't you, that the 

24 s tate d e t ermined that several b atc hes o f the concrete 

25 deliver ed to the s ite failed to meet A45 sp ecifications? 
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1 

2 

MR. FRITZ: Just a second, sir. 

THI! COURT: They haven •t been offered. So I don •t 

3 know about the knowledge about this, if that's --

4 Q. (BY MR. FRrr2) Okay. Have you provided those test 

S results to your lawyer? 

6 A. Yes. 

7 Q. 1.ny reason to knOW' why we haven't been provided --

8 A. He's got them. He's got one of them for sure. The 

9 last four of them, :I showed them today. 

10 THE COURT: Is this something recently that came to 

11 your attention, Counsel? 

12 MR. FINK: So the one t hat was provided previously was 

13 supplied; it's marted as an exhibit. The others were 

14 provided to me this morning, They were able to find them. 

15 THE COURT: Understood. But there was one previously 

16 provided? 

17 

18 

MR. FRITZ: One was provided last week. 

THE COURT: Okay. 

19 MR. FINK: They were actually obtained by the 

20 engineering company. They weren •t on site. They were 

21 off site. 

22 THE COURT: Mr . Fritz, you can continue . 

23 Q. (BY MR. FRrrZ) So you're claiming here today, sir, 

24 that you tested this concrete at the site, on your own, 

25 three or four diffe r ent time s? 
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1 A. Yes. 

2 Q. Did you ever provide the results of those tests to 

3 Grangaard? 

4 A. 

5 Q. 

6 A . 

7 Q. 

I didn't have to. 

Did you ever provide them? 

Ho. 

Okay. Did you know at some point the state was 

8 challenging the strength of the concre te? 

9 A. 

10 Q . 

11 A. 

The only thing I knew -­

Did you know? 

Yes. Yes. 

12 Q. 1.nd did you lai.OW" that Grangaard was working to try 

13 to defeat those challenges ? He was coring, wasn ' t he? 

14 A. Yes . 'I'ha t 's the only way I found out. 

15 Q. And you core to try to challenge th:>se failed saq:,J.es; 

16 right? 

17 A. 

18 Q. 

19 A. 

Yes. 

You knew Grangaard was doing that? 

I knew that, yeah. I seen it. 

20 Q. And, mearH'll.le , you're sitting on some reports to show 

2 1 that your concrete is good? 

2 2 A. 

23 Q. 

24 A. 

25 Q. 

Yes. 

And you don't provide them to him? 

I didn't know they failed. 

Okay. 
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1 A. I said testimony earlier I didn •t lai.OW" the specs and 

evecything was good. After the coring, Jeremiah said they 

3 were good. 

4 Q. But you mew before -- while the coring was going on, 

5 you knew the state was challenging Jeremiah on his 

concrete, dicln' t you? 

A. They always do . 

8 Q. And you knel, he was hying to stand up for the quality 

of the concrete ; right? 

10 A. Yeah, right. 

11 Q. And, meanwhile, you' re sitting on three or four 

12 different reports that show -- I haven't seen them. I 

13 don't know what they say -- that show good concrete, and 

14 

15 

you don't provide them to Grangaard? 

A. I: didn ' t have to . They wer e good. 

16 Q. All right. 

17 A. Can I tell something to the jury about this tests? 

18 Q. Ho. 

19 

20 

THE COURT: No. fou just have to answer the question. 

THE WITNESS: Okay. 

21 Q. (BY t-E. FRIT'2:) But you test the ccncrete at the site. 

22 Why? 

23 A. My own r e f e r ence . 

24 Q . Okay. But you want to know if it meets strength 

25 t ests? 
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1 A. 'lhat 's wher e I get my interest that I: am comfortable 

with A45. 

3 Q. Okay. But you want to know if it meets c ertain 

4 s trength tests? 

5 A. Yes. 

Q . And you earlier testified that you don't have any 

responsibility to meet any s t rength tests t h e r e . 

A. 

Q. 

10 A. 

11 Q. 

Ho. 

But you want to know? 

I want to know. 

Okay. This coring t hat we t alked about , it's 

1 2 a process. Are you familiar with t h e process? 

13 A. Yes . 

14 Q. Where they actually drill into the coq:,onent of the 

15 bridge --

16 A . Yes . 

17 Q. -- and take a hardened sample out? 

18 A. I: didn ' t wa tch them, but t h at's how it's done . 

19 Q. And then they take those samples away f or coq:,ression 

2 0 pres s ure t es ting? 

2 1 A. 

22 Q. 

23 A. 

Yes. 

So it can b e an expensive process , can 't it? 

Not very. 1200. 

24 Q . We ll, you know there was one coring being clone be lOW' 

25 grade? 
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1 A. 

2 Q. 

3 A. 

I don't know what you' re talking. 

Did you know it was below grade? 

No. 

4 Q. Okay. :If those core tests confirm that the concrete 

S did not meet the specs , ~ as the supplier are responsible 

6 for the cost of the coring, aren •t you? 

MR. FINR: I'm going to object as to ambiguous wtless 

8 we know what sta tute he ' s t a lking about. 

THE COURT: Objection sustained. We' re talking about 

10 several different specs. 

11 Q. (BY MR. FRrrz) Okay. 'lhe core tests are designed to 

12 test strength; right? 

13 A. Yes. 

14 Q. Okay. So if the core tests cane back and confirm that 

15 the s trength-tes ting s p e cs wer e not me t , you a s the 

16 supplier are responsible for the cost of the coring, are 

17 you not? 

18 A. Never h eard. 

19 Q. What ' s that? 

20 A. 

2 1 Q. 

22 A . 

23 Q. 

Nev er h eard. 

Never heard what? 

That it d idn' t pass o r t h at --

Tha t ' s not my que stion, sir. My question is --

24 A. It happens occasionally, but it never happened to me. 

25 so I wouldn • t know. It nev e r happened to me . That' s 
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1 what's out in the field. 

2 Q. 'l'he question, though, was if those core t e sts come 

3 b a ck and confirm tha t the s trength-testing spe cs --

4 A. Yes . 

S Q. - - wer e not met , you as the supplier are responsible 

6 for the cost o f the core tests ? 

7 A. 

B 

9 

10 

11 

Yes. 

MR. FINK: Obje ction. Obje ction. 

THE WITNESS: I think s o. 

THE COURT: Jus t wait. 

MR. FINR: Objection t o rel evance wtless there' s some 

12 contra ct tha t specifie s. 

13 THE COURT: No. The objection is overruled. We are 

14 only t a lking about the cost of t he core tests . l\lld his 

1S response was yes , and that answer will stand. It doesn 1 t 

16 go beyond any other responsibility. The question just asks 

17 for the co st of the co r e t ests. Mr. Fritz; co rrect? 

1B 

19 

2 0 Q. 

MR. FRITZ : Right. 

THE COURT: Okay . 

(BY MR. FRrrZ) So i t ' s yow: t estimony you woul d be 

2 1 respcr1Sible for paying for these tests that confim for bad 

2 2 concrete, but you're not r espcr1Sible f or the r esults of the 

23 p oure d c onc r e t e? 

24 A. No . 

25 Q . You' r e n o t h e ld r esp ons ible ? 
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1 A. No. 

Q. 1.nd you said you didn ' t know that there was a core 

3 test done below grade in this case? 

4 A. All :I seen was the truck part. 'l'hat •s all :I knew. 

5 Q. Did y ou see them in the water? 

A. No. There wasn't water. 

Q. But you would agree that , i f Mr. Grangaard has 

8 expenses for coring that confirm the concre t e didn't meet 

the strength tests , you would be responsible for that? 

10 MR. FINK: Objection , Your Honor. Relevance. No 

11 contract. 

12 !HE COURT: Overrul ed. It's been discussed this was a 

13 verbal agreement . It ' s based on what his understanding is . 

14 So the question can be answer ed. 

15 

16 

17 

1B 

19 

20 

21 Q. 

22 A . 

THE WITNESS : Run i t by me again. 

MR . FINK : Can I have you read it back . 

THE REPORTER : Sure. 

(The r e queste d portion of the r ecord 

was read by the reporter. ) 

THE WITNESS: We n e v e r t alke d about it . 

(BY MR. FRrI'Z) But you would be responsible for it? 

:I n e v er -- we n e v er agreed to t h a t . 

23 Q. But you agree in general you ' r e r esponsible for those 

24 types of cos ts? 

25 A. I n e ve r r ead it in writing; I jus t h eard it from 

Melinda. Songs t ad@ujs. state. sd. us 

1 hearsay out in the field. 

Q. All right. You •ve a ccuse d my client of some pre tty 

3 serious things : Bad f a ith, fraud and de c e it. r s that 

4 right? or Golde n View has ? 

S A. rf it's on the payment side, that would probably be an 

answer for Bria n . 

Q. But have you accuse d my client of be ing fraudul ent ? 

A. Only if he doesn ' t pay. You mow, I didn't use those 

words, but r j u s t --

10 Q. And those claims are bas ed upCZl some argnent that you 

11 were induced or tricked into supplying the caxrete for the 

1 2 de ck f o r the remainder o f the project ; is t hat right ? 

13 A. On account of unpaid bills , y es . 

14 Q . Right. And you weren' t going t o continue suppl y ing 

15 

16 

b e cause the bills we r e n ' t paid? 

A . Yes . 

17 Q. 

1B A. 

19 Q . 

2 0 A. 

And the n h e t old y ou h e would pay you? 

Yes. 

And h e did pay you ? 

Yes . F or the bot t om, just f o r t h e bot t om . 

2 1 Q. And based upon that payment, you contimled supplying 

22 conc r e t e ; correct? 

23 A. Yes . Tha t 's the only p r oblem we h a d wi t h i t . 

24 Q . So that was the only reason you continue d suppl y i ng 

2S concrete i s b e cause h e p aid you ; r i ght? 
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1 A. Yes. 

2 Q. Was there any other reason why you continued --

3 A. No. Jlo. 

4 Q. Let me finish 111'.l' question. Was there art{ other reason 

S wh;y you conti.rn.Jed supplying concrete for the project other 

6 than he paid you? 

7 A. No. It's the only thing I had against him. 

8 Q. 1ind you talked about this conversation a1 October 21st 

9 on the bridge deck with you and Brian and Jeremiah. And 

10 you said some things that Jeremiah told you everything was 

11 good, good, fine. 

12 A. Yes. 

13 Q. Do you have any more detail about 141at he said to you? 

14 A. It's all that was talked about. 

15 Q. okay. 'lhat •s as best you can describe t41at he said to 

16 you; is that right? 

17 A. Yes. 

18 Q. Okay. 'Ihen you said that you were <Med money and you 

19 tried to get ahold of him and he just doesn't respond; is 

20 that right? 

21 A. Yes. 

22 MR . FRITZ : I' 11 show you what's been marked 

23 Exhibit 44 . It's an email exchange. 

24 

25 

1 

2 Q. 

THE COURT: Mr. Fritz, this is my copy? 

MR. FRITZ: You can have that. 
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THE COURT: Thank you. 

(BY MR. FRITZ) Between Brian Waldner and Grangaard. 

3 Are you familiar with that email exchange? 

4 A. 'lhat would be a question for Brian. That's not my 

5 email. 

6 Q . Okay . Were you aware that Grangaard Construction 

7 emailed Brian in December of 2021 and said, in response to 

8 a question about payment of the bill, 'We 're waiting for 

9 the DOT r esults --" 

10 A . I can't recall it. 

11 Q. Okay. Let me finish my question. Are you a,,(are that 

12 Grangaard Construction emailed Brian in Deceni>er of 2021 in 

13 response to a question about payment, saying tha t ''We' r e 

14 waiting for the DOT results before we make payment" ? 

15 A. No. 

16 Q . Okay . There's been some questions about heat and 

17 concrete. Sorry to skip arolUld. The s tate would t e st 

18 right the r e at the site, would they not , the concre t e ? 

19 A. Yes . 

2 0 Q. And if it wasn't within their specifications , it would 

2 1 get rejected? 

22 A. Yes. 

23 Q. 1md if it didn 't meet the specifications, you wouldn' t 

24 take cylinder samples, would you ? 

25 A. No. 
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1 Q. So the cylinder samples, which were used to test 

strength, all passed for temperature , didn't they? 

3 A. Mine or theirs? I don ' t know theirs. 

4 Q. Theirs. 

5 A. I wouldn't know. 'lhat would be a question for Tim 

Marshall. 

Q. 

8 A. 

Okay. But did yours? 

Yes. 

Q. Okay. Sir, do you agree with me that if you, Golden 

10 view, failed to deliver and supply concrete as you agreed 

11 to do I that you should be responsible for any damages 

12 caused by that? 

13 A. 

14 Q. 

15 A. 

16 Q. 

I don't think of any. 

I understand you can't think of any. I 'm just -­

I don't think s o. 

You don't think you'd be responsible? 

17 A. I didn ' t think we delivered something that was out of 

18 certification. 

19 Q. Let me just stop you. You •ve got to listen to my 

20 question. Would you agree with me that, if Golden View 

21 failed to deliver concrete as they agreed to do , Golden 

22 View should be responsible for payment of any damages 

23 caused? 

24 A. I don' t feel we' re supposed to be responsible. I'm 

25 under assumption -- I •m unde r assumption a contract that 
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1 would put me liable to something, but we didn ' t have no 

contract. So --

3 Q • If you don' t perform on your end, you da1' t have to be 

4 r espons ible? 

5 A. No. 

MR. rarrz: All right. That •s all the questions I 

have. 

THE COURT: Mr. Fink , any redirect ? 

REDIRECT EXAMINATION 

10 BY MR . FINK : 

11 Q. So counsel brought lP the cylinder tests and asked you 

1 2 about observations you made. What else did you observe 

13 ~ the state was filling these cylinders on the job site? 

14 A. As fa r as handling t h e cylinders? 

15 Q. Yes. 

16 MR. FRITZ: Objection. We ' re getting into the motion 

17 in limine , Your Honor. 

18 

19 

2 0 

MR. FINK: He ope n e d t h e door , Your Honor. 

THE WITNESS: IOU t alked about the strength tests . 

!HE COURT: t hinl we just talled about t he fac t t hat 

2 1 the tests were conducted while the details of those are not 

22 an area we 1 re going into. So the objection is sustained. 

23 Q. (BY MR. FINK) Did you have concerns about how those 

24 cylinders were b eing handle d ? 

25 MR . FRITZ : Objection. We 're get t ing the same 
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1 the nuct part of the project? 

2 A. Probably a little bit of grading work to get the berms 

3 constructed, and then they would have started with 

4 construction of cofferdams for the piers . 

S Q • Do you remember about when concrete was beginning to 

6 be delivered to the job site? 

7 A. i: want to say June, but i: 'd have to look in the 

8 computer and see when the first test was made, I guess. 

9 Q. June of 2021? 

10 A. Yeah, I believe it ,,._s 2021. I was trymg to think if 

11 it was 2020. 

12 Q. Now-, before any concrete was ever mixed by Golden 

13 ViE'H', did you or someone l.Dlder you go and reviE!'H' the Golden 

14 View concrete plant? 

15 A. Yes. 

16 Q. Who did that? 

1 7 A. Either myself or Mi.lo Hanson would have been his name, 

18 but yeah. 

19 Q. What was the purpose of that? 

20 A. well, when the miK de sign started, the mix design 

21 process, Golden View had done a project a couple years 

22 before for the State, a box culvert, but that concrete did 

23 not require fly ash. So the first thing I was concen1ed 

24 about was whether we would have fly ash in that mix, 

25 because our deck mix design requires fly a s h. 
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1 Q. So did you have conversations with somebody from 

2 Golden Vie,q about the mixes that would be re(J.llred'? 

3 MR. FRITZ: I'm going to object. I 'm not sure he said 

4 he did the pre-inspection. He said it was him or someone 

5 else. 

THE COURT: The objection is overruled. The question 

7 is did he have any conversations. 

B MR. FRITZ: Fair enough. 

9 Q. (BY MR. FINK) You can answer. 

10 A. Can you repeat the question for me? 

11 Q. Did you have any c01111ersations with anyone from Golden 

12 View about the mix design? 

13 A. Yes. 

14 Q. Who did you talk to? 

15 A. Sam Waldner. 

16 Q . 1.nd tell the jury what kind of corwersations you had 

17 with him about the mix design. 

18 A. Well , initially the r e was a mix d esign that was 

19 roughly submitted, but it didn ' t have fly a s h in it. So 

20 the first corwersation would have been it needed to -- or, 

21 by respect, it's 20 to 25 percent fly ash in one of the mix 

2 2 designs. The other mix design for the collnJ'lS and piers 

23 doesn't require fly ash, but our deck mix design r e quire d 

24 fly ash. 

25 Q. So did you discuss with Sam the ingredients that would 
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be required for these mix designs? 

A. Yes. 

3 Q. Were there more than one mix design? 

4 A. Yes. Not that were approved but -- well, there were 

5 two, maybe three that were approved, but t:wo for certain 

that were approved. 

Q. I'm shOh"ing you what has been marked as Exhibit 10. 

8 Can you look at that and tell the jury what it is? 

A. 'lhis is the mix design. It's one iteration of the mix 

10 design, but this particular one -- it may be the final mix 

11 design, but this was not reviewed or approved by the 

12 concrete office. OUr concrete office in Pierre approves 

13 the mix de signs. 

14 Q . So would the Department of Transportation actually 

15 have the approved form? 

16 A. Yes. 

17 Q. Okay. Would that be substantially the same as what 

18 you 're holding except for the signatures at the bottom? 

19 A. Without seeing the final, you know, the actual final , 

2 O it appears that this has the correct admixtures , the 

21 correct volumetrics, correct cement type, fly ash. It's 

22 very close . There may be some minor adjustments, but 

23 that's pre tty close to the final mix design for that A45. 

24 Q. Did the Department of Transportation ultimately 

25 approve all of the mix d esigns used on the bridge ? 
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1 A. Yes. 

Q. 1.nd what happened to those approved forms? Where did 

3 the y go? 

4 A. 'lhey ' re in a file , one probably in Pierr e and another 

5 copy in my office, I would say. 

Q . Do you have any information, as you sit here today, 

that would lead you to b e lieve that Golden View did not 

folla,, the mix desig'l? 

MR. FRITZ: object to this improper e>pert testimony 

10 and foundation. 

11 

1 2 fact. 

13 

14 

THE COURT: Overruled. It leads to fact , question of 

You can answer. 

TH! WIIN!SS : Olay . Agai n, I 'll have you repeat that , 

15 if you would. 

16 Q . (BY MR. FIMK) Well , do you have any information that 

17 would l ead you to believe that Golden View inproperly mixed 

18 any concre t e for the proje ct? 

19 A. 110. 

2 0 Q. Did you actually meet with Sam and help him fill out 

2 1 the mix design that ' s shown in Exhibit 10? 

22 A. Parts of it I did. I remember helping him do the math 

23 work on the fly ash substitution, and at one point there 

24 was a submittal that had diffe rent admixtures that weren't 

25 approved or on the state 's approved supplier list . So 
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1 those were changed. 

2 Q. Now, the actual form. Who creates the actual form 

3 that gets filled in? 

4 A. Well, it's called a contractor, contractor furnished 

S mix design I believe is hOW' it's worded. so ultimately 

6 what I sen:i in -- I may help Sam fill this out because he's 

7 not got that much familiarity with it. So I would have 

8 helped him out, but I would -- when he signs it, he should 

9 be aware of what he is signing there. 

10 Q. And what information is on there? Is there anything 

11 on there other than ingredients? 

12 MR. !'RITZ : Objection. The document speaks for 

13 itself. 

14 

15 

THE COURT: overruled. He can attempt to answer. 

THE WITNESS: This has the aggregate sources, a coarse 

16 aggregate and fine aggregate source; it has the specific 

17 gravity and the absorption. 

18 Q. (BY MR. FINK) It's basically a recipe, isn't it? 

19 A. Yes. 

20 Q. And the obligation of the supplier is to follow the 

21 

22 

recipe? 

A. Yes. 

23 Q. But the form itself, is that a document generated by 

24 the Department of Transportation, if you know? 

25 A. No. The blank form is but --
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1 Q. 'Ihat 's what I was getting at. The blank form is a 

2 Department of Transportation form, but then the supplier 

3 fills out that form so that the mix can be approved by the 

4 Department of Transportation? 

5 A. Yes. 

6 Q. And then, before any concrete is mixed, does the 

7 Department of Transportation send somebody to review 

8 the materials -- the rock, the sand, the other things -- at 

9 the supplier's place of business? 

10 A. Yes. 

11 Q. Who did that? 

12 A. 

13 Q. 

I believe Milo Hanson was the technician. 

And what is the reason for that review? 

14 A. Well , the testing for the aggregates is called a 

15 gradation. But there's a number of sieves, and we test the 

16 aggregates so they meet these sieve requirements with a 

17 certain amount of each size of rock. 'lhere•s -- without 

18 looking at the actual form, there ' s four or five of these 

19 s pec sieves . So that' s one of the tests. 

20 Q. Okay. Go ahead, then. What else do you do? 

21 A. The others are samples of the admixtures, the air 

22 reducer -- or the air entrainment and the water reducer. 

23 So we send samples of those to Pierre, and they're tested. 

24 In this case I think we did send a wate r sample. But 

25 usually if it •s a rural water source or a num.icipal water 
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1 source, we don't need the water tested; but I believe this 

was. And then the cement and fly ash, there would be 

3 samples of those that are submitted to Pierre as well. 

4 Q. Why does that happen? 

5 A. well, we have specifications on all of these 

materials; so the testing is to see that it meets 

specification. 

8 Q. 1ind you do that testing, I take it, because when the 

mix design gets approved, then the department has an idea 

10 of what is inside the concrete when it shows up at the 

11 location? 

12 

13 

14 Q. 

15 

MR. FRITZ: Objection. Foundation. 

THE COURT: Sustained. 

(BY MR. FINK) Bad question. 

Did this test of materials at the Golden View site 

16 happen more than one time, or was it just the beginning? 

17 A. There's requirements for tests every -- there's a 

18 certain frequency for these tests. I dGn ' t know' if it's --

19 I think 3 , 000. Well, that's for an actual base coarse. 

20 With concrete I think it's base d on the amount of cubic 

21 

22 

yards that are batched. So every 50 or 100 , whatever that 

number is, in cubic yards, you'd run another test . 

23 Q. Do you recall if anyone from your engineering 

24 department raised any conceDlS with Golden View about any 

25 of the materials located at their site? 
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l A. No. No. All of our tests passed. 

Q. NOW', when concrete is brc:ught to the project site, are 

3 you or some other DOT technician there to obse rve i t? 

4 A. Yes. 

5 Q. How often were you there during this project? A 

majority of the time? I'm just wondering generally. 

A. Probably more than 50 percent , but not 100. 

Q. So when a load of ccncrete would cane to the job site, 

would you rece ive a docunent from the Golden View tnick 

10 driver? 

11 A. Yeah. Yes. A computerized batch ticket. 

1 2 Q. I'm showing you what's been marked as Exhibit 15, and 

13 I ' m not e xpecting you to go through all of them. But 

14 there's been testima'Jy that these are the batch tickets for 

15 the project . Could you review those? And then I' 11 have 

16 some questions for you . 

17 A. There. 

18 Q. So, as I l.llderstand it , the truck arrives and then the 

19 driver has a batch ticket like that. 

20 A. Yes. 

21 Q. 1ind then you or the other technician will review that 

2 2 batch ticket? 

23 A. Yes . 

24 Q. Did you ever, during the course of this project , 

25 review any batch ticket where you felt there was a mistake 
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1 into any specifics about weather. I do know it was a dry 

2 year. The Vermillion River ran dry that year. So for a 

3 long stretch in that summer it was extremely dry. 

4 Q. (BY MR. FINK) And there were actually some loads 

S brought by Golden View that were rejected by you. TrUe? 

6 A. Yeah. One pour. 

7 Q. Explain to the jury what happened that day. 

8 A. It was hot that day. 1'.nd then when the concrete got 

9 on site, we tested it for temperature, and it e><ceeded our 

10 temperature, and it was rejected. so it was not 

11 incorporated into the structure. 

12 Q. What time of day did the concrete get ordered by 

13 Grangaard? 

14 A. On that day :I'm not sure. It seems like it was late 

15 morning or around noon, somewhere in that time frame . 

16 Q. Did Golden View- brin] the concrete in a timely marner? 

17 A. Yes. 

18 Q. How hot was it when the concrete arrived to the 

19 location? 

20 A. 

21 Q. 

22 

23 

24 

About 9 2, 93 degrees . 

Wasn • t it more like 105? 

MR. !'RITZ: Objection. He's testified. 

THE COURT: Sustained. 

THE WITNESS: The concrete temperature or the air 

25 t emperature? 

1 Q. 

2 A. 

3 Q. 
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(BY MR. FINK) The air temperature. 

Oh, yeah. Yes. It was over 100. 

So you took a temperature of the concrete when it 

4 arrived but before it went into the forms ? 

5 A. It never went into the forms . It was rejected. 

6 Q. Was that Golden View's fault it was rejected? 

7 A. No. 

8 Q. They didn't choose to pour that day, did they? 

9 A. No. 'Ibey were asked to deliver concrete and came out, 

10 and it exceeded the heat level. 

11 Q. Were there other days in June and July lihen it was hot 

12 out during the time concrete was being poured? 

13 A. Not to that -- never to that extreme. I do r e membe r 

14 that we had one short stretch there in June where we had 

15 several days that were around 100; but it's June, so 

16 obviously 85, 90 degrees, I'm guessing, many days . 

17 Q. Did that cause you concern when it was hot out that 

18 the s trength might be impacted? 

19 A. 110. 

20 Q. Why not? 

21 A. 'lhe concem for us and the purpose for this testing is 

22 we're more concerned about the concrete tenq>erature itself, 

23 not the air temperature. 

24 Q. Well, the cylinders , once they're filled with 

25 concrete, what happens to those cylinders? 
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1 A. We store them on site until they 've -- usually about 

12 hours you can move the cylinder without marring the 

3 surface or disturbing the concrete. For these to break in 

4 the COJlt)ressive strength machine, you need a flat surface. 

5 so we let them set for 12 hours. our spec, I think, is 

within 24 hours they have to be moved. But once they got 

that set, then we take them to Mitchell, and then they' re 

8 stored in a water tank. 

Q. So I 'm going to go back and kind of plow the same 

10 ground here, but I want to be clear. Are you aware of any 

11 concrete being improperly mixed by Golden View? 

12 A. !lo. 

13 Q. Is it fairly normal, though, for sane ca'lCrete, during 

14 the course of a project like this, to be rejected? 

15 A. Yeah. 'lhere •s usually some concrete that's r e j ected. 

16 Sometimes for time limits and sometimes for heat but --

17 it's not frequent , but it happens . 

18 Q. And we talked about this in your deposition. Would 

19 you say that the amount of concrete rejected for this 

20 proje ct was more, less, or about the s ame as for othe r 

21 

22 

projects? 

A. About the same, I guess. 

23 Q. So if these cylinder strength t ests fail , does the 

24 contractor have to do anything? 

25 A. In some cases the y have to ; in some they have the 
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1 option. 'lhe way the spec is written is if these cylinders 

don't break at 4500, if they ' re between 4 , 000 and 4500 , the 

3 contract will have an option to core those. 'lhen the core 

4 result will be the acceptance test. If it's below 4 , 000 , 

5 then they are required to core that if it deviates by more 

than 500 PSI. 

Q . "They" meaning who is required to core? 

A. The contractor. 

Q. And if coring i s done and the concrete passes , does 

10 the contractor have to eat that testing expense? 

11 A. No. If it passes , if the cylinder -- or if the core 

1 2 passes , then we'll pay for that testing; if it fails , then 

13 the y have to pay for the t esting. 

14 Q. So if it fails , meaning it ' s got to be removed, whose 

15 responsibility is it to do that under the standards and 

16 specifications book with the DOT? 

17 A. I'm not sure I ' m following that question. 

18 Q. Well, is it Grangaard's r esponsibility to remove that 

19 concrete, or does some other company come in and do it? 

2 0 

21 

22 

MR. FRITZ: Objection. Fow,dation. 

THE COURT: No . Overruled. 

THE WITNESS: Yeah , I would assume that they would do 

23 it. I mean, the y have the e quipment the re. 

24 Q. (BY MR. FmK) But if the concrete tes t s well enough 

25 that it doesn •t have to be removed , but it still tests 
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1 probably going to say that the contractor is responsible 

2 for meeting these specifications. 

3 Q. Have you seen any doclDl\ent that would lead you to 

4 believe that there was a contract between Grangaard and 

S Golden View to follow the standards and specifications 

6 book? 

7 A. 

8 Q. 

9 

i: can't speak to what their agreement is. 

Did you ever -- oh, strike that. 

Now, you understand that Grangaard did receive some 

10 penalties related to the concrete; right? 

11 A. Yes. 

12 Q. But you can't say that arw of those penalties resulted 

13 from imprope rly mixed concrete, can you? 

14 A. Not to a certainty, no. 

15 Q. To your knowledge, all of the concrete met your mixed 

16 design standards that are listed on the mixed design form; 

17 true? 

18 A. Yes. 

19 Q. Jl.nd isn't it true that with the variables related to 

20 concrete, it can be properly mixed but still fail later 

21 strength testing? 

22 A. Can you reword that? Or not reword it. Excuse me. 

23 Just ask again. I didn't catch it. 

24 Q. Well, wouldn' t it be true that with all the variables 

25 with concrete, it might be mixed properly but still later 
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1 fail strength testing? 

2 A. I think that's possible. 

3 Q. Well, it is true? 

4 

5 

6 Q. 

MR. FRITZ: Asked and answered. 

THE COURT: Sustained. 

(BY MR. FINK) You remember having your deposition 

7 taken in this case? 

8 A. Yeah. 

MR. FINK: Okay. If I can approach the witness , Your 

10 Honor. 

11 THE COURT: You may. 

12 Q. (BY MR. FmK) On page 36, line 19, I'm going to read 

13 what I asked and what you answered, and I ' m going to ask 

14 you if that in fact what •s your answer. Okay? 

15 Question: ~And as you said before, there are a lot of 

16 variables with concrete, and so concrete might be mixed 

17 properly but still fail later strength testing. Is 

18 that 

19 And did you answer "Yes"? 

20 A. I did. So it is a pos sibility, and I would say yes 

21 but 

22 THE COURT: Stop. You ' ve already answered it. If he 

23 wants more information, he has to ask another question. 

24 All right? 

25 THE WITNESS: Okay. 
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Q. (BY MR. FmK) NOW', did you ever talk to anyone from 

Golden View about an;y of the specifics of hOW' this penalty 

3 system worked between the Department of Transportation and 

4 Grangaard? 

5 A. I don ' t kn:M' if it was -- it wasn't real specific, but 

I did have some conversations with Sam because I was 

conce:rned that -- well, my general concern was that this 

8 was a new supplier. So, first, I wanted to know some 

things as to whether we were going to be able to get what 

10 we needed for concrete. so that was the first c01111ersation 

11 I had. 

12 Q. My question was, did you ever talk to Sam about the 

13 specific method by which penalties were assesse d under the 

14 Department's agreement with Grangaard? 

15 A. 110. 

16 Q. Now, as I understand it, by the end of August, the 

17 lower parts of the bridge were basically conq>leted and what 

18 remained to be poured was the deck. Does that square with 

19 your memory? 

20 A. That time frame is pre tty -- somewhere in there, 

21 because we poured the deck in October. And I don't kna,.r if 

22 it took two months to get ready or six weeks , something 

23 like that . 

24 Q. But, by the end of 1iugust, you became aware of some, I 

25 guess I ' 11 call the m, suspect cylinde r t ests? 
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1 A. I would have known by then. The first test didn't 

fail, but somewhere not too far into the process , two or 

3 three tests in is when we had the first failure. So I 

4 s uspect that was late .June, s o by around maybe AugUst 1st 

5 we had -- the first deviation was known. 

Q . And, in fact , by the end of August, Jeremiah Grangaard 

knew that he was going to be facing some penal ties under 

his contract with the DOT; true? 

A. well , he at least knew' that it would have to be cored. 

10 At that time, whether he knew what the core results would 

11 be and how it would be assessed, I don ' t knOW' that time 

1 2 frame. 

13 

14 

15 Q. 

MR. FINK: Can I approach, Your Honor? 

THE COURT: You may. 

(BY MR. FmK) During your deposition, on page 44 , I 

16 asked the question: "So would it be fair to say that, by 

17 the end of August or early September, Grangaard knew that 

18 there could b e deductions?'' 

19 Did you answer "Yes"? 

2 0 A. Yes. 

21 Q. Now, at some point in the process, I understand you 

2 2 did talk to Sam about there being some problem with the 

23 t e sting. 

24 A. I ' m sure that I did. My original contact would have 

25 b een through J e remiah. When these deviations happen, the 
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1 contractor has a five-day window to decide whether they 

2 want to core or not. So my first corwersation on that 

3 failing concrete is always going to be with the prime 

4 contractor first. 

S Q. And then is it your policy to let the prime oontractor 

6 have whatever discussions he wants with the supplier? 

7 A. I assume that they would, but it's not for me to make 

8 that decision, I guess. 

9 Q. You try to stay out of the dealings between the 

10 contractor and the supplier? 

11 A. As much as I can, yeah. 

12 Q. But I think you said in your deposition that you did 

13 talk to Sam just generally about there being some 

14 strength-testing problem? 

15 A. I •m sure that I: did. I mean Sam was -- their plant is 

16 only a couple miles apart, and Sam and I were talking 

17 fairly frequently; so I know' he was conc:e:med in asking me 

18 what the test results are. 

19 Q. :rt sounds to me like you don Tt really remember the 

20 details of the conversation. Or am I wrong? 

21 A. I probably spoke with Sam close to a hundred times. 

22 Q. Okay. But you never told Sam that if there were any 

23 strength-testing failures, Grangaard could somehow' avoid 

24 paying Golden View? You never told him that, did you? 

25 MR, FRITZ: Objection. Leading. 
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1 THE COURT: Sustained. 

2 Q. (BY MR. FINK) Did you ever tell Golden View that if 

3 there were strength-test problems , Grangaard could avoid 

4 paying Golden view? 

5 A. No. No. 

6 Q. Now, we Tve been talking about standards . 'lhere are 

7 really two standards here, aren Tt there? 'lhere are mixed 

8 standards and then strength standards? 

9 A. Yeah. 'lhe mix design is just an approved batch for 

10 that concrete. It's just basically a recipe for that 

11 concrete, and that's what the mix design is. 'lhe strength 

12 requirement is 

13 Q. something different? 

14 A. -- the specification in our book , yes. 

15 Q. And those strength specifications arenTt listed on the 

16 mix design, are they? Do you need to look at it? 

17 A. Well , it Ts -- the mix design is for an A45 concrete. 

18 Q. But I ' m talking about the actual strength standards. 

19 Are those contained on the face of that document? 

20 A. A45 concrete is 4500 PSI concrete. 

21 Q. Where does it say that on the document? 

22 A. It says A45. lmd by our specifications , if you look 

23 at the table on our specs, the specification for A45 

24 concrete i s 4500 PSI. 

25 Q. So my question is - - maybe you 're not understanding 
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1 it -- where on the mix design form does it say that --

A. I don't have the mix design form with me anymore. 

3 Q. Well , I'm talking about Exhibit --

4 A. Oh, maybe it's here. 

5 THE COURT: You took it away, I think. 

(BY MR. FINK) Oh. Sorry. 

Where on the contractor concrete mix design does it 

8 contain any information about 4500 pow,ds per square inch? 

A. Class of concrete, A45. 

10 Q. so where on that sheet does it say that the concrete 

11 is designed to withstand 4500 pounds per square inch? 

12 

13 

14 

MR. FRITZ: Objection. Asked and answered. 

THE COURT: Overruled. 

THB WITNESS: rt doesn •t say that specifically on 

15 there. 

16 Q. (BY MR. FINK) And in order to understand what the 

17 strength requirements are, one would actually have to look 

18 at the DOT specifications book; right? 

19 A. Yeah. 

2 O Q. And is there at¥ language on this mix design fom. that 

21 says that reference should be made to the standards and 

22 specifications book? 

23 A. Not on this. Well , no , I don't think so. No. 

24 Q. Who inspected the bridge after it was finally 

25 constructed? Did you do that? 
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1 A. After everything was done? 'lhe deck? Everything? 

Q. Yes. 

3 A. Yeah. I do an inspection, I mean at the end, but we 

4 also have -- ow: region bridge office comes out and goes 

5 through the bridge and checks for any other deviations. 

Q. What was the result of the final inspection in terms 

of the condition of the bridge? 

A. 'lhere was some punch-list items there. And that's 

routine. He sends me a list of -- he •s like, well, you 

10 need riprap here , your riprap is not quite right here, 

11 guardrail issues , things like that. And then I have to 

1 2 address those , and they have to be corrected. 

13 Q. Now -- oh, I ' m sorry. 

14 A. They have to be corrected before I can final the 

15 project. 

16 Q . So the pundl-list items, those are things that need to 

17 be done before final payment is made? 

1B A. Not n e c essarily. 

19 Q. Okay. Was the bridge determined to b e a safe bridge? 

20 A. Yes. 

21 MR. FINK: I want to make sure I offer that document, 

2 2 Your Honor. I would offer Exhibit 12. 

23 

24 

25 Q. 

MR. FRITZ: No obje ction. 

THE COURT: Exhibit 12 will b e r e c e ived. 

(BY MR. FINK) All right. So then we're going to go 
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1 A. Yeah. 

2 Q. Did he ever tell you that he expected Golden ViE'H' to 

3 pay him for any of the penal ties he incurred under his 

4 contract with the DOT? 

S A. In some form, yes. I know we had those conversations 

6 when the estimates were being made. So somewhere in that 

7 process I guess I was aware of that. 

8 Q . So, by the time of the bridge project, he had told you 

9 he planned on withholding money from Golden View? 

10 

11 

MR, FRITZ: 

THE COURT: 

Objection. Misstate..,nt of testimony. 

The objection is sustained. I think you 

12 can rephrase your question, CoW1sel. 

13 Q. (BY MR. FIRK) Prior to the deck being poured, did he 

14 tell you he planned to withhold money from Golden View? 

15 A. I don't think h e specifically told me that. I 

16 withheld money from them for the deducts. So that money 

17 was withheld. 

18 Q. Do you know if he passed that information onto Golden 

19 View? 

20 A. No. I don't know. 

21 Q. Did you witness the conversation between Jeremiah, 

22 Sam., and Brian where they talked about supplying concrete? 

23 A. 

24 Q. 

25 A. 

For the deck or -­

For the deck, yes . 

I was around there, I'm sure, but I think I -- I 
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1 didn't really pay any attention to what they were talking 

2 about amongst themselves because, again, I don ' t consider 

3 that my issue. 

4 Q. But from M'la.t you saw, ca.ll.d you tell that Sa was not 

5 happy that Jeremiah had failed to pay for some concrete by 

6 that point? 

1 

8 

9 Q. 

MR. FRITZ: Objection to form and foundation. 

THE COURT: Sustained. 

(BY MR. FINK) Did you hear Sam raise any concerns 

10 about nonpayment at this meeting in October? 

11 A. I don't knOW' if it was at that meeting, but I knOW' 

12 that he did raise concerns to me. 

13 Q. 

14 A. 

Okay. 

Yeah. 

15 Q. But at the time of this meeting or shortly thereafter, 

16 did you understand that Grangaard had agreed to pay the 

17 amount due for the deck concrete? 

18 

19 

20 Q. 

MR. FRITZ: Obj ection to foundation and vague . 

THE COURT: Sustained. 

(BY MR. FmK) Did Sam tell you what Sam expected to 

21 happen in terms of payment after the meeting in October? 

22 A. I don't know if it was at that meeting, but at some 

23 point I know he e xpecte d -- he raise d concerns that they 

24 hadn't b een paid. And Brian did too. 

25 Q. So what was the condition of the concrete that was 
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1 supplied for the deck? 

A. Other than one slump failure or two, all the strengths 

3 were good on that deck. 

4 Q. So if the slumps were not good, why was that concrete 

5 accepted? 

A. Well, when you 're doing the deck, you ' re actually 

naming across with a paving machine; so you 've got to keep 

8 the's -- you don't want to stop your paver, really, ever 

in this process, especially with this bridge, which is 

10 

11 

a continuous concrete bridge. so there are stipulations 

about where you can stop on a deck. And it's critical 

12 because if you don't stop at those points you could have 

13 a deck failure , and the state has had deck failures. So 

14 you want to keep the process going with the paver. So you 

15 just incorporate it in and the n write the deduct. 

16 Q. And then, with the slump, is that something that could 

17 have been corrected at the site? 

18 A. It was -- well, no, not -- you could in theozy sit and 

19 let that truck wait. But at the time, we •re testing down 

2 O on the grOWld and this is b e ing pumped onto the deck. so 

21 the ability to correct that , other than stopping, there ' s 

2 2 really not a way to correct it. 

23 Q. So comparing this --

24 A. So when I say correct it, you correct it on the next 

25 load. 
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1 Q . Okay. So, COJll)ared to other proj ects, would you say 

the deck pour went well or average or poor? 

3 A. I don't have that much experie nce with the bridge 

4 deck, but it went smooth when it cross ed the deck. 'lhere 

5 were no glitches . That ' s all you can hope for. 

10 

Q . And the concrete ultimately tested all good; right? 

MR. FRITZ: Obj ection. That's not his testimony. On 

the deck? 

MR . FINK : On the deck . 

THE COURT: Objection sustained. I think you have 

11 to have to clarify. 

1 2 Q. (BY MR. FINK) The deck concrete tested good? 

13 A. Yes. 

14 Q. And , in fact, you assumed that Jeremiah Grangaard 

15 would pay Golden ViE!W' for the deck concrete because there 

16 wasn't any failing material on it? 

17 

18 

MR . FRITZ : Objection. Leading. 

THE COURT: Sustained. 

19 Q. (BY Kl. FINK) Did you assl.D'I\E! that Grangaard would pay 

20 Golde n View for the de ck material? 

21 

2 2 

MR. FRITZ: Objection. Relevance. 

THB COURT: overruled. I don •t know if he had an 

23 answer. 

24 

25 Q. 

THE WITNESS: I'm goi ng t o a s t you t o repeat it . 

(BY MR. FmK) Since the deck mate rial was good, did 
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1 A. !lo. 

2 Q. Okay. To your kllOW'ledge, had they ever done a state 

3 project? 

4 A. A box culvert. I think it was in 2018. 

S Q. But had they ever done , to your knowledge, a bridge 

6 project? 

7 A. No , not to my knowledge. 

8 Q. And a bridge project would b e a ftJCh bigger proje ct 

9 than a box culvert project? 

10 A. Yes. Yeah. 

11 Q. Any conce:m.s at that point about Golden View and 

12 whether they were up for the task of this job? 

13 A. No, not r e ally. You kllOW', they had no track r ecord 

14 to speak of, so I had nothing against them supplying 

15 concre t e . 

16 Q. And then you talked a bit about this preconstruction 

17 inspection of the facility , the plant. 

18 A. Yeah. 

19 Q. You said that Golden View passed that inspection? 

20 A. 

2 1 Q. 

The y did. 

But, of course , that passing inspection doesn't 

22 guarantee that they're going to properly mix or deliver 

23 concre t e , does it? 

24 A. No. That ' s in the delivery process that I verify 

25 that. 
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1 Q. The spec book? 

2 A. We t a lke d earlie r a bout ba tch tic ke ts. 'Ihat ' s what 

3 I'm 

4 Q. Okay . But that passing grade on the pr e construetion 

5 inspection doesn't guarantee they ' re going to deliver good 

6 concrete . Is that fair? 

7 A. 

8 Q . 

9 A. 

Yeah. Yeah. The r e 's no gua r a ntee . 

Sure . It ' s one thing you check ? 

Yeah. 

10 Q. And s peaking of A45 concre t e , t ell the jury. What is 

11 A45 concrete? 

12 A. I don ' t know what the A stands for. 'Ihe 45 is 4500 

13 P S I concre t e . 

14 Q . What does that mean, 4500 PSI concre t e? 

15 MR. FINK: l 1m going to object to the relevance , Your 

1 6 Honor. So f ar there' s been no discussion about anybody 

17 t e lling any of this t o Golde n View. 

18 

19 

THE COURT: Ove rruled. He c a n r e spond. 

THE WITNESS: Just simply that the design strength is 

2 0 to r e a c h 45 00 PSI . 

2 1 Q. (BY MR. FRrrz) So when you do these cylinder saq,les 

2 2 that we •ve talked about and they put then under canpression 

23 t esting, it will me e t a 4 5 P SI t es t ? 

24 A. Ye ah. 

25 Q . And tha t is t he c las s o f concrete that the s tate 
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1 requires on all bridge projects ; is t hat right? 

A. Bridge decks specifically. Sometimes the piers will 

3 be an A4 O concrete. 

4 Q. Okay. But in this c a s e the piers had to b e A45? 

5 A. Yes. 

And that designation of A45 , t hat i s a state 

designation; right? 

8 A. Yes. 

MR. FINK: I ' m going to object to ambiguous , using the 

10 term " state." I think s t a t e DOT is 

11 

12 Q. 

THE COURT: Objection sustained. You can rephrase. 

(BY MR. FRITZ) Okay. The s ta t e created that A45 

13 de signa tion? 

14 

15 

16 

17 A. 

MR. FINK: I'm going t o object t o ambiguous. 

MR. FRITZ: Okay. We l l , I ' ll strike it. 

Did Golden Vi ew come up with t hat designation? 

No. No. 

18 Q. It •s not a Golden View- c ode; it's a state c o de? 

19 MR. FINK: Objection . Ambiguous. It ' s a DOT code 

2 O from the s p e c book. 

21 THE C'OURT: The objection i s sustaine d a s far a s 

22 " state ." I gues s if y ou refer t o t hem as "DOT" y ou 

23 probably wouldn • t h a v e a n obje ction. 

24 Q. (BY Ml. FRITZ) Okay. 'lhat 's a DOT code, not a Golden 

25 view code ? 
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1 A. Yes. 

Q. Okay. And when you r e quire tha t a bri dge proje c t , 

3 including -- well, l e t me b ack up. In this case it was 

4 i mpor tant that A45 concre t e b e s uppl i e d f or the p i e r s and 

5 the deck? 

A . Yes . 

Q . One thing I want t o c l ear up i s ther e ' s been a lot of 

talk about s pecs , and the t e rm. ''mixed s pecs " has been used. 

I •v e heard it not by you necessarily , but material s pecs 

10 and then there are what I c all p e r f ormance specs . 'lhere 's 

11 really just one set of specs ; is that right ? 

1 2 

13 

14 

15 Q. 

MR. FINK: Obje ction, Your Honor. Re l e v a n ce . 

THE COURT: Ove rrul ed. 

THE WITNESS: In specific to c on crete or -­

(BY MR. FRITZ) In s p ecific to A45 concrete . 

1 6 A . Yeah. Yeah . 'Ihe spec is in our s t r uctura l concrete 

17 s e ction of our spe c book , if that answers t hat. 

18 Q . Yes . I'm going to g e t t o that h e r e . I'm going t o 

19 shol-r you an exhibit that •s been marked 41. I'll r epr esent 

2 0 t o you t hat • s a page o u t o f t he DOT spec book . Do you 

2 1 recognize that? 

22 A. Yes. 

23 Q . Okay. Are those the s p e c s that you' r e t alking about 

24 for A45 c oncre t e? 

25 MR. FINK: I'm goi ng t o object , Your Honor , on t he 
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1 

2 

3 

MR. FINK: Objection. Relevance, Your Honor. 

THE WITNESS: Sorry. 

THE COURT: Objection sustained. The jury is to 

4 disregard the last response. 

5 I!- (BY MR. FRrI'Z) Could any concrete supplier find the 

6 spec book? 

1 

8 

9 I!-

MR. FINK: Objection. Relevance and speculation. 

THE COURT: Objection sustained as to relevance. 

(BY MR. FRrrZ) If a concrete supplier said there Ts 

10 no way for me to know what the A45 specs were , is that 

11 true? 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

MR. FINK: Objection, Your Honor. Relevance. 

THE COURT: Ove rruled. He can try to answe r. 

MR. FRITZ : Could you maybe read it back? 

(The reque sted portion of the r e cord 

was read by the reporter.) 

MR. FINK: I'm going to object, Your Honor. 

18 Specula tion. 

19 THE COURT: It • s sustained on the grounds of 

20 s p eculation. 

21 I!- (BY MR. FRITZ) Does the DOT ucpect that concrete 

22 suppliers kn ow that they hav e t o meet these specs? 

23 A. I guess we e xpect that the prime contractor does and 

24 that they will pass that knowledge on to their suppliers. 

25 Q. Okay. And part of that is do you expe ct that they 
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1 will pass on to the suppliers , well , the 4500 PSI? 

2 A. Yes , I hope so. 

3 Q. If a concre t e supplie r told you that it didn •t Jmai-l 

4 anythin g about the A45 s pecs , would that c on cern you? 

5 MR. FINX: I ' m going to object , Your Honor. 

6 Relevance . 

1 

8 

9 

10 I!-

THE COURT: Obj ection is overrule d. 

You c a n try to answer. Would that concern you? 

THE WITNESS: If it didn't meet --

(BY MR . rarr,) If they didn •t know what they were . 

11 A. Yeah, that would concern me that -- I mean, it's the 

12 b a sis of wha t I •m out the r e f or , or a lot of it. 

13 Q. lmd, again, A45 by its CMl title or code means it must 

14 meet 4500 PSI; i s that r i ght? 

15 A. Yeah, to me that ' s right. 

1 6 Q . 1md we ' ve alrea dy talked about Exhibit 10 here, which 

17 is a d ocument signe d by Sam Wa ldne r. And the r e wa s 

18 dis cus s ion about wha t was on this document, a nd you 

19 mentioned o r you pointe d out that it does s ay " clas s of 

2 0 concret e, A45"; r i ght? 

2 1 A. 

22 1!-

23 A. 

Yeah. 

And tha t • s signe d by Sam Wa ldne r? 

Yes . 

24 Q . In your discuss i ons with S am. Waldner or Br i an, wer e 

25 you satis fied that they t.nder stood that they wer e t o s1.pply 
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1 A45 concrete? 

A. I don't know if the corwersati ons were that specific 

3 as to the PSI of it. 

4 1!-

5 A. 

I!-

But you knew they had to supply A45 concrete? 

Yes. 

They knew that? 

A. I can ' t say if they did, but I would assume that they 

8 did. 

Q. 'Ibey did s ign this document that said they'd have A45 

10 class concrete ; r i ght? 

11 A. Yes. 

12 Q. At some point did you have a dis cussion wi th Sam. in 

13 which h e indica t e d words to t he e ffe ct of, a s long as 

14 Golden View meets the mix design criteria and passed the 

15 fr esh concre t e t e s t , that 's all t h e y had to do? 

16 A. Yes. 

17 I!- Okay. When was that discussion, roughl y? 

18 A. A couple times but f a irly e arly i n the project or 

19 fairly early when we started our concrete work . 

20 I!. And you corrected him, didn ' t y ou? 

21 MR. FINK: I ' m going t o object, Your Honor . 

22 Relevance. 

23 

24 

25 I!-

THE COURT: Ove rrul ed. 

THE WITNESS: Yes , I did. 

(BY MR . FRITZ) Wha t did you tell him? 
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1 A. I told him that that' s not true, that t his 4500 PSI 

is a r equirement . It ' s another one o f our r equirements . 

3 I!- So you told him that h e would hav e t o meet t hat 

4 r e quirement? 

5 A. Yes. 

Q . 1md there's no doubt in your mind that Sam. Wa l dner at 

that point knew that the concre t e he was t o s upply was to 

meet the 4500? 

A. I b e tte r back up, be c aus e when I t a lke d t o Sam. , I 

10 don ' t think 4500 was ever mentioned. It was just mentioned 

11 that he woul d have to meet our concrete strengt h. 

1 2 I!- Okay . 

13 A. 1md we never dis cussed whether that was 4500 or not. 

14 Q . Okay . Did he as k you? Did he say, well, what i s the 

15 concre t e s tre n gth? 

1 6 A . Well, when we went through the mix design process , I 

17 felt h e was aware that we we r e t a rgeting 4500 PSI. 

18 Q . Okay. Ce rtainly tha t would b e conunon knowledge for 

19 

2 0 

2 1 

2 2 

23 

24 

concre t e 

MR. 

THE 

MR . 

THE 

s upp liers doing work wi t h the state? 

FINK: Obje ction. Specu l ation. 

COURT : Sustained. 

FRITZ : Your Honor , can I approach ? 

COURT: Yes . 

('lhereupon, a conference was held a t the baich .) 

25 I! - (BY MR. FRITZ) Sir , how many diffe r e n t con c r e t e 
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1 suppliers in the state of South Dakota have you worked with 

2 over the years? 

3 A. rt might be maybe ten. Chamberlain, Winner, Mitchell 

4 obviously, Salem in the past when they had their own 

S ready-mi>< plant. Probably a dozen. 

6 Q. Do you have a general understanding of their methods 

7 and practices? 

8 A. A general understanding, yes. 

9 Q. And would it be your experience with those concrete 

10 suppliers that they would have knowledge of the A45 

11 specifications? 

12 A. 

13 Q. 

14 A. 

15 

16 

Yes. 

A contractor wouldn't have to t ell then? 

No. 

MR. FINK: Obje ction, Your Honor. Speculation. 

THE COURT: I'm going to sustain the objection. You 

17 can rephrase your question. 

18 Q. (BY MR. FRITZ) In your experience with these ten 

19 other concrete suppliers, would you expect a contractor 

20 to have to infOJ:m. them. about l-tlat the A4S specs are? 

21 MR. FINK: I'm going to object to speculation and also 

22 relevance . 

23 

24 

THE COURT: Overruled. He can answer. 

THE WITNESS: Most of them have experience on other 

25 projects; so they probably already have a mix design in 

l 

2 

3 

4 

5 
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their office. 

Q. (BY MR. FRrI'Z) But not mix design. Would you eHpect 

that they would mow what the specs a r e for A45 concrete? 

MR. FINK: Objection. Speculation. 

THE COURT: overruled. He can attempt to answer. 

6 This goes with usage of trade . 

THE WITNESS: I don't know if there would be an 

8 expectation, but they would be expected to meet those. But 

9 I -- I --

10 Q. (BY MR. FRrrZ) 1'nd to meet them you'd have to k:nOW" 

11 them; is that right? 

12 A. To me, not necessarily. I mean, you could still meet 

13 the m and not know. 

14 Q. All right. Would you eHpect those other ten concrete 

15 suppliers to know the specs? 

16 

17 

MR. !'INK: Objection. Specu lation. 

THE COURT: I'll sustain the objection. 

18 Q. (BY~- FRl.'I'Z) All right. Let me move on. Yesterday 

19 Sam Waldner acknowledged that Golden View- did h ave to 

20 deliver concrete that would pass the fresh concrete test. 

2 1 Okay? And he admitted that he had to meet the test for 

22 slUJl'I), for air content , and temperature. Okay? As we 

23 discusse d, slump and air content are two of the 

24 specifications for A45; i s that right? 

25 A. Yep. Yes. 
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1 Q. Would there be any reason why a concrete supplier 

would have to comply with only two of the six 

3 specifications? 

4 A. No. 

5 Q. Did Sam Waldner also eHpress to you at some point that 

he felt that once the concrete was accepted by the state, 

he had no further responsibility? 

8 A. When I talked to Sam , he f e lt that if they me t the 

fresh concrete test and batched according to the mix 

10 design, that it was out of their hands , I guess. 

11 Q. Okay. Did you correct him in that statement? 

12 A. I did. 

13 Q . What did you t e ll him? 

14 A. I told him that, as we discussed earlier here, that 

15 no, the strength r equirement is another one of the 

16 specifications. 

17 Q • 1'nd did you talk to him about what his risks were if 

18 beyond the point where the concrete is accepted? 

19 MR. FINK: I'm going to object to relevance, Your 

20 Honor. 

21 IHI COURT: Overruled. He can t ry to answer if he has 

22 an answer. 

23 THE WITNESS: I did. I knew they were knew to this. 

24 And I had been involved in other bridge projects. So I did 

25 try to advis e him of the risks, and I asked that h e 

3 

4 

5 
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possibly call another ready-mix supplier to find out what 

he was actually -- what the risks actual ly were , because I 

can't tell how -- I don ' t have enough knowledge of how to 

handle it between t he prime and the supplier , but I know 

that we I ve had these failures I and so I wanted him to be 

somewhat aware of the potential for --

Q. For financial harm? 

A. I never rea lly talked about financial harm or 

s p ecifics like that. The conversation was k ind of 

10 generated by me and my concerns with them b eing a new 

11 supplier of whether we were going to be able to get the 

1 2 de ck that we neede d. So they were fairly ge n eral 

13 ques tions , but we n ever talke d specifics about dollar 

14 amounts or anything. I think I may have mentioned, thcugh, 

15 that there 's the potential that concrete has to be removed 

16 if it fails by far enough . 

17 Q. And in your experience with these some ten other 

18 concre t e suppliers , you knew that t he concrete supplie r 

19 might be responsible for any removal? 

2 0 MR. FINK: I'm going to object , and I ' m going to ask 

2 1 permission to ask a question for purposes of that 

22 objection. 

23 THE COURT: The obj ection is sustained. That is not 

24 r e l evant to this case. 

25 MR. FRITZ: We've talked about removal today . 
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1 THE COURT: I widerstand, but what the other ten 

2 suppliers have knowledge of is not necessarily relevant to 

3 this case. 

4 Q. (BY Kl. FRITZ) rn ~ experience with these some ten 

S other concrete suppliers in your years of e>q>erience, did 

6 you have an understanding of h:,w these penalties that might 

7 be assessed against the contractor could be assessed 

8 further to the concrete supplier? 

9 

10 

MR. FINK: Objection. Relevance. 

THE COURT: It's going to be sustained. This witness 

11 has limited knowledge between the specifics of the 

12 agreement between our two parties . 

13 Q. (BY MR. FRrrZ) When you said risks, that you were 

14 conceDled that Sam. did not understand the risks, what were 

15 you talking about? 

16 A. Well, the potential for removal. I mean, that would 

17 be the extreme risk, but it was more general than that. I 

18 wanted -- since they were new, I wanted them to t:z:y to 

19 find -- :I wanted them. to seek another source and find out 

20 what goes on when concrete fails. I didn't want it -- I 

21 don• t have enough knowledge if these are all handled the 

22 same all the time, but I just wanted him to be al<fare that 

23 there was -- there's risk involved. I mean --

24 Q. Financial risk? 

25 A. well, like I say, I don.'t think I ever mentioned that 
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1 but 

2 Q. Well, they weren't in physical harm. Well , I'm 

3 talking what kmd of risk. I'm confused what kind of risks 

4 you •re talking about. 

5 MR. FINK: I •m going to object to the form of the 

6 question, if he is talking generally or what he told Sam 

7 that day. 

B Q. (BY MR. FRrl'Z) 'lhat 's what I'm asking. What did you 

9 discuss with Sam? When you said you discussed with him 

10 risks, I'm confused what risks you were talking about. 

11 MR. FINK: I •m going to object as to asked and 

12 answered. 

13 THE COURT: Sustained. He said removal of the 

14 concrete. That was the response. 

15 Q. (BY MR. FRITZ) Were there any other risks you 

16 discussed with him? 

17 A. Not specific, no. 

1B Q. Okay. Didn't you t ell Sam Waldne r that if the 

19 concrete -- after the fresh test results, didn ' t you tell 

20 Sam Waldner that if the strength tests failed , Golden Via,r 

21 could be responsible for payment of deducts? 

22 A. No. I didn't specifically tell him they would be 

23 responsible but --

24 Q. I just want to make sure we • r e clear, that we• r e 

25 consistent here with yow: depositicri. 'lhis is a transcript 
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1 of your deposition here. 

I'm sorry. Can I approach? 

3 THE COURT: Yes. 

4 Q. (BY MR. FRl.'rZ) I'm turning to page 68 right here. 

5 If you start at line 11, you can see it was asked: ''Did 

you ever warn an;yone from Golden V ia,r that they might be 

liable for deducts?" And you answered ''Yes. " Is that yow: 

8 answer? Just for now, was that your answer? 

A. Yeah. 'Ihe way that's worded, yeah. To me it would 

10 have been 

11 Q. That was your answer? 

12 A. Yeah. 

13 Q . 1'.nd the next question was: "Who did you tell that 

14 to?" 1'.nd your answer was: "Sam early in the project, 

15 that •s whe n we were talking about this risk." 

16 Do you recall, now, that maybe you had a conversation 

17 with him about possibly being responsible for deducts? 

1B A. 

19 Q. 

In this, yes, I guess. 

Okay. 

20 A. I don't mow. There's more to it than that, I guess 

21 but 

2 2 Q. Let me ask you this. Did you ever talk to Sam Waldner 

23 about deducts? 

24 A. Not specifically any amounts or anything and not 

25 really dec:llcts. 'Ihe way this is worded, the way I answere d 
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1 that, I don't knOH' if that was entirely correct. What 

I 'm trying to say is that I didn't specificall y talk to 

3 him about the deduct amounts or what would be deducte d. 

4 'lhe conversation, as I recall, was his saying that if they 

5 met their fresh concrete test and then met the parameters 

of the mix design, that that was the end of their 

responsibility. 1'.nd that •s when I pointed out that no, 

the other responsibility is this strength issue. 

Q. Okay. I'm going to fast forward, now, to after we're 

10 starting to see some of the cylinder test failures. So I 

11 think you said maybe into August of 2021. Would that be 

1 2 about right? 

13 A. Yeah. Mid to late August , I think it was. 

14 Q. At that point did you s tart to develop some concerns 

15 about whether Golden Via,r could perform its obligations to 

16 deliver A45 concrete? 

17 A. No , not initially, because one failure is not 

18 a patte rn. It's just -- it happens. 

19 Q. But there was more than one failure , was n ' t there? 

20 A. Right. 

21 Q . Roughly, do you remember how many? Xf I told you nine 

2 2 or ten, would that be about right? 

23 A. I was going to say e ight , seven or e ight. 

24 Q. Okay. And it wa s particularly concerning for you 

25 about thes e failed tests , as you now were starting to get 
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1 to the point of constructing the deck; isn't that right? 

2 A. Yes. 

3 Q. What is particularly concerning about quality issues 

4 as you get to the deck? 

S A. well, ultimately, if you don't have strength on the 

6 deck, the removal of a deck is a huge cost and huge time 

7 to get that deck replaced. So the risk is, if you have to 

8 back up, you're looking at another year or so before, you 

9 know. 

10 Q. And one of these strength tests, the cylinder test, 

11 came back well under 4,000 PSI, didn't it? 

12 A. 

13 Q. 

14 A. 

15 Q. 

Yes. 

And the requirement is for 4500; right? 

Yes. 

And that 's low, isn't it? 

16 A. It is. 

17 Q. And that kind of reading can result in a removal of 

18 a pier, can't it? 

19 A. Yes. 

20 Q. And you had those discussions with J eremiah, didn •t 

21 you, that this could result in the removal of a pier? 

22 A. Well , yes. .I think he probably already was pretty 

23 familiar with the 

24 Q. Okay. 

25 A. But, ultimate ly, lofflen it•s that low, then I have to 
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1 kick it up to the bridge engineer, and they run an analysis 

2 on it to see if it's structurally going to be acceptable. 

3 Q. Okay. :And then, as you said, the state ordered coring 

4 at that point? 

5 A. Yes. 

6 Q . And what were the results of those core tests , 

7 generally? 

8 A. I don't mow the specific rn.unbers , but it has been 

9 my experience in most of these projec ts that coring will 

10 generally come back higher than the cylinder break, but 

11 that number is sometimes 200, 300 PSI. Sometimes it 

12 doesn't move at all. 

13 Q. But do you r ecall whether the coring t ests confirmed 

14 that the concrete t est e d was below 4500 PSI? 

15 A. 

16 Q . 

17 A. 

Yeah. 

It was still below that, wasn't i t? 

Yeah. 

18 Q. Did you have a conversation with Jeremiah, then, about 

19 what you we r e going to do about that? 

20 A. Not immediately. Again, it goes up thrc:ugh ow: bridge 

2 1 office. So until they make that determination, I mention 

22 it, but I don't get too specific about it until I see what 

23 they're going to -- wha t the ir stance was on it. 

24 Q . What was their s tance? 

25 MR. FIHK: Objection. Hearsay. I'll withdraw , Your 
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1 Honor. 

THE COURT: You can answer. 

3 THE WITNESS: Once they get that information, they've 

4 got the software to do the analysis on it to see if it I s 

5 structurally sowid. And if it's structurally solllld , almost 

always we ' re going to choose to leave that in place. 

Q. 

B A. 

(BY MR. FRITZ) And is that lofflat happened here? 

Yes. 

Q. So it was below the 4500. It did not meet the specs; 

10 right? 

ll A. Right. 

12 Q. But throucjl the engineers it was allowed that the pier 

13 could stay in place? 

14 A. Yes. 

15 Q. In Octobe r of 2021 do you remembe r a conre rsation with 

16 Jeremiah, in conjunction with these test results that we 

17 just talked about, about whether you were going to go 

18 forward with the deck work given the concrete quality 

19 issues? 

20 A. 

21 Q. 

22 A. 

The r e was discussion, yes. 

You and Jeremiah? 

Yeah. Yeah. 

23 Q. Tell me lofflat is your name about those discussions. 

24 A. Well , I guess with the record of the fail ures, I was 

25 concerned, and others in my office were concerned, and we 
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1 asked -- we did discuss it. I mean, there was some 

concern. 

3 Q. I ' m really inte r ested more in your conversation with 

4 Jeremiah. 

5 A. Well, I did -- I asked him if he -- I think he 

contacted another supplier, and I had asked him if maybe 

we should do that . 

Q. 

A. 

10 Q. 

11 A. 

Contact another supplier? 

Yeah. 

So you asked him, maybe we s hould do t hat? 

Yes. 

1 2 Q . Okay. And J eremiah said, okay, I ' 11 l ook into it? 

13 A. Yes . 

14 Q . Why did you suggest to him that maybe he should look 

15 for another supplier? 

16 A . 

17 Q. 

There was just some doubt there . 

About quality? 

18 A. Yeah. I mean, you have to question it when you have 

19 that track record. You j ust have to . 

2 0 Q . And did, to your knowledge , did Jeremiah go out a nd 

2 1 research lofflether another supplier could step in at this 

2 2 late moment? 

23 A. I believe h e did. 

24 Q . And wha t did h e t ell you ? 

25 A. That h e coulc:ln ' t find anot h er s upplier. 
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1 the fall, did you ever hear Jeremiah Grangaard complain 

2 about the quality of the concrete? 

3 A. No. 

4 Q. You just heard Tim Marshall from the DOT testify; 

S correct? 

6 A. Yes. 

7 Q. He shared that he had some concerns and shared those 

8 with Jeremiah. Did you hear anything like that from Tim 

9 during the summer of 2021? 

10 

11 

12 

MR. FRITZ: Objection to vague. What concerns? 

THE COURT: Overruled. He can try to answer. 

THE WITNESS: No. 

13 Q. (BY m. FDK) What were you hearing fran. Tim Marshall 

14 and from Jeremiah Grangaard in J'une, July, and August of 

15 this project? 

16 A. Nothing. 

17 Q. Did you ask them. about the quality of the concrete at 

18 any point in time? 

19 A. I asked them, how is it going? Is it going normal? 

20 Is it going like it should? And they said, no complaints. 

21 It's actually better than expected. 

22 Q. Who said that? 

23 A. 

24 

25 

1 

I believe both of them. 

MR. FRITZ : Both of who? 

THE WITNESS: Jeremiah and Tim. 
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MR. FRI!Z: Object to hearsay that he thought that was 

2 Tim. Move to strike. 

3 THE COURT: Objection sustained. The response as to 

4 Tim will be stricken. 

5 Q. (BY MR. FmK) As to .Jllne, J'Ul.y, and August , did you 

6 hear any complaints from Tim Marshall about the quality of 

7 the concrete? 

8 A. No. 

9 Q. As far as you mow-, did -- let me s tart over. Did Tim 

10 Marshall ever talk to you dw::ing the course of the project? 

11 A. Yes. 

12 Q. Did he ever tell you that he expected things to be 

13 going differently than they were? 

14 A. !lo. 

15 Q. You seem unsure. Did he -- go ahead. 

16 A. 'lhere was one issue where I asked him hOW' to get paid. 

17 When those crosshairs met there, I wasn •t receivin'l all the 

18 payment. I asked him h<M he pays his customer. And he 

19 s aid his customer gets paid on the terms that he just told 

20 us, 15 days , and then that's as far as I went. And I 

21 expected payment then after that. 

22 Q. You've heard about these deductions that were assessed 

23 against Grangaard? 

24 A. After the fact , yes. 

25 Q. And I was going to ask. During the course of the 
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1 construction work, did you ever hear an;ything about Golden 

View being held responsible for deductions? 

3 A. No. 

4 Q. And until this lawsuit started, did you even know the 

5 math that •s used to come up with those deductions? 

A. No. 

Q. Did you even kn:1N' that it was possible for a deduction 

8 or a penalty to be assessed not on what you charge for 

concrete but $975 a yard? 

10 A. You• 11 have to repeat that. 

11 Q. Do ya.i understand to this day hOW' those deductions are 

12 assessed? 

13 A. 

14 Q. 

No. Can I rephrase that? 

Sure. 

15 A. Yes and no. Yes , the little I caught on what he was 

16 explaining here, but I don't know the :functionality of it. 

17 Q. So while you were sitting here at trial you've learned 

18 something about it? 

19 A. Yes. 

20 Q. Prior to the proje ct, do you know if anyone from 

21 Golden View Ready-Mix was ever provided with the 

22 three-inch-thick standards and specifications book? 

23 A. None was provided as far as I know. 

24 Q. If you had known, as the financial manager or 

25 bookkeeper, that Golden View could b e held liable for 
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1 somecne else's contractual penalties, would you have agreed 

to supply concrete? 

3 A. Not under those t e rms. 

4 Q . What terms would you have been looking for? 

5 A. I would have wanted more oversight and asked more 

questions . 

Q . Would you have wanted more money? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Why? 

10 A. 

11 Q. 

For risk. I would follow the industry. 

The agreement you had? 

1 2 A. Yes. 

13 Q. So when you say you would want more for risk, explain 

14 that to me. 

15 A. I would feel if there would be more money in there for 

16 what I understand hOW' it's working, I would have to have 

17 more on the table to take care of deductions if something 

18 happens , and at the same time , r ead that three -inch 

19 handbook. 

20 Q. Of course, nobody brought any of that up to you to 

21 begin with? 

22 A. !lo. 

23 Q . All right. So there was a meeting in October out at 

24 the bridge . Do you r emember that meeting? 

25 A. Yes . 
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1 Q. Who was there? 

2 A. Me, Sam, Jeremiah, I believe it's Milo, Tim Marshall, 

3 and then a state guy from Pierre. 

4 Q. At some point in time, was there a conversation 

S between you, Sam, and Jeremiah Grangaard? 

6 A. Yes. 

7 Q. And what was said during that conversation? 

8 A. It was -- it started out we need to get paid for the 

9 rest of the concrete that got used. 

10 Q. What was owed at that point in time? 

11 A. $16,154 .SB. 

12 Q. All right. Go ahead with the corwersation. What else 

13 was said? 

14 A. :I said we need -- the concrete that's been delivered 

15 n eeds to get paid before we move on; s econd, is there an 

16 issue with us applying ccncrete. If there's any issue that 

17 you feel uncertain that we can supply you, we are not 

18 inte rested if you don• t feel comfortable . He said 

19 everything was okay, everything was fine , everything came 

20 back good. And then we discusse d the 550 or 600 yards is 

21 what they projected to be. It was only 510 yards. Why, I 

22 don't mow. We asked for half the payment when the deck is 

23 poured, that day when the deck is poured. And he promised 

24 he' 11 pay half the deck. When the deck is halfway poured, 

25 h e ' 11 pay it, pay halfway. 
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l Q. What did he say as far as paying the rest of it? 

2 A. I told him I'd send a bill at the end of the month 

3 unde r the t e rms . 

4 Q. So were you the one that gave those terms to 

5 Mr. Grangaard? 

6 A. You mean from the start? 

7 Q. No. I'm talking about this meeting. Who was the 

8 p e rson that told Jeremiah, here's what we will do? 

9 A. I was the person. 

10 Q. During this ConU'ersation did Jeremiah act as if he was 

11 disappointed in what you were telling him? 

12 A. No. 

13 Q. How wa s he acting? 

14 A. Ve:ry friendly, very acknOKledgeable. I had no bad 

15 feelings about it. 

16 Q . Did he say that he had tried to pay the $16 ,000 bill? 

17 A. Yes. 

18 Q. Tell the jury how that came about. 

19 A. Sam told him that I am requesting a payment before we 

2 0 get started on pouring. So he wanted to pour I think on 

2 1 the 21st. 

2 2 Q. 

23 A. 

Of what month? 

October. 

24 Q . Okay. 

25 A. And he said the check is in the mail. And I checked 
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1 the mail that morning, ran to town to get the mail, and 

there was no check in the mail. And I told him it didn ' t 

3 show' up. Well, he said he still wanted to get going. And 

4 I told him we' re not doing it until it gets paid. So he 

5 said -- then he called Jeremiah up, and Jeremiah ran a 

check down from Watertawn to pay for it, to pay the balance 

off. And that is -- when I received that check , that's 

8 when we had that meeting. 

Q. So the check was brought with Mr. Grangaard to the 

10 October meeting? 

11 A. Either that morning or the afternoon meeting. We 

12 had -- I can ' t 100 percent confirm if it was right at the 

13 meeting or a couple hours earlie r. 

14 Q. You heard Tim Marshall testify that he had some 

15 conce rns about the product. You h eard that today? 

16 A. Yeah, I heard that today. 

17 Q • Did you hear that from Tim Marshall before today? 

18 A. About the products? What products? 

19 Q. About the concrete , having a concern about the 

2 O concre t e . 

21 A. I didn ' t hear nothing from Tim. 

22 Q. 1.nd when you were out on the bridge on the 21st of 

23 October, did you hear anything from Mr. Grangaard about ~ 

24 problems at all with the concrete you had supplied? 

25 A. I kruw they were rurning t e sts and didn •t know if they 
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1 received -- what PSI they were receiving or what they were 

going for. When we had that meeting at the deck, I asked 

3 them: Is everything okay? Did everything come back good? 

4 Are you s atis fied? 

s Q. 

A. 

Q. 

You asked who? 

I asked Jeremiah . 

And what did he say? 

A. He s aid everything is okay, everything came back good. 

Q. was that statement important for you when you decided 

10 to continue and bring concrete? 

11 A. Yes. 

1 2 Q. Why so? 

13 A. I f e lt we were -- then I challenged him. "Are you 

14 satis fie d with us bringing concrete? Are we meeting your 

15 expectations?" Then I told him, "If we can •t make your 

16 expectations , I don't want to do that deck, because it's 

17 more -- it's a bigge r project on that deck. " 

18 And he said, ' 'We' 11 be fine. You' r e bette r than most 

19 ready-mixes . " 

2 0 Q. I'm not sure I understood the first part of that. You 

2 1 told him that if you can't or cannot meet the expectations , 

22 you would rathe r not pour ; right? 

23 A. I told him, if we cannot meet his expe c tations , we ' d 

24 r ather not pour the deck if he f eel s we 're not capabl e of 

25 doing it. 
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1 Q. And at that point in time, he only owed you $16,000, 

2 which he paid that? 

3 A. He paid, yes. 

4 Q. What did you anticipate the cost of the concrete could 

S be for the bridge deck? 

6 A. 550 yards I estimated at $130 a yard, is what they 

7 said it ' s going to take. 

8 Q. Was there any conversation about w}w Mr. Grangaard 

9 needed 3 O days to pay the second half of that upcoming 

10 bill? 

11 A. No. 

12 Q. When he paid the $16,000, did he also pay the finance 

13 charge of 18 percent per year? 

14 A. 

15 Q. 

16 A. 

Yes. 

The bridge de ck got poure d? 

Yes. 

1 7 Q . Did you hear arr.i coq>laints about arr.{ of the concrete 

18 that Golden View supplie d for the bridge deck? 

19 A. I asked if everything went good. He said yes. 

20 Q. Who said yes? 

21 

22 

A. Jeremiah. EHcept there• s a couple loads of slump 

issues that there was, which is not going to affect the 

23 bridge . 

24 Q. Did he say that he expected you to pay arr.{ penalties 

25 for that slump issue ? 
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1 A. No. 

2 Q. During that conve rsation was there any discussion 

3 about payment , or was that a different time? 

4 A. Half the payment was discussed on the front side when 

5 we started. When the bridge deck was finished pouring at 

6 the end of the day, I didn't expect him. to -- he had a lot 

7 going on. I figured I'd leave him alone. He' 11 e ither 

8 mail the check down or he'll bring it the next day when he 

9 gets back. 

10 Q. So tell the jury what happened going forward. 

11 A. Going forward, I billed out that bridge deck a couple 

12 days later. :I mailed it. I did the next round on the 1st 

13 of November , whateve r h e was due. 

14 Q. Wait a second . Before the 1st of November , did he pay 

15 the first half as he promised? 

16 A . No. 

17 Q. What was going through your mind when he wasn't 

18 paying? 

19 A. It was only a couple days when I emailed him that 

20 bill. I think I emailed it to him. a c01..ple days later . So 

21 he only had -- the only thing X had in my 11\ind, X '11 give 

2 2 him a couple days or the 10th of the month until :I really 

23 questione d him where's half that payment. And then we 

24 poure d on the 29th and on the 30th, and then the s tatement 

25 went out on the 1st. And then we kept on pouring, and I 
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1 expected that "'1en the statement came out -- and it was due 

on the 10th. We had a ccuple more pours. 'ltlree more pours 

3 after that it was. It was on the 3rd -- no. It was on the 

4 1st, the 3rd, the 5th, and the 9th, and then it was done. 

5 Then I believe I told -- that •s when I really caught 

on. I told Sam he hasn't paid for half the deck. You 

better stop supplying concrete. Well, it was already done. 

8 I believe it was already done, \Dll.ess he got the last small 

stuff from somewhere else. 

10 Q . was s am kind of leaving the billing up to you? 

11 A. Yes. 

12 Q. And Sam didn•t tell you that he was continuing to move 

13 forward, and you dich • t tell hiJn. that the bill wasn't paid? 

14 A. :I actually had a disconnect there. :I didn •t know he 

15 was -- he kept hauling concre t e out there four more times . 

16 Q. So h(lll,,l much concrete was paid after October 21st 

17 when we had this meeting on the bridge? Let me ask it 

18 differently. H(lll,,l nuch was due in terms of billing after 

19 the meeting that occurred on the bridge? 

20 A. Afte r the meeting. For the total project? 

How much was due at the end of the project? 21 

22 

Q. 

A. :I believe I sent him a statement again when it was 

23 finished, when :I found out he wasn ' t paying. 'lhat was 

24 $89,343 .32. 

25 Q. And that total is for all the concre t e that follows 
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1 the October 21 meeting? 

A. That ' s correct . 

3 Q • And did you ever hear that there was any problems with 

4 that concrete that foll(lll,,led the meeting other than the 

5 slump issue you talked about? 

A . Just the slump issue . 

Q. So tell me what happened going forward. Did you try 

to get ahold of J e remiah Gra ngaard? 

A. I a c tually had Sam remind him. that he needed to send 

10 half that payment, and I believe his answer was he can •t 

11 get ahold of him. Arni then X kept sending statements. So 

1 2 on 1 2 -1 I sent a statement , and I didn't expect -- :I 

13 expected a payment. And :I added -- :I didn •t add a finance 

14 charge. x expected the pa~ on the 10th, 12-10. Again, 

15 when I sent him a statement, I didn •t apply any finance 

16 charge then. And the nti.ddle of December I emai led, when 

17 can I expect payment to his account. I think it was to 

18 Taylor. And after that :I heard -- she replied back to me, 

19 •'We • re still waiting for the state to pay us . n 

2 0 I' 11 go back one step. I asked, •'When can I expect 

21 a payment? Jerem.iah pronti.sed to pay for half the deck. •• 

22 And she replied back, saying that they're waiting for the 

23 State to pay and then we'll pay you. And I replie d back 

24 to her , '"ilhen can I e xpect that?n And that ' s the last they 

25 replied back wi.til I got you involved. 
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1 A. He told me he will pay half --

2 Q. Well, :I want to talk about the account to date, the 

3 outstanding balance to date. He told you he would pay that 

4 in full? 

5 A. 

6 Q. 

He gave me a check , it• s paid in full. 

And he fulfilled that promise? 

7 A. That• s correct. 

8 Q. And it was base d upon that payment that Golden View" 

9 then decided to provide the concrete for the deck? 

10 A. When we decided to provide the concrete for the deck, 

11 it was two reasons. We're paid in full and are you happy 

12 that -- do you feel confident that we can supply the 

13 concre t e ? 

14 Q. Okay. 

15 A. With those two t erms , we supplie d the concrete for 

16 them. 

17 Q. And he indicated he was comfortable? 

18 A. Yes. 

19 Q. Okay. 

20 A. And I had a comfortable f eeling too at the time . 

21 Q. Do you feel he was dishonest in that way in saying he 

22 was comfortable with you? 

23 A. I don't -- what I know' now, I don't have no opinion. 

24 Q. Okay. You indicated that you knew there was some core 

25 t esting going on at that time ? 
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1 A. At that time I knew there was something going on, but 

2 I didn ' t follow that the r e was a c tually physical core 

3 t esting going a1. I thought they ~re waitirY;r for the last 

4 sample that run out. I know enough that it takes 28 days 

5 for when they pour something to get that last sample. P.ncl 

6 I just did my own math, little bit of math, from the last 

7 pour to when I r equeste d that money. It wa s past 28 days, 

8 and that's why I questione d it, i s the r e a proble m with 

9 p aying . 

10 Q . But you knew that there was some efforts going on to 

11 test the concrete? 

12 A. Yes. 

13 Q. And you knew that the t esting told you that the r e 

14 might b e some proble ms? 

15 A. Not that worrie d me . 

1 6 Q . I'm not worried about whether that worries ycu or not . 

17 You knew that there was t e sting going on that r e v eale d 

18 proble ms? 

19 A. Not tha t rev e ale d p roblems, n o . 

2 0 Q. And you h eard Tim Marsha ll t estify that if t hese 

2 1 strength tests come back low enough, you might have to rip 

2 2 out the s tructure that contains that concre t e . Did y ou 

23 h ear tha t t estimony? 

24 A. I h eard it h e r e, yeah. 

25 Q . Did you know that that was a proce dure of the DDT? 

Melinda . Songstad@uj s . s t a t e . s d. u s 

362 

363 

1 A. Not necessarily. It's in all the industry. If you 

would have some major problem, like wi th the concrete, 

3 you'd definitely get together and figure out who was the 

4 problem. here. 'lhat ' s the only time I get to be involved. 

5 Q. 

A. 

Q. 

8 A. 

Q. 

10 A. 

so you knew that that •s a possibility? 

In the concrete i ndus t ry, yes . 

And that ' s a bad thing, isn't i t ? 

It is. 

Because that •s a lot of work t o fix ? 

:r:t is. 

11 Q. All right. Let me show you what ' s been marked a s 

12 Exhibit 44. You ' ve talked about these em.ai ls that went 

13 back and forth be tween you and Grangaard in De cembe r of 

14 2021 about payment? 

15 A. 

16 Q. 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 Q. 

Yes . 

Exhibit 4 , does that contain t hose e mails ? 

THE COURT: 44? 

MR . FRITZ : 44 . 

THE WITNESS: Yes. 

MR . FRITZ : I'd offe r EKhibi t 44 . 

MR. FINK: No objection. 

THE COURT : 44 will be receiv ed . 

(BY MR. FRITZ) And you heard your f a ther t e stify 

24 yesterday that once the p roject was completed, Golden View 

25 n e v e r heard anot her word from Grangaard. Did you hear 
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1 that? 

A. Sam sa id that he could not get ahold of him anymore on 

3 a phone call. 

4 Q. But, in fact , Gr angaard did r espond t o your inquirie s 

S after the project 

A . He --

Q. Le t me finish. GraD1aard did r e sp<rld t o Golden View' s 

inquirie s afte r the pro j ect was c o mpl e t e d , didn ' t h e? 

A. 

10 Q. 

11 A. 

Afte r a month l ater when I r equested it. 

Did the y r e spond? 

Yes. 

1 2 Q . Okay. I just want to make sure the jury understands 

13 ~t exactl y wa s s aid her e . If I 'm r eading Exhibit 44, on 

14 December 14th -- hold on. okay . We 're s tart ing here . on 

15 Decembe r 14th, at 8 :43 in the morning, you s ent an email 

1 6 sayi n g when can I e xp e ct this payment ? 

17 A. That ' s c o rrect . 

18 Q . P.ncl then that evening you got a res ponse from Taylor 

19 Gr anga a r d ; i s that r i ght? 

2 0 A. That 's c o rrect . 

2 1 Q. And she said, ''Good evening. We are waiti ng on the 

22 t e st r esults f r om t he DOT befor e we s e nd out p ayment. " 

23 That' s the fir s t s entence of what s h e said? 

24 A. Yes . 

25 Q . Did you know what that meant ? 
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1 Q. And lines 61, 62, 63, 64, and 66, do those deal with 

2 the concrete work for this project? 

3 A. Yes, they do. 

4 Q. Prior to entering the figures on the right side of 

S that bid form, did you contact Golden View about pricing? 

6 A. We -- yes, by phone call. 

7 Q. You talked to Sam Waldner about pricing? 

8 A. Correct. 

9 Q. 11.nd during this call, Sam quoted you approximately 

10 $130 a yard; correct? 

11 A. Correct. 

12 Q. However, during this call there was never any 

13 discussion about what kirxl of obligiltions Golden View- l«>Uld 

14 have if the concrete hadnTt met any strength requirements? 

15 A. I did have -- no. sorry. 

16 Q. What I said is correct? 

17 A. No. We did have a oonversatiCll on the phone if he had 

18 done any other projects, and he said he did and that he was 

19 aware of the circum.s tances . 

20 Q. But you never had any discussion with him. about what 

21 kind of obligations Golden View- would have if an;y of the 

22 concrete did not meet the testing requirements you lalew 

23 would be imposed if you were to be the winning bidder; 

24 true? 

25 A. Yes. 
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1 Q. So you took this information you obtained frOJI\ Sam. 

2 Well, first of all, did you go out and get any other 

3 estimates? 

4 A. Yeah. We got -- it's a two-day process. There's 

5 estimates for everything. 

6 Q. What were the other estimates? 

7 A. 

8 Q. 

9 A. 

Rebar, wood, mobilization. 

Did you get any other estimates about concrete? 

110. 

10 Q. And so with the information you received about an 

11 estimate, you then filled out the lines that I stated 

12 previously, 61, 62, 63, 64, and 66 of the bid schedule; 

13 correct? 

14 A. Yes. 

15 Q. 'lhe totals that you list on your bid, as I understand 

16 it, those factor in the cost of concrete, labor , and 

17 profit? 

18 A. And a bWlch of othe r things . 

19 Q. What other things? 

20 A. Re inforcing steel, wood, aggregate, pylene, 

21 mobilization to the job, and the risks that we take to pour 

22 concrete A45. 

23 Q. 'lhe risks that you take in te:ms of penal ties that are 

24 assessed in the DOT concrete? 

25 A. No. .J\Jst fulfilling our contract with the state, like 
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1 if it rains a lot or it ' s a wet hole or things come up or 

arise out of our control. 

3 Q. So , in terms of the bridge deck, which line item 

4 includes your bid amoW1t for the bridge deck? Is that 

5 line 61? 

A. Yes. 

Q. So, for that line, the estimate was 540 yards. Who 

8 made the estimate of 540 yards? 

A. That would be the DOT. 

10 Q . so the DOT actually prepares this bid schedule form, 

11 and then you just figure out the unit bid price and then 

12 the amoWlt numbers . True? 

13 A. Yes. With a set of plans , yeah. 

14 Q . So for that bridge deck you bid the total amount for 

15 that concrete of $648 , 000? 

16 A. Correct. 

17 Q. At $1200 per yard? 

18 A. Corre ct. 

19 Q. And your cost of that yard you anticipated would be 

20 $130 per yard. True? 

21 A. True. 

22 Q. And about 400 , 000 of that amoWlt was profit? 

23 A. Not true. 

24 Q. It was acblally pushing a half million dollars for the 

25 bridge deck. Is that whe r e I •m wrong? 
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MR. FRITZ: Objection. Half a million what? 

MR. FINK: A half million dollars of profit for the 

3 bridge deck. 

4 

5 

Q. 

THE WITNESS: Not true. 

MR. FINK: If I could approach, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: You may . 

(BY MR. FIRK) I •m showing your deposition testimony. 

Do you remember being deposed? 

A. 

10 Q. 

11 A. 

I do. 

Do you remember being placed Wlder oath? 

Yeah. 

1 2 Q. On page 16, I asked the question: "How nuch profit, 

13 approximately, did you build into the bridge deck part of 

14 it? " What was your answer? 

15 A. "Probably half a million dollars." 

16 Q . And for the concrete footings, the pillars , and the 

17 other concrete under the bridge , it looks to me like you 

18 bid that at the price of $975 p e r yard for a total of 

19 $333 , 840. Is that true? 

20 A. Correct. 

21 Q. And that amount also includes the cost of material, 

22 the cost of labor, some other incidental s , and profit; 

23 correct? 

24 A. Correct. 

25 Q. It looks to me, if I add those up, that the amount you 
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1 

2 

down the project? 

A. False. 

3 Q. I'm going to point l"0U to page 102. I 'm goi.nl to read 

4 this and then ask you if this is your testimony from the 

386 

A. Correct. 

I!- Because ultimately under the contract, you're the 

3 perscn that makes the decision to the oor about whether you 

4 want to challenge the test. True? 

S deposition. 5 A. True. 

6 Question: "So when we talked about these Q. You admit that you never told Sam that you expected 

1 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

other deductions that were a fer,,, hundred dollars, 

you answered 1, 600?" 

Answer: "Right. n 

Question: "You could have had those cored, 

and if the core testing would have shown that 

strength testing was met, you would have been 

reimburse d for the cost of that testing?" 

Answer: "Yeah. And we would have also lost 

six weeks of production on that proje ct." 

Was that your testimony? 

17 A. We did lose six weeks of production on that. 

18 Q. A lot of these tests you didn't challenge because you 

19 didn't want to lose any more time ; correct? 

20 A. No:nnally we don't. If it's only 2- to $400, it isn't 

21 worth it to core that. Some of them are minimal charges. 

22 Q. But you were the one that made the decision to accept 

23 that deduction or to challenge it ; right? 

24 A. The ones for $200 , yes. 

25 I!- so you' r e asking that Golde n View pay you for 
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1 deductions that you chose not to challenge? 

2 A. The little ones we did. 

3 Q. You expect Golden View to pay even for the little 

4 deductions when you made the decis ion not to challenge 

5 them; right? 

6 A . I would think that they would help out because they 

7 signed the mix desi91 here. We' re talking a couple hun::lre d 

8 dollars in charges . 

9 I!- In fact , the r e was one sample t es t that you did 

10 challenge, and the bridge was cored. 1md the result was 

11 that the bridge concrete exceeded 4500 pounds per square 

12 inch; right? 

13 A. Correct. 

14 I!. So you kneH that it was possible that by challenging 

15 thes e results you might end up not paying a penalty? 

16 A . But like the last statement was, you don't want to 

17 holes in the concrete for $200. You just pay the $200. 

18 Q. My point is you' r e making tha t decision whether to 

19 t est further or not ; right? 

2 0 A. On the s hort bills , yes . 

2 1 Q. 1md you never gave Golden View the opportunity to have 

22 any input on whe ther you test further or not? 

23 A. I told the m about it. 

24 Q . But you never told the m tha t you would l eave the 

25 decision up to them; right? 
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Golden View to bear any financial penal ties. True? 

8 A. True. 

Q . 1md certainly no one from. Golden View agreed to bear 

10 any of your penal ties . Is that true? 

11 A. True. 

12 Q. I understand that when the project was ongoing, you 

13 went out and found an estimate for someone else to take 

14 over the job? 

15 A. Yes. 

16 I!- And did you contact Mitchell Concrete? 

17 A. I contacted Mitchell Concrete and Buffalo Ridge. 

18 Q. What did you get for quotes to have them supply 

19 concrete? 

20 MR. FRITZ: Obj ection to r e l evance. 

21 THE COURT: Overruled. He can respond if he recalls. 

22 THE WITNESS: Theirs was expensive because of a 

23 porta-plant and the y were busy. 

24 I!- (BY MR. FIIIK) $700 a yard? 

25 A. Ye ah. They would have had to s e t a porta-plant up 
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1 right next to the project, which is an extra expense, and 

they were busy through the year. So that •s why the price 

3 was high. 

4 Q. So ycu had the opportunity to use them, but you didn't 

5 want to do it for $700 a yard? 

A. They weren ' t for sure . They didn't give me a 

guarantee they would do it. 

Q. But you didn't ask them if they would do it. You 

heard $700, and you realized that was too expensive; right? 

10 A. It was more expensive, a nd we 'd lose money then. 

So rather than having someone else t ake on t he 11 I!-

1 2 project, you told Sam and Brian a t a meeting in Octobe r on 

13 the bridge that everything was good, didn ' t you? 

14 A. I did in the means that the concr ete i s not going to 

15 have to b e remove d and it's going to be okay, not that 

16 everything was fine. 

17 Q. 1md on the bridge you neve r s aid anything about there 

18 b eing any penalties that might be passed on to Golden View, 

19 did you ? 

2 0 A. Ne gative. I did t ell them that we had deductions. 

2 1 Q. And you told them on the bridge that you e xpec ted 

22 Golden View t o p ay those p enalti es? 

23 A. Again, like I said, in t he pas t they had --

24 

25 

MR . FINK : I'm going to object as nonresponsive. 

THE COURT: Nonr espons ive . The objection i s 
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1 A. Yes. 

2 Q. You heard Tim Marshall say that that was his 

3 suggestion? 

4 A. Correct. 

S Q. Would you have had to do any of that if there were no 

6 problems with the concrete? 

7 A. Normally, no. 

B Q. You don't go looking for new suppliers if the 

9 suppliers are doing what they' re supposed to do? 

10 A. correct. 

11 Q. 'l'hen there was questions about payment .in full for the 

12 pier work. Normally would you pay in full , less the 

13 de ducts or other cos ts? 

14 A. No. 

15 Q. Normally do you wait to get those deducts b efore 

16 paying'? 

17 MR. FINR: I'm going to obj ect to the relevance, 1our 

18 Honor. This deals with other contracts, with othe r 

19 contractors. 

20 THE COURT: Well, we ' ve gone down this road a little 

21 bit; so the objection is overruled. 

22 You can try to answer . 

23 THE WITNESS: Nomally they tal:e care of it and we 

24 don't have much to do with it. 

25 Q. (BY fill. FRITZ) Okay. So you'd wait to pay them 1.l'ltil 
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3 

MR . FRITZ : That ' s all the ques t ions I have. 

'l'HE COURT: Mr. Fink? 

REDIRECT EXAMINATION 

4 BY MR . FINK : 

5 Q. Did you ever provide any bills for coring to Sam or 

Brian? 

A. No. 

8 Q. Whynot? 

A. They didn ' t ask for them. 

10 Q . You never really expected them to pay them, did you? 

11 A. I expected them to pay t hem, yes. 

12 Q. Why didn •t you provide them with copies of bills? 

13 A. I was going to wait until all the s moke cle are d. 

14 Q. 'lhe fact of the matter is, under your 001' contract you 

15 bear the r esponsibility for the cos t of coring. True? 

16 

17 

MR. FRITZ: Objection. Again, between who and who? 

THE COURT: It's clear what the question is. The 

18 obje ction is ove rruled. 

You can try to answer. 

THE WITNESS: Say that agai n, s ir. 

19 

20 

21 

22 

Q. (BY MR. FmK) Under your contract with the DOT, you 

bea r the c os t of c oring. True? 

23 A. 

24 Q. 

25 A. 

1 Q. 

Not true. Not n e c e ss aril y. 

All right. 

In the pas t 
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I'm talking about the cont ract you had wi t h the 

2 A. '1'hey usually take care of it and deal with it with the specifications book. 'Ihat ' s your obligation t o do coring 

3 DOT. 3 if the r e 's a proble m with t h e testing. 

4 Q. 

5 A. 

"The y" b e ing the s upplie r? 

Correct. 

6 Q . At the time that you paid up in full in Oc tober, did 

7 you know the amount of d educts? 

B A. No. 

9 Q . Circling bac k to that, who pays for the cos t o f the 

10 coring when you ge t a coring test that confirms a failed 

11 cylinder test? Sam Waldner said that Golden View is 

12 responsible f or that. Did you have a signif icant bill for 

13 coring on this matte r ? 

14 A. Yes . 

15 Q. How much did you owe for that coring? 

1 6 A . The one t ime was 16 , 000 , and that's j u s t for the 

17 c oring company t o come in, not counting our guys and what 

18 we have to do for that. 

19 Q . Who paid the coring c omp a n y? 

2 0 A . Grang aar d did. 

2 1 Q. 

22 A. 

Has Golden View ever paid you f or that? 

No . 

23 Q . Did that coring t est c onfirm. that the cylinder SaJll)les 

24 we r e b e low the s p ecs? 

25 A. Yes . 
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4 A. No . It r eads in there that the concre t e company also 

5 has. 

Q . 

A. 

I 'm going to have you find t ha t i n the spec book. 

It will t a k e a little time . 

Q. We ll, you' r e saying that there' s s omething in her e 

that requires the supplier t o pay for cor ing, and I ' d like 

10 to find that. 

11 A. 

1 2 

13 

I didn ' t say that. 

MR . FRITZ : He di dn ' t. 

THE WITNESS: What I did say i s that in the past t he 

14 othe r s uppliers , they woul d a s k u s , and t h ey would 

15 detemine if they were going t o core that or not , depending 

1 6 on the price , is prett y much what it c omes d own to. 

17 Q. (BY MR. FINK) And that would b e true if y ou had a 

18 contract o r that had agreed t o bear those e xpenses; right? 

19 A. Not true . 

2 0 Q . It would b e true t hat if you had a con tract with 

2 1 Golden View- where Golden View- would bear thos e costs , they 

2 2 could have jac ked up the price of their concr e t e t o fac tor 

23 in tha t adde d risk. True? 

24 A. Not t r u e . 

25 Q . And a s Tim Marsh all s aid, when h e sees arrangement s 
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1 where the supplier bears that expense, usually the amount 

2 that's charged for concrete is two or more times what was 

3 billed in this case? 

4 A. Not true. 

5 I!- so he's not correct, what Tim Marshall says? 

6 A. The concrete is about $120 in Sioux Falls , South 

7 Dakota, for bridge decks of that type , and I got -- they 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

ca ll it abstra cts. 

Q. So Tim Marshall is just wrong when he says it was 

obvious to him that this was not something where Golden 

View factored in that added risk? 

MR. !'RITZ: I'm going to object. That ' s a 

13 misstatement of the t e stimony. 

14 THE COURT: Overruled. 

15 THE WITNESS: So Tim did it. Like, he's been on one 

16 or two poured and placed bridges. So I don' t know how he 

17 would be able to determine that to be accurate on them. 

18 I!- (BY MR. FDIK) You think his t estimoey is wrong, in 

19 other words? 

20 A. I think that his idea of what the concrete actually 

2 1 costs from a supplier is wrong, yes. 

22 Q . 'lhe truth of the matter is just on the deck project 

23 alone you had $400, 000 of profit built in b ecause you knew 

24 you had the risk under your contract with the DOT to pay 

25 for all t he t esting and to guarantee the quality of t he 
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1 concrete pursuant to the strength standards that are 

2 containe d in the spe c books . True ? 

3 A. Not true. 

4 

5 

6 

1 

8 

9 

10 

MR. FINK: I don't have anything further , Your Honor. 

THE COURT: Mr. Fritz , anything further at this time? 

MR. FRITZ : Nothing further . 

THE COURT: All right. Thank you. 

Can you h and me the e :w:hibi ts? 

THE WITNESS: Yeah. 

THE COURT: Both of them. Thant you. Iou can go 

11 ahead and hav e a seat a g ain. 

12 Mr. Fink, at this j uncture, pending the resol uti on of 

13 some motions , does the State -- that's a habit I get into. 

14 Does the Plaintiff wish to rest at this jW1cture , pending 

15 the r e solution o f other motions b e fore the Court? 

16 MR. FINK : I ' m gl ad to res t f or the d ay . 

17 THE COURT: I t ' s a good t i me because I was going t o 

18 get l et them go at this point. We have some other business 

19 we have t o d eal with. 

20 This i s a good time for us to let you folks go . My 

21 plan i s to r esume with additional witnesses and t estimony 

22 tomorrow morning at 9 :00 0 1 clock. 1 1 m optimistic we c an 

23 get through t he witnesses and testimony tomorrow. I don't 

24 know i f t hat is early afternoon, middle afternoon , lat e 

25 afternoon. It kin d of d ep en ds on h ow it goes . In a 
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1 perfec t world , all the evidence comes in, and then the 

attorneys and the Court have to get toget her and settle the 

3 final instructions. So depending upon the timing tomorrow, 

4 if it's not terribly late, we' 11 let you go after all the 

5 witnesses are done. We ' ll work on those things. 

10 

11 

And what I ' d like to do then is, right away Thursday 

morning, you come back in , I read the instructions, and 

then they do closing a rgumen t s. 

I'm not sure if the t iming will all work out quite 

that well. If we' re still taking tes timony and evidence 

until 5: 00 o ' clock tomorrow, then we' 11 probably have you 

12 come in a little l ater Thursday. We 'll set tle the 

13 instructions Thursday morning or something like t hat. But 

14 the goal is , I think at this point, you're going t o get it 

15 on Thursday , the earlier the bett er in my mind. And then 

16 you get the opportunity to deliberate , hopefully with as 

17 11111ch time as you need . I don' t like sending juries out i n 

18 the evening or late in the aft ernoon, but sometimes that's 

19 the way it works. It depends on how 11111ch time you take to 

20 de libe rate . And the r e ' s no pressure b ecause this i s 

21 complex. So it might take you a litt le bit . 

22 We are st ill probabl y goi ng t o be done on Thursday but 

23 no promises. But if that goes the way I antic ipate , we 

24 won't need t o come back in on Friday. we ' 11 see how it 

25 goes . 
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Again, I need to remind you not to c onv erse amongst 

yourselves or with anyone else on any subject connected t o 

3 our trial. Do not form or express any opinions until t he 

4 ca se i s finally s ubmitte d to you. 

5 We will reconvene, and we will lool: at starting at 

10 

11 

9: 00 o' clock i n the morning. 

All ris e for the jur y. 

(Thereupon , the jury l e ft the courtroom, and 

t he followi ng proceedings ensued outs ide the 

presence of the jur y a t 4 :54 p. m. : ) 

THE COURT : Please be seat ed. 

1 2 We have a couple of mat ter s we have t o deal with at 

13 this time . First , I ' m going to go to the defense. And I' m 

14 treating this somewhat as we are at t he conclusion of t he 

15 Plaintiff1 s case , dependent upon whether or not there is 

16 going t o be discover y allowed invol vi ng punitive damages. 

17 I think those will be ques t ions Mr . Fi nk would have t o --

18 and Mr. Grangaard. That i s a good time t o cut that o ff 

19 bec ause deter minations have t o be made by the court in 

2 0 connec tion. 

2 1 So, Mr. Fritz , does t he Def endan t have any :m.otions you 

22 want the Court to consider at t his point in time based on 

23 how the case h as b een pled ? 

24 MR. FRITZ : Assl.lllli ng we ar e at the cl ose, yes , I woul d 

25 mov e f or directed verdict on a ll coW1.ts . 
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THE COURT: The Court has heard the evidence and 

2 testimony. The complainant has a couple of different 

3 claims that are set forth. Count 1 is breach of contract. 

4 The Court believes that sufficient facts have been set 

5 forth that a reasonable jury could conclude there was a 

6 breach of contract. So the motion for directed verdict on 

7 Count 1 is denied. That somemat dovetails into '4lat we've 

8 had on other discussions with other motions. 

It was clear to the Court right away through Sam 

10 Waldner •s testimony that there's not a written contract 

11 other than a recipe here , but Mr. Waldner testified there 

12 was a verbal agreement. The terms of the verbal agreement 

13 are what is in dispute here. That's why we have questions 

14 of fact which are going to be for the jury to decide. But 

15 the Court is not going to allow pres entation on any 

16 negligence claims that were a part of the counterclaim. 

17 This is purely a breach-of-contract situation. I had 

18 alluded to that during the earlier motions h earings, 

19 depending upon how this all came up. That question for the 

20 Court was somewhat answer and resolved with the testimony 

21 that's been presented. 

22 Mr. Fink, you kind of hemmed and hawed around about 

23 this a couple times as to whether there was a contract or 

24 not, and it's clear that your clients believe there was 

25 a verbal agreement. That can be considered a contract, not 
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1 a traditional written contract. And maybe that's why you 

2 were skirting that issue , so to speak , in some respects. 

3 But this is a contract cas e . 

4 How, as to Cowit 2, that 1 s the bad-faith claim, and 

5 that also somemat couples with Count 3 involving fraud and 

6 deceit. The Court does believe there have been a set of 

7 facts presente d to the jury if they be lieve and find 

8 credible that they could rule for the Plaintiff both in 

9 c onnection with bad f aith and on the count of fraud and 

10 deceit. For the motion for judgment, notwithstanding a 

11 verdict or judgment at this time, those are going to be 

12 denied. 

13 

14 one? 

15 

16 

MR. FRITZ: Can I present argument on that , a short 

THE COURT: You may. 

MR. FRITZ: Your Honor , for fraud and deceit and bad 

17 f aith, I don't really know what it's based on. Maybe you 

18 heard something different than I did. There has to be, 

19 first of all , a false statement made. I understand there' s 

20 possibly some things that were said that were false. You 

21 know, I ' d pay you half. Okay. That's the only one that I 

22 think comes close t o anything t hat could ar guably be false, 

23 but it' s not - - but it ' s not jus t a false statement. It 

24 has to be a false s t at ement that they re l y on 

2S de trimentally, t o thei r detriment . 
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Sam Waldner was very clear: We continued supplying 

concrete because he paid us. I asked him, was that the 

3 reason? Yep. And now this half-payment statement, without 

4 any other qualification, he said, 'ieah, that was to be made 

5 the next day. well, it wasn •t. lllld they continued to 

supply the concrete, which I t hink evidences that t hat was 

not -- they continued supplying the concrete because they 

8 got paid. They were not induced to supply the concrete for 

any other reason. So this is another -- you know, if there 

10 was some agreement to make payments in a certain way, 

11 that's part of this contract. And if the jury feels that 

12 that was part of the contract and Grangaard breached it , 

13 then so be it. 

14 But that ' s not fraud. Fraud has to be I intended to 

15 deceive you, I knew it was fals e , I said it intending t o 

16 have you rely on it. You relied on it t o yow: detriment . 

17 Fraud is serious stuff. I mean , it happens all the time, 

18 people. Hey, I ' 11 pay you in a bit. Oh, I don' t get paid, 

19 you know. If we get fraud every time a customer said 

20 they'd pay for something and then didn't , we ' d have fraud 

21 going on all the time. That's not fraud. That ' s a breach. 

22 If you believe it, that ' s a breach of an agreement . That's 

23 not fraud. There 's nothing here tha t they said t hat would 

24 rise to the level of fraud , I don't believe. 

25 And on review, I 'll confident this jury will -- well, 
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1 think they'll ignore it. But if they don ' t , I 'm afraid 

we 1re coming back. So I think the fraud , deceit, and bad 

3 faith claims , I don 1 t think there was sufficient evidence 

4 to support those I and I I d move f or directed verdict as well 

S as a breach of agreement. 

10 

11 

THE COURT: Mr. Fink , any comments? 

MR . FINK: In 25 years I' ve never heard t he argument 

that if the Court doesn' t rule this way it's going t o be 

appe aled and it 's going t o come back. 

THE COURT: I heard it all the t ime. 

MR . FINK: I ' ve never heard t hat. I' m not going to 

1 2 mal:e an argument about what would happen on appeal, but 

13 it ' s very obvious that $16 ,000 was pas t due . It's very 

14 obvious that Mr. Grangaard knew t hat he had some penalties 

15 coming . He knew that he hadn •t had any discussion with 

16 anybody from Golden View about paying t hose. He didn •t 

17 provide any bills for coring. He kept Golden Vi ew in the 

18 da rk v ery obvi ous ly. And out on the bri dge he made 

19 statements designed to keep the concrete flowing so that he 

20 could keep his projec t flowing and he didn't have to pay 

21 someone el se $700 a yard t o finish up. It ' s very obvi ous 

2 2 that the re are statements made by wit nesse s t hat if 

23 believed by the j ury would show, number one , t hat there was 

24 bad faith which is inq,licit in every contract. I see this 

2S as a weird contract wher e you had a s eries of sales . We 
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1 had sales, and so the UCC does apply. 

But, very clearly, if the jury believes the Waldners, 

3 that when the Waldners say they were never told that there 

4 was going to be anything that they would be responsible 

5 for; that they were kept in the dark about these penalties; 

6 and that assurances were made that, number one , everything 

7 was all good, web a reasonable person would believe means 

8 there aren't any problems with the concrete that had been 

9 supplied before. And if the jury believes that Jeremiah 

10 Grangaard promised that when the final deck concrete was 

11 paid, he would immediately give half of the money and the 

12 rest of it later on. If the jury believes that , then 

13 they're clearly, in addition to bad faith, there's ground 

14 for fraud and deceit to at least go to the jury, Your 

15 Honor. 

16 THE COURT: In this matter the Court believes there 

17 are several false statements, if believed by the jury to be 

18 false. First, we have some payment issues. It ' s not just 

19 the half and half; it was payment of the balance <Med. 

20 That was one part of the statements that were made , paying 

21 the balance of the $16 , 000 which Mr. Grangaard didn't 

22 follow through on. The other part of that was the promise 

23 to pay half upon pouring of the bridge deck and half within 

24 30 days if the facts as presented by the Plaintiff are 

25 b e lieved. 
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1 MR. !"RITZ: I thought you said he didn't pay the 

2 $16 ,000. 

3 

4 

5 

6 

1 

THE COURT: I said he did. 

MR. !"RITZ: Oh. I thought you said he didn't. 

THE COURT: I said -- he said he paid the 16. 

MR. FRITZ : Okay. 

THE COURT: So he partially complied with these 

8 payment terms that were discussed. Where the Court finds 

9 there to be more of a concern with false statements goes 

10 down along the lines of no problems with the concrete at 

11 that time. He ' s got a different version of what he 

12 believes was said , but we have the completely opposite 

13 version from Brian and Sam Waldner as to no problems at 

14 all. 

15 Mr. Grangaard wants to qualify that on no problems 

16 with the pier to require removal of any concrete. That ' s 

17 essentially his testimony today as I recall it. But 

18 there's a very different version of facts which the jury 

19 could believe that Mr. Grangaard falsely stated to Golden 

20 View and the Waldners in particular that there were no 

21 problems with the concrete up to that point in time. That 

22 is somewhat vague, but that is general and broad. And he 

23 wants to qualify his response , whereas they wanted it to be 

24 broad. 

25 The other part of it that the jury could find to be 
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1 false is Mr. Grangaard now says there were discussions 

about passing of penalties and deductions, and/or 

3 deductions, on to the supplier. Obviously that 1 s a very 

4 different version of facts. The false statement t he Court 

5 believes that the jury could find to keep fraud and bad 

faith and deceit alive would be no problems with the 

concrete up to that point in time . 

The Court believes that it would appear Golden View 

relied on those statements to their detriment. The jury 

10 could find those facts , anyway, because then Golden view 

11 proceeded after that meeting at the bridge before delivery 

12 of the concrete for the bridge deck , which was the lion' s 

13 share of the concrete delivered. And that 1 s the biggest 

14 portion of the bill that Golden View expected Grangaard to 

15 pay. Their de trimental r eliance on his false statements 

16 that there were no problems , they then proceeded to deliver 

17 the balance of the concrete that had been ordered. That is 

18 some.bat coupled with that he had also promised to pay, and 

19 he didn't follow through with that. So I think there's 

20 enough facts if the jury were to believe they could 

21 potentially find the defendant guilty of fraud and deceit. 

22 So the motion by defense is denied at this point in time. 

23 Now, Mr. Fink , you have Plaintiff's motion for 

24 permission to undertake discovery regarding the issue of 

25 punitive damages and for a motion for submission of the 
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1 issue of punitive damages to the jury. You may address 

that at this time . 

3 MR. FINK: Your Honor , I •ve always found that the 

4 standard is somewhat confusing on the issue of punitive 

5 damages, but basically what the Court would need t o find is 

that there' s clear and convincing evidence of a reasonable 

basis for punitive damages. I think that sometimes gets 

confused with there being clear and convincing evidence 

that punitive damages should be assessed . The issue of 

10 whether they get assessed is for the jury. So here what 

11 the Court would be required to find at this point is that 

12 there I s clear and convincing evidence of that reasonable 

13 basis. I would argue, Your Honor , very simply, that the 

14 reasons the Court just gave s upporting the f raud and 

15 bad-faith claims going forward would be the same issue with 

16 respect to punitive damages . 

17 One thing I 1 11 note, Your Honor, and it came out at 

18 the end of the testimony of Mr. Grangaard. I really didn't 

19 expect it , but he basically admitted that he never sent any 

2 0 coring bills to Golden View; and yet, on the other hand, 

21 he ' s saying that he expected those to be paid by Golden 

22 View. To me , that 1 s a crucial point because his f ailure 

23 to send those bills indicates that he had an expectation 

24 different than what he said he had. If he had sent those 

25 bills with a note saying, I expect you to pay it , then I 
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1 think a reasonable argument is made that he put Golden View 

2 on notice that Golden View might actually owe some money 

3 leading up to the bridge deck project. 

4 But by not sending those bills , that in conjunction 

S with Tim Marshall's testimony where he indicated that 

6 basically he gives the strength test information to 

7 Jeremiah Grangaard and then relies on Jeremiah to have 

8 discussions with the suppliers, it really looks to me , Your 

9 Honor, lite there was effort to keep Golden View in the 

10 dart and in the game so that Grangaard could profit the 

11 most that they could in this project, which after they 

12 heard $7 00 a yard meant that it was a better financial 

13 decision for them to order concrete from Golden View and 

14 either paid Golden View or later claim that there was some 

15 contractual agreement not to pay. 

16 So I think there's evidence of keeping Golden View in 

17 the dark. It goes to malice. It goes to bad faith. And 

18 so the position we have, Your Honor, is that we should be 

19 allowed to undertake discovery. The documents we reguested 

20 should be produced, and Plaintiff should be allowed to 

21 question Mr. Grangaard tomorrOW" on the issue of those 

22 pWlitive damages . 

23 

24 

THE COURT: Mr. Fritz? 

MR. FRIIZ: Punitive dauges are only all owed in South 

25 Dakota when a party reaches, quote, "an obligation not 
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1 arising from contract. " That ' s 21-3-2. What ' s the 

2 obligation that they claim was breached as the basis of the 

3 fraud claim? Failure to pay. What's the obligation that 

4 ar is es from a breach- of-contract claim? railure t o pay. 

5 It ' s the same obligation. 

So when the law says that punitive damages ar e only 

7 allowed when a par ty reaches an obligation not arisi ng from 

8 a contract , how can you escape that? It 1 s an obligation 

9 arising under the contract. It is the obligation. It is 

10 the obligation under the contract. So South Dakota law 

11 clearly does not allow for pwti. tive damages in this case 

12 that are state d. 

13 Then we cit ed t o the Razorbacl case, Your Honor I whi ch 

14 is an Eighth Circuit case, Razorback. versus Dement. And it 

15 is in terms of a fraud case , a fraud claim, it is really, 

16 really close t o our case . I n fact , I would argue that the 

17 Razorback case presented a cl oser case to punitive damages 

18 a nd fraud than would this case, b e cause ther e the 

19 cont ract or, t hey have emails where he says, you know, I 

20 will not unilaterally de duct m:::>nie s due to Razo rback. 

21 That's what the contractor said in that case . And Dement 

22 intended t o pay the invoices in a timely manner , he t old 

23 them. 

24 I n t hat case, t he circui t court, Arkansas , granted 

25 summary judgment on that , and the Eighth Circuit said that 
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1 was appropriate. I Id encourage the Court to take a look at 

that case and ask how is that significantly distinguished 

3 between this case and how are we to sguare those two . So I 

4 think South Dakota l aw, by its own terms , this is the same 

5 obligation that arises m1der t he contract. So, t herefore, 

punitive damages is not allowed. And the Razorback Eighth 

Circuit Court of Appeals has addressed this issue, this 

8 case almost I and said punitive damages are not warranted. 

THE COURT: If we were only pursuing t he 

10 breach-of-contract count, I would agree with you. But 

11 we 1re not . The bad- faith count i s alive , as well as fraud 

12 and deceit. The obligation arising from something other 

13 than the contract terms is the obligation of good faith and 

14 fair dealing. And if the jury finds your client is 

15 fraudulent and deceitful in basically lying to Golden View 

16 to induce them to continue to perform the contract and 

17 deliver the concrete for the bridge deck, I believe we Id 

18 have cl ear and convincing evidence for a reasonable basis 

19 for punitive damages to be assessed. 

20 Now, there ' s a couple things I would agree with 

21 Mr. Fink in the fact that the cori ng and t esting bills were 

22 never submitt ed by Grangaard t o Golden View. I think an 

23 argument can be made as to what intent there was with that . 

24 There ' s another factor here that the Court also paid 

25 attention t o as it came in. It appears Mr. Grangaard is 
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1 a very experienced contractor wit h numerous projects wit h 

the Department of Transportation, yet t he testimny was 

3 this is the only situation where he does not have a written 

4 cont ract with hi s supplier for concrete lite t hi s. The 

5 Court finds that to be very problematic in that what wer e 

his intentions. And he is the experienced party with these 

type of arrangements . 1t1 s t o his benefit. We wouldn 1 t 

be here today if he had a proper contract. And I'm not 

holding that part against him. Ke' s the experienced party 

10 dealing with the Department of Transportation on numerous 

11 occasions , and all the testimony has been t hey ' ve had 

1 2 limited contact with DOT and limit ed i nvolvement i n t hese 

13 type of contra cts. 

14 How, the Court believes this jury could find malice 

15 and bad faith on the part of Mr. Grangaard in this type of 

16 situation, because if I were t he finder of fact , which I' m 

17 not, I would l ook a t what are t he terms of the agreement . 

18 It 1 s a verbal agreement, and we have a r ecipe as to what 

19 was going to be delivered. We really don ' t have anything 

2 0 e lse . So it would appe ar that the Plaint iff would b e 

21 entitled t o get their payment plus t heir interest and that 

22 there could be a set of facts t hat they find Mr . Grangaard 

23 was fraudulent and deceitful in getting them t o continue 

24 with the bridge deck part of t his agreement . That ' s wher e 

25 we get to fraud and deceit are on the table . llnd when 
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1 those are on the table, then the pwtitive damages can 

2 potentially be applicable if the jury believes it ' s 

3 appropriate. So I think there•s clear and convincing 

4 evidence for a reasonable basis for it. It is outside 

s their normal obligations of their contract. We don1 t have 

6 a written contract; we have a verbal agreement with 

7 disputed facts as to what that agreement entailed. 

I think the risk for Mr. Grangaard is what set of 

9 facts are they going to believe and what's the credibility 

10 that they have to make a determination on as to the 

11 witnesses. So far we have Mr. Grangaard saying I here 1s 

12 what I think this was. And we have two witnesses for 

13 Golden View that have a very different set of facts that 

14 they have testified to, And then .., have Mr, Marshall, who 

15 is somewhere in the middle as to what the facts were back 

16 and forth but doesn 1 t have the information on any details. 

17 Why I bring that up in part aga in is I find i t unusual 

18 that this is the only situation, based on Br/ recollection 

19 of the testimony, in that he doesn't have a written 

20 ag1:eement. And then it could have been very cl ear as to 

21 penalties are going to be passed on, here's the situation, 

22 here's where we go. That's why I say if there was a more 

23 detailed written ag1:eement, we probably w<>uldn ' t have gone 

24 through all this and this w<>uld have been resolved a long 

25 time ago. Because we have factual disputes as to what the 
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1 parties' ag1:ee..,nts were on the contract itself, that's why 

2 this case moves forward lite it does. But because of 

3 potentially false statements and detrimental reliance upon 

4 those statements, that •s where these other claims stay 

5 alive, in the Court's mind. 

So defense 1totions are denied . Plaintiff 's ution for 

7 permission to Wldertake discovery regarding punitive 

8 damages is going to be granted. When we resume tomorrow, 

9 Plain tiff can recall Mr. Grangaard to the stand to ask him 

10 questions to further pursue that area of questioning. 

11 Then it would be the Court's understanding, Mr. Fink, 

12 that you w<>uld then officially rest. Would that be right? 

13 

14 

MR. FINK: Yes . 

THE COURT: Then we can :m.ove on to the defense I s case. 

15 They can recall Mr. Grangaard first, They also have an 

16 expert witness. I don 1 t care the order. It 1 s up to you 

17 folks. Do you have any other witnesses besides those two? 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

MR. FRITZ : We have Tim Marshall. 

THB COURT: You 're going to recall Mr. Marshall? 

MR, FRITZ: Recall Tim Marshall, Jeremiah, and the 

expert. 

THE COURT: Is that the anticipated order? 

MR. FRITZ: I don't know that. Yes. 

THE COURT: I won't hold you t o it. I was JUS t trying 

25 to get a roadmap. So when we come back at 9:00 tomorrow, 
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1 Plaintiff will get to wrap up. I do anticipate limited 

questions to get the in format ion you •re looking at. I 

3 don 1 t know how DD.I.ch beyond -- we 1 ve already talked about 

4 the contract. That's probably a big part of where you' re 

5 going, but I don't know that for certain. 

MR. FINK: Your Honor, I've issued a subpoena that 

requires Mr. Grangaard to bring with him to court the 

8 corporate tax returns and schedules related to Grangaard 

Construction for 

10 

11 

MR . FRITZ : This is going to be bad. 

MR. FINK: -- 2021 and 2022. And that goes towards 

12 the net worth of the person who has damages assessed 

13 against him, and I would ask that those be disclosed 

14 tonight so that I can at least look over them before 

15 tomorrow. 

16 THE COURT: I don' t know that that's fair and proper 

17 to have those disclosed tonight. You do have a right to 

18 make inquiries into those things once the door is open for 

19 pwti.tive damages, which the Court has officially ruled it 

20 is. The r e 's a lot of material that you have already 

21 referenced concerning this contract, the amounts in the 

22 contract that potentially can be very applicable for a jury 

23 in making a determination if they find fraud and deceit , 

24 for potentially an award of pwti.tive damages based on just 

25 the facts we have he r e . 
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I think Mr. Fritz is correct, it I s a slippery slope , 

but I •ve made the first shove. So we •re going down the 

3 slope potentially. And the items you have requested are 

4 appropriate to be released as a part of discovery once 

5 pwti.tive damages becomes applicable. I would j ust ask --

10 

MR. FINK: I will keep them in my file and not 

disclose them to anyone , including m'J client , and I will 

r e turn --

MR. FRITZ: That's obvious. 

MR . FINK: I will return them after the testimony is 

11 over. 

1 2 THE COURT: There is a confident i ality r equirement . 

13 So I'm glad you addressed that, because they are going t o 

14 be confidential documents for Mr. Grangaard, and Mr. Fink 

15 has an obligation to secure that confidential information. 

16 I'm just trying to find a fair way for timely disclosure so 

17 that he has a chance to review t hem and fornmlate some 

18 questions . 

19 What I'm going to suggest, Mr . Fink, to put you Wlder 

20 the gun a little bit, but Mr. Grangaard needs to comply 

21 with the request from that subpoena by 8 :00 o'clock 

22 tomonow mrning. You ' ve got to get the i nformation , bring 

23 it with him, email it, ho,,ever you want to do it, Mr, Fink 

24 should have that information to review potentially by 8: 00 , 

25 whether that makes counsel and Mr. Grangaard w<>rk hard on 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

1 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

1 

3 

4 

5 

EXHIBITS 

PLAINTIFF' S 

IIUllber Description Offr'd Recv'd 

33 NOWData Results historical weather data 
historical weather data 

!XHIBIIS 
D>FEJllll\liT 'S 

IIUllber Description Offr'd Recv'd 

34 Daily Ticket Report 

35 SDDOI Letter to Grangaard/1-24-22 451 452 
(Test No. 18/16) 

36 corirq letter 451 453 

37 Invoice fr"' Northwest Coring 516 516 

38 :Invoice from Geotech 519 519 

39 Coring test 522 522 

40 Coring test 522 522 

41 Spec bool page 330 330 

42/43 (Not offered) 

44 

45 

46 

Email exchange 364 364 

Grangaard tax re"b.u:n 433 434 

Coring test 522 522 

Plaintiff rests: Page 435 

Defense rests: Page 601 

Closing Arguments : 

By Mr. Fink: Page 745, 115 

By Mr. Fritz: Page 758 

v e rdict: Page 783 
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JURY 'l'RI.l\L WEDIIES!lhY, Jl\llUARY 10, 2024, AT 9:29 A.M.: 

(The jury returned to the courtroom and 

the following proceedings ensued with Court , 

Cowisel, and parties present, at 9: 29 a.m.:) 

THE COURT: The court will note that all 13 jurors 

7 have returned to begin our morning session. All the 

8 attorneys and parties are present. At this point we are 

9 wrapping up Plaintiff' s case . 

10 

11 

Mr. Fink, you can call your next witness. 

MR. FINK: Your Honor , I have some brief testimny 

12 again from Jeremiah Grangaard. 

13 THE COURT: Mr. Grangaard, if you l«)Uld retake the 

14 stand. And I will remind you that you are still under oath 

15 from yesterday. 

16 

17 

18 

19 

THE WITNESS: Okay. 

MR. FINK: May I approach the witness, Your Honor? 

THE COURT: You may. 

MR. FRIIZ: Your Honor, can I get a standing objection 

20 to all of this evidence base d upon our motions? 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

THE COURT: So noted. 

MR. FRITZ : Okay. 

JEREMIAH GRAIIGAARD , 

having been previous l.y duly sworn , was 

examined and testified further as follows: 
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FURTHER REDIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MR. FIIIK: 

3 Q. Mr. Grangaard, I •ve given you Exhibit 8 , and that •s 

4 the bid schedule. As :I understand it, each item that you 

5 bid contained an element of profit; is that right? 

A. Some do; some don't. 

Q. :I'm going to show you your deposition, page 9. 

8 I asked the question: "For each line item, you are 

figuring out what your actual cost is going to be and then 

10 adding a little bit of padding in so that you have --" 

11 And then you answered what? 

12 A. "Yes." 

13 Q. For profit? 

14 A. 1md some of them are subcontractor quotes. We don ' t 

15 mark up a subcontractor quote . If you get a quote for the 

16 paving or the dirt , they turn a rrumber in to you, and you 

17 enter that same number in. You usually don't mark that 

18 numbe r up much. 

19 Q. The profits you testified to relating to the deck 

20 concrete, that's not the only profit you made on this 

21 project. True? 

22 A. True. 

23 Q. 1md your total bid amount , if you look on page 3, was 

24 $3 , 612 , 979.96 ; right? 

25 A. Right. 
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1 Q . How m1ch were you paid when the dust settled by the 

DOT? Was it more or less than that amount? 

3 A. Normally, if there •s -- well, in this case there was 

4 that incentive , and then sometimes there' s , like , piling 

5 underrun; so that contract could be less. If there's 

a change order, if the state's made a mistake, that could 

obscure that number quite a little bit. 

Q . Did you get paid more or less than the bid amount; or 

don ' t you know? 

10 A. I would assume that it would probably be more. 

11 I don ' t know that answer without looking at it exactly. 

1 2 Q. And on your bid schedule , item No. 2 indicates 

13 "Incentive-disincentive," and then the unit bid price was 

14 $1400. Was that the daily, early-completion bonus that 

15 you anticipated? 

16 A . Yes . 

17 Q. So when you bid this , you knew there was an incentive 

18 to complete early. True? 

19 A. True. 

2 0 Q. Every time you called for concrete , Golden View 

2 1 supplied concrete . True? 

22 A. True . 

23 Q. 'lhey never delayed any concre t e or made you wait more 

24 than that clay for ccricrete? 

25 MR. FRITZ: Objection . We' re getting beyond the scope 
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1 of what we ' re supposed to be doing. 

2 MR. FINK: I ' 11 withdraw, Your Honor. 

3 THE COURT: Very good. 

4 Q. (BY MR. FINK) Your conq:,any, as I understand it, had 

S gross receipts in 2021 exceeding $13 million. Is that 

6 true? 

7 A. Correct. 

8 Q. 1ind it looks to me like your tota l income just in 2021 

9 was almost $3 million. True? 

10 A. correct. 

11 MR. FINX: That ' s all the questions I have , Your 

12 Honor. 

13 

14 

15 

THE COURT: Mr. Fritz? 

MR. FRITZ: Thant you, Your Honor. I have iust a few. 

RECROSS-EXAMINATION 

16 BY MR FRITZ : 

17 Q. Jeremiah, :I want to show you what's been marked 

18 Exhibit 45. Do you r e cognize tha t document? 

19 A. Yes. 

20 Q. What i s that? 

2 1 A. It's our S-corp, my final return schedule of what we 

22 make for the year . 

23 Q. We r e you r equeste d by Mr. Fink to bring that today? 

24 A. Yes. 

25 

l 

2 

3 

4 Q. 

MR. FRITZ : Okay. I'd offer Exhibit 45 . 
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THE COURT: Any objection? 

MR. FINK: No, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: 45 will b e r e ce ived. 

(BY MR. FRrrZ) on that Exhibit 45 , I b elieve it ' s 

5 line 21, \orla.t lfil.S ya.ir net income, Grangaard Construction's 

6 net income f or 2021? 

7 A. $ 200 , Bll. 

8 Q . Okay. What were the amounts of deducts in this cas e , 

9 roughly? 

10 A . Oh, I think it was be tween 47- and 60 , 000 , s omewhere 

11 in that neighborhood. 

12 Q. Okay. Wha t was the cost o f that coring e xpens e? 

13 Yeah , the big one . 

14 A. The big on e was , like , $16 , 800. 

15 Q. So those two e xpenses alone might have been a quarte r 

1 6 of your income f or that year? 

17 A. 

1B 

19 

Corre ct. 

MR. FRITZ : 'l'ha t ' s a ll the questions I h a v e . 

THE COURT: Mr . Fink , a n y f ollow-up? 

2 0 FURTHER REDI~ EXAMINATION 

2 1 BY MR. F INK: 

2 2 Q. Ne t income, tha t is g oing to be Gra n gaard 

23 Con s truc tion' s n e t inc ome? 

24 A. Yes . S - corp , y eah. 

25 Q . Be f or e you get t o n e t income, thou gh , y ou firs t 
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1 determined the wages pai d and t hen the officer 

compens ati on. True? 

3 A. True. 

4 Q. So that figure you just gave is after money has 

5 already been paid out for employees and for officers. 

10 

11 

True? 

A. Yes. True. 

MR. FINK: That's a l l I h ave. 

THE COURT: Mr. Frit z? 

MR. FRITZ: Nothi ng fur t her. 

THE COURT : Mr. Grangaard, if you would hand me that. 

12 Thank you. 

13 Was Plaintiff's 8 previous ly rece ived, Mr. Fink ? 

14 He had No. 8. 

15 

16 

MR. FINK: Ye s. That' s already b een. 

IHI COURT: So I have 8 and 45 that l 'o. provi ding bacl 

17 to the clerk. 

1B 

19 

20 

You c a n ste p down. Thank you. 

MR. FINK: Your Honor , P l aintiff rests. 

THE COURT: All right . Plaintiff having rested , and 

21 we already addressed motions yesterday , Mr . Fritz , are you 

22 comfortabl e proceedin g a t t his jWlcture? 

23 

24 

25 

MR. FRI TZ: Yes. 

THE COURT: You can call your next wi t nes s . 

MR. RAHN : Grangaard calls Tim Mars hall. 
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THE COURT: Mr. Marshall , I will remind you that you 

are still under oath from earlier in this proceeding. Do 

3 you Wlde rstand that? 

4 THE WITNESS: Yes . 

5 Thereupon--

TIMJTIIY MARSHALL , 

having been previousl.y duly swon1 to t ell the truth, 

was examine d and t estifie d :further as follows : 

DIRECI' EXllMINATICll 

10 BY MR. RAHN: 

11 Q. 

1 2 A. 

Good morning, Mr . Marshall . How are you? 

Good morning. Good. 

13 Q. Was it jus t y es t e rda y that y ou t e s tifie d? 

14 A. 

15 Q. 

Yeah. Was that j u st on e day? 

It f eel s like a little bit longe r ago than t ha t . 

1 6 You 've already been up here plent y . You'v e had enou gh 

17 lawyers talking to you, so this will go pretty quickly, and 

18 I ' 11 jump a round s o we don't cove r a g ain what we alrea dy 

19 cov e r e d. 

2 0 I think you t estifie d that in 2021 you did s ome s ort 

2 1 of site inspection of Golden View ' s p l ant . 

2 2 A. 

23 Q . 

24 A. 

Yes. 

And we r e y ou ever at t h a t plant? 

Yes . 

25 Q . Could that s i t e inspecticn be acccmplished in one day? 

Me l i nda . Songstad@ujs. sta t e . sd. us 

GRANGAARD APPENDIX 75 

435 

43 6 



1 A. Fairly early, around the time of the first or second 

2 pour :r think is when that happened. 

3 Q. Okay. How did it come up? 

4 A. Well, that's a good question. :r don't know exactly 

S when we were talking about the possible risk factors in 

6 that same conversation. 'l'hat •s the best I can recall on 

7 that. 

8 Q. You testified that he told you h e wanted to make a 

9 fair bid for the state; is that right? 

10 A. Yes. 

11 Q. What else did he say along those lines? 

12 A. Well , that was about it. We kind of discussed the 

13 price, and I think that was the same conversation we were 

14 at; recommended to possibly talk to another ready-mix 

15 supplier to see -- you know, :r: didn't see the actual bid 

16 prior, but I kn:,w- what Sam told me. And when I heard it, I 

17 was like, you may want to make a call and talk to somebody 

18 who's been in this situation before. 

19 Q. Did he tell you SOOllething along the lines that he did 

20 want to gouge the state with his prices? 

21 A. Yes , he did. 

22 Q . How far is the Golden View plant from the project? 

23 A. Three miles . 

24 Q. 

25 A. 

Pretty close? 

About three miles . 
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1 Q. Are projects typically that close to the supplier? 

2 A. No, not normally. 

3 Q. And you testified at the outset, which again f eel s 

4 like a week ago, but I think you said you worked on about 

S six bridge projects? 

6 

1 

8 

9 

10 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Roughly, something like that . 

Over how many years was that? 

Over 25 years. 

Okay. HOW' many, let •s say since 2020 , 

'lhat 's the only bridge, actual bridge. 

11 I had one this summer too. 

of those s ix? 

Well, I guess 

12 Q. But at that ti.me that had been the only one in several 

13 years? 

14 A. Yeah . Yeah. I'm trying to think if -- we do some 

1S work with the counties, and I don't think I had any of the 

16 counties' structures . Ten years , maybe. 

17 Q. Ten years prior to this project that you had a bridge 

18 proj ect tha t you oversaw? 

19 A. Yeah. 

20 Q. Did I hear you testifying earlier about what you 

2 1 ~t the prcper bid price for a supplier to bid concrete 

22 for a bridge project would be? 

23 A. Yeah. I mean, I •ve n ever s een the direct quotes 

24 between the supplie r s and the prime contractor , but I have 

2S a fair idea from talking with other ready-mix suppliers. 

Melinda. Songstad@ujs . state. sd. u s 

441 

442 

1 Q. Okay. But not on projects you ' ve worked on? 

A . 'l'he one from ten years ago , I: can't recall . And not 

3 all bridges necessarily have a lot of c<r1Crete. lllen I: say 

4 I worked on a bridge, there's a type of bridge they call a 

5 bulb-tee that • s not a poured deck. It •s a precast unit, 

and it's set on some kind of piling. So it's a different 

type of bridge. And that ' s the two that I: worked on 

8 previously. I: don't know if that ' s 

Q. I •m trying to Ulderstand where -- I'm tzying to get an 

10 apples-to-apples conq:,arison for this bridge and some other 

11 one you did for a sense of price for a bridge project. Do 

12 you have a conq>arable where there's this type of volume for 

13 a bridge deck where you know what the supplier ' s bridge 

14 price was to the contractor? 

15 A. I have a good idea, because we 'v e had these failures 

16 before, and not to expand too far, but this has been an 

17 industry wide issue in the state with concrete failures 

18 where we've had failures getting quotes from suppliers to 

19 supply us mix. So there •s definitely been background into 

20 what the cost of the concre te is b ecause statewide we've 

21 had to deal with this, and we've had projects where we 

2 2 couldn't get a bid for concrete. We have suppliers that 

23 won ' t supply us concre t e without that increased price. 

24 Q. So you find when things go bad, you sometimes see what 

25 the prices are? 
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1 A. Yeah. And I: also -- I: know people that is correct in 

the r eady mix industry, and I: •ve had conversations that 

3 were n ' t working r e late d talking wit h them, and their 

4 concerns about supplying concrete. so it• s been a 

5 statewide thing. 'l'here's been several conversations and 

they weren't necessarily pertaining to this project . 

Q . Did you have any - - did you ask Sam any more about 

what went into building t hat price for his concrete? 

A. No. I j u s t recommended that he maybe talked to 

10 another ready mix supplier that had supplied concrete for 

11 the state. 

1 2 Q . How many suppliers , when this project was bid, how-

13 many suppliers were listed, concre t e suppliers were liste d 

14 fo r the project? 

15 A. Just one. I don't see J eremiah 's quotes from his 

16 subcontractors or suppliers . I: don't have -- I: don ' t know 

17 that . I: don't have that information. So when I see it, 

18 it •s been l e t and the SUA)lie rs -- I: don't even r eally have 

19 a listed supplier. It ' s more of an informal thing 

2 0 whe r e J eremiah -- we say, ' 'Who are you g e tting your 

2 1 concrete from?" And he tells me , ''We ' re getting it from 

2 2 Golden View." 

23 Q. Do you ever h ave proj ects that have a numbe r of 

24 concre t e suppliers ? 

25 A. Not typically . 
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1 Q. You'd know' that ahead of me if there would be m:ul tiple 

2 suppliers? 

3 A. Yeah. 'lhe only time I have multiple is if you have 

4 concrete paving and a structured project on the same 

S contract. 'lhen you'll probably get a paving contractor 

6 that •s got their own plant, arxl then you'll get a ready miK 

7 supplier for the structure work on there. 

8 Q. So, for this project, at the outset did you assume 

9 Golden View would supply concrete for the entire project? 

10 

11 

12 Q. 

MR. FINK: Objection, your Honor. Speculation. 

THE COURT: Sustained. 

(BY MR . RAHN) Did you ever talk to M%' • Waldner about 

13 what he \Dlderstood -- strike that. 

14 So, at the outset, did you have coiwersations with Mr. 

15 Waldner about Mlether Golden View would be capable of 

16 supplying concrete for the project? 

17 A. Yes. 

18 Q. Did that include the bridge deck? 

19 A. Yeah, mostly pertaining to the bridge deck. I always 

20 have concen,s 141en we start. we have to maintain a c ertain 

21 rate of pour across the deck. So one of the first 

22 questions is: HOh" many trucks do you have? Can you sipply 

23 this concre t e at the rate we n eed it? 

24 Q. 

25 A. 

For the whole project? 

Yes. 
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1 Q. And Golden ViE'h" never said anything to you othe:z:wise 

2 about not supplying concrete for the whole bridge at the 

3 outs e t? 

4 A. Not at the outset , no. 

5 Q. 'Ibey didn't say we can do the footings and see hOh" 

6 t h at goes and maybe do the deck? Did they say that? 

7 A. No. Not at the b eginning of the project , no. 

8 Q. I be lieve you t estifie d that this bridge was an iss ue 

9 for quite s ome time . Is that acc u r ate ? 

10 Le t me a s k a better ques tion. Prior to the project 

11 being started, I think you said something like the bridge 

12 was sort of out of commission f or a while ; is that right? 

13 A. Yeah. Wha t wa s the y e a r ? 2019? We h a d all the 

14 flooding around the s tate, and so this bridge had some 

15 scow: problems underneath, and the bridge office f elt that 

1 6 there might be some instabi lity there, so they closed that 

17 bridge and then they had temporary traf fic on it, one-lane 

18 tra ffic , for a year or so b efore we s tarte d the r em.oval 

19 h ere . 

2 0 Q. That was part of the r e a son why the DOT put in a n 

2 1 incentive for this project? 

2 2 A. Yes . It had been close d or limite d traffi c for quite 

23 some time . 

24 Q . And we heard that numbe r was 1400 a day. Does tha t 

25 sound r i ght? 
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1 A. Yeah. Yeah. I think that ' s right. I just looked at 

the 0:0 yesterday, and I had cne this year an:t it was 1800. 

3 So I think this one was 1400. 

4 Q. Is there a maximum of hOh" many days they can finish 

5 early? 

A. No, not -- we don't limit that, you know. 

Q • What about payment? Is there a payment maximum for 

8 inc en ti ve payment maximum? 

A. I think there was on this one . I can• t remember , but 

10 it seems like it might have been 40 days or something like 

11 that. 

12 Q. Yeah. If I saw it was 30 days for 42 , 000, does that 

13 sound right? 

14 A. Yeah. It's in that special provis ion or whatever, but 

15 yeah, that s ounds right whe n you say it. 

16 Q . We've talked a lot about this. 'Ihere ' s a pre-co re 

17 meeting for the deck? Maybe I'm using the wrong term. 

18 A. 

19 Q. 

20 A. 

Yeah. Ye ah. 

And you were there ; right? 

Yeah. Ye ah. 

21 Q . And I think you were already asked a bout whether you 

2 2 heard ar1;l{ corwersations between Golden ViE'h" and Grangaard 

23 about promise s for going fo:z:ward. We r e you .involved in ~ 

24 of those conversations? 

25 A. JUst tha t very g e n e rally knowle dge tha t you jus t 
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1 stated. 'Ihe details I didn ' t really f ollOh", because to me 

that was an issue b e twe en the prime contractor and the 

3 supplie r , so I didn' t pay a lot of attenti on. And mos t of 

4 my f ocus was on this bri dge inspection. 'lhat ' s when the 

5 region -- or, actually, the state bridge person comes out, 

and we actually go through that all the reinforc ing steel 

is in place. We check paving depth and do a dry run with 

the p a v e r. So I had a lot going on t hat day, and I 

didn ' t - - I know they h a d t hat convers ation, but the 

10 de tails of it , I can't p r ovi de anything t h e r e . 

11 Q. Did the inspection there f ind t hat the b r idg e was 

1 2 good? 

13 A. Yeah. Ready to pour , y eah. 

14 Q . All right. Le t ' s l ook at s ome of these deductions 

15 h e r e . 

1 6 

17 

18 Q . 

MR. RAHN : Your Honor , may I approac h ? 

THE COURT: You may. 

(BY MR. RAHN) Mr. Marshall , I 'm s howing y ou what 's 

19 b een marked a s Exhibit 1 6 . Do y ou recogni ze that? 

2 0 A. I do. 

2 1 Q. What is that? 

22 A. We ll, it ' s a price adjustment l e tter I g.Jes s . I think 

23 that 's the offic i a l title, b e c a use I a lways c a l l it a DOT 

24 18 , whic h i s the f orm number. 

25 Q . All r i ght. S o let's j u s t go t h rou gh some bas ic 
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1 a bridge deck, if it's not something that ' s really 

2 detrimental to the deck, we 're going to proceed with the 

3 pour to t:z:y and complete that pour in a cont.inuous fashion. 

4 I mean we just don't want to stop on our it deck in 

S essence. 

6 Q. Right. So if it was not -- if it was a regular pier 

7 pour, the calculation might be a little bit different on 

8 whether to accept that or not? 

9 A. There probably would still be a deduct , but the 

10 difference would be that I would have that test result 

11 before we placed. I would know my results before we 

12 replaced. 

13 Q. Okay. So you 're pumping all this concrete up on the 

14 deck, not knOKing what the fresh concrete results were as 

15 it •s getting pumped out? Is that what I •m understanding? 

16 A. Yes. 

17 Q. It's a large volume that's getting pumped out; right? 

18 A. A ready mix truck is usually ten yards , and it 's g:,t a 

19 hopper on the back, so a lot of times you're one truck. 

20 But at times ycu can get two trucks in there. so you might 

21 have 20 yards going up to the deck , but it's not -- they 

22 can't move their paving machine at the pace that that P\.Ul'I> 

23 could put that concrete out, so there's some delay in 

24 there. Narrow placing the concrete, stopping pumping, 

25 moving the machine, pumping some more . so it •s not just 
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1 instantaneously dumping this ten yards on the deck. But 

2 because of the way our spec is worded , I have to take my 

3 acceptance test where it •s placed. So we can do 

4 infonna.tic:nal testing OW"ing on the grourd. I don't believe 

S we did in this case. We took our first test as soon as 

6 they started to put this mud on the deck. So we •ve got 

7 about one yard out 'When we get the sanq:>le. But the load 

8 has probably been placed in its entirety before I have the 

9 result. 

10 Q. Okay. 'lhat makes sense. So it's all out there before 

11 we get a result. So if it' s all wrong, then the deduction 

12 equation takes in that wh:>le load that was sent out; right? 

13 A. Right. And a t that point then we trying to get try to 

14 get a.Jr cc:ncrete back into specification, but if it was bad 

15 e nough or big enough deviation, I would stop the pour a t 

16 that point, since it was that early in the pour , I would 

17 stop that pour and we would shovel that mud out and start 

18 again. 

19 Q. For each one -- we count three of these fr esh tes t. 

20 Each represents a whole load that was dunq:)ed out before we 

2 1 knew what the results were? 

22 A. Some are by yardage. It looks like they ' re all by 

23 yardage, but some of these like a slump test , it •s kind of 

24 an estimated yardage. I'm looking a t where that f a iled, 

25 and b ecaus e of the d eck is bid in cubic yards , but I 
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1 can't -- I could I g.iess I could calculate by foot how much 

concrete is in a foot and figure it that way, but basically 

3 what I do is I go and I take a measurement on the deck and 

4 I go back to a certain point and say this looks like it was 

5 25 feet , and then I calculate the yardage that would be 

theoretically used in 25 feet of placement. 

Q • All right. Let me ask you this . By the end of that 

8 day, did you have a sense, a general sense about how much 

the deductions would be for those three failed tests we 

10 talked about? 

11 A. Not at the end of the day. I didn't have that policy 

12 with me. I kn&i there wculd be a deduct, but I had no idea 

13 what the amount would be until I got back into the office 

14 the next day. 

15 Q. 

16 A. 

17 Q. 

could it have bee n , like, SO , 000? 

As it turns out, it was pretty significant. 

Could it have been 50 , 000 ? 

1B A. I didn ' t think so at the time. I didn't -- I thought 

19 maybe three or 4 , 000. Arxl lfflEll I got back in the office, I 

20 was -- frankly, I was stunned that it was, like, $27,000. 

21 So the region engineer -- materials engineer has the final 

22 say in these deductions, so he did reduce that some. But 

23 initially, the amount of that de duct was significantly 

24 more. That's for the slump failure. 

25 Q. so you told J e r emiah this $27,000 number? 
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1 A. I'm sure I did when I kn&i the ru.Dnber , that I told him 

what that was. And I believe when I t a lked to him, I told 

3 him I was shocked by how much t hat actually was . 

4 Q. Was he s ul:prised that he was facing $27 , 000 for the 

5 bridge deck pour? 

A. I can't say. I can ' t say what he would have thought 

of that. I'm asslfting he probably thoug-lt i t was high too, 

but I •m speaking for him. I can't do t hat. 

Q. We're a lmost clone here. Let ' s go to the l ast two. I 

10 don't have much to do on these. But 35 and 36, this was 

11 concrete in a Golden ViE'h" supplied on these pours; correct? 

1 2 A. Yes. 36 i s the one that is the curing c0nq:>ound . But 

13 they did s upply the concre te . 

14 Q . My question i s they kept working into November. Is 

15 that what thes e lead you to believe? 

16 A . Yes . 

17 Q. We •ve looked at the l e tte r dates . We can go back 

18 through, but I believe the first one was sent November 3rd. 

19 That would be 17 , probably, if you can find that one . A 

2 0 few were sent November 3rd, I believe. 

2 1 A. Yeah. 

22 Q. So the r e •s no official de ducts before that 

23 November 3rd d a t e? 

24 A. No. I don ' t believe so. 

25 Q . And after that we have several in Jat'D.lary; is that 
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1 right? I'm looking at 16, 20 was Janua:cy 11th; is that 

2 right? Am :I going too fast? I'm not trying to trip 

3 you up. 

4 A. I'm going back and forth with these papers, and now 

S they're out of order. My knCMledge to answer it by memory 

6 is not good enough to answer by memory. I need to sort 

7 through these. 

8 Q. I' 11 just show you this. I cheated. I've got staples 

465 

1 Q. All right. So I'm going to go in reverse order. 

You're saying there was a penalty for shmip a1 the deck; is 

3 that right? 

4 A. Yes. 

5 Q. But the DOT was testing for slump all along, weren •t 

they? 

A. Yes. 

8 Q. And why do you test for slump as the project is going 

9 in mine. We're looking at 22. Do you see the letter date on? Is that something that needs to be adjusted? 

10 on that? 10 A. well, yeah. we have a specification limit, but a lot 

11 A. Yeah. Jaruary 11th, yeah. Several of these look like 

12 they were sent on January 11th, or a couple of them at 

13 least. 

14 Q. Okay. Did you tell Sam Waldner that if there were 

15 deductions on the project, those deductions would be passed 

16 to Golden View? 

17 A. No, not specifically. I did not tell him that. 

18 Q. Do you rem.ember the first time you were asked that 

19 question under oath? 

20 A. 110. 

21 Q. Let's take a look at here? 

22 MR. FINK: I'm going to object as answered. 

23 THE COURT: Overruled. Are you referring to a 

24 deposition transcript, Counsel? 

25 MR. RAHN: Yes. Objection is overruled. 
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1 MR. FINK: Page, Counsel? 

2 Q. (BY ~ - RMI!) Page 69. Okay. Line 6, Mr. Fink asked 

3 you: ' 'But you didn't tell him as a matter of course that 

4 there was a deduction, that deductions would be passed to 

5 him, did you?" 

6 

7 A. 

How did you respond? Line 9 . 

"I think I did." 

8 Q. "I think I did" is M'lat you said. 'lhe veey first time 

9 you were asked that question, you said, "I think I did"? 

10 A. I knew- the results and that there was going to be 

11 a deduction I did tell him. 

12 

13 

14 

MR. RAHN: That's all I have. 

THE COURT: Mr. Fink? 

CROSS-EXAMINATION 

15 BY MR. FINK: 

16 Q . And that's kind of the inq)ortant point. You brought 

17 this up after the project had already started; right, the 

18 de ductions? 

19 A. The actual deduction, yes. 'Ihe possibility of it 

20 might be a different --

21 Q. When you told Sam later on as the project was ongoing 

22 that there could be the issue of deductions, Sam told you 

23 no, that Golden View- was not responsible for deductions; 

24 right? 

25 A. I b e lieve that 's what h e told me, y es . 
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11 of the slump characteristic, a lot of that is for the 

12 workability of the concrete, al though when you get on the 

13 deck, you've got a lower slump r equirement when you start 

14 paving. 

15 Q. so the concrete at the plant will be made with a 

16 certain amount of slump; right? Do you follOW' that? Yes? 

17 A. Yes. 

1B Q . Does that slUIII) change between the plant and the job 

19 site? 

20 

21 

22 

MR . FRITZ : Objection. 

MR. RAHN: Objection. Foundation. 

THE COURT: Overruled. You can try to answer if you 

23 know. 

24 THE WITHE SS: It does change some, but DDre so in the 

25 delivery time. If you've got 45 minutes of delivery, 
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l you' re going to lose -- your materials are going to change. 

Q. (BY MR. FDJK) It ' s tested at the site for slump 

3 because shmip can change from the time it leaves the plant; 

4 right? 

5 A. It can. 

Q. Did Grangaard ever have somebody on its own testing 

the slump at the job site? 

A. Not when I was present, and I don't believe so at ~ 

other time either . 

10 Q. Is there ~ reason them couldn •t have somebody test 

11 for slump at the job site? 

1 2 A. No. 

13 Q. under the contract they have with the DOT, Grangaard 

14 is responsible for the performance of the concrete. T.rue? 

15 

16 

17 

1B Q. 

MR. RAHN: Objection. Asked and answered. 

THE COURT: Overruled. You can try to answer . 

THE WITNESS: could you ask me that again, please? 

(BY MR. FDJK) under the DOT specifications which are 

19 part of Grangaard's contract, Grangaard is responsible for 

2 0 the p erformanc e of the concrete . Is that true? 

21 A. I don't know haw' our contract language exactly is in 

22 that, but -- but ultimately I'm dealing with the prime 

23 contractor and everything I do is through the prime 

24 contractor. So in essence , yes. But 

25 Q. So under its contract with the DOT, Grangaard could 
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1 THE WITNESS: Yes. 

2 Q. (BY MR. RAHN) So if concrete doesn't meet these 

3 specifications, and we've seen these deviation letters, 

4 does the contractor lose money? 

5 

6 

1 

8 Q. 

MR. FINK: Objection. Argumentative , Your Honor. 

THE COURT: Overruled. He can try to answer. 

THE WITNESS: Can you ask that again, please? 

(BY MR. RJUIN) So if the concrete delivered does not 

9 meet the OOT specifications, does the contractor lose 

10 money? 

11 A. I withhold money. What happens with it after that, I 

12 don't krlow, but :I withhold money from the contract payment. 

13 Q. In your experience, is it common practice in the 

14 industry for the supplier to compensate the contractor for 

15 any losse s as a r esult of non-specification concret e? 

16 

17 

MR. FINX: Objection, Iour Honor. Relevance. 

THE COURT: !he usage and trade within the lndustry l S 

18 relevant, so the objection will be overruled. 

19 

20 it. 

21 

THE WITNESS: I have my own personal experiences with 

MR. FINK: Then I'm going to object as speculation, 

22 Your Honor. 

23 THE COURT: It 1 s still overrul ed. There 1 s a caveat as 

24 to his personal experience. Obviously he can ' t testify 

25 beyond as to what he has knowledge of. So he can still try 

Melinda. Songstad@ujs. state. sd. us 

481 

482 

1 supplier and the contractor for d.edJc:tiais to be passed on? 

MR. RAHN: Objection. Speculation. 

3 THB COURT: overruled' I all<Med him to give the 

4 first part , so he gets to foll ow up. 

5 THE WITNESS: I don't believe there's ever been 

anything other than prices agreed to. I don't think 

that -- I don1 t believe that the suppliers and the prime 

8 contractor typically have a contract that they -- they 

might have a price agreement. I don't know if that 

10 constitutes a contract or not; but, t o JfI'j knowledge, they 

11 just have the price agreement. 

12 Q. (BY MR . FDIK) Well, let me ask. Do you ask the 

13 contrac tors what kind of agreements they make with their 

14 suppliers? 

15 A. Typically, no. 

16 Q. So hOW' do you knOW' if there's a supply agreement or 

17 not? You don ' t , do you? 

18 A. I know someone is going to bring concre t e, and when 

19 they get there, that's who's supplying it. But they ' re not 

2 O obligate d to that . 

21 Q. Here ' s my question, though. How do you know that 

22 there ' s no written or verbal agreement between the 

23 contractor and the supplier about what the supplie r i s 

24 expected to do? 

25 A. I don't know that the re is. 
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1 to answer. 1 Q. You just never see the supply agreements ; right ? 

2 THE WITNESS: I've had concrete failures on other A. I've certainly n ever seen one , no. 

3 projects I and in all Bf'f experiences, the deduct has always 

4 been passed on to the supplier. 

S Q. (BY K{. R11Hlf) You said :tOU were unsure if Golden Viar 

6 was bound by any contractual agreement to supply concrete 

7 for the entire project. But just to clarify, you testifie d 

8 that at the beginning it was their intention to supply 

9 concrete for the entire proj ect. Is that true? 

10 A . Yes. 

11 Q. Mr. Fink asked you about the test results and 

12 whether -- sorry. 'l'he break r e sults and whether you pas s 

13 those along to Golden View. But you just testified earlier 

14 that you did t ell SU\ that there was a deduction; correct? 

1S A. My first call would have been to Jeremiah, but I know 

16 we had some d iscussions about weak concrete, especially 

17 after the first one failed. So at s ome point, I probably 

18 did notify them, but ~ firs t notification would have been 

19 to Jeremiah. 

2 0 

21 

2 2 

MR.. RAHN : Nothing furthe r . 

THE COURT: Mr. !'ink? 

RECROSS-EXAMINATION 

23 BY MR. FINK: 

24 Q . So in your e xperience with these deductions , h as it 

2S been your experience that there i s an agreement between the 
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3 Q. Mr. Grangaard, I will t ell you, t estified that this i s 

4 the first time that he didn ' t hav e a wr i t ten supply 

S agreement. All right? So have you ever seen a written 

supply agreement in all the years that you •ve worked? 

A. No. I don't have access. 'Ihat's not something that 

they'll show me. SU\ showed me that his -- I thought 

he had a quote there , but I don ' t know that t hat was 

10 a contract. 

11 Q. So all you really know is that in the past it has 

1 2 worked out where the supplier for ttiatever r eason has borne 

13 s ome of the de ductions ? 

14 A. Yes. 

1S Q. You don •t know if that's from the result of a contract 

16 or not , do you? 

17 A. No. 

18 Q. And the way these d educ tions work as I'm looking 

19 through this , if the bid p rice supplied on t he bid sheet 

2 0 was $S, 000 a yard, the math would b asically b e the same 

2 1 except we would take out 97S and we would put in S, 000; 

22 right? 

23 A. Whatever that final unit bid price would be what that 

24 fina l numbe r is. If they bid 5 , 000 , y es, it would b e 

25 5 , 000. 
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1 

2 

3 

4 Q. 

THE COURT: Overruled. 

You can try to answer. 

THE WITNESS: Yes. 

(BY MR. RAHN) If I say specifications for A45 

S concrete, can we agree that I •m referring to the 

6 specifications set forth here? 

7 A. Yes. 

8 Q. So, in your experience, have you ever had to explain 

9 the specifications for A45 concrete to a supplier? 

10 A. No, not that I can recall, no. 

11 Q. In your experience, standard specifications practice 

12 in the industry for a supplier to pay the amount of your 

13 damages resulting for nonconforming concrete? 

14 

15 

16 

17 Q. 

MR. FINK: Objection to relevance and speculation. 

THE COURT: Overruled. He can respond. 

THE WITNESS: Every time. 

(BY MR. RAHN) What about if there's nonconforming 

18 concrete? Is it the practice that the supplier pays for 

19 the coring cost and testing? 

20 MR. FINK: I 1 m going to object to the relevance, Your 

21 Honor. 

22 THE COURT: Overruled. He can respond. 

23 

24 Q. 

25 A. 

THE WITNESS: Yes, if it -- yes, they usually pay it. 

(BY MR. RAHN) If it fails? 

Yes. Yeah. 
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1 Q. Let's talk about bidding. Do you have to be on an 

2 approved list to be in the bid process? 

3 A. 

4 Q. 

Yeah. You have to be prequalified. 

How do you get prequalified? 

5 A. It was while ago. You have to meet requirements and 

6 bonding and work underneath a prime contractor for bridge 

7 construction, and then you get prequalified. 

8 Q. Okay. It sounds like you have to do some work to kind 

9 of sh<M ya.a have the kruMleclge and skill to l:uild a bridge. 

10 Is that fair? 

11 A. 

12 Q. 

Yes . Correct. 

So the bidding process incorporates some of your 

13 expertise and experience? 

14 A. Yeah. 

15 Q. How does Grangaard Construction get paid? 

16 A . We get paid solely by mainly the Department of 

17 Transportation and some city work or some private work too 

18 that takes place . But mos tly DOT, and I would say 

19 90 percent. 

20 Q. Mostly bid payments? 

21 A. Correct. 

2 2 Q. What all is involve d with putting a bid toge ther? 

23 A. You know , they have a bid s h eet. You look on the 

24 internet there, and there's jobs that come up. Closer to 

25 when it gets let , y ou get a set of plans. You build a 
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1 bridge a fei,,, times on the desk, paper-trail it, and then a 

couple days before the bid, kind of hOW' big it is. 'lhen 

3 the quotes will come in, and you have to put this project 

4 together, and then you have it entered by a certain time 

5 the day of the bid. 

Q. 

A. 

Is there an engineer involved in that? 

No , not really. 

8 Q. Okay. So Grangaard does a design of the bridge or --

A. No. 'Ihe design gets shopped out to private OOJll)anies. 

10 'Ihe state will award -- you know, they' 11 put theil'. name on 

11 it and go by it, and then somebody bids for it to put it 

12 out, and then they' 11 put their name on it. 

13 Q. So the state gets an engineer and the enginee r 

14 A. Will put a stamp, yeah. 

15 Q. And then the r e •s plans, and then you bid on those 

16 plans? 

17 A. Yeah. 

18 Q. Does the state give you a list of potential suppliers 

19 for the project? 

20 A. Yep. 'Ihey•re on the web page there when you do it, 

21 yeah. 

2 2 Q • And how do you contact a supplier? 

23 A. 'lhey show their name and coq,any, email, phone n...unber 

24 for contact . 

25 Q. You have to pick up the phone or send email or 
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1 something? 

A. Yeah. We usually, most of the time, if we know them, 

3 it will be verbal on the phone , somet imes by email. 

4 Q. So putting a bid together, you described the project 

5 a little bit. How much of your time does t hat take? 

A . Oh, it could be up to four days of eight, ten hours 

a day. It could go into the night if it's a big bid. It 's 

really late the night of because peopl e aren't putting all 

their quotes out. So , you know, four or five days , 

10 40 hours. 

11 Q • Can you charge that time back on the bid to the DOT? 

1 2 A. No. There ' s no bid for that. 

13 Q. That 's a Grangaard Construction cos t ? 

14 A. Yep. 

15 Q. Does Grangaard own equipment that it uses f or bid 

16 work? 

17 A. 

1B Q. 

19 A. 

2 0 Q. 

2 1 A. 

Yes. 

Doe s the DOT p ay you for t hat e quipment? 

110. 

You have to store that equipme n t someplace ? 

Yes. Move it around, yeah, and some stuff gets 

22 stored. 

23 Q. 

24 A. 

The r e's transportation costs in the r e too? 

Corr ect. 

25 Q. And those aren •t in the bids that you get paid on; 
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1 put ~ side boards on and put all your rebar on the deck, 

2 and then you pour the bridge deck. 

3 Q. :rn your experience of each of these steps, would you 

4 be able to do those on your own? 

5 A. Yes. Yeah. 

6 Q . HOW' long would it take you to lea:cn, to feel like you 

7 could know all of them? 

8 A. It took me a while. We still lea:cn evecy day. We 're 

9 never not lean1ing. It takes - - some people are faster 

10 than others at learning. some are slower than others. 

11 It's -- so you would think after five or six years you'd be 

12 able to get somebody fairly accw:ate to do work for you, to 

13 coW1t on them to do it right. 

14 Q. And the DOT doesn't pay Grangaard for its training of 

15 its employees; right? 

16 A. No. The only thing is on certain special jobs a 

17 training course might be, but that's just for one 

18 individual, and it's just a process. But no, they don •t 

19 pay us to train nobody. 

20 I!- It's just part of your operating costs? 

21 A. Correct. 

22 Q. Let's talk about this project. Do you remember why 

23 you called Golden View about the project? 

24 A. Yeah. They were the only bidder. 

25 Q. And were you aware as to whether Golden View had 
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1 perfo:aned any DOT projects prior to you talking to them on 

2 the phone? 

3 A. I didn •t -- when we did get the project, I was aware 

4 that they did some work for Ed Know-les. He builds box 

5 tow-ers and bridges too. So I was aware they did a project 

6 with him. 

7 Q. And based on that, did you believe that Golden View 

8 would be familiar with the DOT's specifications? 

9 

10 

11 1!-

12 A. 

13 I!-

MR. FINK: Objection. Calls for speculation. 

THE COURT: Sustained. 

(BY MR. RAHN) So you talked to Sam Waldner? 

Yes. 

And what class of concre te did you tell him you 

14 needed? 

15 A. A45. 

16 Q . What was his response? 

17 A. He said that would be all right. I mean, you know, it 

18 was a friendly phone call. So we talke d about, you know, 

19 the A45-45. And he's like, okay. And we talked about some 

20 questions about how long is it going to take that you talk 

21 to anybody you're in business with. 

22 Q. Did he express any ooncems about doing a DOT project? 

23 A. That •s a long conversation. I don •t want to -- I 

24 don't r eally think there was -- I asked him about trucks 

25 because we always do , you know-. And we talked about the 
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1 deck, I remember, of course the 500 yards or 550. 

Actually, only 500 because of the curbs there. But there 

3 was talk , a little bit of chatter about that. 

4 I!- Did he express any concerns about the job? 

5 A. Not really. It's been a while ago. Nothing really 

stuck out. We talked abc:ut that A4S and when we were going 

to start and how many trucks they had. 

8 Q . And Sam testified, and I think you would agree, that 

this was a verbal agreement. Would you agree with that? 

10 A. Yeah. 

11 Q. All right. So let ' s go through the te:cn.s that you 

12 agreed to on the phclle. So we're clear, what was the class 

13 of concrete? 

14 A. A45. 

15 Q. What was the price? 

16 A. Yeah. 

17 Q. What was the price? 

18 A. 132 or five. I can't remember exactly. It was in the 

19 130s, I think. 

2 O Q . 'lhat was the term of the contract as you W1derstood 

21 it? 

22 A. Yeah. Yeah. 

23 Q . And then what was the aJI\OWlt? Was it for the entire 

24 project? 

25 A. Yeah. Yeah. For the substnicture and the deck. I 
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1 think it was like a thousand yards almost , I think. 

Q . And you knew about when the concrete needed to be 

3 delivered, the time frame? 

4 A. Yeah. We had to explain when we were going to g e t 

5 started. 

1!­

A. 

I!-

A. 

And that was it; right? 

Pretty much. Pretty much, yeah. 

That •s all you needed for your contract; right? 

Right. 

10 Q . You mentioned the price you thought. I think in the 

11 testimony it was 130. You thought it was something like 

1 2 that? 

13 A. Yeah, about. 

14 Q. Did you have a reaction at the time whether that 

15 price -- or to that price at all? 

16 A . I honestly -- and I don ' t have it in front of me or 

17 evidence of it, but we bid all of <'-'r work. rn Sioux Falls 

18 we ' d get concrete from 95 to 105, at the time, dollars. So 

19 I thought it was a hair high, y ou know, than what 

20 Sioux Falls and that area brought and Watertown. 

21 I!. 

22 A. 

23 1!-

24 A. 

About how many bid projects do you have a year? 

Some could be , like , five to six , seven maybe. 

So around ' 20 , '21 would that be true? 

Yeah. We probably had five or s ix t hat y ear. 

25 Q. And you got prices for cCZ'lCrete, for A45 cona:ete, I'm 
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1 

2 

nonconforming concrete; right? 

A. Yes. 

3 Q. Do you know about how many? 

4 A. I think it was seven to nine of them. 

S Q . we went through them with Mr . Marshall, and we can go 

6 through them again. We looked at Exhibit 16, 171 18, and 

7 19. The time frame was between September 8th and 

8 September 16th. '!'here was four failures for strength. Do 

9 you recall that? 

10 A. 

11 Q. 

12 A. 

Yes. 

And one of those was the coring; correct? 

Correct. 

13 Q. I know there's been a lot of testill\()ey on that, but I 

14 want to hear what happened. Let's start with going 

15 backwards from the testing date. It sounds like the pour 

16 would have been in early August. Does that sound accurate? 

17 A. Yeah, 28 days up to that break. 

18 Q. 'Ihen let's go seven days after that. What happens 

19 then? 

20 A. 'Ibey have the four cylinders. 'Ihe first one is a 7, 

21 21, and then two of them are 28. And that first cylinder 

22 broke really lOW'. It was conce:ming. It wasn ' t much at 

23 all. I dcn't remember what it was, but it was like 1900 or 

24 2000. 

25 Q. What did you do when you found out it was breaking 
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1 that low? 

2 A. We talked. I know I talked to Sam. about that. And 

3 then the DOT talked to him, too , because when we came for 

4 the next pour there was discussions there that the first 

5 cylinder broke very low. 

6 Q. And they've all testified they were aware of the 

7 coring as well too; right? 

8 A. Correct. 

9 Q. so you said after the 7 day, then there •s a 14 day? 

10 A. 

11 Q. 

Yeah. Yeah. 

Tell me about that. 

12 A. And the 14 day was not much better. 

13 Q. During this time, did you continue to work a s usual on 

14 the bridge? 

15 A. I want to say there was some bridgework to do. But we 

16 had to designate people to do that cor.inJ, so we designated 

17 a crew just to help coring out. 

18 Q. We'll come back to the coring, but at this time you 

19 had four failed strength tests in a week. Mr . Marshall 

20 talked about you began discussing different contractors. 

21 Do you recall discussing that with Mr. Marshall? 

22 A. A little bit. They were concerned. 

23 Q. Were you concerned? 

24 A. Yeah. 

25 Q. What were your conce rns? 
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A. Of having to remove that, because when it's under 

4000, it's a rem.oval. And it was like 3500 it came back 

3 at. So that 28-day cylinder broke at 35, and we've never 

4 seen it that low before. And when they did the coring, it 

5 still didn't reach, receive 4500. It was still Wlder 

4,000. So then the bridge design gets to make that 

decision of what goes on there. 

8 Q . How often have you had a cylinder break that low in 

your hundred-or-so bridge jobs? 

10 A. 

11 Q. 

It happens, but not quite that low. 

It sounds like you had to assign some of your 

12 employees to work on the coring. Were you nervous to 

13 continue building up on the bridge if some might be 

14 removed? 

15 A. we did have speculation. we s till poured the pie r , 

16 but we waited an amam.t of time for the cylinder coring and 

17 the Department of Transportation ' s decision-making. So it 

18 slowed our whole dedcing process down, because the state is 

19 not going to let you put the wall on top of footing that 

20 could possibly be removed. And then they warn you that 

21 you ' re at your own risk here. 

22 Q. All right. I 'm going to skip arourxi a little. I want 

23 to g e t through these deductions. Let's touch on the m 

24 briefly, and then we can get into them a bit more. The 

25 neHt set of deductions were related to the bridge. Do you 
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1 recall bridge deductions? 

A. Yes. 

3 Q. And were those fresh concrete tests that failed? 

4 A. Yes. Slump. 

5 Q. Okay. And we just heard Mr. Marshall say that 

initially they had one was $27 , 000. 

A. Correct. 

Q. What was your reaction when you heard that it would be 

27 , 000? 

10 A. I thought that was extremely high, like anybody would 

11 do when they' re taking 27 away from your contract. 

1 2 Q. Did you find that out soon after the pour? 

13 A. 'lhe 00T has to notify you if there's a faile d any type 

14 of test on the bridge deck. And then Tim said he had to 

15 turn it in, and he didn • t get the information until that 

16 night . 

17 Q. So that night you heard --

18 A. 'lhe neHt morning, I did, the next day afte r he found 

19 out. 

20 Q. You heard -- sorry. I was talking over you a little 

21 bit. 

2 2 Okay. I want to know about when you heard about the 

23 potential $27 , 000 de duct. Whe n did you h e ar that? 

24 A. The next day. 

25 Q . And then after the bridge deck was poured, was there 
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1 Q. What do you choose to do? 

2 A. 'lhere was corwersation, and :I knew that they weren't 

3 liking that they'd possibly be responsible. 'lhere was some 

4 talk about the coring, what it cost and what downtime they 

S were losing. so there was conversation about that. 

6 Q. 

7 A. 

8 Q. 

So at some point did Grangaard pay it? 

Yes. 

So at this time, and the time of this invoice is 

9 October 5, you understand that there's some potential 

10 deducts floating around out there? 

11 A. Yes. 

12 Q. Did Golden View- ever say to you, even though there was 

13 coring -- I think you talke d a little bit about this. But 

14 did they ever ask to see the invoices for it? 

15 A. No. 

16 Q. Let's go to October 22nd. Well, let's start October 

17 21. :I believe that's when we agreed that this pre-core 

18 meeting took place on the bridge . 

19 A. Yes. 

20 Q. All right. 'Ihey've t estified you said something like, 

21 

22 

"The check's in the mail"? 

A. Yes. 

23 Q. Did you say that? 

24 A. We did. :It was honestly forgotten, and the next day 

25 they got the check. 
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1 Q. Did you promise to pay the balance that was 

2 outstanding at that time? 

3 A. 

4 Q. 

5 A. 

6 Q . 

Yes. 

And did you pay that? 

Yes. 

So was your promise to pay that amoWlt a true 

7 statement? 

8 A. Yes. 

9 Q. Again, at this ti.Jn.e had arrx deductions been assessed, 

10 assessed on you? 

11 A. Yes. 

12 Q. :I'm talking assessed by the state on you. 

13 A. N'o. 

14 Q. When you paid this invoice , were there other 

15 conditions to that other than just pay.in; up what you awed? 

16 A . Yes . 

17 Q. What we re those? 

18 A. For the l abor and the h e lp with the coring crew 

19 getting down to the bottom of the footing to take the 

20 cores. 

2 1 Q. Okay. Did you promise to give up any of your legal 

22 r e medies r e lating to non-A45 concrete f rom the piers? 

23 MR. FINK: Objection , Your Honor. Seeks a legal 

24 conclusion. 

25 THE COURT: Overruled. 
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THE WITNESS: No. 

Q. (BY MR. MHH) At this meeting there •s testimony that 

3 you said everything is good, and :I think you clarified 

4 this. When you say everything is good, everything is fine, 

5 what are you referring to here? 

A. 

Q. 

8 A. 

That the concrete does not have to be removed. 

:Is that a true statement? 

That is a true statement. 

Q. And men you said that everything was good, you didn't 

10 make arrx other statements regarding giving up your rights 

11 to recover for nonconforming concrete for the piers? 

12 A. No. 

13 Q . Golden View alleged that you promised to pay half of 

14 the deck the next day after the pour. Do you recall their 

15 t e stimony on that, first? 

16 A. :I do. 

17 Q • What did you promise in regard to -- did you promise 

18 to make a half payment? 

19 A. :I said that if there is m ded.lcticns , :I will give you 

2 O half payment. 

21 

22 

Q. So that deck was poured, and there's already testimon;y 

that there was slUJl\p issues; right? 

23 A. Ye s , that Ti.Jn. Marshall made the day of the pour. And 

24 then we knew at that time. 

25 Q. And Golden View t estifie d they mew about this. WOUl.d 
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1 you agree with that? 

A. Yes. 

3 Q. So that day, essentially, you mew you were facing --

4 how big of a deduction did you think it was? 

5 A. He said it was going to be really large, you mcJW' . So 

I didn't kno,,r that day, but than that night he figured it 

like h e said he did. And then the nex t day it was s ix 

digits, you Jai.a.f, twenty --whatever it was , 22- or 27 , 000. 

Q. All right. so this i s October 22nd, 23rd. we 've got 

10 these coring invoices that need to be paid, we have 

11 deductions that were coming down the pike, and then now we 

1 2 have even more potential deductions a t this point. Did 

13 that affect your decision on whether to keep paying Golden 

14 View? 

15 A. '1'hey questioned me, you blow', and we made an agreement 

16 on the phone , and I stood by that . And t here were 

17 deductions. Jind until we knew what it was all going to 

18 consist of for fees on our e nd, t h a t 's why :I waited. 

19 Q . Do you have Exhibit 14? Okay . So after the pour, the 

2 0 day goes by; you have the deductions. On that third day, 

2 1 did Golden View ever say, hey, you promised to pay us half 

2 2 by now? 

23 A. :I can't r ecall. I me an, I r e ally can't. 

24 Q . Did you get a writtat invoice from Golclal View for the 

25 de ck poor? 
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1 A. Yes, I would assume so. 

2 MR. RAHN: May I approach? 

3 THE COURT: You may. 

4 Q. (BY MR. RAHN) 'lhis is E><hibit 14. If you could find 

S October 22nd on there. 

6 A. 

7 Q. 

8 A. 

Okay. 

Do you see an invoice number next to that? 

Yes. 

9 Q. Based on your .interactions with Golden View, does that 

10 invoice number represent that they sent a written invoice 

11 to you for that amount? 

12 A. Yes. 

13 Q. Do you recall ever receiving a written irwoice that 

14 said you got to pay $35,000 tomorrow? 

15 A. No. 

16 Q. And we haven•t seen this written .in.roice in this trial 

17 yet, have we? 

18 A. No, we have not. 

19 Q. :If you have some kirxl of agreement for payment for the 

20 deck, would you expect the tenns of that to be written out 

21 

22 

in the written invoice? 

A. Yes. 

23 Q. 

24 A. 

And it wasn't. Well, we haven't seen it. 

Correct. 

25 Q. And you haven •t seen one that said you had to pay half 
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1 the next day. That •s what you testified to? 

2 A. Yes. 

3 Q. So if you have a written invoice that sets forth your 

4 payment teJ:mS and you have oral negotiations that happened 

5 prior to, which ones are you going to follOW' in regard to 

6 paying? 

1 

8 

9 

10 

11 Q. 

MR. FINK: Objection. Relevance, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: Overruled. 

You can try to answer. 

THE WITNESS: Say that question again. Sorry. 

(BY MR. RAHN) So you had oral conversations about 

12 making a half payment the next day; right? 

13 A. Yeah. 

14 Q. With the condition of the deducts and then you get the 

15 deducts happening and then you get a written invoice, that 

16 kind of looks like evecy other one you've gotten; right? 

17 A. Right. 

18 Q. When you got that written invoice, do ycu still assume 

19 you have an obligation to pay half of it based on the oral 

20 negotiations you had the day b efore ? 

21 A. No. 

22 Q. Okay. And then Golden View kept performing work 

23 through Nove mber; right? 

24 A. Yes. 

25 Q. When I say performing work, I mean supplying concrete. 
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1 A. Yes. 

Q. And then we saw an email, I believe it was Exhibit 44 

3 where Brian emailed your office in December asking about 

4 payment, and then Taylor in your office resp<rlds that we're 

5 waiting for the final DOT deductions; right? 

A. Yes. 

Q. 1'nd it reflects your testimony right rlOh" that you ' re 

8 waiting to see what everything looks like? 

A. Yes. 

10 Q. 1'nd we looked at all the deductions. we saw SOll\e in 

11 November; right? 

12 A. 

13 Q. 

14 A. 

Yes. 

And some on January 11? 

Yes. 

15 Q . And then some all the way to the e nd of January, 

16 January of '24? 

17 A. Yes. 

18 Q. And I b e lieve Brian testifie d yesterday that he 

19 retained a lawyer in February or March. 

20 A. Yes. 

21 

22 

Q. Okay. Did he e1Ter tell you -- did you follOW' up after 

December about settling up with him, or did somebody in 

23 your office? 

24 

25 

Q. 

MR. FINK: Objection. Speculation, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: Ove rruled. 
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THE WITNESS: Yes. 

(BY MR. RAHN) And did he tell you, you 're going to 

3 have to talk to my lawyer? 

4 A. Yes. 

5 Q. So you wouldn't have, at that point, dumped all these 

invoices on Brian, would you? 

10 

A. 

Q. 

No. Not in litigation, no. 

Because you had lawye rs involve d at that point? 

A. Correct. 

MR. RAHII: Thank you , Mr. Grangaard . That •s all I 

11 have for now. 

1 2 THE COURT: Mr. Fink? 

13 CROSS-EXAMINATION 

14 BY MR. FINK: 

15 Q. OKAY. Mr. Grangaard, you just testified that the 

16 conversation on the bridge wasn ' t in writing. So you feel 

17 you don't have to abide by that conU'e rsation. Is that what 

18 you ' r e saying? 

19 A. No. 

2 0 Q. You're saying that if it •s not in writing it ' s not 

21 a contract? 

22 

23 

24 Q. 

MR. RAHN: Objection. Misstates testimony. 

THE COURT: Sustained. 

(BY MR. FmK) You •re saying there was a conversation 

25 about you payin:;J half on the bridge, but since it wasn't in 
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1 case the victim of the loss was Grangaard I who had to pay 

2 penalties and deductions based on contractual provisions it 

3 agreed to in a completely separate contract. And, 

4 essentially I with this case Grangaard is seeking to pass on 

s those losses to a third party, Golden View. So since those 

6 types of contracts must be express according to Mark Inc. 

7 v. McGuire, we would ask the Court to give this 

8 instruction. 

9 

10 

THE COURT: Does defense have any comments? 

MR. RAHN: we've obviously argued this a number of 

11 times. We 1 re not claiming indemnity here. We have damages 

12 here, damages that reflect our penalties, but we're not 

13 claiming indemnity here. 

14 THE COURT: The Court did previously grant the motion 

15 in limine already that the plaintiff requested. I believe 

16 the parties abided by that. There was no claim of 

17 indemnity pled nor argued, nor were there any facts 

18 submitte d that the defendant in any counterclaim was 

19 raising an improper indemnity agreement, because Mr, Fink 

20 properly cites the case law. That would have to be an 

21 express contract between the parties, and that is clearly 

22 not the case. There's a lack of definition to the parties' 

23 contract. That' s why we 're here. But I don't believe this 

24 is necessary because of the motion in limine. 

25 Now, Mr. Finl: , I understand your position , but the 
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1 defendant I s claims for damages W1der the breach do relate 

2 to those penalties provisions, but those are the facts of 

3 the case. They have not argued indemnity, and I believe 

4 under the UCC and the applicable statutes, they can claim 

S those items as damages , not necessarily wider any theory of 

6 indenmity, and they have not argued such. So I know you 

7 proposed it and you want it , Mr. Fink , but the court is 

8 going to decline to give that at this point in time. 

9 The next one is submitted by the defendant. It's not 

10 out of the patterns , but it is out of the UCC, essentially, 

11 dealing with the term • usage of trade . • And we might have 

12 some other things in the newly proposed, but I'm not going 

13 to touch on those yet. The Court felt this was appropriate 

14 and applicable, and I did allow the parties to get into 

15 testimony and evidence dealing with usage of trade with all 

16 the witnesses to some extent as to what their knowledge 

17 was. 

18 

19 

So , Mr. Fink? 

MR. FINK: This is one of those times where we have 

2 0 a portion of 57A- l-3O3 , and I would ask the Court to 

21 include all of that language from that statute. And I ' ve 

22 got to look at the statute, but I believe that 1 s the one 

23 that talks about course of dealing. Let me look it up. 

24 THB COURT : The next instruct ion al so i s somewhat 

25 based on 57A-l-303. So it ' s broken down in these two, and 
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1 I haven' t looked that closely yet. Is it already in these 

other newly proposed? The court felt usage of trade was 

3 appropriate. The Court felt like this instruction should 

4 be given. Now, we can revisit this. Maybe I will hold 

5 off. But then the next one underneath it is related, and 

that is based on a different case; but, as well , it also 

appears to be based on 57A-2-202 as well as 57A-l-303. So 

8 let' s hold off on those two . We' 11 come back to them. And 

maybe the same is true with the next one submitted by the 

10 defense. It •s based on 57A-l-313, dealing with express 

11 warranties. And then the next one is out of 57A-2-314, 

12 dealing with implied warranty, a product for a particular 

13 purpose and usage of trade . I' 11 hold those all in 

14 abeyance, and then we 1 11 review them when we look at all 

15 the UCC supplemental instructions that the parties 

16 provided. 

17 All right. The next one I had, then , was from the 

18 plaintiff . It's based on the pattern 30-10-40 , about every 

19 contract contains an implied covenant of good faith and 

20 fair dealing. The Court felt this was applicable . 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Mr. Fink, it's your proposed. Any comments? 

MR. FINK: No . 

THE COURT: Any objection? 

MR. FINK: No. 

MR. RAHN: we' 11 object as to good faith and fair 
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1 dealing. 

THE COURT: Understood. The Court made a ruling that 

3 fraud and deceit are applicable issues for this jury to 

4 look at and note you have a standing objection to this, but 

S I'm going to go ahead and give this one. 

The next one is based on 30-10-70. It was submitted 

by the plaintiff. I t discusses about every oral or written 

contract requires that all parties to the contract consent 

to the making of that contract . This is a fairly standard 

10 contract instruction. 

11 Mr. Fink , any comments? You submitt ed it. 

1 2 

13 

14 

MR. FINK: No objection. 

THE COURT: Mr . Rahn? 

MR . RAHN: The objection i s just I don 't know that 

15 there I s a question of consent of entering into a contract; 

16 but other than that , no objection . 

17 THE COURT: I'm going to give it. I don't think 

18 consent is contested, but sometimes it ' s helpful to give 

19 some of thos e bas ics that we have a contract here . 

2 0 The next one submitted by the defense , based on t he 

21 Bowes Constr uction case. I was l ooking, and it appears to 

22 be applicable. It is "A contract is breached when one 

23 part y fails to carry out an important part of the contract 

24 that r equires immediat e performance ." 

25 Mr. Fink , any objection? 
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1 essentially. I didn't change it. Any objection to my 

2 using your proposed under 50-130-10? 

3 

4 

5 

6 

MR. FINK: No. 

THE COURT: Any objection? 

MR. RAHN: We object. We prefer ours but --

THE COURT: All right . l',i going to give the one with 

7 Mr. Fink at this point because it includes the interest. 

8 Now, if we get done and you both decide we' re not going to 

9 let them -- I don 1 t think we can do that and here 1 s why. 

10 It• s a question of fact. Now , if you want the court to 

11 decide that question of fact , I don't like doing that as a 

12 mixed bag. And I did think through the merit of that , 

13 because the jury can get confused. But , now, as I think 

14 about it too, I don 't know that I can do that. I don't 

15 like doing that. 

16 

17 

MR. FRITZ: It was an attempt to clean things up. 

THE COURT: Now , the next one in order, thls goes Wlth 

18 the pwiitives. So this is plaintiff's proposed. It is 

19 based on pattern 50-100-10 , and it 's if they find the 

20 damages as proposed. I think it 1 s an accurate reflection 

2 1 from the patterns. 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Mr . !'ink, do y ou wish for this t o be given? 

MR. FINK: Yes . 

THE COURT: You still have a standing objection? 

MR. RAHN: Yes. And also I'd note we did submit last 
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1 night another instruction on pwti. ti ve damages. And we can 

2 get to those later. It may be incorporated in here for the 

3 law under SDCL 21-3-2 , not being able to recover punitive 

4 damages from the bre ach of contr act. 

5 THE COURT: I'm inclined to give it , but when we go 

6 through the later submissions , we 'll revisit this one. 

MR. FRITZ: Let me say this. This i nstruction as it 

B reads assumes they're guilty because it says , in addition, 

9 you may also award damages becaus e of oppression, f raud, 

10 malice . 

11 

12 

13 ar e . 

14 

THE COURT: If you f ind. 

MR. FRITZ: This doesn' t say that . It assumes t hey 

THE COURT: It's in here , "If you find that they 

15 suffer ed an injury as a re sult. " It 's the patte rn. 

1 6 MR. FRITZ: That' s the caus ation. If you find Golden 

17 View suf f ered an injury as a result of the oppression or 

18 fraud , I read that t o be they wer e. So I have t o find 

19 ther e was an inj ury or r esult. 

2 0 THE COURT: That's not hem it re ads . "If you f ind 

2 1 that they have. " 

22 MR. FINK: Additional or willful and wanton ,iisconduct 

23 if you find Golden View suffer ed an i njury as a result on 

24 the i ssue of punitiv e damages . 

25 MR , FRITZ: Why don 1t we make t his c lear and say, 
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1 "You must find that Grangaard committ ed oppressi ve 

fraudulent , malicious and intentional misconduct. If you 

3 find they did, then you may •""rd an amount for,' something 

4 like that. I read that as they never do find whet her they 

5 in fact committed oppression, fraud, mali ce . That ' s the 

way I read i t. 

THE COURT: And I note your interpretation. I 'm not 

8 comfortable modifying the patter n. I think it asks it 

appropriately, that they have to make that finding first . 

10 So I widerstand your concern, but if this is given without 

11 any other modifications , I think it does require them to 

12 make the finding first as written. I read i t differently 

13 than you' re reading it. So it' s going to s t ay. But I ' 11 

14 flag that, and we will revisit it again. But, again, l 1 m 

15 inclined to give it as i s . 

16 All right. The next one , plaintiff had a proposal , 

17 and I didn't like it. Right under neath it is the Court ' s 

18 proposed. This is somewhat based on 60-10-10 , and I'm 

19 trying to think of where and how I will made changes. 

20 

21 

MR . FINK : Looks good to me , Judge . 

THE COURT : Just wait. There I s changes on the second 

22 page . You gave t hem a cleaner copy t han me . 

23 

24 

MS. BAMBERG: Yeah. 

!HE COURT: You have i t cleaned up. Mi ne doesn' t . We 

25 made notes . 
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So that second page , firs t paragr aph r eads : 'Fi nally , 

if your verdic t is for the Plaintiff, indicate accordingly . 

3 If your verdict is for the Defendant, indicate accordingly. 

4 When you have reached your verdict and have compl eted, 

5 dated , and your foreperson has signed the appro priate 

10 

11 

1 2 

13 

14 

15 

verdict form, you will report t o the bailiff t hat you have 

reache d a v e rdict . " 

so I c leaned up where it tall:ed about the verdict 

form. 

MR. FINK: Do they only s ign one verdict f o rm? 

THE COURT : Yes. 

MR. FINK: The y could sign bot h. 

THE COURT: No , that's n ot going t o be two. 

MR. FINK: Okay . 

THE COURT: Everything is on one. You'll s ee i t ..tlen 

1 6 we have i t . 

17 

18 

MR . FINK : Okay. 

THB CXlURT : This cleans it up accordingly . We •re 

19 giving mine . 

2 0 All right. Next we ' re not going to look at what you 

2 1 submitted. I did a lot of work f rom what you guys 

22 submitted f rom my notes that I ' m holding up i n f ront of 

23 you. You have Court I s proposed verdict form. We ki nd of 

24 tried to combine e ach of your r es pective verdict forms . 

25 And Mr. Fink actually had three different ones , and I get 
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1 That standard language appears on so many billing 

2 statements merchants send out. It I s for them to determine 

3 whether it's applicable or not. 

4 Mr. Fink, as a question of law, if there are damages, 

5 there can be prejudgment interest, even if the jury does 

6 not determine that interest was an applicable part of the 

7 agreement between the parties . 

MR. FINK: So now J'i, wondering if we need to give t he 

9 interest instruction if we have this verdict form. 

10 THE COURT: I think we have to tell them how to 

11 calculate it. I don't think"" change anything, because if 

12 we're asking in one, we have to have it in the other. 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

Are you okay with this form? 

MR. FINK: Yes. 

MR. FRITZ: No. 

THE COURT: Standing objection on --

MR. FRITZ: I have two fundamental -- a standing 

18 objection, yes. 

19 

20 

THE COURT: Okay. 

MR. FRITZ: I don't see in one or two where they get 

21 to account for our s etoff. 

22 THE COURT: I think they have to find a positive 

23 response to No, 7, I think they have to find that first, 

24 MR. FRITZ: Yes. 

25 THE COURT: And this goes back to they might make a 
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1 finding for one and an amount of damages and then say but 

2 the concrete wasn't good enough, so 

3 MR. FRIIZ: Here's the difference . Olay. They" ve got 

4 the 89,000 of invoices. If we' re entitled to set that off 

s such that it comes down to 30 or 5,000, it 1 s interest on 

6 that. You 1 re going to calculate interest on 89,000 when 

7 they didn't owe 89,000. 

THE COURT: But I think the application of the 

9 interes t i s something that the Court could employ. 

10 

11 

MR. FRITZ: Later? 

THE COURT: Because we're having them make a factual 

12 determination; right? What are the damages? Is there 

13 inter est? If so, from what date. If they say but you ' r e 

14 entitled -- and 'llrf concern is we don 1 t tell them to take it 

1S off of the other. But if they s ay yes , Golden View"' s 

16 concrete wasn't good enough, and there's a $50,000 damage 

17 to your guy, then --

18 

19 

MR. FINI<: Which l e aves 49 , 000 roughly. 

THE COURT: The Court then would - - what 's the 

20 difference ? Let's say the re's 49 , 000 and there ' s an 

2 1 interest rate. The Court can apply any damages you 're 

22 entitled to as a setoff before we calculate any interest . 

23 Does that ma ke sense? 

24 MR. FINK: It does to me, Judge. So, in other words , 

25 you would take the numbers , do the math, and then go back 
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1 and use the date that the jury says interest applies and 

then --

3 THE COURT: The only way it can be complicated is if 

4 they say there's interest on both and give different dates 

5 and different rates , which we ' d have t o sort through that. 

It's problematic. 

MR. FINI<: And that kind of gets me back to the 

8 interest. Now that I'm thinking about it, why would there 

be interest on any damages by Grangaard? They've already 

10 applied the setoff. 

11 THE COURT: That's a good point. And I was trying to 

12 make these --

13 MR . FRITZ: There are expenses, the coring expense, 

14 the labor expense , we I re going to claim those are monies 

15 out the door. so those would b e subj ect to interest. 

16 agree that deducts might not 

17 THE COURT: No. There is one way. I was trying t o 

18 keep it similar to both as to what they ' re going to 

19 consider , but I don't knCM that you want t o give it up. Do 

20 you not want them to consider interest on your claims. 

21 don 't know that you pled it out the s ame way t hat the 

2 2 plaintiff did. 

23 MR, FRITZ: We' re not worried about a rate because we 

24 didn't --

25 THE COURT: They want a higher rate than the statute 
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1 allows , so it's question o f f act. So if we t ook the 

interest questions out , you ' re s t ill entitled to 

3 prejudgment inte re st. 

4 MR. FRITZ: Which ones are subject to interest , which 

s ones aren I t. I I m telling you right now I agree wi. t h Mike. 

The deducts, you have to expend the money. That ' s applying 

to coring costs and out of pocket . 

THE COURT: And then you c an request judgment -­

MR. FINK : So i f they award zero for t he plaintiff and 

10 give a judgment for SO , 000 for defendant? 

11 THE COURT: You don 't r eally wan t tha to calculate or 

1 2 me ss aroWld with interest becaus e --

13 

14 

MR. FRITZ: I don't know what they'd award. 

THE COURT: There i s a ques tion of fact on any 

1S interest owed by Golden View to Grangaard. 

16 

17 

MR. FRITZ: So it ' s s t a tutory . 

THB COURT: But they don •t have to make a factual 

18 de t e rmination. 

19 MR. FINK: If that were to happen, then I think the 

20 Court could look at the amount as long as the amount -- if 

2 1 it were $50 , 000 , as an example , or 100 , 000 for the 

22 defendant ·- let's stick with 50. Then with $50,000, t he 

23 setoff ha s already been applied and there would be no 

24 inte rest. 

25 THE COURT: Yeah. If they say Grangaard is entitled 
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MR.. FRITZ: Because one is defense and one is 

2 affirmative claim. 

3 THE COURT: Makes sense. So I was looking at giving 

4 the Plaintiff1 s instructions on fraud and instructive fraud 

5 under 30-10-140. other than the standing objection, any 

6 objection to that specific instruction? 

7 MR. RAHN: Yes. 

8 MR. FRITZ: Yes. 

9 MR. FINK: Your Honor, I would suggest that we pull 

10 that one and give the fraudulent misrepresentation and 

11 deceit. 

12 THE CXJURT: So the ones proposed even though they 

13 don't want us , then we f eel de ce it, fraudulent 

14 misrepresentation, deceit fraudulent concealment, And then 

15 we have -- it 1 s saying you can1 t give punitive damages for 

16 contracts, which is true. 

17 MR. FINK: Yeah. There can be punitive damages if 

18 there' s fraud. 

19 THE CXJURT: Exactly. But it ' s clarifying that if 

20 ther e's breach of contract, you can't give pWlitive 

21 damages. 

22 

23 

MR . FINK: Right . 

THE COURT: That's ..tly I think that instruction -- so 

24 they have three here. They proposed. And it appeared to 

25 me would r eplace your earlie r one . 
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1 MR. FIHK: The third one about the action for breach 

2 of obligation arising from contract, that would assume that 

3 there's no fraud alleged, and so I would oppose the 

4 instr uction that says the jury cannot give punitive 

5 damages. 

THE COURT: Objection is noted. It ' s a proper 

7 r eflection of the law. The verdict form tries to clarify 

8 that, but having this instruction I b e lieve will be 

9 helpful. It will be given. So the earlier fraud is going 

10 to b e no. We' re going to put in fraudulent 

11 misrepresentation , fraudulent concealment , and then that 

12 clarification --

13 

14 

MR. FRITZ: Do you want both of those? 

!HE COl.ijl! : I thinl he said yes . And I thin!. it u l es 

15 sense. 

16 

17 

18 

MR. FINK: They look fine to me . 

MS . BAMBERG: Which order? 

THE COURT: Where that was? And then I think there 

19 was only one other one. It I s down there a little further. 

20 

21 

MR. FINK : The l egal caus e . 

!HE COl.ijl!: It was Plaintiff ' s. In addition to actual 

22 damages, this is where we 1re instructing on the pwtitives, 

23 I believe. Yes. It' s under 50-100-10. 

24 MR. FRITZ: It doesn •t say anywhere. It has to be 

25 willful. They wouldn ' t know -- it 's on the verdict form. 
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1 I get that. 

3 

4 

5 

THE COURT: It probably should be enl arged. 

MR. FRITZ: Yes. 

THE COURT: Oh, it is in t he beginning. 

MR . FRITZ: This is the one where - - yeah, I thought 

it read • If it assumes damages you find that Golden View 

suffered as a result of the oppression and fraud committed 

8 by 

!HE CO\.ijll : You have your standing objection; correct? 

10 MR. FRITZ: Yes. 

11 THE COURT: And now do you have a specific objection? 

12 Or now that you read it, is it okay? 

13 MR. FRITZ: I would lil:e it to say Golden View can 

14 only recover punitive damages if you find that Grangaard 

15 gives oppression, malice , and misconduct. 

16 THE COURT: So noted. I' 11 give it as is. I believe 

17 we had this discussion earlier. n is accurate. It ' s 

18 a matter of semantics and how we 're going to interpret 

19 that , but I think it works. 

20 All right. We're almost done. We will come up with 

21 one clean set and give copies , a nd then we have to go 

22 through indivi<hlally and have to number them on the record. 

23 This is so much fun. 

24 

25 

MR. FINK: Are we off the record, Judge? 

THE COURT: Sure . 
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(Discussion off t he record.) 

!HE CO\.ijl l : Eact on t he record. I had Rachel Horn was 

3 the last person called up, and I would excuse her as the 

4 alternate. 

5 Any objection, Mr. Fink? 

MR. FINK: No . 

THE COURT: Mr. Fritz? 

MR. FRITZ: No. 

THE COURT: That's normally how I do it. I will tell 

10 her that before I start to read instructions, and if she 

11 wants to leave , she can leave , or if she wants a seat in 

1 2 the gallery, she can do t hat. 

13 

14 

15 

16 

MR. FRITZ: Based on t h e last one called. 

THB COURT: Yeah. She's got to clean this up . 

(Discussion off the record.) 

THE COURT: On the r ecord. We' re going through the 

17 final settling of instructions . we have a final cover 

18 s h ee t. It i s now prepared so it says "Final Jury 

19 Instructions. • once we 1 re done with this , we 1ll fill in 

20 the first page where it says how many instructions there 

2 1 are. I have not coW1ted them up again, but once we go 

22 through the numbering, they' 11 come up and fill right in. 

23 I am going to sign and date it. Today is the 11th. Any 

24 objection to the final form of the cover sheet? 

25 MR. FINK: No. 
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1 made. Would you agree with that? 

2 

3 

4 

MR. FINK: That makes sense to me, yes. 

MR. FRITZ: Yes. 

THE CO\ffil: So your objections have been noted, unless 

5 there's something you feel strongly about that you want to 

6 bring up again. And we ' re doing this for the timeliness of 

7 it. But don't be afraid to say, if there wasn't an 

8 objection, I'd appreciate that you go back and say no, but 

9 the objections previously raised stand for something. If 

10 you remember you objected, you don 1 t have to go into detail 

11 about it, or if you just want to stand on --

12 MR. FRITZ: I think we just stand on the previous 

13 record. And we' re now just confirming that this is the set 

14 that the Court has approved. That would be 11rf suggestion. 

15 THE COURT: And the numbering. 

16 

17 

18 

MR.. FRITZ: And the numbering. 

MR. FINK: I agree. 

THE COURT: I'm okay with that t oo . So we have 15. 

19 You're good with that? 

20 

21 

22 

MR. FINK: I'm good. 

MR.. FRITZ : I'm good. 

THE CO\ffil: !he next one would be m.mber 16. !his was 

23 off the pattern 30-10-20, "An express contract is an 

24 agreement." 

25 

1 

2 

MR. FINK: No obj ection. 
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MR. RAHN: No objection. 

THE COURT: Next one would be 17 , off of 30-10-30, 

3 "The contract may b e implied in fact." 

739 
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3 

MR. FINK: No. 

MR. RAHN: No. 

THE COURT: Number 23 , "To prove fraudulent 

4 misrepresentation." 

5 MR. FINK: No. 

MR. RAHN: No. 

THE COURT: Number 24 , "To prove fraudulent 

8 misrepresentation." 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

MR. FINK: Concealment? 

THE COURT: Thank you. 

MR. FINK: No objection. 

MR. RAHN: No objection. 

THE COURT: That ' s 24. 

Nu:m.ber 25, ' Inaction for the br each of an obligation .• 

MR. FINK: No. 

MR. RAHN: No. 

THE COURT: 26 , ITA legal cause is a cause that 

18 produces some harmful r esult. IT 

19 

20 

21 

MR. FINK: No. 

MR. RAHN: No objection. 

THE COURT: Humber 27 , ' It is your duty t o determine 

2 2 the following is sues . IT 

23 

24 

25 

MR. FINK: No objection. 

MR. RAHN: No objection. 

THE COURT: Humber 28, ' Any person who is entitled to 
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1 recover damages . " 

3 

MR. FINK: No objection to 28 . 

MR. RAHN: No obj ec t ion. 

4 

5 

6 

MR. FINK: No. 4 THE COURT: 29, ' In addition to any actual damages. ' 

MR. FINK: No. MR. RAHN: No objection. S 

THE COURT: The next one will be 18 . It is off 

7 pattern 30-10-40, "Every contract contains an implied 

8 consent." 

9 

10 

11 

MR. FINK: No. 

MR. RAHN : No objection. 

THE COURT: 19 off of pattern 30-10-70, • If oral or 

12 written contract." 

13 

14 

15 

MR. FINK: No. 

MR. RAHN: No. 

THE COURT: Hext one will be number 20. It is off of 

16 provisions in the code under the UCC where the contractor 

17 has accepted concrete. 

18 

19 

MR. FINK: No. 

MR. RAHN: No objection. 

20 THE COURT: Next one will be 21, "In deciding 

2 1 damages. " 

22 

23 

24 

MR. FINK: No. 

MR. RAHN: No. 

THE COURT : 22, •'The contractor on notifying the 

25 supplier. " 
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10 

11 

MR. RAHN: No objection. 

THE COURT: 30 , "There are certain rules you must 

follow. " 

MR. FINK: No. 

MR. RAHN: No objection. 

THE COURT: And then they would sign and date. And 

1 2 then we have the proposed verdict form . 

13 MS. BAMBERG: Oh, I didn't put that on because we had 

14 spaced it out. Remember? It was reall y --

15 THB COURT: Maybe it's fine the way it is. we •re 

16 going to get this to two pages . 

17 

1B 

MR . FINK : The v e rdict form? 

THE COURT: The verdict form. The content will not 

19 change . It does consist of eigh t questions. 

2 0 

21 

2 2 

23 

Mr. Fini., are you c"'fortable with the fonat of that ? 

MR. FINK: Yes , I am. 

THE COURT: Mr . Rahn? 

MR. RAHN: Yeah. We agreed to the form , but 

24 obje ctions remain. 

25 THE COURT: So noted. We' 11 get that consolidated to 
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1 two. I I m going to print a version that doesn1 t have the 

2 cites. I'll have to go through and number again. I'll 

3 give each of you the consolidated verdict form to add to 

4 your pile. 

5 

6 

MR. FRITZ: Mm-hmm. 

THE COURT: And I'll include that in this set with the 

7 cites again. All right. 1ou can go set up at the table, 

8 and we' 11 get going. 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

(End of proceedings in chaobers at 11: 38 a,lll,) 

(The jury returned to the courtroom, and 

the following proceedings ensued with Court. 

Counsel, and parties present at 11:52 a,lll,:) 

THE COURT: The Court will note for the record that 

15 all 13 jurors have returned following reporting this 

16 morning at 10: 00 as ordered, and the parties are present 

17 with counsel. 

18 I apologize for the delay. It's a process to go 

19 through the instructions, There' s no other way to describe 

20 it. Counsel was vecy cooperative, and they expressed their 

21 opinions, and we made a record. But it just takes a long 

22 time. So we do have those finally ready and prepared. 

23 NCM is the mment of truth when I will release the 

24 alternate juror. And usually how I do it , the last person 

25 called up, Miche lle Horn, you ge t to be excused. 
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1 You can sit in the gallery. You can hear the 

2 instructions. You can hear the closings. But you don 1 t 

3 get to go back and deliberate, and you' re not sharing the 

4 pizza with the rest of them. But you can remain if you 

S want. And I debated on letting you go earlier, but I 

6 didn't want so..,body else to have a heart attack "1ile they 

7 were waiting. So I kept you witil we got to this point. 

8 That I s what we said we would do. You were attentive, and 

9 you paid attention. we appreciate that, but you •re the 

10 alternate. And you can have a seat in the gallery if you 

11 want to stay. 

12 I will now read the instructions. Just to give you a 

13 roadmap, I'll go through it. It will take a little bit of 

14 time, and then the parties get to commence with their 

1S closing arguments. We had discussed it, and we allocated 

16 the time of 30 minutes each. 

17 Mr. Fink as the plaintiff gets to divide part of 

18 it into rebuttal. Ke ' 11 use approximately 20 minutes the 

19 first time and then 10 at the end. So you• 11 have to 

20 listen to me for a while , and then they' 11 argue for about 

21 an hour total, and then you' 11 recess t o deliberate. And I 

22 do promise we 1 11 bring you lwich right away because we I re 

23 working kind of through the lunch hour, but I thought it 

24 was best to get it started and get this part of it going. 

25 You can start talking while you figure out which piece of 
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1 pizza you want to have. 

All right. 

(Thereupon, the final jury instructions 

were read by Judge Giles.) 

3 

4 

5 THE COURT: You will be given a verdict form. It has 

two pages, It has eight questions, You must read the 

question and follow the instructions. It ' s kind of a guide 

8 in helping you make your decision. Once you have marked 

all the boxes on the questions and have reached your final 

10 decision, then the foreperson will date it and sign it, and 

11 it gets returned. 

12 All right. We will now start the closing arguments. 

13 Mr. Fink , you can proceed first. 

14 

15 

MR. FINK: Thank you, Your Honor. 

May it please the Court, Counsel: In the spring 

16 of 2021, Jeremiah Grangaard or sooebody from Grangaard 

17 Construction caught wind that the South Dakota Department 

18 of Transportation was going to be performing a bridge 

19 project. Grangaard Construction was a seasoned contractor 

20 that had over roughly 100 construction projects like this 

21 kind, and they had worked on many deals involving the DOT. 

22 Grangaard Construction knew full well what was going to be 

23 asked of them wi. th their contract , and they also understood 

24 the obligations that would exist in their contract. 

25 This is the contract that was signed by Grangaard. 
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1 This is not the contract which is really the subject of 

this case. Golden View was never made a party of this 

3 contract. Golden View was never shown this contract. 

4 Golden View was never given any notice by anyone as to what 

s was inside this contract. The issue in this case is an 

agreement that was JMde between Grangaard and the supplier, 

Golden View. 

Now, I 1:m. going to give you what I believe is a summ.ary 

of the facts of the case. It looks to me , in 'lll'j opinion, 

10 like Grangaard , specifically Jeremiah Grangaard , when he 

11 decided to bid the project, he made one call. He made a 

1 2 call to Golden View. And there wasn 1 t testimony , but it 

13 probably mates sense because Golden View was four miles 

14 away from the bridge. Ke made a call to go and talk to Sam 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Waldner. 

During that conversation , there was no discussion 

about the Department of Transportation rules and 

regulations. There was a simple request for a quote , and 

Sam gave them a quote for $130 an hour. And, folks , in Drf 

view, I think at that point in time Jeremiah Grangaard knew 

that he was looking at a sweet deal for some cheap 

concrete. think he knew full well , as did Mr, Marshall 

from the DOT , that although there •s some obligations by 

Grangaard under the DOT , he knew full well that thos e 

obligations don't pass down t o the supplier of the load. 
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1 And I think Mr, Grangaard knew full well that if he could 

2 get the concrete for that price, he would have a heck of a 

3 deal on his hands . 

4 So he bid the project. He filled out the bid sheet , 

5 and that bid sheet is Exhibit No. 6. And in the bid sheet, 

6 if you look at the items related to concrete, the items for 

7 concrete total over a million dollars. He testified that 

8 just for the deck he had built in $400,000 of profit. So 

9 there was a lot of profit at stake with the amount that he 

10 was going to pay Golden view. There was quite a markup. 

11 And, in addition, he knew that he was going to get an early 

12 completion bonus of $ 1400 per day, which was lucrative as 

13 well. He knew all of that, and so he bid based on the 

14 number that he got from Sam Waldner, But prior to making 

15 that bid, he had no discussion with Sam about what would be 

16 expected of Mr. Waldner, so there was no contract made at 

17 that time. 

18 Once the bid was let, the project began. But before 

19 it began, Jeremiah Grangaard signed the contract with the 

20 DOT, and I know that you're going to s ee a great big 

21 placard that shows certain standards that are found in that 

22 Department of Transportation contract. They I re going to 

23 show you the second page of a provision that has standards 

24 written on it. But if you look on page 307 of the 

25 contract, you' 11 see the section 460. 3 that reads: ' The 
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1 contractor shall design and be responsible for the 

2 performance of all concrete mixes used in the structure. 

3 Mix design shall be modified during the course of the work 

4 when necessary to ensure compliance with the requirements 

5 for strength and consistency. The mix design shall produce 

6 a c oncrete conforming to the f ollowing requirements . " 

7 Then that ' s when you have the language on the second 

8 page. This does not create a contract with any supplier. 

9 This creates a contract with Grangaard. lllld by s igning 

10 this contract, Grangaard accepted liability if there was 

11 any problems with any sections of the contract. And so 

12 with this c a se , what we 're talking about is a written 

13 c ontract signed by the Depart..,nt of Transportation and 

14 Grangaard t hat places clear and e xpress obl igations on 

15 Grangaard and Grangaard' s effort in following along to pass 

16 those contractual obli gati ons onto Gol den View. 

17 The evidence I think was pretty clear that as the 

18 project continued, as the project was ongoing , you had Tim 

19 Marshall, the state engineer, who helped put together the 

20 design. Tim Marshall was the one that was inspecting the 

21 resources at Golden View and was following up on how things 

22 we re g oing. 

23 The re ' s no evidence , though , that even though 

24 Grangaard agreed t o be responsible for the concrete , that 

25 Grangaard itself hired any experts at the time , experts to 
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1 loot at the concrete materials themselves , review t he 

sheets that came along with t he mat erial , make o t her 

3 recommendations. There was no indication of Grangaard 

4 doing that. And there's no indication that Grangaard 

5 expected any of that type of thing from Golden view. I t 

appears Grangaard was simply happy with how the Department 

of Transportation was handling things. 

So we g et into the summer , and t he concrete is 

starting to pour , and then we have a change in the path<ay. 

10 up until a certain point it sounds lite there was good 

11 cOD1DD1nication between Grangaard and Golden View , but at 

12 some point in time things start to move apart. And largely 

13 unbeknownst t o Golden View, t here are some problems with 

14 some strength testing that is occurring. 

15 How -- excuse ,.e. I pi cled up whatever t he j udge has. 

16 Now, you' 11 see in the items that will be sent back 

17 with you the instructions, t he law requires that if there's 

18 going to be a complaint by somebody who receives goods, 

19 they have a duty to notify the supplier about any kind of a 

20 problem. Nonconforming goods. If Grangaard want s to make 

21 any claim for nonconforming goods, it had a duty t o notify 

22 Golden View about that situat i on . And that makes s ense , 

23 be caus e if the re 's a problem, it needs to be fix ed. 

24 But very clearly , in my view, Grangaard was more 

25 interested i n the $1, 400 a day early completion bonus than 
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1 it was about any penalties t hat might be taxed along the 

way. 

3 And very c learly, i n my view, we have a situation 

4 where Jeremiah Grangaard knows that he 1 s got a sweet deal 

5 on some concrete . It looks t o me like he didn 1 t want to 

say anything that was going to make Golden View start bei ng 

c oncerne d or otherwise not want to ke e p s upply ing the 

concre t e . 

so t here was a l ack of communic at ion , and t hat was 

10 de trimental to Gol den Vi ew. Bec ause Gol den Vi ew was 

11 hearing that the concrete was good. It was actually Sam 

1 2 Waldner in her who approached Jeremiah Grangaard when he 

13 saw that there was some coring be ing done and s tarte d 

14 asking whether there ' s a problem. But nothing was ever 

15 s aid in return that might cause Golden View t o take a 

16 harder l ook at what' s happening, maybe get him some exper t 

17 and try to find out what's g oing on. 

18 I thinl ver y t elli ng i s t he event s where at s ame poi nt 

19 in time Je remiah Grangaard g oes off t o find a new 

2 0 contract or. I believe Brian when he says that was never 

21 brought up . I think Jer emiah s aid nothing about that . 

2 2 think he said not hing about the possi bility of deduct i ons 

23 because he wanted t o keep his cheap c oncrete availabl e . 

24 And when he got another quote for $700 a yard, he did t he 

25 math in his head and he recalled he 1 s using the contractor , 
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1 not getting any delays, and getting his bonus at the end, 

2 which ended up being $220,000, as opposed to talking to 

3 Golden View, raising concerns, getting everybody together 

4 and trying to forllllllate a different patb<ay 01,ving fon<ilrd. 

S So, very clearly, though, Mr. Grangaard was very upset 

6 in September. We have a situation where he hasn1 t paid his 

7 bill. And 1 1 m here to tell you, folks, when he withheld 

8 that payment on the $16,000 bill that was due, if he could 

9 have foW1d another contractor for less money, he would not 

10 have paid that $16,000. He paid the $16,000 because the 

11 best bid he got was $700 a yard from another contractor. 

12 He paid that bill because he was called to task on 

13 October 21st on the bridge deck work, and he was told that 

14 if he is not going to pay his bill, then Golden View is not 

15 going to bring any concrete. 

16 And, importantly, Brian Waldner told him at that 

17 meeting, he said, look , if there's any kind of problem, if 

18 we can •t bring what you need, then let's do something 

19 different here or don't get concrete from us. He made that 

20 statement not knowing that Mr. Grangaard already looked 

21 elsewhere for a contractor. 

22 So what was Jeremiah Grangaard's response? His 

23 response was everything is all good, the check was in the 

24 mail. I think he very DDJch sugarcoated the situation with 

25 the concrete that he had, and he brought up nothing about 
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1 the possibility of any penalties being passed on to Golden 

2 View. 

3 And remember I at this point in time there was never 

4 any discussion with Golden View about the possibility of 

s penalties coming as a result of contract provisions between 

6 the Department and Mr. Grangaard. Those penalty 

7 provisions, when you look at the exhibit, the exhibits, 

8 will challenge anybody here and I' 11 challenge counsel for 

9 Mr. Grangaard to point out in that book exactly how these 

10 penalties work and how they're assessed. 

11 Mr. Marshall wasn't sure exactly how these penalties 

12 got assessed, and that's significant because if there was 

13 going to be a challenge to these penalties , then under the 

14 terms of the contract it's up to Mr. Grangaard to make 

15 those challenges. Sometimes he challenged the penalties ; 

16 sometimes he had no choice and there was coring. But other 

17 times, if you remember his testimony, he made no challenge; 

18 he just accepted the penalty, which was his right because 

19 the penalties are a creature of this contract. So he just 

20 simply chose to accept those penalties, and all the while 

21 he kept Golden View in the dark about all of these 

22 penal ties. 

23 So OCtober 22nd rolls around. Very clearly, there 

24 were misrepres entations made. Jeremiah Grangaard saying 

2S that • all good• means that concrete wasn1 t removed. At the 

Melinda. Songstad@ujs. state. sd. u s 

751 

752 

1 very best, it 1 s misleading. He should have been telling 

Golden View that there have been a number of problems. He 

3 should have told Golden View that he was expecting that 

4 Golden View pay for the deductions , but he didn ' t because 

5 he couldn' t find somebody else to take on and he wanted to 

get the project forward. He wanted to complete early, 

which it did. Relying upon those statements made by 

8 Mr. Grangaard, Golden View showed up and they poured the 

deck. 

10 Mr. Grangaard di dn't have anybody on scene besides the 

11 DOT to be watching the concrete as it's dumped. But in 

12 every incident with evecy sale, and there were nmltiple 

13 individual sales , you had a call and offer to buy. fou had 

14 delivery and you had acceptance. And under the law, as the 

15 court read to you, if a party is going to complain about 

16 the quality of goods, there has to be notice given 

17 reasonably close to the time of acceptance. 

18 Even if Mr. Gr angaard would have .. ade the ccuent, can 

19 we wait to pay until I find out to see if there ' s any 

20 deductions, that might show a different kind of a contract. 

21 But here, the way the parties performed, it was pour the 

22 concrete, an invoice , and then payment due within 30 days. 

23 And that was how the parties performed regardless of 

24 whether there was a possibility of a deduction, because 

25 deductions never got brought up. So even with the October 
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1 payment , you had Brian Waldner in here saying, look , the 

deal is, you've got to pay at the time of delivery. He did 

3 at that occasion say half due at delivery, the other half 

4 due in the normal invoicing per iod. 

s So the deck is poured, and what happens is there 1 s no 

payment whatsoever. And basically from that point in time , 

it 1 s dead air. Why is it dead air? It 1 s because Jeremiah 

Grangaard didn' t need Golden View anymore. He didn ' t need 

the concrete. Very soon after the deck pour , the project 

10 was finished. Jeremiah didn't need them. He had his 

11 completion date . He had his early completion bonus. He 

1 2 didn •t feel he needed to give any notice of withholding 

13 money from the amount due, which you' 11 read that in the 

14 instructions as 1<ell. I f somebody is not happy with a 

15 product and they want to withhold payment , they have to 

16 give notice of that. 

17 Jeraiah Grangaard didn 't do that in SepteJLber when he 

18 withheld payment, and he didn' t do it after t he deck was 

19 poured. Folks, he simply didn 1 t care anymore , because he 

20 had his concrete. And he took the position that I've got 

21 my concrete, I've still got my money, you come and get it. 

22 Thus we have a lawsuit , and thus we 1re in court here today. 

23 One of the instructions the Court gave you was 

24 instruction Ko. 11, and that to me is an important one. It 

25 deals with the making of a contract. The existence of a 
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1 contract requires parties capable of contracting and then 

2 their consent. And I think that is very obvious. If 

3 you 1 re going to have a contract, people have to agree to 

4 it. All right? 

s This business of the concrete failing, all right, to 

6 me that is an issue that should have been dealt with by the 

7 Department of Transportation and Grangaard before penalties 

8 were assessed. If you remember, even in December of 2021 

9 and January of 1 22 Grangaard still had an opportwti.ty to 

10 contest the penalties to present evidence or other 

11 information that would allow contest. He never included 

12 Golden View in any of that process. He never allowed 

13 Golden View to know what's going on. 

14 I'm not sm:e what Golden View would have done. Maybe 

15 they would have done their own independent testing. Maybe 

16 they would have hired their OKI expert at that time to help 

17 with this contest. But it doesn't matter because the 

18 deductions are a creature of this contract, the DOT 

19 contract, and not a creature of the law generally. 

20 When you lool at the concrete that's out there , all of 

21 it was accepted. All right. It's all there. It's all 

22 been determined safe. The bridge has been determined safe. 

23 All of the concrete passed the state's specifications. The 

24 difference is, because of certain strength tests, there 1 s a 

25 mechanism in the DOT contract which says the contractor, 
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1 Grangaard, gets paid less for this concrete. l\lld I did 

2 some math. 

3 Exhibit 16, which deals with a larger amount that 

4 tested poorly, wasn't jackhammered out. That batch dealt 

5 with 48.5 yards. Grangaard had a penalty of $23, 000 , but 

6 it was still paid $24,000 for that concrete. So Grangaard 

7 was paid for the concrete that was the subject of the 

8 deduction. Now, interestingly, with that 48.5 yards , 

9 Golden View only billed $6,305 for that concrete. And very 

10 importantly, in my mind, that deduction was the subject of 

11 a bill that ultimately got paid. 

12 All right. So the argument here is not only that 

13 Golden View should step into the shoes of Grangaard with 

14 respect to this contract; the argument is that Golden View 

15 should pay penalties not based on what its cost of the 

16 concrete was but what Grangaard was being paid by the 

17 Department of Transportation , which was a massive markup, 

18 A large chunk of it undisputed , b e ing profit. 

19 So if you think about all the evidence together , mat 

20 happened with that large deduction, it's basically Jeremiah 

21 Grangaard lost his profit on the deal and was still paid 

22 for not only his cost of that concrete but for other 

23 exp ens es . 

24 THE COURT: Mr. Fink, you 1 re at 20 minutes , just so 

2S you know. 
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MR. FINK: I 1:m. at 20 :m.inutes. I better JD.ove on. I 1 ve 

got a lot here to talk about, but I want to spend a few 

3 minutes on the verdict form. Folks, the amount due Golden 

4 View in this case is $89,343, 23, I'm asking that you find 

5 that Grangaard breached its agreement to pay that amount . 

I'm asking that you find that there was a term in the 

contract that required interest, interest of 18 percent 

8 shows up on every document that was submitted. And in 

October when the $16, 000 payment was made , that included 

10 18 percent. So the course of performance was to pay 

11 18 percent after a month had passed. 

12 From my review of the exhibits , prejudgment interest 

13 in my view would begin on November 9 of 2021, and I'm going 

14 to ask that you find that there ' s a breach of duty of good 

15 faith and fraud because of the statements that were made 

16 out on the bridge that induced Golden View not to just deal 

17 with the $16,000 bill that was due but to bring more 

18 concrete which Jeremiah Grangaard, never intended to fully 

19 pay. He never intended to fully pay that amount. That ' s 

20 bad faith. That's fraud. 

21 I'm going to ask that you find that Golden View 

22 suffered injury as a result of that fraud , malice , or 

23 intentional misconduct. And in terms of punitive damages, 

24 quite frankly , that's for you to decide what punishment is 

25 just. In my view, Golden view didn •t get paid for the 
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1 concrete they supplied. Grangaard kept them in the dark so 

that they could get their $220, 000 bonus. If this is going 

3 to stop, if this type of thing is going to stop, there has 

4 to be a punishment that deters people from doing t his 

s thing , and I'm going to ask that you consider punitive 

damages on the bonus that they received. They expect 

Golden View to bear the burden of that concrete , My view 

is we had borne that burden for two years. It ' s time that 

they pay the bill, they pay interest, and they share some 

10 of the benefit of their contract, which is the $220 , 000 

11 bonus. If you want a number, I'd say t ake a quarter of 

1 2 that, They can keep two thirds of their bonus, That pays 

13 for their deductions, and it still s erves as a punishment 

14 to deter future bad behavior. 

1S Thank you . 

16 

17 

18 

THE COURT: Thank you, Mr. !'ink. 

Mr. Fritz? 

Mr. Fink, you' 11 have alx>ut seven minutes when you 

19 come back for rebuttal . The clock won't start during 

2 0 setup. 

21 

22 

MR . !'RITZ : Thank you. 

Good aft ernoon. Thank. you again for servi ng as jurors 

23 in this case . 

24 As Mr, Rahn said i n his opening statement, this is 

25 a case that involves a rather simple story that didn't need 
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1 they cored. And Jeremiah says 1 •Hey, wait. We I re pausing 

2 this project. We're not going to start the deck mile 

3 there• s these concerns about this pier. ,. 

4 They talk about, oh, he just ""nted this bonus money. 

5 He stopped this project for weeks , delays so that he could 

6 defend Golden View's concrete. This is Golden View's 

7 concrete he used. And he's on the same page. He wants 

8 this to pass. He's trying to get this concrete passed. So 

9 he pauses the project. 

10 What if he had not done that? What if he had really 

11 wanted that bonus bad? Let I s push forward and let 1 s get 

12 that deck on there. And then later these coring tests came 

13 back and the state said you have to remove that pier. 

14 Well, off comes that deck. Down comes that pier, And this 

15 would have been a DnJch -- we 1 d still be here , but we 1 d be 

16 talking about dollars much, much bigger than mat we're 

17 going to talk about. 

18 Again, we go back to the law. They talk about, well, 

19 these deducts were part of the contract with DOT. They 

20 were, but that doesn 1 t mean that Grangaard can 1 t recover 

21 them from Golden View. 

22 Jury instruction No. 20 will tell you that you can 

23 recover any loss resulting from the ordinary course of 

24 events from Golden View' s breach. By the way, they said in 

25 that same instruction there I s a provision that you have to 
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1 notify the seller of the nonconformity. Well , there ' s no 

2 doubt they knew about the nonconformity . Well , they know 

3 it now; they're h e r e . 

4 We h e ard evide nce that Golde n View retaine d an 

5 attomey in February or March of 2022. Why did they retain 

6 an attorney? They knew there was a problem. They were 

7 notified. Don't l e t that distract you. 

8 So if we ge t to it , the first e l e ment is these 

9 de duc t s, and I' ve prepare d a s ummary o f all of these 

10 things, Let .., get the right one here. Here , from the 

11 deduct letter exhibit is a summary o f all the - -

12 I have t o :m.at.e a cor rection on t h is one because we di d 

13 hear about that one deduct that wasn't Golden View's fault , 

14 if you remember that, and that 1 s this one. We made these 

15 bef ore we came to trial , and in fairness we l earned that 

16 this one was not Golden View' s fault, So that comes out. 

17 I did some math earlie r , and that r e duce s this to 

18 $35 ,678.92. Ignore that number. That's the amount of the 

19 deducts t otaled up that Grangaard incurred because of the 

2 0 bad c oncret e from Golde n View. 

2 1 Remember us a ge o f tra d e ? Tim Mars h a ll said , and 

2 2 I quote, ' 'Every cas e he' s been involve d in , t hese get 

23 pa ssed on t o the supplier. " Jeremiah said evecy t ime, 

24 every time, usage and trade. You can build that into the 

25 contrac t , but those get passed on t o the s u pplier . 
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1 Then we go t o the coring costs that Grangaard had. If 

you recall, this was the big one , Northwest Corp. And 

3 these invoices are in your exhibits as Exhibits 37 through 

4 41. That was the big one for $16, 202. Then there was some 

5 s maller ones . If you recall , t his was a bigger core 

project , These were smaller. But here •s the total for 

coring costs. 

8 You remember Sam Waldner said, • If those coring costs 

confirm the bad concrete I we 1 re responsible for them. • So 1 

10 really, there shouldn' t be any question t hat this amount is 

11 part of Grangaard ' s damages. 

12 Then Grangaard said, "I had labor co sts. I had 'JJf'/ 

13 guys out the r e helping them with the coring, and t hat 

14 wouldn't have had to happen if we didn't have bad 

15 concrete." Here' s the employees . He s aid these hourly 

16 wages at this l abor costs for a total of $4 , 245 in labor 

17 costs that Grangaard incurred because of t he bad concrete. 

18 Similarly, here's incidental damages for equipment costs. 

19 Jeremiah test ified that he had to use his own crane, his 

20 own backhoe, his own pumping of fuel at t his rate per hour , 

21 these hours, You come up with an addi t ional $7 ,000 in 

2 2 equipme n t a nd fuel c os t s . 

23 That leads to this sum ary which, again, has t o be 

24 adjusted because of that one test. So if I t ake this --

25 well , mat happens here is this number goes to $89 , 075.14, 
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1 leaving a balance here of Golden View with -- it 1 s really 

close -- $268 .18, It came out to a lmost a wash , fol.ts. 

3 That's after you offset the amount Golden View billed and 

4 claims to be unpaid. That I s what it comes out to be as to 

5 what they might owe them, $268.18. Ho, I take t hat back. 

That ' s not the number. The number for Ho. 8 i s Grangaard' s 

damages. I' 11 get t o this number. This is the offset. 

We' 11 get to that. But for Ho. 8, we assessed the damages 

as follows: The damages should be $89, 075.14. That ' s the 

10 sum of all of these charts I showe d you b efo re . 

11 So now we go to Gol den View' s clailr. . Let' s s t ar t wit h 

1 2 one , Did t hey breach? Well , no, Grangaar d did not breach 

13 that agreement because the law says that you can offset --

14 excuse me. You get to offset f rom any amount owed under 

15 the invoices , Grangaard I s damages and deducts. So this is 

1 6 where i f you offset the 89 , 0 00 and c hange from the 

17 invoices , f rom his damages r i ght here, then Gol den View i s 

18 owed $268 .18 . 

19 How, I 1 11 submit this. You heard Jeremiah say , 1 You 

2 0 know what? We also lost some opportunities for more work 

21 because we got delayed. • And he said a number of a hundred 

22 t housand. We ' re not expecting you t o award him a hundred 

23 thousand dollars. Award him 268.18 for that, and t hen you 

24 can answer the question, did Grangaard breach its agreement 

25 t o pay Golden View. The answer is no because it was a 
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1 South Dakota, we expect that a buyer or a seller, two 

2 people in a contract treat each other fairly with open 

3 disclosure and not in a way that takes advantage of each 

4 other. 

s In this case, from square one, it very mch looks to 

6 me that Grangaard knew that he had a great deal on so.., 

7 cheap concrete. He knew he had an inexperienced seller of 

8 that concrete, and he knew that normally if there was going 

9 to be a passage of deductions, he 1 d be paying far higher 

10 than that amoW1t. Again, don1 t believe for one minute his 

11 statement that he thought he could get concrete for $90 a 

12 yard. I think if he could have done that , he would have 

13 done that . 

14 

15 

16 

MR. FRITZ : Objection. 

THE COURT: Ove rruled. It • s argument. 

MR. FINK: So when we talk about good faith , we have 

17 to lool: at the whole nature of this contract. Jeremiah 

18 Grangaard had every opportWlity to treat Golden View 

19 fairly, give them information that would allow Golden View 

20 to make good decisions. He chose to hide the fact of the 

21 deductions. He chose to hide the facts related to the 

22 problems that were out at the site. He made the decision 

23 to continue the project going on by paying the $16, 000. He 

24 was obviously hoping for the best, but it didn't work out 

25 for him. 
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3 

MR. FINK: No, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: Mr. Fritz? 

MR. FRITZ: No. 

4 !HE COLijl ! : All right. Keep your whereabouts t nown t o 

5 the clerk. Make sure she has cell phone numbers if you 

leave the building so we can get back to you if there 

should be a question or if they return a verdict. I'll 

8 pretty mch stay around and be in chambers in case they 

have questions. My normal policy is to get hold of you 

10 before I give a response to. And we will remain in 

11 chambers to address it should there be a question. We ' ll 

12 be in recess. Thank you. 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

(Thereupon, a recess was taken at 11:06 a.m.. 

awaiting jury deliberations.) 

('Ihereupon, the j ury returned to the courtroom. 

after del.iberat.ing, and the following proceedings 

18 ensued with Court, counsel , and parties present 

19 at 2:55 p.m.:) 

20 THE COURT: Please be seated. At this point , the 

21 clerk officially needs to call the roll just to make sure 

22 all 12 of you who are deliberating are bact . When she 

23 calls your name , indicate "Pre s ent" or "Here." 

24 

25 

THE CLERK: Harriet King? 

JUROR KING: He r e . 
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1 

2 

THE COURT: You need to wrap it up. 1 THE CLERK: Kristin Vogl? 

MR. FINK: I want to thank you for your ti..,. on 

3 behalf of Golden View, I appreciate your hard work, but I'm 

4 asking that you enter a verdict for the Plaintiff in the 

S manner that I Tve indicated previously. Thank you. 

THE COURT: Thank you. 

All right. You will get with you the preselection 

8 instructions , the preliminary instructions , and more 

9 

10 

important, the final instructions. 

I will give these to the clerk. 

They' re all included. 

They come back and get 

11 filed with the clerk's office when you're done. The clerk 

12 will also make the exhibits that were accepted and received 

13 with you to be taken for your consideration. 

14 At this point , Madam Bailiff , if you would stand 

1S and raise your right hand. 

16 

17 

18 

(Thereupon, the bailiff and the jury 

were duly sworn.) 

THE COURT: All right. All rise for the jury to be 

19 excused so they can deliberate. 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

(Thereupon, the jury left the courtroom to 

deliberate, arxi the following proceedings ensued 

outside the presence of the jury at 1:3 4 p . m. : ) 

TH! COLijl! : Please be seated. 

Mr. Fink, any matters to address at this point on the 

2S r ecord outside the presence of the j ury? 
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3 

4 

5 

10 

11 

1 2 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

JUROR VOGL: Here . 

THE CLERK: Clifford Vanbeek? 

JUROR VANBEEK : Here. 

THE CLERK: Troy Erickson? 

JUROR ERICKSON: Here . 

THE CLERK: Kendall Schmidt? 

JUROR SCHMIDT: Here . 

THE CLERK: Garry Rempfer? 

JUROR REMPFER : Here. 

THE CLERK: Kim Simonson? 

JUROR SIMONSON: Here. 

THE CLERK: Lis a He aly? 

JUROR HEALY: Here. 

THE CLERK: Mary Painter? 

JUROR PAINTER: Yes. 

THE CLERK: Ann Rieck? 

JUROR RIECK : He r e . 

THE CLERK: Joyce Carmichael? 

JUROR CARMICHAEL: Yes . 

THE CLERK: Holly Krier? 

JUROR KRIER : Here. 

THE COURT: Very good. Has the jury r eache d a 

24 verdict? Mr. Erickson, are you t h e fo rep ers on? 

25 THE FOREPERSON: Yes . 
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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

For purposes of this brief, Defendant/Appellant Grangaard 

Construction, Inc. will be referred to as "Grangaard. 

Plaintiff/Appellee Golden View Ready-Mix, L.L.C. will be 

referred to as ~Golden View." 

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES 

I. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING THE JURY 
TO AWARD PUNITIVE DAMAGES. 

The trial court permitted testimony related to punitive 

damages; the trial court gave instructions related to the award 

of punitive damages. The most relevant cases, related to this 

issue are as follows: 

A. Overfield v. Am. Underwriters Life Ins. Co., 614 NW2d 
814 (S.D. 2000) 

B. Grynberg v. Citation Oil & Gas Corp., 573 NW2d 493 
(S.D. 1997) 

B. Sundt Corp. V. State of South Dakota by and through 
SDDOT, 566 NW2d 476 (S.D. 1997). 

The most relevant South Dakota statutes, r elated to this issue 

are as follows: 

A. SDCL 15-6-51 (b) 

II. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING THE FRAUD CLAIM 
TO BE PRESENTED TO THE JURY. 

The trial court instructed the jury as to the issue of 

fraud and deceit. The most r elevant cases, related to this 
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issue, are as follows: 

A. Rist v. Karlen, 241 N.W.2d 717 (S.D. 1976); 

B. Wasserburger v. Consolidated Mgmt. Corp., 502 N.W.2d 256 
(S.D. 1993). 

The most relevant South Dakota statutes, related to this issue 

are as follows: 

A. SDCL 53-4-4 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

This is a U.C.C. Sales case, related to concrete Golden 

View sold to Grangaard in 2021, after orders were made by 

Grangaard in relation to a McCook County bridge project. 

Grangaard, a general contractor, had been awarded a contract 

with the South Dakota Department of Transportation (SDDOT} in 

relation to the Hwy 38 project. When construction began, 

Grangaard ordered loads of concrete from Golden View and Golden 

View delivered the same. As each order was made, Golden View 

invoiced Grangaard for the loads del ivered. The concrete was 

mixed consistent with a SDDOT recipe. Grangaard (belatedly) 

paid all of the invoices related to the first l oads supp lied i n 

relation to the lower parts of the project, but declined to pay 

the concrete delivered in relation to the top "deck" portion of 

the bridge . 

Golden View filed a Complaint, alleging 1) Breac h of 
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Contract; 2) Breach of Obligation of Good Faith and Fair 

Dealing; and 3) Fraud/deceit. In addition to requesting 

compensatory damages, Golden View asserted a claim for Punitive 

Damages. Grangaard denied Golden View's allegations, and 

submitted a counterclaim, alleging breach of contract and 

negligence on the part of Golden View. 

On January 8, 2024, the matter was presented to a McCook 

County jury; the trial lasted'four days. The jury determined 

that Grangaard breached its contract with Golden View, and 

awarded Golden View damages in an amount equal to the unpaid 

invoices (related to the deck work); the amount of damages 

awarded was $89,343.32. The jury further determined that the 

applicable rate of interest for the unpaid invoices was 18% per 

annum. 

In addition, the jury determined that Grangaard did not 

commit fraud, but did act in bad faith; the jury awarded Golden 

-
View an additional $50,000.00 in punitive damages. The jury 

determined Golden View did not breach any contract with 

Grangaard. Grangaard has appealed this verdict. 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

In 2021 the South Dakota Depar tment of Transportation 

(SDDOT) let a bridge p ro ject - involving the demolition and new 
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construction of a Highway 38 concrete bridge which crosses the 

Vermillion River, near Salem, South Dakota. Tr. at p. 211. 

Such SDDOT projects are "let" to a successful contractor, 

following a bidding process, whereby the contractor submits a 

bidding cost sheet; the project is awarded to the lowest 

responsible bidder. Tr. at p. 212. Grangaard, a general 

contractor, was interested in submitting such a bid for the 

Highway 38 project; in preparation, Grangaard's Jeremiah 

Grangaard contacted Sam Waldner of Golden View (a concrete 

supplier) for a price for concrete materials; Samual gave him an 

estimate of around $132.00 per "yard" of concrete. Tr. at p. 

99. At the time he gave Jeremiah this estimate, Samual didn't 

know how many yards would be needed for the project. Tr. at p. 

99. And, at this time, Jeremiah never had any discussions with 

Samual about what kind of obligations Golden View would have, if 

concrete was later purchased for this project. Tr. at p. 374. 

With his bid to the SDDOT, Jeremiah Grangaard entered 
I 

various bid amounts on a state bid form ... which amounts 

related to the different elements of the project. Tr. at p. 

375. With respect to the concrete needed for the new bridge, 

Grangaard bid $1,200.00 per yard for the bridge "deck" {the top 

part of the bridge), for a total bid amount of $648,000.00 for 
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that deck; When he entered this bid amount, Je r emiah anticipated 

that his actual "cost" for concrete materials woul d be $130.00 

per yard (the approximate cost Samual Waldner had given him). 

Tr. at p. 376. Notably, Jeremiah Grangaard built into his state 

concrete bid, a profit of "probably a half a million dollars." 

Tr. at p. 377. 

With respect to the lower portions of the bridge, Grangaard 

bid the concrete at $975.00 per yard, for a total amount of 

$333,840.00 Tr. at p. 377. When you add t his amount to 

Grangaard's amount bid for the dec k work, we. see that Grangaard 

bid a total of $1,050,000.00 for the concrete elements to be 

utilized on the bridge. Tr. at p. '378. At the same time, with 

it's SDDOT bid, Grangaard anticipated paying Golden View (at 

$130.00 per yard actual cost) between $140,000.00 and 

$150,000.00 for the concrete supplied. Tr. at p. 378. 

The reafter , Grangaard learned that it had submitted the 

lowest bid and was awarded the bridge project. Tr. at p. 213. 

At that point, Grangaa~d entered into an express written 

contract with the SDDOT. Tr. at p. 214 . Among other things, 

this Grangaard/SDDOT contract required that Grangaard comply 

with the provisions found in the SDDOT manual (about two inc hes 

thick) which outlines the "st andards and specificati9ns" related 
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to SDDOT projects such as the subject bridge works. Tr. at p. 

214. The Grangaard/SDDOT contract required that Grangaard (the 

general Contractor) pay all suppliers within 15 days. Tr . at p. 

217. 

However, the SDDOT does not enter int o contracts with the 

various material suppliers which might be used by t he general 

contractor; the SDDOT leaves it up to the i ndividual contractors 

to come up with their own supply agreements. Tr. at p. 215. As 

was SDDOT policy, there was no written contract between the 

SDDOT and Golden View. Tr. at p. 216. 

After Grangaard was awarded the contract, a Grangaard agent 

contacted Golden View's Samual Waldner and told him Grangaard 

would be using Golden View for its concrete purchases. Tr. at 

p. 101. Samual Waldner and Jeremiah Grangaard then discussed 

price and the necessit y f or mont hly payments being made for all 

concreted supplied for t he project. Tr. at p. 101. At no time, 

however, did Grangaard's Jeremy Grangaard every tell Samual that 

Golde n Vi ew would b e obl igated for any requirements f ound in 

Grangaard's SDDOT contract . Tr. at p. 1 02. Likewise, Jeremiah 

never showed Sa mua l any p rovisions contained in Grangaard's 

SDDOT contract . Tr. a t p. 102 . Jeremia h Grangaa rd n e ve r 

presented Golden Vie w with a copy of Gr angardt's SDDOT contract . 
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Tr. at p. 102. 

And, importantly, Grangaard never told anyone from Golden 

View, that Golden View might be held responsible for any 

penalties which Grangaard might face, pursuant to its contract 

with the SDDOT. Tr. a t p. 115. Golden View never agreed to 

take responsibility for any such penalties. Tr. at p. 123. In 

fact, at trial, Jermiah Grangaard acknowledged that the issue of 

liability for any penalties Grangaard incurred with respect to 

its SDDOT contract, never came up during any of h i s discussions 

with Golden View. Tr. at p. 382 

Likewise, Grangaard never p r o vided Gol den View with any 

document outlining the terms of the parties' (Grangaard's and 

Golden View's) relat ionship to each other; in f a ct, Grangaar d 

never told Golden View how much total concrete would be neede d. 

Tr. at p. 103. No wr itten agreement, of any kind, was made wi t h 

respect to the materia l Golden View supplied to Grangaard. Tr. 

at p. 115. This was a unique s i tuation for Grangaard, as t h is 

was the f irst time Jeremiah Grangaard had ever proceed e d wi t h a 

project like this ... whe re he didn't have a writ t en contract 

with his concrete suppl ier. Tr. at p. 380. (Grang aard h a s b e e n 

a party to many of such projects - a hundred or so.) Tr. at p . 

372 
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Prior to any concrete being ordered by Grangaard, SDDOT 

inspectors came to the Golden View facilit i es and inspected 

Golden View's "batching" plant and all of the ingredient s which 

would be used in the different SDDOT mixes (recipes) for the 

concrete utilized on the project. Tr. at p. 107. During t his 

inspection, the SDDOT raised no concerns about the ingredients 

they reviewed at the Golden View p l ant; all of the SDDOT 

inspection tests were passed. Tr. at p. 225. Likewise, t h e mix 

design which is significant to this case (~A-45") was approved 

by the SDDOT. Tr. at p. 107 220. (The mix design provided by 

the SDDOT is like a recipe. Tr. at p. 90, 222.) The SDDOT 

Project Engineer for the Salem bridge, Ti m Marshall, testified 

that the supplier's obligation is to fol l ow the recipe. Tr. at 

p. 222. As the project moved forward, the SDDOT never requested 

Golden View make any changes to the approved A-45 recipe. Tr. 

at p. 110. 

Notably, concrete changes from the time it leaves the 

mixing facility - t o where it is ultimately "placed" into forms. 

Tr. at p. 97. As such, a supplier cannot guarantee how concret e 

is going to perform after it is delivered to t he job site. Tr. 

at p. 103. Concret e can be mi x e d proper ly, but the contractor 

must still take care to "place" i t correctly. Tr. at p. 106. 
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The contractor also needs to take care to pick the right weather 

conditions for placing the concrete. Tr. at p. 105. As the 

SDDOT project engineer, Tim Marshall, explained, concrete is 

variable, in that there are a lot of things that affect it; 

"you've got environmental things that.are affecting the mix." 

Tr. at p. 233 - 234. 

Golden View utilizes a computerized system for mixing its 

concrete. Tr. at p. 92. This system keeps track of all of the 

mater i al that goes into the mixing (and delivery) truck, and 

produces a certified ticket for each load. Tr. at p. 93. 

And, with each load of concrete supplied to the project site, 

the SDDOT project engineer (Marshall or another agent) t ested 

the load before the concrete was removed from the truck and 

placed into the forms. Tr. at p. 112. Marshall ov ersaw the 

entire Salem bridge project. Tr. at p. 112. No re j e cted 

concrete was ever unloaded into the bridge forms. Tr. at p. 

116. 

Likewise, SDDOT's Marshall never raised any c oncerns, wi t h 

Golden View, about how Golden View was mixing the material. Tr. 

at p. 120. Marshall never r eque s t ed t hat Golden View adjust the 

A-45 recipe. Tr . at p. 1 21. He als o never raised any concer ns 

about what was being reflected on the batc h ti c ket s. Tr. a t p . 
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121. During the course of the project, no one ever told Golden 

View that they were unhappy with the material Golden View was 

delivering. Tr. at p. 132. In fact, during the course of the 

project, Golden View's Sam Waldner was hearing that the SDDOT 

was happy with everything. Tr. at p. 132. 

And, as the project was progressing, Grangaard never told 

Golden View that it had any intentions of not paying for any 

loads. Tr. at p. 132. As each truck arrived from Golden View 

to the project site, a SDDOT technician reviewed the Golden View 

batch ticket. Tr. at p. 225. SDDOT project engineer Marshal l 

testified that he never felt there were any mistakes with those 

tickets. Tr. at p. 225-226. Li kewise, Marshall never felt any 

corrections (to the mixing p r ocess) needed to be made by Golden 

View. Tr. at p. 226. Marshall t estified he was not aware of 

any concrete being improperly mixed by Gol den View. Tr. at p . 

240. 

In terms of visually inspecting the loads delivered, the 

S DDOT . was in charge of examining the concrete brought to the 

site, and the SDDOT decided whether a load would be accepted and 

dumped into t he forms. Tr. at p. 383. Grangaard chose not to 

have its own engineer perform any independent testing at the 

point of sale. Tr . at p. 383. All of the concrete that was 
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provided by Golden View and accepted by the SDDOT and Grangaard, 

was poured into the forms. Tr. at p. 383. 

There was, on one occasion, an instance where a batch of 

concrete was rejected (due to excess heat) before it was dumped 

into the project forms. Tr. at p. 238. However, this rejection 

was not Golden Views fault; Project engineer Tim Marshall 

explained: 

"Q. Was that Golden View's faul t it [the batch] was 
rejected; 

A~ No. 

Q. They [Golden View] didn't choose to pour that day, 
did they? 

A. No. They were asked to deliver concrete [by 
Grangaard] and came out, and it [the concrete] 
exceeded the heat level." Tr. at p. 239. 

Marshall testified that overall, the amount of concrete rejected 

at the job site was about the same as for other projects he had 

worked with. Tr. at p. 240. 

As the project moved forward, Golden View's Brian Waldner 

(book keeper) took the load t.ickets and mailed a copy to 

Grangaard's corporate office. Tr. at p. 335. Brian also sent 

bills out with the truck driver for each l oad. Tr. at p. 336. 

Golden View's policy is to allow a contractor credit of up to 

$10,000.00 before payment is required up front. Tr. at p. 337. 
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By August of 2021, Brian began t o have concerns about 

Grangaard's history of payment - related to the concrete 

supplied up to t hat point in time. Tr. at p. 338. On one 

occasion, Grangaard's unpaid balance had risen to $22,000. 00 . 

Tr. at p. 338. But, after Brian communicated with Grangaard, 

this bill was paid. Tr. at p. 338. Later, however, in September 

of 2021, Grangaard's unpaid bills had agai n ballooned to a 

balance of almost $16,000.00. Tr. at p. 340. 

So, in October of 2021, (before the top "deck" portion of 

the bridge was scheduled to be poured) a meeting was held at the 

construction site, between Golden View's Samuel and Brian 

Waldner and Grangaard's Jeremiah Grangaard; the parties 

discussed Grangaard's failure to pay the last several invoices 

(which totaled $16,154.58). Tr. at p. 133, 141. Brian Waldner 

was concerned about Grangaard hav ing exceeded its limit and 

having failed to make monthly payments. Tr . at p. 134. During 

this meeting, Jeremiah stated that a check was "in the mai l ." 

Tr . at p. 135 . This was untrue: 

Q. You had assured Sam and Brian that a check was i n 
the mail for the $16,000.00. True? 

A. (Jeremiah Grangaard): True . 

Q. But you never did put a check i n the mail, did 
you? 
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A. No. Tr. at p. 392. 

Again, up to this point in time, Jeremiah Grangaard had 

never raised any concerns about the condition of the concrete 

which had been supplied to the project site. Tr. at p. 135. 

Likewise, up to the time of the October meeting, Golden View had 

heard no complaints from the SDDOT, about the concrete supplied 

for the project. Tr. at p. 136. At this point in time, no one 

had said anything to Golden View, about any problems with any 

"strength testing" performed by the SDDOT Tr. at p. 137. No 

one had told Golden View of any problematic test results. Tr. 

at p. 132. 

But, unbeknownst to Golden View, Jeremiah Grangaard did 

know, by August of 2021, that Grangaard was facing SDDOT 

contractual penalties related to some strength tests performed 

on samples of the concrete materials - which had been supplied 

up to that point in time. Tr. at p. 249. In fact, by October 

of 2021, the SDDOT had withhel d a portion of a SDDOT progress 

payments due Grangaard, as a result of some sample test results. 

Tr. at p. 258. And, by October of 2021, Grangaard kne w, from 

additional testing that had been performed by the SDDOT 

("coringu), that Grangaard would be faci ng penalties by virtue 

of provisions found in its SDDOT/Grangaard contract. Tr. at p. 
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303. 

But none of this information was relayed to Golden View's 

Samual and Brian Waldner, at the time of the October bridge 

meeting; instead, at that meeting, Jeremiah Grangaard promised 

Sam and Brian that he would pay the entire amount due Golden 

View for concrete supplied up to that point in time; Jeremiah 

also promised to immediately pay½ of the amount due for the 

upcoming "deck" part of the project; Grangaard promised to pay 

the rest of the "deck" bill by the end of the month. Tr. at p. 

179; 347. 

In fact, at the October meeting (when Jeremiah was asked 

about the quality of Golden View's concrete supplied up to that 

point in time) Jeremiah told Samual and Br ian: "Everything is 

good, fine ... everything is going t o be fine." Tr. at p. 136. 

Jeremiah never told Golden View of any "penalties" that he was 

facing; he never told Golden View that he expected Golden View 

to be held responsible for any such penalties. Tr. at p. 133. 

Likewise, the SDDOT's Marshall never spoke to Samual or 

Brian about whether Golden View being could possibly be held 

responsible for any penalties Grangaard was assessed pursuant to 

Grangaard's contract with the SDDOT. Tr. at p. 130. In fact , 

no one ever told Golden View about any of the Grangaard/SDDOT 
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contract provisions related to "strength s t andards." Tr. at p. 

148. Grangaard never told anyone from Golden View about how the 

concrete had to perform pursuant to Grangaard's contract with 

the SDDOT. Tr. at p. 152. 

Brian Waldner testified that, at this October meeting, 

Jeremiah Grangaard never acted as if he was disappointed in the 

(payment) demands Golden View was making. Tr. at p. 347. 

Jeremiah just stated that he wanted to get going with the deck 

project. Tr. at p. 348. He gave no complaints about the 

product that had been supplied up to that point in time; I n 

fact, Jeremiah t old Sam and Bri an "you're better than most 

ready-mixes." Tr. at p. 349. He never told Golden View that 

Grangaard might not pay for the additional concrete it planned 

to order for the deck. Tr. at p. 138. Jeremiah acknowledged he 

never told the Waldners that Grangaard expected Golden View to 

reimburse Grangaard for any SDDOT contractual p e nalties. Tr. at 

p. 388. 

Of course, aft er the October 2021 meet ing , the " c heck" f rom 

Grangaard never did show up in the mail. Tr. at p. 137. So, in 

order to persuade Golden View to supply more concrete, Grangaard 

sent someone to t he proj e ct site, with a check in hand, in order 

t o pay up the account in full. Tr. at p. 13 7 . This payment was 
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made on October 21, 2021. Tr. at p. 141. (Importantly, all o f 

the penalties Grangaard would later complain about, were in 

relation to pre-October 21 concrete deliveries.) Tr. at p. 385. 

After this payment was made, Golden View del i vered 

approximately 500 yards of concrete related to the "deck" 

portion of the project. Tr. at p. 138. A couple of days later, 

Brian Waldner sent Grangaard an invoi ce for the deck material. 

Tr. at p. 351. The amount due was $89,343.32. Exhibit 14. 

Grangaard did not immediatel y pay½ of this amount due. . it 

didn't pay by the end of the month. 

anythi ng. Tr. at p. 351. 

Grangaard never paid 

As the weeks and months rolled along, Brian Waldner 

continued to send statements to Grangaard, and expected to get 

paid; but payment never came. Tr. at p. 353 . Grangaard never 

gave Samuel Waldner any excuse for non-payment. Tr. at p . 142. 

Project engineer Tim Marsha l l testified that n one o f t he 

concrete supplied by Golden View for the Salem bridge was 

structurally unacceptable. Tr. at p. 2 42 . I n fact, since t he 

deck concrete t e sted well, Marshall assumed Grangaard would pay 

Golden View for the last 500 yards supplied. Tr. at p. 261. 

Marshal l never t old Golden View that Grangaard could a void 

paying for the materials i t had supplied t o the job site. Tr. 
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at p. 251. 

After the project came to an end, Grangaard was ultimately 

assessed penalties related to strength testing that had been 

performed. But, as Tim Marshall explained, these sample testing 

penalties (the method of determining the penalty) are part of 

the contract between Grangaard and the SDDOT. Tr. at p. 245. 

And, according to Marshall, he could not say that any of the 

'penalties resulted from improperly mixed concrete; to Marshall's 

knowledge all of the Golden View concrete material was mixed to 

the design standards listed on the mix design recipe. Tr. at p. 

246. In short, Marshall saw no evidence that any actions by 

Golden View led to any of the sample concrete testing poorly. 

Tr. at p. 267. 

Also, the penalties incurred by Grangaard must be evaluated 

in light of Grangaard's SDDOT contract as a whole. Notably, 

Grangaard's SDDOT contract provided an opportunity for Grangaard 

to receive a "bonus" for completing the project early. Tr. at 

p. 265. In fact, Grangaard received a $223,800.00 in early 

completion bonuses in relation to this project. Tr. at p. 266. 

This is significant, in that (while the project was ongoing) 

Grangaard had the opportunity to (but simply chose not to) 

challenge several of the SDDOT's sample strength test results 
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which led to strength penalties. Tr. at p. 268. As project 

engineer Marshall explained, this challenge process (for sample 

strength testing) slows down the project. Tr. at p. 269. So, 

with its per-day early completion "bonus" opportunity in the 

background, Grangaard stood to gain $1,400.00 for each calendar 

day they completed the project early. Tr. at p. 269. 

Challenging a strength test results would have slowed the 

project, and cut into that early completion bonus. 

And, this Court must understand, even with the SDDOT 

contract deviations/penalties assessed agai nst Grangaard, 

Grangaard was still paid for all of the concrete supplied to the 

site; Marshall explained how the Grangaard penalties were 

assessed: As set forth above, with its bid form, Grangaard b i d 

its concrete at $975.00 per yard for the bottom portions of the 

bridge works. Tr. at p. 273. Grangaard bid its deck concrete 

at $1,200.00 per yard. (Even t hough Grangaard's actual cost of 

that concrete was $135.00 per yard.) Tr. at p. 274) 

When penalties were assessed pursuant to the 

SDDOT/Grangaard contract, such penalties were based upon the 

amount bid by Grangaard; so, where SDDOT penalties were 

assessed, Grangaard was still paid approximately $400 .00 to 

$500.00 pe r yard for the penalized concrete. 273 . This 
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penalty, or ~deviation" process is set out in the "Standards and 

Specifications" portion of the Grangaard/SDDOT contract. 273. 

It is true that Marshall has seen Contractor/ Supplier 

agreements whereby deviations related to such sample strength 

tests have been passed on to the supplier. But, as Marshall 

explained, in those instances (where pena l ties are passed on), 

the concrete supplier usually jacks up its sale price to the 

contractor, in order to cover t he added risk: 

Q. But at the beginning of construction, if you would 
have seen a supplier willing t o provi de concrete for 
300 to $400. Would that have surprised you? 

*** 

THE WITNESS (Marshall): I would typically expect -
and, again, I don't see the [supply] contracts, and I 
don't know, but I would anticipate that they bid 250 
to 300 a yard. 

Q. If the supplier is going to take on the risk of 
the contractor's contractual deductions through the 
DOT contract; right? 

A. I assume that's the reason." 322 - 323 . 

Again, as SDDOT project engineer Marshall testified, he had 

no information which would lead him to believe Golden View 

improperly mixed any of the concrete used for the project. Tr. 

at p. 221. Moreover, Marshall was not aware of any contract by 

which Golden View agreed to b e r e sponsible for Grangaard's SDDOT 

contractual deviat ions. Tr . a t p . 32 6 . In fact , Grangaa rd 
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never told Golden View that Grangaard had been penalized until 

several months after the project was completed. Tr. at p. 354. 

In the end, by withholding payment for the deck project, 

Grangaard ended up paying Golden View less than half of the 

amount due for all of the concret e placed on site. Tr. at p. 

393. At the same time, Grangaard was paid for each yard bid, 

plus the early completion bonus. 

All of the foregoing facts were relayed to the jury by 

virtue of testimony submitted in Plaintiff's case in chief. 

Following this testimony, Golden View requested that the Court 

permit discovery and additional testimony related to the issue 

of punitive damages. The Court granted this motion and t he 

following additional t est imony (by Jeremiah Grangaard - related 

to Grangaard's finances) was heard by t he j ury on direct 

examination: 

Q. Your company, as I understand it, had gross 
receipts in 2021 exceeding $13 mi llion. Is that true? 

A. Correct. 

Q. An d it looks to me like your total income in 2021 
was almost $3 million. True? 

A. Correct . Tr. at p. 433. 

This was the only significant punitive damages testimony 

presented on direct examination. 
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On cross examination, Grangaard's attorney elicited 

testimony to the effect that Grangaard's net income for 2021 was 

just $200,811.00. Tr. at p. 434. On redirect, Jeremiah 

testified that the net income is determined after payments are 

made to employees and officers. Tr. at p. 435. This was the 

extent of the financial testimony related to punitive damages. 

Standard of review. 

Appellee, in general, does not take issue with the Standard 

of review identified by Appellant. 

However, this Court does not reverse a trial court's 

decision regarding jury instructions unless the complaining 

party was prejudiced by it. See, Overfield v. Am. Underwriters 

Life Ins. Co., 614 NW2d 814, 816 (S.D. 2000). This Court looks 

at the instruct i ons "as a whole" to determine if they adequately 

inform the jury on the law. Id. Moreover, a complaining party 

must have properly objected to an instruction to preserve the 

issue for appeal. See, Grynberg v. Citation Oil & Gas Corp., 

5 7 3 NW 2 d 4 9 3 , 5 0 3 ( S • D • 19 9 7 ) • 

ARGUMENT 

I. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ALLOWING THE JURY TO AWARD 
PUNITIVE DAMAGES. 

SDCL 15-6-Sl(b) states that "no grounds of objection to the 

giving or the refusing of an instruction shall be considered 
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. on ... appeal, unless presented to the court upon the 

'settlement' of such instructions." Sundt Corp. V. State of 

South Dakota by and through SDDOT, 566 NW2d 476, 480 (S.D. 

1997). The complaining party must have specified and stated the 

grounds for his objection, and a mere general object ion is not 

sufficient to preserve the right to appeal . Id. An attorney 

must be clear when objecting to jury instructions "so the trial 

court is advised of what possible errors exist and be granted 

the opportunity to correct any instructions." See Id. 

Prior to submitting the case to the jury, proceedings were 

held in chambers, regarding the instructions to be read in open 

court. During those proceedings, counsel for Grangaard 

submitted general objections to the Court's decision to instruct 

the jury on the issue of fraud and deceit. See, generally, 

Volume 4 of the trial transcript. But, notably, Grangaard did 

not specifically object to the wording the Court suggested be 

used on the Verdict Form. 

Likewise Grangaard did not object to Instruction No. 18 

("Every contract contains a n implied covenant of good faith and 

fair dealing that prohibits either con t racting party from 

preventing or injuring the other party's right to rece ive t he 

agree d benefits of the contract ... ".) See, Tr. p. 740. And, 
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other than providing a general objection to the Court's 

submission of the issue of fraud and punitive damages to the 

jury, Grangaard did not object to the Verdict Form: 

THE COURT: "The verdict form. The content will not 
change. It does consist 6f eight questions. Mr. 
Fink, are you comfortable with t he format of that? 

MR. FINK: Yes, I am. 

THE COURT: Mr. Rahn? 

MR. RAHN: Yeah. We agreed to the form, but objections 
remain. 

This is significant, in that Grangaard did not object to 

that portion of the verdict form which states: "If your answer 

to either, question 4 or 5 (or both) is yes, then you must answer 

Question 6." This language specified that the jury could render 

punitive damages in the event the jury found that Grangaard 

either committed fraud, or acted in bad fa i th. If Grangaard was 

of the opinion that the verdict form should have been drafted 

differently, it should have stated i t s specific objection. 

Ultimately, the jury answered question 4 by determining 

that Grangaard breached its duty of Good Faith; and it answered 

question 5 by determining that Gr angaard did not commit Fraud. 

The jury then followed the language of the verdict form, which 

stated that it could award damages in such instance, and went on 

to answer question 6: 
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"6(a). Do you find that Golden View suffered injury 
as a result of oppression, fraud, malice, intentional 
misconduct, or willful and wanton misconduct? Yes X 
No " 

Based upon this finding, the jury assessed punitive damages in 

the amount of $50,000. 

But, again, the trial transcript does not contain any 

specific objection to this verdict form, by which Grangaard 

argued its actions (in bad faith) could not serve as the basis 

for a punitive damages award. 

At best, Grangaard presented a general objection to 

instruction number 18, which explained the covenant of good 

faith and fair dealing - which exists in every contract. (See 

Tr. p. 657); this instruction came from the South Dakota Patt ern 

Jury Instructions (SDPJI 30-10-40). But Grangaar d did n ot 

specifically object to the Court's decision to give the jury two 

pathways to get to question 6(a). I nstead, Gr angaar d's 

objection to instruction #18 was made without giving any 

specific reason: 

" THE COURT : Any obj ection. 

MR. FINK: No. 

MR. RAHN: We'll object as t o good faith and fair 
dealing. 

THE COURT: The Court made a ruling that f raud and 
deceit are a pplic able i s sues for this jury to look at 
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and note you have a standing objection to this, but 
I'm going to go ahead and give this one.ff Tr. p. 657-
658. 

Grangaard did argue Golden View had not shown sufficient 

evidence to support a fraud/deceit verdict. But Grangaard did 

not provide specific objection to the language used in questions 

4, 5 & 6 on the Verdict form. As such, it has waived it's right 

to appeal the contents or structure of that form. 

Moreover, Instruction Number 29 properly instructed the 

jury as to the issue of punitive damages. This instruction came 

from South Dakota Pattern Jury Instruction number 50-100-10, and 

states: 

"In addition to any actual damages that you may award, 
you may also, I your discretion, award punitive 
(exemplary) damages if you find that Golden View 
suffered injury as a result of the oppression, fraud, 
malice, intentional misconduct, or willful and wanton 
misconduct by Grangaard. " See Instruction# 29. 

The jury found Grangaard's actions amounted to "bad faith.ff The 

jury also found punitive damages were appropriate based upon the 

elements found in Instruction No. 29, which means that the jury 

found Grangaard's actions amounted to: 

-oppression; 

-fraud; 

- malice; 

-intentional misconduct; or 
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-willful and wanton misconduct. 

Oppression is conduct t hat subjects a person to cruel and 

unjust hardship in conscious disregard of that person's rights. 

Crisman v. Determan Chiropractic, Inc., 687 N.W. 2d 507 (S.D. 

2004). Malice is not simply the doing of an unlawful or 

injurious act; it implies that the act complained of was 

conceived in the spirit of mischief or of criminal indifference 

to civil obligations. Selle v. Trozser, 786 N.W. 2d 748 (S.D. 

2010). 

In the case before this Court, Grangaard ordered concret e 

materials from Golden View (for the deck), knowing t hat it wo u l d 

not pay for those materials. At the very least, Grangaard 

misled Golden View of i ts intentions to pay - as was promised by 

Jeremy Grangaard at the October meeting. During that October 

meeting, Jeremy Grangaard told Golden View's Brian and Sam 

Waldner, the concret e supplied up t o that point was "all good" 

and that it was of high quality. Grangaard hid the fact that 

there were test i ng p roblems, in order to keep the project moving 

forward (so that it could continue t o get cheap concrete and 

receive an ear ly c ompletion bonus). At the same t i me, Gran gaard 

c hose not to challenge many of the p enalties it received (and 

d e lay the proj e ct}, e v en though it had successfully challenged 
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one such penalty. Later, when Grangaard decided not to pay the 

bills related to the deck concrete ... it argued Golden View 

should be required to indemnify Grangaard for the SDDOT 

penalties it was assessed for concrete it did pay for - even 

though it had no contract with Golden View or other reasonable 

basis for such a claim. 

In truth, Grangaard's legal position (Counterclaim) is that 

Golden View should indemnify Grangaard for its own contractual 

penalties. Grangaard had an extensive written/express contract 

with the SDDOT, by which it could be,penalized based - upon 

terms set forth in that contract. Such penalties could be 

assessed even though the concrete supplied'was properly mixed 

and accepted at the work site. Such penalties could be assessed 

against the Contractor even t hough the resulting bridge was safe 

and strong. As such, by not paying its concrete bill, Grangaard 

was claiming it had a right to require Golden View to indemnify 

it for its SDDOT penalties. 

Prior to trial, Golden View moved for summary judgment upon 

Grangaard's claim, arguing that an agreement for indemnity must 

be an "express" contract (it cannot be implied) . Golden View 

pointed to Mark, Inc. v. Maguire Insurance Agency, Inc., 518 

NW2d 227, 230 (SD 1994), where this Court di scussed tho se 
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limited instances where indemnity is allowed: 

"Indemnity shifts the entire burden for loss on 
another party, and is generally not allowed, except 
under the following limited situations: 

(1) derivative or vicarious liability; 
(2) action at direction of, and for, another; 
(3) breach of duty to indemnify; 
(4) failure to discover negligence of another; 
and 
(5) express contract. Id. 

In Mark, Inc., this Court held that indemnification can only be 

invoked when the party seeking indemnification can show that 

liability should properly be shifted to the second party." Id. 

During the Summary Judgment proceedings, Golden View argued 

that there is no South Dakota authority suggesting that a 

concrete supplier has a duty to indemnify a Contractor who is 

penalized pursuant to terms set forth in a contract with the 

SDDOT. Golden View argued summary judgment (upon Grangaard's 

counterclaim) was appropriate because there were no facts which 

supported the contention that·any "express" indemnity contract 

was entered into by Grangaard and Golden View. 

The trial court denied Golden View's motion and, as a 

result, this case was presented to a McCook County jury over the 

course of four days, most of which time dealt with the issue of 

whether Grangaard should be allowed to pass on its contractual 

losses to Golden View - even though Grangaard was paid (by the 
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SDDOT) for every yard of concrete supplied to the project site 
/ 

(albeit the SDDOT paid Grangaard a lesser amount - a deviated 

amount - for a small portion of the concrete). 

The evidence at trial established Grangaard knew full well 

it was facing penalties; but it also knew challenging those 

penalties would slow down the process. Likewise, Grangaard knew 

that if it brought up these deficiencies with Golden View at the 

October meeting (and an argument that Golden View would have to 

indemnify Grangaard for deductions), Golden View would likely 

have refused to supply any more concrete for the basement bottom 

price of $130.00 per yard. 

So, Grangaard chose to hide the ball at the Octobe r 

meeting, hoping to keep its basement bottom pricing - and 

collect its early completion bonus, with an eye toward shafting 

Golden View after the deck was poured. Punitive damages are 

warranted in this case. 

II. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ALLOWING THE FRAUD CLAIM TO 
BE PRESENTED TO THE JURY. 

A claim of "Fraudulent I nducement" to enter a contract can 

arise under either tort or contract law. See SDCL 20-10-2 

(Tort); 53-4-5 (Contract); See a l so, Rist v. Karlen, 241 N.W. 2d 

717, 719 (S.D. 1976). With r espect to contracts, Fraud is 

either actual or constructive. SDCL 53-4-4. 
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"Actual fraud in relation to cont racts consists of any 
of the following acts committed by a party to the 
contract, or with his connivance, with intent to 
deceive another party thereto or to induce him to 
enter into the contract: 

SDCL 53-4-4. 

1) The suggestion as a fact of that which is not 
true by one who does not believe it to be true; 
2) The positive assertion, in a manner not 
warranted by the information of the person making 
it, of that which is not true, though he believe 
it to be true. 
3) The suppression of that which is true by one 
having knowledge or belief of the fact; 
4) A promise without any intention of performing 
it; or 
5. Any other act fitted to deceive. 

Again, Grangaard ordered cheap concrete from Grangaard, 

with the intention of withholding payment later on. I t hid the 

fact that it planned to argue it was entitled to a "set-off", it 

hid facts which would have given Golden View fair motivation to 

either raise the price of its concrete (to cover any 

~deviations") or to decline to supply any more concrete. 

Grangaard purposely kept Golden View in the dark about the 

early strength testing results - related to concrete samples 

from the first part of the project. And, rather than 

challenging these results (which it could have done pursuant to 

its contract with the SDDOT) Grangaard chose to move forward 

with the project, motivated by the $1,400.00 per day early 
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completion bonus. 

By hiding the test results, Grangaard placed Golden View in 

the position where it could not properly investigate the 

situation or make good business decisions moving forward. 

Moreover, during the October 2021 meeting, Jeremiah Grangaard 

suggested that the concrete was all testing good, which was not 

true - Jeremiah did not believe his statement to be true. (He 

also lied about the check being in the mail.) 

And, Jeremiah Grangaard suppressed other facts, such as his 

intention to withhold payment for the additional concrete he 

stated he would order. He suppressed the strength test results; 

he suppressed the fact that the SDDOT had withheld a portion of 

a progress payments due Grangaard. 

In order to convince Golden View to keep bringing more 

product to the site, Jeremiah Grangaard made a promise to Golden 

View's Samual and Brian Waldner - that he would immediately pay 

for half of the ndeck" concrete, with the other half being paid 

at the end of the month. The facts clearly show Jeremiah made 

these promises in order to keep the project moving. (He had 

secretly tried to find a different supplier prior to the October 

meeting - but could not find anyone who would supply concrete 

for the low cost being charged by Golden View.) 
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And, after the deck was poured, even the SDDOT's Tim 

Marshall could not understand why Grangaard didn't pay for this 

concrete - as the strength testing for the deck concrete was 

fine. 

Clearly, the facts supported the Court's decisi on to allow 

Golden View's Fraudulent Inducement claim to be considered by 

the jury. The fact that the jury did not find fraud, is not 

good reason to grant Grangaard a new trial. In granting or 

denying a new trial, the trial court has broad discretionary 

power; it should not disturb the trial court's decision in 

absence of clear abuse. Wasserburger v. Consolidated Mgmt. 

Corp., 502 N.W.2d 256 (S.D. 1993). 

Ultimately, Golden View asks that this Court affirm the 

verdict rendered by the Jury, in all respects. However, in the 

event this Court were to determine that the punitive damages 

portion of the verdict should not stand, then Golden View 

maintains this Court should order such amount to be remitted 

from the Judgment, and to allow the remainder of the verdict to 

stand. 

This Court should not, however, require a new trial upon 

Golden View's Breach of Contract case. Very clearly, Grangaard 

failed to pay the amount due for the materials it ordered. 
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There was no competent testimony establishing Gol den View mixed 

any concrete improperly. Even Grangaard's expert test ified that 

he could not point to any specific load statement and say that 

it indicated a load was mixed improperly. Grangaard's 

counterclaim (seeking indemnification} fails upon the facts 

presented to the jury; it also fails as a matter of law. 

CONCLUSION 

Fo the reasons set forth above, Golden View urges this 

Court to affirm the verdict and Judgment entered herein. 

Dated this day of November, 2024. 

FINK LAW OFFICE, P.C. 

/s/ Mike C. Fink 
225 N. Main Ave . , P .O. Box 444 
Bridgewater, South Dakota 5 731 9 
Attor ney f or Appellee 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

The undersi gned hereby certif ies that a true a nd cor rect 
copy of the foregoing brief and all appendices were served via 
email upon the f ollowing: 

Danie1 R . Fritz & Tim R. Rahn 
BALLARD SPAHR, LLP 
101 South Reid St., Ste. 302 
Sioux Falls, SD 57103 
Attorneys for Appellant 

Dated this /1 day of November, 2024. 

/ s / Mike C. Fink 

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE 

33 



In accordance with SDCL 15-26A-66(b) (4), I hereby certify 
that this brief complies with the requirements set forth in the 
South Dakota Codified Laws. This brief was prepared using Corel 
Word Perfect, and contains 6653 words from the Statement of the 
Case through the Conclusion. I have relied on the word count of 
a word-processing program to prepare this certificate. 

/s/ Mike c~ Fink 

34 



IN THE SUPREME COURT 
OFTHE 

ST ATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA 

GOLDEN VIEW READY-MIX, LLC Plaintiff and Appellee, 

V. 

GRANGAARD CONSTRUCTION, INC. Defendant and Appellant. 

App. No. 30643 
49CIV22-000040 

Appeal from the Circuit Court, First Judicial Circuit, 
McCook County, South Dakota 

The Honorable Chris S. Giles 

APPELLANT'S REPLY BRIEF 

Daniel R. Fritz 
Timothy R. Rahn 
Ballard Spahr LLP 
101 South Reid St., Ste. 302 
Sioux Falls, SD 57103 
(605) 978-5200 

Attorneys for Appellant and Defendant 

Mike C. Fink 
Fink Law Office, P.C. 
225 N. Main Avenue 
P.O. Box 444 
Bridgewater, SD 57319 
(605) 729-2552 

Attorneys for Appellee and Plaintiff 

The Notice of Appeal was filed on February 29, 2024 

Filed: 12/27/2024 2:51 PM CST Supreme Court, State of South Dakota #30643 



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Page 

PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND ON FRAUD AND PUNITIVE DAMAGES ............. . 1 

ARGUMENT ....................................................... ........................ ....... ............ ..... ....... ......... 5 

I. The Circuit Court's error in allowing an award of punitive damages on 
the Implied Covenant Claim and the jury's error making such award 
are properly before this Court on appeal, and such errors should be 
corrected ............................................................................................... ........ 5 

A. At numerous stages of this litigation, Grangaard made the court 
aware of the error that would be committed by allowing the 
jury to award punitive damages in a case involving only 
alleged breaches of contractual duties ............................................. 5 

B. This Court can correct the erroneous punitive award pursuant 
to its review authority of Grangaard's proper appeal of its 
denied Post-Trial Motion, and this Court should correct the 
same .................... .. .......... .. .......... .. .......... .. .......... .. .......... .. .......... .. ... 8 

C. There is Plain Error here regarding the award of punitive 
damages, and this Court has the authority to review such error 
and correct the same ......... .. ...................... .. ...................... .. .............. 9 

II. The submission of the fraud claim and punitive damages evidence to 
the jury was improper, which tainted the compensatory award such 
that a new trial is warranted ....................................................................... 13 

CONCLUSION ..... ................................................ ................................................ ............. 16 



TABLE OF AUTHORITIES 

Page(s) 

Federal Cases 

Bauer v. Curators of the Univ. of Mo., 
680 F.3d 1043 (8th Cir. 2012) ..................................................................................... 10 

DieselMach., Inc. v. Manitowoc Crane Grp., 
777 F. Supp. 2d 1198 (D.S.D. 2011) ............................................ ........................ ....... 11 

Johnson v. United States, 
520 U.S. 461, 117 S. Ct. 1544, 137 L. Ed. 2d 718 (1997) (citations 
omitted). 1998 S.D. 124, 587 N.W.2d 443 ........................................................ .......... 10 

Union Elec. Light & Power Co. v. Snyder Estate Co., 
65 F.2d 297 (8th Cir. 1933) ............... ........................ ........................ ........................ .... 6 

United States v. Olano, 
507 U.S. 725, 113 S. Ct. 1770 (1993) .......................................................................... 10 

State Cases 

Bland v. Davison Cntya., 
1997 S.D. 92, 566 N.W.2d 452 ....................... .......................................... ...... ...... ......... 8 

First Premier Bank v. Kolcrafl Enters. (In re Boone), 
2004 S.D. 92, 686 N.W.2d 430 ...................... ........................ ....... ............ ..... ....... ....... 10 

Grynberg v. Citation Oil & Gas Corp., 
1997 S.D. 121, 573 N.W.2d 493 .......... .................. ....................... ....... ..... ............ ....... 12 

M aybee v. Jacobs Motor Co., 
519N.W.2d341 (S.D. 1994) ................................................................................ ....... 15 

Mealy v. P rins, 
2019 S.D. 57, 934 N.W.2d 891 .......... ................ ........ ................... ..... ....... ......... ... ..... .... 8 

Shaull v. Hart, 
327 N. W.2d 50 (S.D. 1982) .................... ....... ............ ........................ .... ........ .... ... ..... .... 6 

State v. Brammer, 
304 N.W.2d 111 (S.D. 1981) ......... ....... ............. .... ....... ................ ....... .. ... ... .... .. ... ....... 10 

State v. Guziak, 
2021 S.D. 68, 968 N.W.2d 196 .......................................................... ............ .. .......... .. 10 

11 



State v. Nelson, 
1998 S.D. 124, iJ 8, 587 N.W.2d 439 ............. .. .. .................... ....... ..... ....... ..... ....... ..... .. 10 

Suvada v. Muller, 
2022 S.D. 75, 983 N.W.2d 548 .......... ............ ............ ............ ....... ..... ....... ..... ....... ..... .. ll 

Weber v. Weber, 
2023 S.D. 64, 999 N.W.2d 230 ..................................................... ........................ ......... 6 

Wilkins v. Ed. of Regents, 
519 S.W.3d 526 (Mo. Ct. App. 2017) ..... ......... ..... ..... ..... .................. ...... ......... ..... ..... .... 6 

Wright v. Temple, 
2021 S.D. 15, 956 N.W.2d 436 ...................... .... ........ ............ ....... ..... ....... ..... .... ... ..... .. ll 

State Statutes 

SDCL § 15-6-5l(b)(c)(l) ......................... ........................ ........................ ....... ............. .... .... 6 

SDCL § 15-6-5l(d)(2) ............................................. ........................... ............ ......... ... ....... 10 

SDCL § 21-3-2 ..... ...... ..... ............. .... .. ..... .............. ... .. .................. .. .. .. .. .... ............ 2, 7, 10, 14 

SDCL § 53-4-1 ...... ................................................ ........... ............ ............ ....... ..... ....... ..... .. 14 

SDCL § 53-4-4 ...... ................................... ............ .. .......... ............ ....... ..... ....... ..... .. ..... ..... .. 14 

Uniform Commercial Code ................................................................. ............ ............ ....... 12 

111 



PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND ON FRAUD AND PUNITIVE DAMAGES 

Golden View argues in its Appellee Brief that the appeal on the punitive damages 

award should not be heard because Grangaard did not specifically renew its objection to 

punitive damages being awarded on the breach of implied covenant of good faith and fair 

dealing claim ("Implied Covenant Claim") on the verdict form during the settling of jury 

instructions. There is no merit to this as the Circuit Court decided by that point that 

punitive damages could be awarded on such a claim and noted Grangaard's position to 

the contrary with standing objections during the settling of jury instructions. 

In September 2023, Grangaard moved for summary judgement on Golden View's 

Fraud and Deceit claim, primarily on the grounds that there was no independent tort here 

and any remedies available to Golden View were limited to contract law. (Reply 

Appendix 0014.) The Court denied this motion and allowed the Fraud and Deceit claim 

to proceed. 

On December 27, 2023, Grangaard responded to Golden View filed Plaintiffs' 

Motion for Permission to Undertake Discovery Regarding the Issue of Punitive Damages 

and Motion for Submission of the Issue of Punitive Damages to the Jury ("Punitive 

Damages Motion") again arguing that punitive damages were improper because all of the 

claims arise from contractual duties to pay for concrete and punitive damages cannot, as a 

matter of law, be awarded on a claim for breach of a contractual duty. (Id. 0018-21.) 

On December 22, 2023, Grangaard submitted proposed jury instructions and 

objected to certain of Golden View's instructions, including on fraud and punitive 

damages, and specifically objected to Golden View's special interrogatory and verdict 

form. (Id. 0027.) 
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On December 27, 2024, Grangaard brought a motion in limine to prohibit the use 

of evidence of Grangaard's profit of the Project as having no relevance and ''would be 

offered herein only in hopes of causing the jury to perceive Grangaard negatively and to 

influence it to return a verdict based upon such perception rather than the relevant 

evidence and law." (Id. 0039.) 

At the close of Golden View's case, Grangaard moved for directed verdict on 

each of Golden View's counts. (Tr. at p. 405: 12-25.) The Court analyzed the implied 

covenant claim with the claim for fraud and deceit and found that there were facts 

supporting these claims. (Id. at p. 407:4-12.) Grangaard was allowed to provide argument 

on this and again argued that all the claims here are contractual and, as a matter of law, 

there is no additional tort claim here. (Id. at pp. 407:16-409:5.) The Court found that ''the 

jury could find to keep fraud and bad faith and deceit alive" based on Golden View's 

detrimental reliance on false statements that caused Golden View to "proceed[] to deliver 

the balance of the concrete that had been ordered." (Id. at pp. 410: 16-22.) 

The Court then invited arguments on Golden View's Punitive Damages Motion. 

Again, Grangaard argued against this motion based on SDCL § 21-3-2, which expressly 

limits punitive damages to a breach of "an obligation not arising from contract." (Id. at 

pp. 414:24-12.) As such, counsel for Grangaard argued that punitive damages are 

improper here because the only obligation at issue was Grangaard's contractual 

obligation to pay for the concrete it ordered from Golden View. (Id.) The Court disagreed 

and denied the motion, finding: 

Ifwe were only pursuing the breach-of-contract count, I would agree with 
you. But we're not. The bad-faith count is alive, as well as fraud and 
deceit. The obligation arising from something other than the contract 
terms is the obligation of good faith a fair dealing. 
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(Id. at p. 416:9-19.) 

In settling the jury instructions, Grangaard objected "as to good faith and 

fair dealing." (Id. at pp. 657: 17-658:5.) The Court "understood" this objection as 

it related to the Court's "ruling that fraud and deceit are applicable issues for this 

jury to look at and note you have a standing objection to this ... " (Id.) On the 

instruction related to the issues for the jury to decide, Grangaard's proposed 

instruction did not include any issues related to the implied covenant of good faith 

and fair dealing, fraud and deceit, or punitive damages. (Reply Appendix 0028.) 

The Court, however, adopted Golden View's proposed jury instruction in this 

regard, with slight modification, settling on Instruction 27. (Appendix 32.) 

The Court again recognized that Grangaard had "a standing objection to 

the good-faith fraud part" which erroneously instructed the jury to make 

additional considerations on punitive damages based on a breach of the agreement 

to pay Golden View. (Tr. at p. 680:12-17.) As for the punitive damages 

instruction, the Court acknowledged Grangaard's standing objection to the same 

but gave the instruction over such objection. (Id. at pp. 683: 17-684:6.) 

After going through the instructions, the Court presented the parties with the 

Court's proposed jury verdict form. (Id. at pp. 686: 18-691: 18.) Prior to reading through 

questions 4, 5, and 6 on breach of duty of good faith, fraud, and punitive damages, the 

Court instructed the parties, "Don't object yet." (Id. at p. 689:4.) After going through the 

form, the Court asked Grangaard if it was okay with the form, with Grangaard responding 

in the negative and the Court noting that it was based on Grangaard's standing objection 

to punitive damages on the contractual claims. (Id. at p. 691:10-19.) In going through the 
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punitive damages instruction again, the Court again noted this standing objection. (Id. at 

pp. 732:21-733:10.) 

In going through the jury instructions a final time, the Circuit Court noted that by 

not restating a previous objection the parties are "not waiving any objections earlier 

made. (Id. at pp. 73 8:25-739: 1.) The Court continued, stating that "objections have been 

noted," and for "timeliness" that objections need not be restated in "detail. " (Id. at p. 

739:4-19.) Grangaard's counsel confirmed that the parties stood on their previous 

objections in the record and that during the final review of the jury instructions the parties 

were "just confirming that this is the set that the Court has approved." (Id.) 

The Court made edits to the verdict form, presented that version to the parties, and 

the Court again noted Grangaard's standing and previously stated objections. (Id. at 

739:4-11.) In going through the verdict form the final time, the Court stated that "[t]he 

content will not change." (Id. at p. 742: 18-19.) Given that the Court had already decided 

that punitive damages could be awarded on contractual claims such as the Implied 

Covenant Claim and the instruction to counsel that the content of the verdict form would 

not change, Grangaard agreed to the Court' s form but only over its standing objections. 

(Id. at p. 742: 18-25.) 

On January 11, 2024, the Jury followed Instruction 27 and the corresponding 

questions on the verdict form, which led it to erroneously award punitive damages on 

Golden View's Implied Covenant Claim. On January 24, 2024, Grangaard filed a 

Renewed Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law, or in the Alternative, a New Trial 

("Post-Trial Motion") asking the Circuit Court to correct the clearly erroneous verdict. 
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The Circuit Court denied the motion without explanation, presumably based on its 

continued belief that awarding punitive damages on contractual claims was not in error. 

ARGUMENT 

I. The Circuit Court's error in allowing an award of punitive damages on the 
Implied Covenant Claim and the jury's error making such award are properly 
before this Court on appeal, and such errors should be corrected. 

In reading Appellee's Brief, it appears that Appellee does not dispute that the 

Circuit Court's allowing the jury to award punitive damages on a claim based in contract 

and the jury making such award constitute error. Golden View only contests whether 

Grangaard properly preserved this issue for appeal. As set forth herein, Grangaard 

objected at every opportunity it had pre-trial, during trial, and post-trial to Golden View's 

attempts to submit both the fraud and punitive damages claims to the jury. To suggest 

that Grangaard did not preserve these issues seems disingenuous. These issues are 

properly before this Court and this Court should reverse the Jury's improper award of 

punitive damages. 

A. At numerous stages of this litigation, Grangaard made the court aware of 
the error that would be committed by allowing the jury to award punitive 
damages in a case involving only alleged breaches of contractual duties. 

On many occasions during the course of this litigation, Grangaard advised the 

Circuit Court of the error that would result if the Jury were allowed to consider and award 

punitive damages on contractual claims. The pretrial motions in this regard focused on 

the fraud and deceit claim because that was the only potential independent tort claim 

pled. It never occurred to Grangaard that the Court would allow the issue of punitive 

damages to go to the Jury on the Implied Covenant Claim alone. 

During trial at the close of the evidence, against Grangaard's arguments and over 

its objections, the Circuit Court ruled that the Jury could award punitive damages on 
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Golden View's Implied Covenant Claim. Once the Circuit Court decided as such and 

after being fully aware of Grangaard's position that it would be in error to award punitive 

damages on such a contractual claim, Grangaard was left to simply renew its objections 

in this regard as to each of the Circuit Court's subsequent decisions that led to 

instructions and a verdict form that allowed punitive damages on the Implied Covenant 

Claim. Grangaard did object as such during the settling of jury instructions and the 

Circuit Court noted such objections based on Grangaard's fundamental dispute with 

Golden View and the Circuit Court as to the law on the award of punitive damages on 

contractual claims. Therefore, Grangaard properly preserved this issue for appeal. 

A party objecting to a jury instruction or verdict form "must do so on the record, 

stating distinctly the matter objected to and the grounds of the objection." SDCL § 15-6-

51(b )( c )( 1 ). An objection need only be "sufficiently specific to put the circuit court on 

notice of the alleged error so it has the opportunity to correct it." Weber v. Weber, 2023 

S.D. 64, ,r 24, 999 N. W.2d 230, 236. An objection once made preserves the objection to 

similar issues without the necessity ofrepetition. Union Elec. Light & Power Co. v. 

Snyder Estate Co., 65 F.2d 297, 303 (8th Cir. 1933). When a party moves for a directed 

verdict based on the insufficiency of evidence to support a claim and then objects to jury 

instructions that allow that claim to proceed to a jury, the issue has been sufficiently 

preserved for appeal. See Shaull v. Hart, 327 N.W.2d 50, 53 (S.D. 1982); see also 

Wilkins v. Ed. of Regents, 519 S.W.3d 526, 536-38 (Mo. Ct. App. 2017) (finding a 

challenge to an instruction allowing the award of future damages was preserved on 

appeal where the party moved for a directive verdict on such damages, submitted jury 
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instructions without such an instruction, and objected to the instruction on future 

damages). 

Here, Grangaard put the Circuit Court on notice on several occasions of the legal 

error of allowing the jury to award punitive damages on contractual claims. Prior to trial, 

Grangaard made this this argument and presented the Circuit Court with legal authority in 

this regard in its motion for partial summary judgment and its response in opposition to 

Golden View's Punitive Damages Motion. Grangaard filed objections to Golden View's 

proposed jury instructions and verdict form that allowed punitive damages on contractual 

claims and proposed counter instructions and verdict form that would have prevented an 

award of punitive damages as to any contractual claims. 

At trial, in its motion for directed verdict and arguments in opposition to Golden 

View's Punitive Damages Motion, Grangaard again notified the Court of the law 

preventing the award of punitive damages on claims arising from a contract, such as the 

Implied Covenant Claim. Grangaard further argued that the evidence was insufficient to 

support a fraud claim, which was the only potential claim upon which punitive damages 

could be awarded. After hearing these arguments, the Circuit Court disagreed with 

Grangaard's position on SDCL § 21-3-2 limiting punitive damages to independent tort 

claims, finding that "[t]he obligation arising from something other than the contract terms 

is the obligation of good faith and fair dealing." (Tr. at p. 416:9-19.) 

The Circuit Court clearly was proceeding on the mistaken belief that a claim for 

breach of an implied duty of good faith and fair dealing is not a claim based in contract. 

Based on this mistaken understanding of the law, the Circuit Court submitted jury 

instructions and a verdict form to the jury that allowed punitive damages to be awarded 
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on Golden View's Implied Covenant Claim, over Grangaard's standing objections. At 

this point, after the close of evidence at trial, the Circuit Court was fully aware of 

Grangaard's position that proceeding in this manner was in error. As such, any further 

argument on this issue during the settling of jury instructions would have essentially been 

a motion to reconsider the decisions of the Court relative to multiple pre-trial and at-trial 

motions. There was no obligation under South Dakota law for Grangaard to seek such 

reconsideration during the settling of jury instructions to preserve the issue on appeal. 

The Circuit Court was on notice of the alleged error and noted the standing objections to 

the same during the settling of jury instructions, and that is sufficient to preserve the issue 

on appeal. 

B. This Court can con-ect the en-oneous punitive award pursuant to its 
review authority of Grangaard's proper appeal of its denied Post-Trial 
Motion, and this Court should correct the same. 

Objections to the jury instructions and verdict form aside, this Court certainly has 

authority to review the Circuit Court's denial ofGrangaard's Post-Trial Motion which is 

the subject of this appeal. 

When a circuit court denies a motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict, 

this Court has the authority to review such ruling by the abuse of discretion standard. 

Bland v. Davison Cnty,., 1997 S.D. 92, ,i 26, 566 N.W.2d 452. This court reviews the 

testimony and evidence in light most favorable to the verdict or the nonmoving party. Id. 

Then, without weighing the evidence, the Supreme Court must decide ifthere is evidence 

which would have supported or did support a verdict. Id. Even if a party does not object 

to an erroneous verdict form, the issue is preserved on appeal when the party brings "the 

matter to the circuit court's attention in post-trial proceedings while it [is] still easily 

correctable." Mealy v. Prins, 2019 S.D. 57, ,i 39, 934 N.W.2d 891, 902. 
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Here, Grangaard's Post-Trial Motion made it absolutely clear to the Circuit Court 

that Grangaard believed that the punitive award on the Implied Covenant Claim was in 

error and provided the uncontroverted authority supporting such position. Grangaard 

requested that the Circuit Court correct the punitive award. The Circuit Court declined 

and denied the Motion without addressing the merits of the Motion. Grangaard appeals 

this decision amongst others, as set forth in the notice of appeal and in the briefing herein. 

Putting aside whether Grangaard sufficiently noted its objections to allowing the 

jury to award punitive damages on claims based in contract, it cannot be denied that this 

issue was squarely before the Circuit Court in Grangaard 's Post-Trial Motion. Golden 

View submits no argument as to why the Circuit Court's denial of such Motion was not 

in error. No such argument is raised because no such argument exists. South Dakota law 

does not allow for punitive damages to be awarded on a claim for a breach of the implied 

duty of good faith and that is exactly what the jury was allowed to do and did despite 

Grangaard's repeated attempts to prevent the same. These errors could have been 

corrected at several points during this litigation and certainly as late as in response to the 

Post-Trial Motion. The Circuit Court refused to correct its own clear error which lead to 

the Jury's error. Grangaard now asks this Court to correct these errors by reversing the 

punitive damage award. 

C. There is Plain EITor here regarding the award of punitive damages, and 
this Court has the authority to review such eITor and coITect the same. 

As discussed herein, Grangaard could not have been more clear and consistent in 

its objection to punitive damages being awarded on contractual claims. The Circuit Court 

consistently disagreed during motion practice and specifically held at trial that the 

obligation of good faith and fair dealing is an obligation that is not arising from contract 
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such that punitive damages could be awarded pursuant to SDCL 21-3-2. This is plain 

error and should be corrected regardless of Grangaard's objections. 

In deciding State v. Brammer in 1981, this Court recognized the legislatively 

created plain error rule, now codified at SDCL § 15-6-51(d)(2). 304 N.W.2d 111, 114-15 

(S.D. 1981). In deciding State v. Nelson in 1998, this Court adopted a four-factor analysis 

for the plain error rule outlined in Johnson v. United States, 520 U.S. 461, 466-67, 117 S. 

Ct. 1544, 1549, 137 L. Ed. 2d 718 (1997) (citations omitted). 1998 S.D. 124, ,i 8, 587 

N. W.2d 439, 443. Under Nelson, "[p ]lain error requires 1) error, 2) that is plain, 3) 

affecting substantial rights; and only then may [the Supreme Court] exercise [its] 

discretion to notice the error if 4) it 'seriously affects the fairness, integrity, or public 

reputation of judicial proceedings."' Id. (citing Johnson v. United States, at 466-67.) In 

2004, this Court made it clear that the plain error rule applied to civil appeals. First 

Premier Bank v. Kolcraft Enters. (In re Boone), 2004 S.D. 92, ,i 18,686 N.W.2d 430, 

441-42. 

A court's deviation from a rule of law or statute is error. State v. Guziak, 2021 

S.D. 68, 968 N.W.2d 196, 206; Nelson at 444. The word "plain" means "clear" or 

"obvious". Nelson at 444 ( citing United States v. Olano, 507 U.S. 725, 734, 113 S. Ct. 

1770, 1777 (1993). The error affects substantial rights if it "affects the outcome of the 

proceedings." Bauer v. Curators of the Univ. of Mo., 680 F.3d 1043, 1045 (8th Cir. 2012) 

(citing United States v. Olano, at 1774.) Disclosing "prohibited matters" to a jury 

"seriously affects the fairness, integrity, and public reputation of judicial proceedings." 

First Premier Bank v. Kolcraft Enters. (In re Boone), 2004 S.D. 92, ,i 19,686 N.W.2d 

430, 442 (finding plain error and granting a new trial based on the circuit court allowing 



the prejudicial disclosure of plaintiff's previous settlement of a related claim during 

opening statements.) 

Looking at the first two elements of the plain error rule, the Circuit Court 

certainly erred in finding that punitive damages could be awarded on Golden View's 

Implied Covenant Claim, which is undoubtedly a claim based in contract. Such error is 

clear and obvious as the black-letter legal authority is directly to the contrary. Diesel 

Mach., Inc. v. Manitowoc Crane Grp., 777 F. Supp. 2d 1198, 1211 (D.S.D. 2011) 

(finding "a claim of breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing cannot 

support a punitive damages claim.") Golden View does not now dispute this. As such, 

there was error and it was plain. 

As to the third element, this plain error necessarily affected Grangaard's 

substantial rights. There is no doubt that the error affected the outcome of the case as the 

Jury did in fact award punitive damages against Grangaard on the Implied Covenant 

Claim. 

This award also seriously affects the fairness, integrity, and public reputation of 

the judicial proceedings as it validates the unfortunately all-too-common practice of 

parties throwing fraud and punitive damages claims in to purely commercial contractual 

disputes over payment obligations. It seems nearly every year recently this Court affirms 

what has long been the law - that such claims have no place in such disputes. See e,g., 

Suvada v. Muller, 2022 S.D. 75, ,r,r 35-37, 983 N. W.2d 548, 560 (finding that the fraud 

claims fail because they "pertain to whether [plaintiff] satisfied his contractual obligation 

to complete the project by the contract' s deadline." ); Wright v. Temple, 2021 S.D. 15, ,r 

58, 956 N. W.2d 436, 455 (finding the fraud claims fail because they "arose strictly from 
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the alleged contractual obligation."). Despite such clear direction to the contrary, the 

filing of these improper claims persists. These contractual claims disguised as fraud 

claims attempt to change the calculus as to the amounts in dispute with the improper 

threat of punitive damages. See Grynberg v. Citation Oil & Gas Corp., 1997 S.D. 121, ,r 

17, 573 N. W. 2d 493, 500 (noting that among the policy reasons for not allowing punitive 

damages on contractual claims is that "while compensatory damages encourage reliance 

on business agreements, the threat of additional punitive damages would create 

uncertainty and apprehension in the marketplace."). This practice is completely 

unproductive, frustrates the purposes of contracting parties, and makes resolution in a 

case like this unnecessarily more difficult. 

The fraud and punitive damages claims here arise from an unpaid invoice for 

goods delivered under South Dakota's Uniform Commercial Code. The same unpaid 

invoice is the amount of Golden View's breach of contract claim, upon which it fully 

recovered. As a general matter, if punitive damages are allowed to go to a jury under 

these facts, it is hard to imagine any UCC case over unpaid invoices that would also not 

involve a claim for punitive damages, rewriting the law on remedies for the nonpayment 

of goods sold in this state. Here, the punitive award against Grangaard is patently unfair 

given the black-letter law prohibiting such an award on this contractual claim. The 

Circuit Court had an undeniable opportunity to correct this plain error on Grangaard's 

Post-Trial Motion but refused to do so. Given the above, this forth factor of the plain 

error rule is clearly satisfied here. 

12 



This Court has the authority to fix the erroneous punitive award. Grangaard 

respectfully requests that this Court exercise such authority and, at a minimum, reverse 

the punitive damages award. 

II. The submission of the fraud claim and punitive damages evidence to the jury 
was improper, which tainted the compensatory award such that a new trial is 
warranted. 

The Jury was erroneously allowed to hear evidence and argument in regard to 

Grangaard allegedly acting fraudulently and in a deceitful manner in only making partial 

payment for the concrete that was delivered for the Project. The Jury was further 

erroneously allowed to consider evidence, the only relevance of which was in support of 

an improperly submitted punitive damages claim. Grangaard 's income and profit in its 

annual operations and, more specifically, on the Project was a significant part of Golden 

View's argument to the jury for finding in its favor on all claims and for both 

compensatory and punitive damages. As such, the awards are inseparable and, on that 

basis, this Court should direct the Circuit Court to hold a new trial on all issues. 

In attempting to justify the submission of the punitive damages testimony to the 

Jury, Golden View, in its Appellee Brief, again seems to concede that such damages 

cannot be awarded on the Implied Covenant Claim and only attempts to reargue the 

validity of its fraud claim. The problem with such attempt is that it is based on a 

misplaced reliance upon South Dakota law relating to fraud as a defense to the 

enforceability of a contract. Golden View did not assert fraud as a defense to the 

enforceability of the contract at issue in this case. Golden View asserted an affi1mative 
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claim of fraud as an independent tort claim.1 Yet, in support of its argument on this 

appeal, it failed to cite to South Dakota law pertaining to an affirmative fraud claim. Such 

confusion as to the fraud Golden View is alleging here underscores the absurdity of this 

claim being submitted to the Jury. 

In arguing that the Circuit Court did not err in allowing the fraud claim to be 

presented to the jury, Golden View first distinguishes between South Dakota's law on 

fraudulent inducement in tort and contract. (Appellee Brief at p. 29.) However, Golden 

View goes on to argue on fraudulent inducement as a defense to the enforcement of a 

contract, citing SDCL § 53-4-4. That Chapter provides that a contract is voidable when 

obtained through fraud. SDCL § 53-4-1. The aforementioned section cited by Golden 

View provides part of the definition of such fraud. The Appellee Brief goes on to attempt 

to make its case as to how the Section 53-4-1 definition of the defense of fraud applies to 

the facts of this case. 

Fraud as a defense to performing obligations under a contract, however, cannot 

give rise to an award of punitive damages. SDCL § 21-3-2. The only relief that could be 

granted on such defense is avoidance from the contract and the obligations set forth 

therein. SDCL § 53-4-1. No damages can be awarded under SDCL § 53-4-4, punitive or 

otherwise. Id. 

The trial proceeded and the Jury was instructed on Golden View and the Court' s 

false belief that fraud could be found and punitive damages could be awarded if there was 

deceitful conduct by Grangaard regarding its intentions to perform under the agreement. 

1 Despite such claim being factually unsupported, the Circuit Court allowed it to be 
presented to the Jury. The Jury, in agreement with Grangaard, found the fraud claim to be 
factually unsupported. 
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As a predictable result, the Jury erroneously awarded punitive damages on Grangaard's 

failure to make full payment for the concrete Golden View delivered. This was improper 

and should not stand. 

Moreover, the Circuit Court's decisions that led to the Jury to consider whether 

Grangaard was fraudulent and deceitful and award punitive dan1ages also prejudiced 

Grangaard in regard to its liability on Golden View's breach of contract claim. It is more 

difficult to assess the effect of allowing the fraud claim to be submitted to the Jury given 

that the Jury found that there was no fraud, but the same cannot be said of the use 

punitive damages evidence, which was part of Golden View's grounds for Grangaard's 

liability generally. Golden View argued to the jury, in part, that Grangaard should pay the 

full invoice amount because of Grangaard's "massive markup" and "profit." (Tr. at p. 

756:3-23.) 

Additionally, as discussed throughout Grangaard's briefing, the only conduct 

ultimately at issue was Grangaard's nonpayment of the final invoice amount, which 

provided the same factual basis for both Golden View's breach of contract claim and the 

fraud claim. So, if the jury believed that punitive damages may be warranted on such 

conduct, which was likely implied by the Circuit Court allowing in separate punitive 

damages evidence, then it could assume at the very least that Grangaard was liable for 

failing to make to make full payment on the contract. As such, it is not surprising that the 

Appellee Brief makes no attempt to separate the compensatory award on the breach of 

contract claim from the punitive award. 

As discussed in the Appellate Brief, if a compensatory award cannot be separated 

from a punitive award, all issues should be remanded for new trial. Maybee v. Jacobs 
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Motor Co., 519 N.W.2d 341,345 (S.D. 1994). As set forth herein and as Golden View 

concedes with its silence on this point, the awards here cannot be separated. The 

presentation of the fraud claim and punitive damages evidence to the Jury unfairly tainted 

the entire verdict. As a matter of law, the inseparable issues that gave rise to the awards 

must be tried again. Therefore, this Court should order a new trial on all issues. 

CONCLUSION 

For the reasons stated herein, Grangaard respectfully requests that the Court 

reverse the Circuit Court's denial of Grangaard's Motion for New Trial and remand for 

new trial on all issues, with the direction that Golden View's fraud and deceit claim and 

claim for punitive damages be dismissed. 

Dated this 27th day of December, 2024. 

Ballard Spahr LLP 

By: /s/ Daniel R. Fritz 
Daniel R. Fritz 
Timothy R. Rahn 

16 

101 South Reid Street, Suite 302 
Sioux Falls, SD 57103 
Telephone: (605) 978-5200 
Attorneys for Appellants 



CERTIFICATE PURSUANT TO SDCL 15-26A-66 and 15-26A-14 

I, Daniel R. Fritz, hereby certify that the Appellant's Reply Brief in the above­

entitled matter complies with the typeface specifications of SDCL § 15-26A-66 and the 

length specifications in SDCL § 15-26A-14. The Appellant 's Reply Brief contains 4,669 

words and that said Appellant's Reply Brief does not exceed sixteen (16) pages and was 

typed in Times New Roman font, 12 point. 

Ballard Spahr LLP 

/s/ Daniel R. Fritz 
Daniel R. Fritz 
Attorneys for Appellants 

17 



CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

The undersigned hereby certifies that on this 27th day of December, 2024, a true 

and correct copy of the foregoing Appellant's Reply Brief were served via Odyssey file and 

serve system. 

Mike C. Fink 
Fink Law Office, P.C. 
225 N. Main A venue 
P.O. Box 444 
Bridgewater, SD 57319 
(605) 729-2552 

Ballard Spahr LLP 

Isl Timothy R. Rahn 
Timothy R. Rahn 
Attorneys for Appellant 

18 



REPLY APPENDIX 

OF APPELLANT GRANGAARD CONSTRUCTION INC. 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

I. BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF GRANGAARD'S MOTION FOR PARTIAL 
SUMMARY JUDGMENT ................................................................................ 1-10 

II. GRANGAARD'S REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF MOTION FOR PARTIAL 
SUMMARY JUDGMENT ...................................................... ........................ . 11-17 

III. GRANGAARD'S RESPONSE TO GOLDEN VIEW'S MOTIONS REGARDING 
PUNITIVE DAMAGES ............. .. ...................... .. ...................... .. ................... 18-22 

IV. EXCERPTS FROM GOLDEN VIEW'S PROPOSED JURY INSTRUCTIONS 

................................................................. .. ...................... .. ...................... .. ....... 23-26 

V. EXCERPTS FROM GRANGAARD'S PROPOSED JURY INSTRUCTIONS 27-
30 

VI. GRANGAARD'S SUPPLEMENTAL MOTIONS IN LIMINE ........ .. .... .. .. .. ... 31-40 

VIL EXCERPTS FROM TRIAL TRANSCRIPT .................................................... 41-44 

Filed: 12/27/2024 2:51 PM CST Supreme Court, State of South Dakota #30643 



STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA 

COUNTY OF MCCOOK 

) 
:SS 
) 

GOLDEN VIEW READY-MIX, LLC, a South 
Dakota Limited Liability Company, 

Plaintiff, 

V. 

GRANGAARD CONSTRUCTION, INC., a 
South Dakota Corporation, 

Defendant. 

IN CIRCUIT COURT 

FIRST RJDICIAL CIRCUIT 

44CIV22-000040 

BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF 
DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR 

PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT 

Defendant Grangaard Construction, Inc. ("Grangaard"), by and through its undersigned 

counsel, submits this brief in support of its Motion for Partial Summary Judgment. 

I. INTRODUCTION 

Grangaard's conduct here was consistent with how it had performed its bridge construction 

work for nearly thirty years. Golden View attempted to expand its business to perform such bridge 

work and held itself out as being capable of the same. It turned out that this was not the case and 

Golden View now wants to pass its risk and liabilities for its out-of-speculation concrete on to 

Grangaard. Golden View should not be allowed to do so. While some fact issues may remain, it is 

factually undisputed that there is no fraud here and that Grangaard is not liable for nonpayment of 

amounts deducted for Golden View's concrete that did not meet DOT specifications. 

II. LEGAL STANDARD 

Summary judgment is appropriate when the movant demonstrates that "there is no genuine 

issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter oflaw." 

SDCL § 15-6-56(c). The purpose of summary judgment "is to secure a just, speedy and 
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inexpensive determination of the action." Wilson v. Great N. Ry. Co., 157 N.W.2d 19, 21 (S.D. 

1968). Accordingly, "it is looked upon with favor" when no genuine issues exist. Id. 

In ruling on a motion for summary judgment, the Court must view the evidence in the light 

most favorable to the non-moving party. Cont'l Grain Co. v. Heritage Bank, 548 N.W.2d 507,551 

(S.D. 1996). "The non-moving party, however, must present specific facts showing that a genuine, 

material issue for trial exists." Id. "Unsupported conclusions and speculative statements" simply 

do not suffice to raise a genuine issue of fact for trial. Paradigm HotelMortg. Fund v. Sioux Falls 

Hotel Co., 511 N.W.2d 567,569 (S.D. 1994). 

The non-moving party must show that it "will be able to place sufficient evidence in the 

record at trial to support findings on all the elements on which [ it has] the burden of proof." 

Bordeaux v. Shannon Cty. Schs., 707 N.W.2d 123, 127 (S.D. 2005). Neither general allegations 

nor proof of a mere possibility suffice to establish a genuine issue of material fact. See Foster-

Naser v. Aurora Cty., 874 N.W.2d 505, 508 (S.D. 2016); see also Greene v. Morgan, Theeler, 

Cogley & Petersen, 575 N.W.2d 457,459 (S.D. 1998) ("The party opposing a motion for summary 

judgment must be diligent in resisting the motion, and mere general allegations and denials which 

do not set forth specific facts will not prevent issuance of a judgment.") 

III. ARGUMENT 

A. There is no separate legal duty such that an independent fraud claim can lie, and even 
if there was, Golden View falls well short of meeting its burden to provide evidence 
for each element of such a claim. 

This is a simple contract dispute between two businesses - Golden View and Grangaard -

based on alleges breaches of the parties' Agreement. The undisputed evidence shows that Golden 

View agreed to provide concrete for the entire project, including the bridge deck, but then tried to 

get out of the Agreement when Golden View discovered that its concrete might fail and be subject 
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to deductions. Grangaard tried to find a new supplier, but could not, and Golden View provided 

concrete for the bridge deck as required by the Agreement. If Golden View believes it was not 

paid all that it believes it was owed under the Agreement, its remedies for the same are limited to 

contract law. There is no fraud here, and Count III alleging as such should be dismissed with 

prejudice. 

1. Any assurances from Jeremiah regarding Grangaard's performance of the 
Agreement would not create a separate independent fraud claim. 

"A party cannot convert a breach of contract cause of action into a tort merely by stating it 

as such." Grynberg v. Citation Oil & Gas Corp., 573 N.W.2d 493, 510 (S.D. 1997). "If a party 

could simply, by alleging that a contracting party never intended to fulfill his promise, create a 

tortious action in fraud, there would be no effective way of preventing almost every contract case 

from being converted to a tort ... " Id. (quoting Hertz Commercial Leasing Corp. v. LMC Data, 

Inc. , 343 N.Y.S.2d 689, 694 (Civ. Ct. 1973)). While an independent fraud claim may arise out of 

a set of circumstances related to a contract, it is generally "conceded that tort usually signifies a 

breach of a legal duty independent of contract." Grynberg v. Citation Oil & Gas Corp., 573 

N.W.2d 493, 501 (S.D. 1997). The existence of a legal duty is a question oflaw. Id. In determining 

whether such a duty exists, courts must focus "on whether a legal duty exists independent of the 

obligations under the contract." Wright v. Temple, 956 N.W.2d 436, 454-55 (S.D. 2021) (internal 

citations and quotations omitted). 

" [D]amages may only be awarded on a deceit claim when the party seeking them ' can 

prove an independent tort that is separate and distinct from the breach of contract."' Wright v. 

Temple, 956 N.W.2d 436 at 454 (citing Hoffman v. Louis Dreyfus Corp., 435 N.W.2d 211, 214 

(S.D. 1989)). If an obligation that was allegedly breached could not have existed but for a 

manifested intent between the parties, "then contract law should be the only theory upon which 
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liability would be imposed." Fisher Sand & Gravel Co. v. State by & Through S.D. DOT, 558 

N.W.2d 864, 867-68 (S.D. 1997) (quoting Prosser and Keeton on Torts (5th ed 1984)). 

The obligation at issue in Golden View's fraud claim is in regard to Golden View's 

obligation to "continue supplying materials" for the Project (Complaint at ,i 65.) It is undisputed, 

however, that Golden View already agreed to provide such materials under the Agreement. As 

such, this obligation was entirely contractual and could not be the basis for an independent fraud 

claim. Therefore, the fraud claim should be dismissed. 

2. Golden View acted pursuant to the Agreement and not in reliance on any 
representation made by Grangaard, and even if there was such reliance, it 
would be unreasonable here. 

Even if there was a basis for an independent tort claim for fraud, such a claim fails as a 

matter oflaw because Plaintiff has failed in meeting its burden to provide evidence of each element 

of the same. Therefore, Count III should be dismissed. 

Under South Dakota law, the essential elements of common law fraud are: 1) that a 

representation was made as a statement of facts, which was untrue and known to be untrue, or else 

recklessly made; 2) that it was made with the intent to deceive and for the purpose of inducing the 

other party to act upon it; and 3) that the other party did rely on it and was induced thereby; 4) and 

damages resulted to the other party as a result. Dahl v. Sittner, 474 N.W.2d 897, 900 (S.D. 1991). 

To avoid summary judgment, the essential elements of fraud must be adequately supported by 

alleged facts. Aqreva, LLC v. Bailly, 950 N.W.2d 774, 791 (S.D. 2020). 

Fraud is not to be presumed and must be strictly proven. Id. "Speculation and 

innuendo ... are not enough to raise a genuine issue of material fact." Schwaiger v. Avera Queen of 

Peace Health Servs., 714 N.W.2d 874, 880 (S.D. 2006). Cases of''fraud and deceit require a higher 

degree of specificity in order to avert summary judgment." Olson v. Berggren, 965 N.W.2d 442, 
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454-55 (S.D. 2021). There must be something more than a mere evidence of a misstatement. See 

Paint Brush Corp. v. Neu, 599 N.W.2d 384, 391 (S.D. 1999). The must be additional evidence of 

some "trickery" or "plan" to deceive. Id. 

To survive a motion to dismiss, a fraud claim must allege facts with particularity showing 

that the plaintiff relied on an untrue representation of fact. N. Am. Truck & Trailer, Inc. v. M. C.J. 

Commun. Servs., 751 N.W.2d 710, 714 (S.D. 2008). When such representations are made after 

contract formation, the representations cannot be used to establish a fraud claim based on the 

inducement into that contract or performing under the terms of the same. See Deutz & Crow Co. 

v. S.D. State Cement Plant Comm'n, 466 N.W.2d 631,637 (S.D. 1991). 

Here, it is undisputed that the parties all intended for Golden View to supply concrete for 

the entire project when entering into the Agreement. (Statement of Material Facts at ,i,i 12 and 13.) 

Even in October 2021, the evidence is clear that Golden View intended to follow through with its 

obligations under the Agreement to pour the bridge deck but required payment of outstanding 

invoices. When those were paid, the deck was poured, as the parties had always intended. 

Golden View alleges that Jeremiah made misrepresentations at a meeting in October 2021, 

months after the Agreement was formed. As such, these alleged representations were not and could 

not have been relied on by Golden View in entering into the Agreement. Golden View continued 

to supply concrete under the Agreement and was obligated to do so regardless of Jeremiah's 

assurances as to Grangaard' s performance under the Agreement. 

The reliance in a fraud claim must be justified and reasonable. Schwaiger v. Mitchell 

RadiologyAssocs., P.C., 652 N.W.2d 372,377 (S.D. 2002). Even if there was some reliance here 

extraneous to the contract, such reliance would be unreasonable as it is undisputed that DOT 

Engineer Tim Marshall warned Golden View that some of its concrete was going to be subject to 
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deductions and the same would be passed down to Golden View. Golden View disagreed with Mr. 

Marshall and poured the bridge deck anyway. Therefore, Golden View cannot establish the 

reliance element of a fraud claim, and dismissal of the same is proper. 

3. There is no evidence that Grangaard made any knowingly untrue statement 
of fact or ever intended to deceive Golden View. 

"Opinions cannot form the basis of a fraudulent concealment claim." Cleveland v. City of 

Lead, 663 N.W.2d 212, 220 (S.D. 2003). Golden View alleges that Jeremiah represented that 

"everything is fine"; ''we 're all good"; "everything came back good"; and "it passed", apparently 

referring to the testing and specifications of the concrete Golden View supplied for the Project. 

These alleged representations are all opinions from Jeremiah that they were good to move forward 

with pouring the bridge deck. The only alleged statement that is arguably factual is in regard to 

whether the concrete "passed" the tests. This too, however, is subjective as concrete could "pass" 

and not have to be removed even if it was subject to deducts, which was the case here. 

At the time these statements were allegedly made, no deducts had actually been issued by 

the DOT. And it was true that the concrete supplied to date was good enough to pour the deck and 

complete the Project. None of the concrete needed to be removed. As such these alleged statements 

were not knowingly untrue or recklessly made. Importantly, there is also no allegation here that 

Grangaard ever represented that it would not pass along deductions for out-of-specification 

concrete. To the contrary, Grangaard assumed that Golden View was aware that Golden View 

would be liable for such deductions just as every other concrete supplier was. Grangaard further 

knew that Golden View had worked on other DOT projects and had good reason to believe that 

Golden View was familiar with the deductions process. 

There is also no evidence that Grangaard made any representations with the intent to 

deceive. "In fraud and deceit claims, '[s]ummary judgment is proper [when a plaintiff] produces 
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no evidence of deceitful intent on [defendant's] part ... "' Delka v. Cont'l Cas. Co., 748 N.W.2d 

140, 152 (S.D. 2008) (quoting Garrett v. Bankwest, Inc., 459 N.W.2d 833, 847 (S.D. 1990)). If 

deceitful intent "rests solely on conjecture ... the case should not be submitted to the jury." Roper 

v. Noel, 143 N. W. 130, 132 (S.D. 1913). "[T]here is a considerable difference between a promise 

never intended to be performed (fraud in the inducement) and a promise intended to be performed 

but which ultimately is not (breach of contract)." Nw. Pub. Serv. v. Union Carbide Corp., 115 F. 

Supp. 2d 1164, 1168 (D.S.D. 2000) (citingBudgetel Inns v. Micros Sys., 8 F. Supp. 2d 1137, 1147 

(E.D. Wis. 1998)). In distinguishing between fraud in the inducement and breach of contract 

claims, Budgetel goes on to state. "[a]n outright lie to induce a party to enter a contract differs 

substantially from a broken contractual promise. Courts and contracting parties should be able to 

distinguish the two." Budgetel Inns v. Micros Sys., 8 F. Supp. 2d 1137 at 1147. 

Here, Golden View is alleging that Grangaard did not pay Golden View what it was owed 

under the Agreement following the pouring of the bridge deck. This fact alone, which Grangaard 

disputes, cannot be the basis for an intent to deceive. Golden View must have something more to 

sustain a fraud and deceit claim, and there is absolutely no evidence of that here. Therefore, 

Plaintiff's fraud claim should be dismissed. 

B. The UCC's "usage of trade" provision applies to this unwritten contract, and the 
facts are undisputed here that the practice of passing down deductions to concrete 
suppliers is of such regularity of observance that it is justified to include such 
practice in the Agreement. 

The UCC cannot be ignored here. The 'usage of trade" gap-filler set forth in SDCL § 57 A­

l-303(c) applies to the Agreement. Upon its application, it is undisputed that the passing of 

deductions to Golden View is part of the Agreement. Therefore, the Court should find as a matter 

of law that Grangaard did not breach the Agreement or its duty of good faith and fair dealing by 

not paying Golden View the amounts deducted for Golden View's out-of-specification concrete. 
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Under South Dakota's Uniform Commercial Code: 

A "usage of trade" is any practice or method of dealing having such regularity of 
observance in a place, vocation, or trade as to justify an expectation that it will be 
observed with respect to the transaction in question. The existence and scope of 
such a usage must be proved as facts. If it is established that such a usage is 
embodied in a trade code or similar record, the interpretation of the record is a 
question of law. 

SDCL § 57 A-l-303(c). 

"[T]he Uniform Commercial Code [is] controlling with respect to a subcontract for the sale 

of concrete." Century Ready-Mix Co. v. Lower & Co., 770 P.2d 692, 696 (Wyo. 1989) (citing 

Chicopee Concrete Service, Inc. v. Hart Engineering Company, 20 Mass. App. Ct. 315, 479 

N.E.2d 748 (Mass.App. 1985).) Under the UCC, the terms of a written contract may be explained 

or supplemented by certain extrinsic evidence, including "usage of trade." Dakota Energy Coop., 

Inc. v. E. River Elec. Power Coop., Inc., 75 F.4th 870, 877 (8th Cir. 2023). "[U]sage of trade must 

be construed whenever reasonable as consistent" with the terms of the contract. Id. Where a 

contract is silent as to a particular term, evidence of usage of trade is not inconsistent with the 

contract and should be considered. Ralph's Distrib. Co. v. AMF, Inc., 667 F.2d 670, 673 (8th Cir. 

1981 ). If evidence of usage of trade is undisputed, summary judgment is appropriate. See id. A 

party need not have actual knowledge of a usage of trade when it is so general that he must be 

presumed to have known it. Estherville Produce Co. v. Chi. R. I. & P.R. Co., 57 F.2d 50, 55 (8th 

Cir. 1932). 

Here, Golden View does not dispute that the passing of deducts to a supplier is the regular 

practice in South Dakota. Golden View has not put forth any evidence or expert opinion to the 

contrary. Rather, Golden View attempts to hide its head in the sand and feign ignorance to this 

common practice. As Mr. Marshall, an objective non-party with no interest in this matter, 

described this usage of trade, the precedent for it is ''tremendous." Moreover, Golden View had 
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supplied concrete on DOT projects before and held themselves out as capable of doing the same. 

As such, it cannot be disputed that the usage of trade of passing down deductions is so general that 

it must be presumed that Golden View, through its work on DOT projects, was aware of it. 

Therefore, pursuant to SDCL § 57A-l-303(c), the Court should find that the Agreement 

incorporated this usage of trade that permitted Grangaard to withhold payment to Golden View for 

the amounts deducted from Grangaard's pay from the State for the Project. With such term 

included, Grangaard, as a matter of law, should prevail on liability under Counts I and II for non­

payment of such amounts. 

IV. CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, Grangaard respectfully requests that Count III be dismissed with 

prejudice and that Summary Judgment be granted in Grangaard's favor for liability on Counts I 

and II for nonpayment of deducted amounts. 

Dated this 15th day of September, 2023. 

BALLARD SP AHR LLP 

By: /s/ Timothy R. Rahn 
Timothy R. Rahn (4871) 
Daniel R. Fritz (2390) 
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101 South Reid Street, Suite 302 
Sioux Falls, SD 57103 
Telephone: (605) 978-5200 

Email: rahnt@ballardspahr.com 
fritzd@ballardspahr.com 
Attorneys for Defendant 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on this 15 th day of September, 2023, a true and correct copy of the 

Brief in Support of Defendant's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment relative to the above­

entitled matter, was served via Odyssey File & Serve system to the following: 

Mike C. Fink 
Fink Law Office, P.C. 
225 N. Main Avenue 
P.O. Box 444 
Bridgewater, SD 57319 
T: (605) 729-2552 
Attorney for Plaintiff 

BALLARD SP AHR LLP 

By: /s/ Timothy R. Rahn 
Timothy R. Rahn (4871) 
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STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA 

COUNTY OF MCCOOK 

) 
:SS 
) 

GOLDEN VIEW READY-MIX, LLC, a South 
Dakota Limited Liability Company, 

Plaintiff, 

V. 

GRANGAARD CONSTRUCTION, INC., a 
South Dakota Corporation, 

Defendant. 

IN CIRCUIT COURT 

FIRST RJDICIAL CIRCUIT 

44CIV22-000040 

DEFENDANT'S REPLY BRIEF IN 
SUPPORT OF MOTION FOR 

PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT 

Defendant Grangaard Construction, Inc. ("Grangaard"), by and through its undersigned 

counsel, submits this reply brief in support of its Motion for Partial Summary Judgment. 

I. UNDISPUTED FACTS 

Golden View does not dispute that the UCC applied to the contract nor does Golden View 

dispute the regularity of the observance of the practice of passing down the costs of deductions on 

to the concrete suppliers. (See Plaintiff's responses to Statements 8 and 9.) 

Golden View mistakes Jeremiah's testimony regarding Grangaard's agreements with other 

suppliers. Jeremiah testified that in almost all other dealings with suppliers, it is the supplier that 

that requires the agreement to contain certain written terms that would limit the supplier's 

responsibility for the performance of concrete in certain limited circumstances, such as pouring 

concrete in cold weather. (Ex. J to Rahn Opp. Aff at pp. 109: 13-110:8.) 

Section 9.13 of the DOT Standards applies to paymentto both subcontractors and suppliers. 

The Section goes on to expressly state that "[t]he prompt payment and release of retainage 

deviations will be subject to price adjustments as specified in Section 5.3." There is no language 
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in that provision that limits its application to only subcontractors and not suppliers. Therefore, it 

must apply to suppliers as well. 

Whether or not the parties agreed that Golden View would be the "exclusive" concrete 

supplier for the project is irrelevant. That fact that is relevant here is whether Golden View, when 

accepting the offer, intended to supply concrete for the entire project, including the bridge deck. It 

is undisputed that this is true. (Ex. A to Rahn Aff. at p. 35:5-13.) As Brian Waldner testified, "[a]nd 

[Sam Waldner] was already planning to pour the bridge deck." (See Plaintiff's Statement 121; see 

also Ex. A to Rahn Aff. at p. 35:5-13.) 

II. ARGUMENT 

A. It remains undisputed that Plaintiff's fraud claim fails as a matter oflaw. 

Golden View alleges that by "failing to pay for the concrete it ordered, Grangaard has 

breached the sales contract." As such, Golden View concedes that any payment obligations 

Grangaard owed to Golden View here were contractual. This same obligation to pay for concrete 

cannot be both contractual and the basis for an independent fraud or deceit claim in tort. It is 

undisputed that there are no other alleged independent obligations or duties that Grangaard had 

here. Therefore, there is no basis in fact or law for Plaintiff's fraud/deceit claim and it must be 

dismissed. 

"In fraud and deceit claims, '[s]ummary judgment is proper [when a plaintiff] produces no 

evidence of deceitful intent on [defendant's] part ... "' Delka v. Cont'l Cas. Co., 748 N.W.2d 140, 

152 (S.D. 2008)(quoting Garrett v. Bankwest, Inc., 459 N.W.2d 833, 847 (S.D. 1990)). If deceitful 

intent "rests solely on conjecture . .. the case should not be submitted to the jury." Roper v. Noel, 

143 N.W. 130, 132 (S.D. 1913). 
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Even ifthere were grounds for an independent fraud or deceit claim, they still fail. Disputes 

over contractual obligations regarding Golden View being the "exclusive" supplier are irrelevant 

to Plaintiff's fraud claim. What matters for the fraud claim is whether Golden View altered its 

position to its detriment in reliance on a false statement from Grangaard. Here, Golden View 

alleges that its detrimental position was supplying concrete for the bridge deck. It is undisputed, 

however, that Golden View always intended to supply concrete for the bridge deck, and such 

intention was independent of any of the alleged misstatements made by Jeremiah. So, Golden View 

can dispute whether it was contractually obligated to supply all the concrete for the project, but 

Golden View cannot dispute that its position at the outset of the agreement was to provide concrete 

for the entire project, including the bridge deck, and by then doing so, it did not change its position. 

Therefore, Golden View fails to establish the required elements of reliance and inducement, and 

its fraud claim fails as a result. 

A promise made without an intention to perform may constitute deceit but only "ifthere is 

no contract between parties." Macquarie Bank Ltd. v. Knickel, 793 F.3d 926, 934 (8th Cir. 2015). 

In proving that a promise was made without intention of performing, "[p ]roof of a mere possibility 

is never sufficient to establish a fact." Weitzel v. Sioux Valley Heart Partners, 714 N.W.2d 884, 

897 (S.D. 2006) (granting summary judgment dismissing a claim under SDCL § 20-10-2( d) of an 

employee alleging that he was promised employment without an intention of fully performing 

under the employment contract); see also Select Specialty Hosp .-Sioux Falls, Inc. v. Hutterian, 

No. 4:19-CV-04171-KES, 2021 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 246590, at *25 (D.S.D. Dec. 28, 2021) (granting 

summary judgment dismissing a claim under SDCL 20-10-2(d) for lack of evidence). The 

Restatement of Torts (Second),§ 530 also addresses the misrepresentation of intention. Comment 

( d) sets forth the proof required for such a misrepresentation, stating: 
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The intention that is necessary to make the rule stated in this Section applicable is 
the intention of the promisor when the agreement was entered into. The intention 
of the promisor not to perform an enforceable or unenforceable agreement cannot 
be established solely by proof of its nonperformance, nor does his failure to perform 
the agreement throw upon him the burden of showing that his nonperformance was 
due to reasons which operated after the agreement was entered into. The intention 
may be shown by any other evidence that sufficiently indicates its existence, as, for 
example, the certainty that he would not be in funds to carry out his promise. 

Restat 2d of Torts,§ 530, comm. (d). 

For suppression of facts to constitute deceit, it must be more than mere nondisclosure. 

Beals v. AutoTrac Inc., 904 N. W.2d 765, 771 (S.D. 2017). The word "suppression" implies "an 

active effort to conceal information rather than simply failing to disclose information another 

person might find interesting." Id. 

Here, the promise allegedly not performed is Grangaard's payment to Golden View for 

concrete Golden View supplied. This promise and performance obligation was entirely contractual 

and cannot be the basis for a deceit claim in tort. Regardless, the only evidence of alleged 

nonperformance here is in regard to nonpayment, but there is no other evidence regarding 

Grangaard's intention not to pay or of Grangaard's efforts to actively conceal any information. 

Golden View concludes that Golden View never intended to pay for the concrete supplied for the 

bridge deck, but there is no evidence of the same. Without such evidence, Plaintiff is left with its 

conjecture and a deceit claim cannot stand on the same. Golden View further alleges that 

Grangaard failed to disclose the bid amount from a third-party for the bridge deck, but Grangaard 

had no obligation to disclose this fact to Golden View. And such mere nondisclosure is not grounds 

for deceit. 

This a contractual dispute between businesses. Whatever damages are found here arise 

from the contractual relationship between the parties. Golden View's belief that punitive damages 

should be considered here is absurd and alleging as such in completely unproductive. There is no 
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fraud or deceit here, and Grangaard's motion for summary judgment to dismiss the claim should 

be granted. 

B. If Golden View did not want usage of trade to fill in terms to this Agreement, it was 
Golden View's obligation to include terms to the contrary in the Agreement, and 
Golden View did not. 

Golden View also continues to confuse the application of SDCL § 57A-l-303(c). Golden 

View incorrectly argues that the usage of trade for the regular practice of suppliers and contractors 

to pass down deductions only applies if there is a written agreement stating as such. This is 

nonsensical as Section 57 A-1-303 exists for the very opposite purpose - filling in terms when there 

is no such written terms. In other words, Golden View has it backward. Grangaard was not 

obligated to include express terms regarding the passing down of deductions because such terms 

were established and included in the agreement through usage of trade. If Golden View did not 

intend to have such terms included in the agreement, Golden View should have required that 

agreement include express terms contrary. It is undisputed that Golden View did not, and the usage 

of trade controls in the absence of terms to the contrary here. Therefore the usage of trade applies 

to this agreement as a matter of law. 

There is no evidence or expert opinion here that would support limiting the application of 

such usage of trade to contracts in which the supplier has higher prices than what Golden View 

had here, whatever they may be. There is no authority requiring that Grangaard make sure Golden 

View accounts for potential deductions when it sets the price for its concrete, especially when 

Golden View had done previous DOT projects and holds itself out as competent to supply concrete 

for the same. In fact, there is no testimony from Golden View here that establishes whether or not 

the price it set for the project incorporated the risk of deductions. The only fact in the record is 

testimony from Sam Waldner in which he explains that Golden View wanted to have a lower price 
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because it did not want to "gouge the state" when giving Grangaard a price to use for its bid. (Ex. 

BtoRahnAff. atpp. 68:11-69:16.) 

Finally, the regular practice of passing down of deductions from a contractor to a supplier 

is a price term, not indemnity. The DOT pays a contractor a certain price if the concrete passes all 

its test and pays a lower price, by deducting amounts owed on the contract, if it does not pass the 

tests. The regular practice in the industry is also to include such terms in the agreements between 

contractors and suppliers. If the supplier's concrete passes all the DOT test, the supplier gets paid 

the full price of the concrete. If the concrete fails, then the contractor does not pay full price through 

deductions of amounts owed. This has nothing to do with indemnifying from liability. The DOT 

is not making a claim or bringing a cause of action against Grangaard in which Golden View would 

have an obligation to defend or hold harmless. As such, all of Golden View arguments regarding 

this being an implied indemnity agreement can be ignored. 

III. CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, Grangaard respectfully requests that its motion for partial 

summary judgment be granted. 

Dated this 6th day of October, 2023. 

BALLARD SP AHR LLP 

By: Isl Timothy R. Rahn 
Timothy R. Rahn (4871) 
Daniel R. Fritz (2390) 
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101 South Reid Street, Suite 302 
Sioux Falls, SD 57103 
Telephone: (605) 978-5200 

Email: rahnt@ballardspahr.com 
fritzd@ballardspahr.com 
Attorneys for Defendant 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on this 6th day of October, 2023, a true and correct copy of the 

Defendant's Reply Brief in Support of its Motion for Partial Summary Judgment relative to the 

above-entitled matter, was served via Odyssey File & Serve system to the following: 

Mike C. Fink 
Fink Law Office, P.C. 
225 N. Main Avenue 
P.O. Box 444 
Bridgewater, SD 57319 
T: (605) 729-2552 
Attorney for Plaintiff 

BALLARD SP AHR LLP 

By: /s/ Timothy R. Rahn 
Timothy R. Rahn (4871) 
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STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA 

COUNTY OF MCCOOK 

) 
:SS 
) 

GOLDEN VIEW READY-MIX, LLC, a South 
Dakota Limited Liability Company, 

Plaintiff, 

V. 

GRANGAARD CONSTRUCTION, INC., a 
South Dakota Corporation, 

Defendant. 

IN CIRCUIT COURT 

FIRST RJDICIAL CIRCUIT 

44CIV22-000040 

DEFENDANT GRANGAARD 
CONSTRUCTION, INC.'S RESPONSE 

TO PLAINTIFF GOLDEN VIEW 
READY-MIX LLC'S MOTIONS 

REGARDING PUNITIVE DAMAGES 

Defendant Grangaard Construction, Inc. ("Grangaard"), by and through its undersigned 

counsel, responds to Plaintiff Golden View Ready-Mix, LLC's ("Golden View") motion for 

permission to undertake discovery regarding the issue of punitive damages and motion for 

submission of the issue of punitive damages to the jury. 

I. ARGUMENT 

Golden View's punitive damage claim is factually and procedurally improper and should 

not be allowed to be made part of this trial. 

Punitive damages are only allowed in South Dakota when a party breaches "an obligation 

not arising from contract" . SDCL § 21-3-2 (emphasis added). Even with such a breach, the 

breaching party must be "guilty of oppression, fraud or malice". Id. Moreover, "before any 

discovery relating [to punitive damages] may be commenced and before any such claim may be 

submitted to the finder of fact, the court shall find, after a hearing and based upon clear and 

convincing evidence, that there is a reasonable basis to believe that there has been willful, wanton 

or malicious conduct on the part of the party claimed against". SDCL §21-1-4.1. 
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The present case is a standard dispute between a seller and buyer of goods wherein the 

seller claims it was not paid in full for the goods delivered and the buyer claims that the goods 

delivered were not conforming to the specifications agreed upon. The fraud claim asserted by 

Golden View rests upon alleged facts and obligations which, while firmly denied, undoubtedly 

"arise from the contract" between the parties for delivery of concrete. Accordingly, punitive 

damages cannot be allowed pursuant to SDCL §21-3-2. 

Moreover, Golden View admits that, from the outset, it agreed to provide the concrete for 

the entire bridge project at issue at an agreed price. (See Ex. D to Rahn Aff. at 35:5-13.) In order 

for Golden View's fraud claim to survive, it must prove, among other elements, that Grangaard 

made a false statement that it actually relied on to its detriment. North American Truck & Trailer, 

Inc. v. M.C.J. Communications, Inc., 2008 SD 45, ,i 8, 751 N.W.2d 710, 713; Delka v. Continental 

Cas. Co., 2008 SD 28, ,J 30, 748 N.W.2d 140, 151-52. 

To the extent it is understood, Golden View's fraud claim is based upon an allegation that 

Grangaard made a representation to it that induced it to continue supplying concrete for the bridge 

project. In other words, Golden View alleges that it was somehow induced do what it had already 

contractually agreed to do- namely supply concrete for the entire bridge project. Grangaard 

firmly denies the fraud claim and sets forth that the allegations giving rise to such claim are 

centered upon an alleged breach of a duty "arising from contract". Golden View also cannot 

establish that it relied on any purported misrepresentation of Grangaard to its detriment. 

The Eighth Circuit Court of Appeals dealt with the issue of whether a fraud claim nearly 

identical to the fraud claim in this case should survive a motion for summary judgment in 

Razorback Concrete. Razorback Concrete Co. v. Dement Constr. Co., LLC, 688 F.3d 346,351 (8th 

Cir. 2012). The trial court in Razorback entered summary judgment on the seller's fraud claim 
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and the Eighth Circuit affirmed such judgment. Id. There, Dement was the prime contractor on a 

bridge construction project, and Razorback was its concrete supplier. Id. at p. 348. Some of the 

concrete Razorback supplied "failed strength tests after a specified twenty-eight day interval. .. " 

Id. Following this, Razorback inquired as to whether it was Dement's "intention to attempt to set 

off payments due ... "Id. Dement responded in writing stating that it would not ''unilaterally deduct 

monies due Razorback" and that Dement intended to pay invoices in a timely matter. Id. at 349. 

Later, Dement learned of additional substandard strength-test results and began withholding 

payment. Id. The trial court found that at the time Dement made its representations regarding its 

intention to continue paying invoices, there was no evidence that Dement had intentions to the 

contrary, and the Eighth Circuit agreed. 

Here, Golden View cannot even put forth any evidence of Grangaard making a 

representation promising to pay full price for substandard concrete, let alone Grangaard's 

intentions of following through with the same at the time the bridge deck was poured. If a fraud 

claim did not go to a jury in Razorback, it certainly must not here. 

Not only are the fraud claim and the corresponding claim for punitive damages factually 

and legally inappropriate, they are procedurally improper. SDCL § 21-1-4.1 sets forth that no 

discovery can be performed relative to a punitive damage claim and such claim cannot be 

submitted to a jury before a hearing is held and the Court finds "based upon clear and convincing 

evidence, that there is a reasonable basis to believe that there has been willful, wanton or malicious 

conduct on the part of the party claimed against". In other words, the hearing is to be an evidentiary 

hearing noticed in such a manner as to give Grangaard a fair opportunity to respond. In addition, 

Golden View's Motion seeks to perform discovery as to its punitive damage claim. The discovery 

deadline in this case passed long ago. Golden View should not be allowed at this late hour to 
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perform discovery during trial in an attempt to find support for its unfounded punitive damage 

claim. 

II. CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, Grangaard respectfully requests that Golden View's Motion 

for Permission to Undertake Discovery Regarding the Issue of Punitive Damages and Motion for 

Submission of the Issue of Punitive Damages to the Jury be denied. 

Dated this 27th day of December, 2023. 

BALLARD SP AHR LLP 

By: /s/ Daniel R. Fritz 
Daniel R. Fritz (2390) 
Timothy R. Rahn ( 4871) 
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101 South Reid Street, Suite 302 
Sioux Falls, SD 57103 
Telephone: (605) 978-5200 

Email: rahnt@ballardspahr.com 
fritzd@ballardspahr.com 
Attorneys f or Def endant 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on this 27th day of December, 2023, a true and correct copy of the 

DEFENDANT GRANGMRD CONSTRUCTION, INC. 'S RESPONSE TO PLAINTIFF GOLDEN 

VIEW READY-MIX LLC 'S MOTIONS REGARDING P UNITIVE DAMAGES relative to the 

above-entitled matter, was served via Odyssey File & Serve system to the following: 

Mike C. Fink 
Fink Law Office, P.C. 
225 N. Main Avenue 
P.O. Box 444 
Bridgewater, SD 57319 
T: (605) 729-2552 
Attorney for Plaintiff 

BALLARD SP AHR LLP 

By: /s/ Timothy R. Rahn 
Timothy R. Rahn (4871) 
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STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA) IN CIRCUIT COURT 

FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 
44 CIV. 22-40 

:SS 
COUNTY OF MCCOOK ) 
o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o 
GOLDENVIEW READY-MIX, L.L.C., a South 
Dakota Limited Liability Company, PLAINTIFF'S PROPOSED 

JURY INSTRUCTIONS 
Plaintiff, 

V. 

GRANGAARD CONSTRUCTION, INC., a 
South Dakota Corporation, 

Defendants. 
o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o 

COMES NOW, the Plaintiff, Golden View Ready-Mix, L.L.C., a South Dakota Limited 
Liability Company, by and through its attorney, Mike C. Fink, and submits its proposed jury 
instructions as follows: 

1. Plaintiffs Proposed Pre-Trial Instructions A and B. 
2. Plaintiffs Proposed Post Jury Selection Instructions i through Vii(. 
3. Plaintiffs Proposed Instructions 1 through lS.., Special Interrogatories and Verdict 
F onns, attached herewith. 

Dated this f) day of December, 2023. 

FINK LAW OFFICE, P.C. 

MJ!A{I? 
Attorney for Plaintiff 
225 N. Main Ave., PO Box 444 
Bridgewater, SD 57319-0444 

· Telephone: (605) 729-2552 
Facsimile: (605) 729-2445 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

The undersigned hereby certifies that the foregoing instrument was duly served upon Defendant, 
through the Odyssey File and Serve System, by providing a true and correct copy thereof to 
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PLAINTIFF'S PROPOSED JURY INSTRUCTION NO. 22 

DUTY OF THE JURY 

It is your duty to determine the following issues: 

1. Whether Grangaard Construction breached it's agreement 
to pay Golden View for the concreted materials it ordered. If 
your answer to this question is no, then you need not proceed 
further with Golden View's claims. If your answer is yes, then 
you must determine whether Grangaard breached it's duty of Good 
Faith, and whether Grangaard committed fraud; in such event you 
must also answer the Golden View Special Interrogatories attached 
to the Verdict Form. 

2. Whether Golden View breached any agreement it had with 
Grangaard; Whether Golden View was negligent. If you~ answer to 
this question is no, then you need not proceed further with 
Grangaard's claims. If your answer is yes, then you must answer 
the Grangaard Special Interrogatories attached to the Verdict 
Form. 

If you determine any party is entitled to damages (as set 
out in the Special Interrogatories), you must then answer further 
questions about your verdict in favor of the appropriate party. 

Whether any of these damages have been proven, by the 
greater weight of the evidence, is for you to determine. Your 
verdict must be based upon the evidence and not upon speculation, 
guesswork, or conjecture. 
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STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA) 
:SS 

COUNTY OF MCCOOK ) 
o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o 
GOLDENVIEW READY-MIX, L.L.C., a South 
Dakota Limited Liability Company, 

Plaintiff, 

V. 

GRANGAARD CONSTRUCTION, INC., a 
South Dakota Corporation, 

Defendants. 
o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o-o 

IN CIRCUIT COURT 

FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 
44 CN. 22-40 

GOLDEN VIEW READY-MIX 
SPECIAL INTERROGATORIES 

AND 
VERDICT FORM 

We, the jury dul y empaneled to t ry the issues in this case, 
answer the following Special I nterrogatori es, as to Golden View 
Ready-Mix, as follows: 

1. Did Grangaard breach it's agreement to pay Golden View 
for the concreted materials it ordered? Yes : ; No: ? 

If you answer is no, then you sha11 not proceed to further answer 
these Special Interrogatories. If your answer is yes, then you 
must answer the fo1lowing questions: 

2. We assess damages as follows: The sum of 
$ __ --'--------- in relation to Grangaard's Breach of 
Contract; 

3. We furthe r find as follows: 

4. 

5. 

iii. Golden View is entitled to prejudgment inte rest, 
beginning on __________ _ (fill in the date 
interest begins) 

iv. That int erest was; or was not; a term of a n 
agreement between Grangaard and Golden View. If it was 
a term of an agreement, the agreed upon rate was 
percent; 

Did Grangaard breach it' s duty of Good Faith? Yes : ; 
No: ? 

Did Grangaard commit fraud: Yes: No: ? 
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If you answer to questions 4 and 5 are both no, then you shall 
not proceed to further answer these Special Interrogatories. If 
your answer to either question 4 or 5 (or both) is yes, then you 
may answer the following question: 

6. We further assess against the Defendant the s um of 
$ ______ ____ for punitive damages (if a ny); 

Dated this __ day of January, 2024. 

Forepe r son 

Reference: 
South Dakota Pattern Jury I nstruction 50-130-20 (Modified ) . 
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STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA 

COUNTY OF MCCOOK 

) 
:SS 
) 

GOLDEN VIEW READY-MIX, LLC, a South 
Dakota Limited Liability Company, 

Plaintiff, 

V. 

GRANGAARD CONSTRUCTION, INC. , a 
South Dakota Corporation, 

Defendant. 

IN CIRCUIT COURT 

FIRST RJDICIAL CIRCUIT 

44CIV22-000040 

DEFENDANT GRANGAARD 
CONSTRUCTION, INC.'S PROPOSED 

JURY INSTRUCTIONS AND 
OBJECTIONS TO PLAINTIFF'S 

PROPOSED JURY INSTRUCTIONS 

Pursuant to SDCL § 15-6-51 and the Court's request, Defendant Grangaard Construction, 

Inc. ("Grangaard"), by and through its undersigned counsel, respectfully submits the following 

Proposed Jury Instructions for the trial of this case. Grangaard requests that its instructions be 

given to the jury in this case and objects to the use of the instructions proposed by Golden View 

Ready-Mix, LLC ("Golden View") with the following letters and numbers: B, 12, 13, 14, 15, 20, 

21, 22, 23, and 24. Grangaard also objects to Golden View's proposed special interrogatory and 

verdict form. 

Grangaard reserves its right to amend, modify, or delete these proposed instructions, 

depending on evidence presented at trial, any instructions offered by Golden View, and the Court' s 

rulings, including the Court's rulings on the motions in limine scheduled to be heard on January 

3, 2024. 
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38. Issues for You to Decided 

It is your duty to determine the following issues: 

( 1) Whether Golden View supplied the kind or class of concrete it agreed to supply to 
Grangaard for the Project? 

(2) Whether Golden View was negligent in that it failed to use reasonable care as a 
concrete supplier in supplying concrete for the Project? 

(3) Whether Grangaard owes Golden View any additional amounts of money for 
concrete Golden View supplied for the Project? 
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STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA 

COUNTY OF MCCOOK 

) 
:SS 
) 

GOLDEN VIEW READY-MIX, LLC, a South 
Dakota Limited Liability Company, 

Plaintiff, 

V. 

GRANGAARD CONSTRUCTION, INC., a 
South Dakota Corporation, 

Defendant. 

IN CIRCUIT COURT 

FIRST RJDICIAL CIRCUIT 

44CIV22-000040 

SPECIAL VERDICT FORM 

We the jury, duly impaneled in the above-entitled action, hereby find as follows: 

1. Did Golden View breach its agreement with Grangaard by not supplying the kind 
or class of concrete it agreed to supply for the Project? 

Circle one response: Yes; No. 

2. Did Golden View, as a supplier of concrete for DOT projects, fail to use 
reasonable care in supplying concrete for the Project? 

Circle one response: Yes; No. 

If you circled "No" to both questions 1 and 2, then you shall skip questions 3, 4, and 5. If 
you answered "Yes" to either or both questions 1 and 2, then you must answer questions 3, 4, 
and 5. 

3. What is the amount of damages that would fairly compensate Grangaard for 
Golden Views breach and/or negligence? 

$ _______ [fill in total amount ofGrangaard's damages] 

4. Is Grangaard entitled to Prejudgment interest on the amount of damages set forth 
in the answer to Question No. 3 above? 

Circle one response: Yes; No. 

5. If you answered "Yes" to question 4, what date does the prejudgment interest 
owed begin? - -----~ [fill in the date on which the interest begins]. 
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6. Did Grangaard breach its agreement with Golden View by not fully paying 
Golden View for concrete for the Project that failed the DOT's specifications as a set-off of 
Grangaard's damages resulting from such failures? 

Circle one response: Yes; No. 

If you circled "No" to question 6, then you shall not proceed any further. If you answered 
"Yes" to question 6, then you must answer questions 7 and 8. 

7. What is the amount of damages that would fairly compensate Golden View for 
Grangaard's breach? 

$ ________ [fill in total amount of Golden View's damages 

8. If you answered "Yes" to question 7, what date does the prejudgment interest 
owed begin? _______ [fill in the date on which the interest begins 

The foreperson should date and sign this Special Verdict and notify the bailiff. 

Dated this _ day of January, 2024. 

Foreperson 
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STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA 

COUNTY OF MCCOOK 

) 
:SS 
) 

GOLDEN VIEW READY-MIX, LLC, a South 
Dakota Limited Liability Company, 

Plaintiff, 

V. 

GRANGAARD CONSTRUCTION, INC., a 
South Dakota Corporation, 

Defendant. 

IN CIRCUIT COURT 

FIRST RJDICIAL CIRCUIT 

44CIV22-000040 

DEFENDANT GRANGAARD 
CONSTRUCTION, INC.'S RESPONSE 

TO PLAINTIFF GOLDEN VIEW 
READY-MIX LLC'S MOTIONS IN 

LIMINE AND SUBMISSION OF 
SUPPLEMENTAL 

MOTIONS IN LIMINE 

Defendant Grangaard Construction, Inc. ("Grangaard"), by and through its undersigned 

counsel, responds to Plaintiff Golden View Ready-Mix, LLC 's ("Golden View") motions in limine 

and hereby submits supplemental Motions in Limine #4 and #5. 

I. RESPONSE TO GOLDEN VIEW'S MOTIONS IN LIMINE 

It is apparent from Golden View's Motions in Limine that it would like to prevent 

Grangaard Construction from presenting any evidence at trial. Golden View seeks to prohibit 

Grangaard from presenting any evidence as to Golden View's contractual or tort duties, any 

evidence indicating that it breached such duties, any evidence of Grangaard's damages and any 

evidence that such damages were caused by Golden View's breaches. 

Grangaard, most certainly, must be allowed to present evidence establishing the elements 

of its claims and defenses and to prevent it from doing so would be error. 

A. Evidence of Golden View's Contractual and Tort Duties to Grangaard 

Golden View's Motion in Limine #1 and #2 seek to prevent Grangaard from introducing 

evidence of its contractual and tort duties. The Contractor Concrete Mix Design, DOT-24 Form 

("Mix Design Form") sets out Golden View's duties with regard to the manufacture and delivery 
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of the concrete. Golden View seemingly acknowledges that it had a duty to follow the mix design 

set forth in the Mix Design Form. Inexplicably, Golden View seeks to exclude another very 

explicit term contained in the Mix Design Form; that being its duty to deliver A-45 Class concrete 

to the work site. 

It is apparent that Golden View not only wants to exclude evidence of its agreement to 

provide A-45 Class concrete, it wants to also prohibit any reference whatsoever to the SD DOT 

contract between the DOT and Grangaard. Grangaard does not take the position and will not 

introduce any evidence for the purpose of suggesting that, by virtue of its entering into the DOT 

contract, Golden View is also bound by the terms thereof. However, Grangaard cannot be 

prohibited from making reference to the DOT contract for any other relevant purpose. Golden 

View has not presented any authority suggesting that such exclusion would be warranted. In fact, 

there are numerous cases dealing with similar situations in which evidence relating to an 

underlying contract between an owner and a contractor is allowed in an action between the 

contractor and a supplier. See Brasfield & Gorrie, LLC v. Harrod Concrete & Stone Co., 534 

F.Supp.3d 747 (2021); Razorback Concrete Co. v. Dement Constr. Co., LLC, 688 F.3d 346 (8th 

Cir. 2012). 

In Brasfield, a general contractor contracted with a concrete supplier to provide concrete 

for a construction project. The general contractor claimed that the concrete delivered by the 

supplier did not meet the specifications agreed to between the general contractor and the supplier. 

To prove its damages, the general contractor was allowed to introduce evidence that "it was 

contractually responsible to the project owner for making repairs". Brasfield, 534 F.Supp.3d at 

752. Similarly, Razorback Concrete involved a dispute between a bridge contractor and its 

concrete supplier. The bridge contractor was allowed to introduce evidence of the $5000 per day 
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delay charges that would be contractually imposed on it by the project owner. Razorback 

Concrete, 688 F.3d at 348. It is acknowledged that neither the Brasfield nor the Razorback 

Concrete cases dealt directly with the issue of whether the terms of a contract between the project 

owner and the contractor could be introduced in a dispute between the contractor and the concrete 

supplier. However, it is clear that the trial court allowed such evidence. 

Evidence of certain aspects of the SD DOT contract are, undoubtedly, relevant to this 

action for several reasons including to provide an explanation of why Grangaard made A-45 Class 

concrete a term of its agreement with Golden View and to establish Grangaard's damages. Once 

evidence is found to be relevant, "the balance tips emphatically in favor of admission". St. John 

v. Peterson, 2015 S.D. 41, iJ14, 865 N.W.2d 125, 130. 

Golden View agreed to provide A-45 Class concrete to the project site in its agreement 

with Grangaard independently of the DOT contract. It is anticipated that Golden View will deny 

that it agreed as such despite clear evidence to the contrary. Accordingly, Grangaard must be able 

to tell the jury about its duty to the DOT to provide A-45 Class concrete in order to explain why it 

made the same agreement with Golden View. 

B. Evidence that Golden View breached its duties to deliver A-45 concrete 

In order for concrete to be classified as A-45 it must meet certain criteria. One such criteria 

is that the concrete must pass a 28-day test indicating that it can withstand at least 4500 pounds 

per square inch of pressure. This testing is performed by taking samples of the concrete as it is 

poured out of Golden View's trucks. Such testing revealed that 9 batches of concrete delivered to 

the work site by Golden View was not A-45 Class concrete. 

Golden View has not filed a motion to exclude evidence of the failed concrete tests but the 

Court did, sua sponte, raise the issue of whether such evidence would be allowed. Grangaard does 
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not understand how such evidence could not be allowed. It should be noted that the results of the 

28 day strength tests were allowed as evidence in Razorback Concrete. Razorback Concrete, 688 

F.3d at 348. Such evidence is undoubtedly relevant and admissible and it would be extremely 

prejudicial to Grangaard to disallow the same. 

C. Evidence of Grangaard's damages 

Grangaard's claim for breach of contract is governed by the South Dakota UCC at SDCL 

§ Chapter 57 A-2. Under the UCC, Grangaard was a "Buyer" in its relationship with Golden View 

as it was buying concrete from Golden View. Under the UCC, the damages available to a Buyer 

who has accepted goods that are not conforming to the agreement of the parties are as set out at 

SDCL §57A-2-714 and 57A-2-715. 

Section 714 states that a buyer, upon giving reasonable notice to the seller of the non­

conformity of the delivered goods, may recover damages "as determined in any manner which is 

reasonable" which can include ''the difference ... between the value of the goods accepted and the 

value they would have had if they had been as warranted, unless special circumstances show 

proximate damages of a different amount". Moreover, Section 714 allows recovery of "incidental 

and consequential damages" as provided in Section 715. 

Section 715 defines "incidental damages" as including expenses reasonably incurred in the 

inspection of the non-conforming goods and "any other reasonable expense incident to the delay 

or other breach". Section 715 goes on to define "consequential damages" as "any loss resulting 

from general or particular requirements and needs of which the seller at the time of contracting 

had reason to know and which could not reasonably be prevented by cover or otherwise" and 

"injury to person or property proximately resulting from any breach of warranty". 
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Grangaard's damages resulting from Golden View's breach of its duty to deliver A-45 

Class concrete amount to: 

1. The deductions imposed upon it by the South Dakota DOT reflecting the difference in 
value of the concrete as delivered by Golden View and the value that such concrete 
would have had if it had been A-45 Class concrete; and 

2. The incidental and consequential costs incurred by Grangaard for the testing and delays 
in the bridge project caused by the receipt of the cylinder test results reflecting that 
Golden View failed to deliver A-45 concrete. 

Golden View's Motions in Limine seek to exclude evidence of the deductions imposed 

upon Grangaard directly as a result of the failed cylinder tests reflecting that Golden View did not 

deliver A-45 Class concrete as it agreed to do. Again, Grangaard agrees that Golden View is not 

bound by the terms of the SD DOT contract with Grangaard. However, the deductions imposed 

upon Grangaard are nevertheless relevant to the issue of Grangaard ' s damages as defined by the 

SD UCC. See also, Concrete Sys. v. Fla. Elec. Co., 425 So.2d 632 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983) (the amount 

of liquidated damages assessed against the general contractor may serve as the measure of actual 

damages when the subcontractor is shown to be solely responsible for the delay). 

The deductions certainly were damaging to Grangaard and were undoubtedly caused by 

Golden View's breach of its duties which lead directly to the failed cylinder tests. Accordingly, 

these deductions constitute a "loss [incurred by Grangaard] resulting in the ordinary course of 

events from [Golden View's] breach as determined in any manner which is reasonable". SDCL § 

57A-2-714. 

Moreover, Grangaard will present evidence at trial that the deductions imposed upon it 

were calculated in a manner as to reasonably reflect the difference between the value of the non-

conforming concrete delivered by Golden View and the value it would have had if it had been A-
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45 Class concrete. As such, these deductions are evidence of this difference in value and this 

difference in value is most certainly recoverable by Grangaard per SDCL §57 A-2-714. 

Finally, evidence of these deductions is directly relevant to Grangaard's claim for 

consequential damages under SDCL §57 A-2-715(2). Consequential damages can include any loss 

resulting from any "general or particular requirements or needs" of which Golden View "had 

reason to know". Obviously, Golden View knew of the "requirement" or "need" to deliver A-45 

Class concrete to the work site because it specifically agreed to do so as part of its agreement with 

Grangaard. Moreover, Grangaard will present evidence that Golden View knew or certainly "had 

reason to know" of the deductions that would be imposed if the concrete delivered by Golden View 

was not A-45 Class concrete. Accordingly, and in addition to the reasons set forth above, evidence 

of the deductions imposed upon Grangaard for failing to deliver A-45 Class concrete for the bridge 

project are relevant and admissible to prove Grangaard's damages directly caused by Golden 

View's breach of its duties. 

D. Evidence that Golden View caused Grangaard's damages 

In its Motion in Limine #3, Golden View seeks to have the Court prohibit Grangaard from 

introducing evidence that Golden View caused Grangaard 's damages. That is absurd as it sounds. 

Grangaard is going to present evidence that Golden View agreed that the concrete that it 

would supply for the bridge project would be A-45 Class concrete. Grangaard will also present 

evidence that several batches of concrete delivered to the work site by Golden View were not A-

45 Class concrete. Grangaard will further present evidence that all of its damages were caused by 

the failure of Golden View to supply A-45 Class concrete. 

Golden View argues that because the bridge was ultimately deemed safe that it somehow 

could not have caused any damage. That is nonsensical. Golden View's duty was to deliver A-
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45 Class concrete. It did not do so in several instances. Grangaard suffered monetary loss due to 

Golden View's breach of its duties. 

E. Evidence of "usage of trade" 

Terms of an agreement for sale of goods under the South Dakota UCC may be 

supplemented by usage of trade. SDCL § 57A-2-202. The term ''usage of trade" is defined as 

"any practice or method of dealing having such regularity of observance in a place, vocation, or 

trade as to justify an expectation that it will be observed with respect to the transaction in question". 

SDCL § 57A-l-303. Accordingly, Grangaard must be allowed to present evidence of usage of 

trade in the concrete supply industry. 

Golden View has filed a Motion m Limine, #4, to prohibit evidence of "any other 

agreements Grangaard has had with other suppliers used in this or other projects". It is not entirely 

clear what Golden View is trying to address with this Motion. Grangaard can confirm that it 

intends to present evidence that in the concrete-supply industry in South Dakota it is the regular 

practice observed that a concrete supplier knows that the structural concrete supplied for a South 

Dakota DOT bridge project requires A-45 Class concrete and that the concrete supplier will be 

responsible for a contractor's damages in the amount of deductions imposed by the South Dakota 

DOT for failure to deliver A-45 Class concrete to the work site. 

As this evidence is in furtherance of establishing "a practice or method of dealing" that is 

regularly observed in the concrete supply industry, it necessarily is evidence of "usage of trade". 

Usage of trade can serve as a supplement to any agreement for sale of goods in South Dakota and 

thereby such evidence must be allowed. 

F. Conclusion 

There exists in this case compelling evidence herein that: 
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1. Golden View had a duty to supply a certain class or grade of concrete to Grangaard for 
the bridge project; 

2. Golden View breached or failed in that duty; and 

3. Grangaard suffered damages that were proximately caused by the failures of Golden 
View to fulfill its duties. 

Golden View clearly would prefer that such evidence never be heard or seen by the jury. 

However, such evidence is undoubtedly relevant to Grangaard's claims and defenses and is 

otherwise admissible. Accordingly, the jury must be allowed to consider such evidence and it 

must be admitted. To proceed otherwise would be extremely prejudicial to Grangaard and would 

be error. 

II. GRANGAARD'S SUPPLEMENTAL MOTIONS IN LIMINE 

4. Grangaard's Motion in Limine to exclude any purported expert testimony from Tim 
Marshall. 

Golden View cites to excerpts from the deposition testimony of Tim Marshall in support 

of its motions in limine. The testimony is expert testimony. Mr. Marshall is a project engineer 

with the South Dakota DOT. He cannot be allowed to provide expert testimony at the trial of this 

matter for several reasons. 

First, Golden View has not disclosed Mr. Marshall, or anyone else for that matter, as a 

witness who is expected to provide expert testimony at trial. Golden View has never produced 

any type of report purporting to set forth the disclosures that are required under SDCL §15-6-

26(b ). In addition, the Court' s deadline for disclosure of expert witnesses has long passed and it 

would be highly prejudicial to allow Golden View to present expert testimony at this late hour. 

Second, it has not been established that Mr. Marshall is qualified to provide expert 

testimony on the subject matters to which his opinion testimony would be related. 
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Finally, it has not been established that Mr. Marshall has the proper foundation to provide 

any expert opinions. 

5. Grangaard's Motion in Limine to exclude evidence of the amounts that 
Grangaard received from the State of South Dakota for the bridge project or any 
profit that he may have derived therefrom. 

Golden View has indicated an intent recently to introduce evidence of the amounts 

Grangaard was paid under its contract with the South Dakota DOT as well as projections about the 

profit it realized therefrom. Such evidence has no relevance to the issues presented in this case 

and would be offered herein only in hopes of causing the jury to perceive Grangaard negatively 

and to influence it to return a verdict based upon such perception rather than the relevant evidence 

and the law. Allowing such evidence to be introduced would be highly prejudicial to Grangaard. 

III. CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, Grangaard respectfully requests that Golden View's Motions 

in Limine #1, #2, #3, and #4 be denied. Grangaard further requests that its supplemental Motions 

in Limine Numbers #5 and #6 be granted. 

Dated this 27th day of December, 2023. 

BALLARD SP AHR LLP 

By: Isl Daniel R. Fritz 
Daniel R. Fritz (2390) 
Timothy R. Rahn (4871) 

9 

101 South Reid Street, Suite 302 
Sioux Falls, SD 57103 
Telephone: (605) 978-5200 

Email: rahnt@ballardspahr.com 
fritzd@ballardspahr.com 
Attorneys for Defendant 

GRANGAARD REPLY APPENDIX 0039 

Filed: 12/27/2023 2:20 PM CST McCook County, South Dakota 44CIV22-000040 



CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
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3 •••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• 3 Niimer Description Offr' d le:::v' d 
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1 I ND E X 1 EXHIBITS 

2 PLAINTIFF'S WITNESSES : Direct Cross Re d. Re c. 2 PLAINTIFF ' S 

3 SAMUEL WALDNER 3 l!b. Descripticn Offr'd _,,,,d 
By Mr. Fink 86 176 

4 By Mr. Fritz 145 182 4 17 SDDOr Utter to Gtangurd/11-3-21 450 450 

5 TIMOTHY J. MARSHALL, PE 5 
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BRIAN WALDNER (Telt Ro. 15/13) 
8 By Mr. Fink 334 367 8 
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JEREMIAH GRANGAARD 

16 By Mr . Rahn 489 561 16 25 2-8-22 llllil fraa Tia Klrlllal.l 
By Mr. Fink 544 566 to Gtangurd 

17 17 
ALFRED J. GARDINER, PE 26 '"23-21 IIUil f?OII Till llarlll&ll 

18 By Mr. Rahn 568 596 1 8 to Gtangurd 
By Mr. Fink 584 598 

19 19 21 !tis B,-ry Sbl1t 
TIMOTHY J. MARSHALL, PE (Plaintiff's Rebuttal Witness) 

20 By Mr. Fink 601 607 20 28 DO'l' Inwaffiai 11■mo 
By Mr. Rahn 607 

21 2 1 29 5-3-21 lfatice to Praceed 
SAMUEL WALDNER (Plaintiff's Rebuttal Witness) 

22 By Mr. Fink 608 22 30 Paid llffOiCI for 10-21-21 
By Mr. Rahn 

23 23 31 2-16-22 lllil froa Tim llarlll&ll 
BRIAN WALDNER (Plaintiff's Rebuttal Witness) to Goldan Via 

24 By Mr. Fink 617 616 24 
By Mr. Fritz 615 32 Bc:bmucbr, P1ul, llahr lab "t■ 

25 25 for concntl t■,t 
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1 uanz- to thi• qa■■tion i■ no, th.a you n■ad not prOCNd 

2 furtbu 111th Grangaard'• claw. If your an.,,.r i1 ye,, 

3 then you .... t ._tezmine the uiount of damage, canMd :by 

4 such breach. " 

MR. FINK: Do you have a separate setoff, then? 

MR. FRITZ: Well, the setoff, it's kind of 

7 int..11:imq. It'• .... uy a def•• to you elaill, I •an 

8 it rahta■ man to your claim than llinti. Tha ■-toff, I 

don't think i■ an indapmul■nt c■l1H af action. I think 

10 it'• you're claillinq you're ONd ao 1111dl. I'• Mttillg off 

11 that amount. I mean, the damages are the same. Our 

12 damagea l!Dder the aautract are goiJ,g to be the allDllllt of 

13 the setoff. So they' re very related. 

14 What• s your thought? 

15 llll, 1ml: 'l'beontically, ta juzy could filld tbat 

16 Gnngaard breach9d it1 duty to pay Golden Vin and QolMII 

17 View breached its duty to provide concrete. So, 

18 theoretically, they could come up with damages on both 

19 sides. 

20 THE COURT: They could go very far afield. 

21 Nil, FID: B11t I don't !mow tbt ft 'WOllld need to hml 

22 the jury do the aetoff. I tlliDII: tbe Court lfOUld do the 

23 setoff, looking at the 

24 THE COURT: If they come up with something really 

25 g,,ofy, ... 'd have to u.ly1e that &t the end. llhilt if they 

Melinda. Songstad@ujs. state. sd. us 

1 cm. ap and HJ thay're both at fault 111d gift CWWJIII back 

2 and forth, and tbu far ■cae reuon they go down the road 

3 of fraud or s oru.ething like that and include additional 

4 dlmlgea for that bloa1111 thllni'• fraud at •- point. !bay 

5 atill lligllt ■ay concnt■ i111' t llhat it lllauld hll, 'bnt your 

guy i■ fraucllllat ill tha illdl!.-t for thll NCODd part af 

7 the bridge deck. 

8 Nil, l'DII:: ilMre it glltl lticky, Jadga, prej11dput 

illtereat. If the daugta claiad by Grangurd are granted, 

10 is there prejudgment interest because they did.n' t pay 

11 anything? They've already set off. 

12 THE COURT: The verdict form will get to t hat , a 

13 litU• bit 04 the verdict fom, blCiluH it lilyl for both, 

14 dlmlgea acc:ruad. rroa wbat date ii tbara intart■t 111d -- I 

15 triad to addre11 it in thll verdict fom whan we gat it, INt 

16 n'll talk ll:bo11t it latar. Oby. Al a.adad, YOII 11a ... I 

17 standing objec tion to the good-faith fra ud part. 

18 But, Mr. Fink, are you okay with this as a whole'? 

19 

20 

21 

MR. FINK: Yes. 

THE COURT : Mr. Rahn? 

MR. RAHN: Yes. 

22 THE COURT : Goo d. I like it. It loo ks better. 

23 ■ow, with that having been given, the dafendant did 

24 bave their propo1ed llllder 1-50-10, bat I've i11coqorated 

25 that somewhat in our newly revised . Do you wis h t o 
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1 withdraw the previous submission? 

1111. lllD: JIO. 11e•11 keep the prenoua objection. 

3 m CCIORT: So I'm not 90illll' to give yaur1, and w'll 

4 utilize the other one . 

This was plaintiff's proposed. It was based on 

50-130-10. The Court was looking at it and this talks 

7 about your interest a little bit, and i t needed to be 

8 modifiad. n. defadazlt II.ad alllo1t 1dlllltiul. nat•• th• 

ne1tt one ill the packet here. !'bey each have pro,,q l and 

10 pr~ 2 at tha baqillrlillg, and tha nat part ny• "Yon 11111t 

11 decide. 11 Number 1 and number 2 are identical . 

12 Number 3, as submit ted by Mr. Fink , is different. 

13 "Whether illtereat •• an el-t of uy contract bet...en 

14 thll partiaa and if it wu thll rate of int.areat u agreed to 

15 by such contra ct. " 

16 ■ow, you1 didn't have ~t, wt in th• verdict fon, 

17 =d41r your potential racovu:y of ~• I ~ interaat 111 

18 applicable issue. It ' s for both sides. So the only 

19 difference :betwen 'llllat JVII each aumi ttad wa■ hi■ 1111111ber 3 

20 wu not illeluded ia your•. Bat I tried to keep 'llllat they 

21 have to analyze and l ook at in respect to each of your 

22 claims against the other, the wording similar . 

23 Ill. FIii: le talked about thi1 before trial, and I 

24 don't know that we got very far into it but --

25 TD cotlRT: It'• pled out boll it' ■ pled out. It' ■ 

Melinda. S ongstad@ujs. state. sd. us 

1 a factual iaaue. Ia i.ntareat applicabla ud, if ao, at 

2 what rate. 

3 1111. raITI: Do,,. j111t .... ,,. that llld lat yo11 ucida 

4 this a t the end depending on h ow this comes out? 

5 TIii COIJll'f: la'll co-■ baek ta tbat ao w clean thia 

up. 

7 Al we clean thia -.p, I 'WOllld prOflO•• uillg plaintiff'• 

8 nraua ufandant'• 1u:bmia1ion udar 50-130-10, baca11aa it 

dole include intara1t. IIOV, if .. go back, w'ra all dou, 

10 aad JV11 tell• I don't Rllt tbe juzy to decide intereat, I 

11 have to modify the verdict form as well . 

12 llll. nr.rz: Yuh. L9t - think ... t it. I think 

13 they're goiJ,g to go, I have no idaa 'llllat all thia uaaa, 

14 because I don't. 

15 MR . FINK : As I'm sitting here , I think it will 

16 confuae them, but I tbialt n should gin the ili■tructian 

17 :becaue at ■ame point in time there baa to be a dacbian 

18 about whether it'• 18 or 10 percent, that type of thing. 

19 m axJIT: lt thia point, tha inter11t rat■, if there 

20 i■ illt..at and at 'llllat rate, are i1111111 for thll jmy. And 

21 that Clll nilate to both partiea' elailll againat the other, 

22 and that'■ the way the Terdiet fom that I ban, when 'INI 

23 911t to it, propoaea it. So I think the proriaion with the 

24 inte r est h as to be included. 

25 llr. rink, an you otiafied? It wu you ■ulaiaaion 
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1 11hy. 'fbat g.ta to ba _,.., confwliag. Trying to .. kll it 

2 ,illplez, this t.chnically it on• final .. ..-lion, ,..,11 jut 

3 say, verdict form. 

So the fir.st question i.s, number 1, did Grangaard 

5 breach i ta agrement to pay Golden View for the CX111crete 

material• it ordered? Yea or 110. If JOllr ananr ia 110, 

7 then you shall proceed to -- it should say -- no, you 

8 1llould pnceed to an1-..r queation -- if your annu ia yu, 

you 11111at .., ... r the follc,,,iag 4U98ti0lll, Okay? If they 

10 say yes, there was a breach by your guy. 

11 Then they go to number 2: We assess damages as 

12 follows, blank, in relation to Grangaard's breach of 

13 contra ct. 

14 lamber 3, ft fllrthl!r find u follows: 1, ,ru interest 

15 1 tam of an ~t betNa GZ'lllgaard and Goldlll Vi•? 

16 Yes or no. If it was a term of an agreement, the 

17 agn,ad-upon rate na bl.m. If Galdon Vln 11 &Utlad to 

18 prejudpent inter11t, it accrued on blank date. I don't 

19 make them do a calculation. That can be done later if 

20 ther e ' s a de t e rmination. 

21 

22 

MR. FRITZ: It could be multiple dates. 

m COORT: !bat gats aidnayo. I think it's cleaner 

23 to say, was there interest; if so , what rate. Becaus e 

24 th&t's a factual q,>11tiaa they baft to mab ■ datamination 

25 on. It's your guys ' c a s e . I c a n't fix that. 

Melinda. Songstad@ujs. state. sd. u s 

MR. FRITZ: My head spun. 

rm: cooa:r: Alld I can't fill the facta. lleither can 

3 JOU g,,,J■• 'l'bst' • a fac,bl■ l dal:enlia■tioa.. I■ i.o.tare■t 

4 applicable; and, if 10, thq haft to detemi.o.e the rate. 

5 Na. PIB: So ■houl.d tlle question be, uader ft furtller 

find as follows , A, is interest applicable. 

7 rm: 00CM: Well, ,ru applicable i.o.terelt a tam of 

8 the p a rtie s ? Yes or n o . 

MR. FINK: They might s ay no. 

10 TD COIIRT: Tbm, they':r:11 dona. I didn't aay don't 

11 answer the next two little provisions. 

12 NP.. rrn: 111t c;o1c1u Vin might ■till be utitlad to 

13 1tatutory i.o.t.rut - if it'• not part of the contract. 

14 !'Ill. C00RT: !bt'■ a q1111ation of fKt for the jury t o 

15 decide. Technically , there is sta tutory prejudgment 

1 6 i n teres t that could be applic able . 

17 

18 

MR. FRITZ: Mm-hmm. 

THE COURT: A diffe r e nt r at e, 10 or 1 2 p e rcent, 

19 1omething lite that. 'l'bst' ■ a whole different argument. 

20 rhat does 11ot require ti- to llllk■ a fac:tnal datlmillation. 

21 Where I'm gettin g to they have to make a factual 

22 del:erllination at thi■ point on how thi■ c:■ae ha■ baa plad 

23 out . so ye s or no, inter est . lf they say n o , I don't 

24 beli"9 they'll try to fill in a rate, And if they ■■y 

25 "' 11 fill in a rate, I' 11 set th&t uide beca111e they said 
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1 ,i,o. So ye■ or no and tllen I thiak it' ■ froa ,mat date. 

2 Alld 1t'I the I- belOlf for thM llhell W get tlMlre, tilld 

3 of. 

So keep thinking. Don 't object yet. 

5 llullber •, did Granqaard bl:uch a duty of good faith? 

Te■ or no. Did Grllll9aard .,_;. t fraud? I•• or no. If 

7 your ;ma,rera to Que■tion■ 4 and 5 ue both no, thc you 

8 ■hall not proceed to an■,rer q11eation 6 . '!'here• 1 no good 

faith, there's no fraud issues , okay. 

10 lf your answer t o either Ques tion 4 o r 5 o r b oth 

11 11 191, tb9D J011 auat -- Qa•tioa 6: 111 furtur UHII 

12 aqaill■t Granqurd the 11111 of bl.m of pu1t1 ... d,llaqe■, if 

13 UJ, And then that' ■ tbl pllintiff'I CIH, TlloN UII your 

14 spots. 

15 Numbe r 7 goes on to did Gol de n View b reach its 

16 agreement with Gran gaard by not s u pplying the ki n d or 

11 clus, ud • changed that before to ■upplying the concrete 

18 matariell. I' ... got to U1p it COl\li■tat, 1upplying the 

19 concrete material■ it ordered. Ye■ or no. If you an■nr 

20 to Qae■tion 7 11 no, cmplat. and ■1gn the ftrdict form. 

21 If you:r ananr i■ Question 7 ia yu, an■nr the following 

22 qllllltiOIII. 111 au■a■ dlmagos II follOlla: Tu sum of bl.ult 

23 in relation to Golde n View's breach of cont r ac t . 

24 lllmber 9, n further find u follOlla: la■ intereat 

25 dete!llined with an ~t betnen Grangu.rd and Golden 

Melinda . S ongstad@uj s . s t a te. sd . u s 

1 View? las ar no. If it ,ru a tara of the ag~t, the 

2 qreed-upoa. rate i1 bl.aDII:. If Grangurd i■ entitled to 

3 pre judgment inte r e st , it a ccrued on blank da t e . 

4 !low, that'■ not mally been flaahed out , 10 to epeall:, 

5 but it gift■ t:bal the ■illl■ opportunity to mall:e the ■-­

con1i.dllraticm1. It does 11ot require t:11-. to do the a~tnal 

7 inte r e st c alcula tion , but they would make a factual 

8 dateraination. Aqlin, ia illt■r•t aflPlicable? If 10, wllat 

rat e a nd when wou l d interest h ave accrued. 

10 D. l'In:: 80 I 1t011ld be fin■ with thil, your Bcmor, 

11 11 long II ve cen agrae that if the jw:y findl that there 

12 n■ no intereat a■ part of the agrement, then tbe Court 

13 could est ablis h inte r est. 

14 !m: C00RT: !bt'• a■ a attar of l&w, for the either 

15 party . Statutorily as a matter o f law there c ould be 

16 pmjud9Mllt iot.reat. Mally wllat n'm uking l:llm i1, ii 

17 tbere a different rate, kind of. Beca111e it'■ kind of a 

18 atudatd frc:a wllat I lleud of the taatimony, - and a half 

19 per month, 1 8 percent per year. 

20 JIil. l'RI!Z: lirangurd didn't agree to that. lie didn't 

21 state his agreement to that . 

22 THE COURT : l under stand. Bu t that rs the maxi tnUI'll 

23 allORd by ln. !bat's why J01I •• m■t busin•a1 on your 

24 monthly billing ticket or 11hatner it ii when you c:h■rge 

25 your gas at t he co-op and pay at the end of t he mont h. 
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MR. FRITZ: You handle this? 

2 MR. RAHN: No. 

3 !'!Iii <XJOIT: Okay. The firat illlltnctiaa, and thi■ WU 

4 th■ 011■ fram 1-20-10, 1fOll1d b■ propoa■d to b■ llllllb■r 1, 

5 "Both sides having rested. " 

Any objection from plaintiff? 

7 MR. FINK: No. 

8 THE COURT: Defendant? 

MR. RAHN: No. 

10 rm: !Dlll!: It vill b■ ginn immb■r ona nan aa. ia 

11 1-10-20, 'It will bl your duty," mablncl u amber 2. Any 

12 objection? 

13 

14 

15 

MR. FINK: No. 

MR. RAHN: No. 

THE COURT: The next one is off of 1 - 20-30. It 

16 1tarta: "The attomey1 further tlui reapectin partie1," 

17 number 3. Any objection? 

18 

19 

20 

MR. FINK: No. 

MR. RAHN: No. 

ru CIXJll!: lest one i• off of 1-30-10. It 11011ld be 

21 11'alllb■r■d U four, !Oil In tha 1ol■ jlldg91 of all qa■ltiOIII 

22 of fact. Any objection. 

23 MR. FINK: No. 

24 

25 

MR. RAHN: No. 

rm: C0Cll!: !he Dllltt 0118 voul.d be numbe<ed •• fin. 

Melinda. Songstad@ujs. state. sd. u s 

1 It's off of pattcD on■-30-20, in w~illq the ■ridlmc:■ in 

2 this case. Any objection. 

3 MR. FINK: No. 

MR. RAHN: No. 

THE COURT: The next one will be numbered. as six. 

It'• off of pattern --30-50. It 1tarta, moat vitoHIU 

7 are allowed to testify. Any objection. 

8 MR. FINK: No. 

MR. RAHN: No. 

10 rm: !Dlll!: Tba nut on■ will be niabered u n-■r 

11 seven. It's off of patte rn 1-30-80. It starts: "The 

12 credibility of a witness may be attacked." 

13 Any obj ection? 

14 

15 

16 

MR. FINK: No . 

MR. RAHN: No. 

ru CIXJll!: '!'ha DUt ou will be 11\lllbN: 8. It ' • off 

17 of pattern 1-30-30. It starts: "If you believe any 

18 witness testifying. " 

19 

20 

Any objection? 

MR. RAHN: No. 

21 m CO!IRT: !bis one vill be Dabezed •• nllllber 9 off 

22 of patt■m 1·60-10. It 1tarta: "In civil action the party 

23 who asserts. " 

24 Any obj ection ? 

25 MR. FINK: No. 
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MR. RAHN: No. 

2 THE COURT: The next one off pattern 1-18-20. It 

3 ■tart■, J01l UJ ban heard tb t■:ma "direct ■Ti.dome:■." 

4 The next one wil 1 be numbered a.s nurnber 11 off of 

5 pattern 30-10-10. It starts: "The contract is an 

agreement. ,. 

MR. FINK: No. 

MR. RAHN: No. 

TBI COIJR!I!: And I lilr.■ tha ahartnaaa . llban ya11' r,i 

10 ■ayillq IIO, that mean■ no objection■• Corzect, llr, Fink? 

11 MR. FINK: That's correct. 

12 MR. RAHN: Correct. 

13 TD CO!IRT: VEJ g-oad, '!'ha nut 01U1 vill be nlllllb■r■d 

14 u nllllller 12. It ia off of the T&ri0111 provi1ion1 of the 

15 code dealing with the UCC. It starts : "The f ollowing 

16 provisions of the Uniform Commercial Code apply." 

17 

18 

19 

20 

MR. FINK : No. 

MR. RAHN: No objection. 

THE COURT: All righ t. That will be 12. 

!be nest one will be nllllber 13. !bis ia allo dealing 

21 vitb the Onifo,s C-ci.al Code in vui0111 atatut■a, tbi■ 

22 after aaJing tile folloving proYiaiona of tile c,omercial 

23 code apply to the All of gooda in SOllth Dakota, !bu it 

24 starts with number 1, '1The bu yer must pay at c ontract 

25 rate." 
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MR. FINK: No obj ection other than as previously 

2 stated. 

MR. RAHN: No objection. 

THE COURT: It will be given. 

!!'he 111st 011• ebould lie nlllllb■r■d ~• 1,. It ecaa moza 

ep■cifically from SDCL 57A2-20&, "l contract aay be llllda in 

7 any manner. " 

10 

MR. FINK: No objection. 

MR. RAHN : No objection. 

TBI CQ1Rr: Tile DUt OU will be II~ Ml 15. It 

11 comes from 5 7A-2-202, "Terms of a contract may be 

12 explained. " 

13 IIP., rm: Your lkmor, on th■ .-ailldar of the•• I'll 

14 jut HJ "So objecti011" othar tban ae pnvi0111ly atat■d, 

15 but I• m not sure how the record will know where my 

1 6 objections came . 

17 m C0UIT: le• d haft to loot at the trlnlcript during 

18 the dillClllliOD of wll■D ft RN uttll.Jlq and qol.Jlq t.llrougll. 

19 There i s a record. I t's so noted . You expressed your 

20 pos ition I think a dequately a t that t ime. 

21 MR. FINK : Yeah. 

22 1111.. nI!I: Would it bl fair to aay ■nzyo11e' a caaaa11t 

23 h■re ie j111t coru,ut that tb■A are tbe wtrnctiona that 

24 the Court has approved ? 

25 TD COtlR!I!: And not waiving UJ' object1011a earlier 

Melinda. Songstad@ujs . state. s d. u s 
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